Contributions to Management Science

Veronika Solilova Danuse Nerudova

Transfer Pricing in SMEs

Critical Analysis and Practical Solutions



Contributions to Management Science

More information about this series at http://www.springer.com/series/1505

Veronika Solilova • Danuse Nerudova

Transfer Pricing in SMEs

Critical Analysis and Practical Solutions



Veronika Solilova Mendel University Brno, Czech Republic Danuse Nerudova Mendel University Brno, Czech Republic

ISSN 1431-1941 ISSN 2197-716X (electronic) Contributions to Management Science ISBN 978-3-319-69064-3 ISBN 978-3-319-69065-0 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69065-0

Library of Congress Control Number: 2017955953

© Springer International Publishing AG 2018

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Printed on acid-free paper

This Springer imprint is published by Springer Nature The registered company is Springer International Publishing AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

Contents

1	Introduction						
2 Transfer Pricing Rules for SMEs in the EU							
	2.1	The Arm's Length Principle: Its History, Purpose					
		and Role in the Twenty-First Century	9				
	2.2	Comparability Analysis: Key Part of the Application					
		of Arm's Length Standard	16				
	2.3	Transfer Pricing Methods and Their Practical Application					
		in the Twenty-First Century	23				
		2.3.1 Strengths and Weaknesses of Transfer Pricing Methods	25				
		2.3.2 Practical Application of Transfer Pricing Methods:					
		Critique Aspects	25				
	2.4 Transfer Pricing Documentation: Proof of the Arm's						
	Length Standard						
2.5 Simplified Transfer Pricing Rules for SMEs							
		2.5.1 Simplified Transfer Pricing Measurements:					
		Documentation	48				
		2.5.2 Other Simplified Transfer Pricing Measurements	53				
	2.6	Conclusion and Recommendations	54				
	Refe	erences	55				
3	Eva	luating a Questionnaire on Transfer Pricing Issues of SMEs					
	Tha	t Operate in the EU	59				
3.1 General Evidence from EU Member States							
3.2 Compliance Costs and Duration .							
	3.3	Suggestions	68				
	3.4	Conclusion	71				
	Ann	ex	76				
	Refe	erences	81				

4	Con	npliance Costs of Transfer Pricing for SMEs	83
	4.1	Introduction	83
	4.2	Theoretical Background	85
		4.2.1 Transfer Pricing Issue	85
		4.2.2 Compliance Costs of Taxation	87
	4.3	Determination of Compliance Costs of Transfer Pricing:	
		The Czech, Polish and Slovak Cases	88
		4.3.1 Data Description and Processing	88
		4.3.2 Determination of Compliance Costs	90
	4.4	Determination of Compliance Costs of Transfer Pricing	
		for EU Member States	97
		4.4.1 Data Description and Processing	97
		4.4.2 Determination of Compliance Costs	98
	4.5	Conclusions	101
	Refe	erences	103
5	Sofe	Harbour as an Alternative Approach to Transfer	
3	Drie	ing of SMEs	105
	5 1	Palaunching of Safa Harbourg	105
	5.1	Advantages and Disadvantages of Safe Harbours	105
	5.2	Recommendations of the Form and Scope of Safe Harbours	111
	5.5	Current Situation of Safe Harbours as Simplified Measurements	111
	5.4	in European Union	112
	5 5	Proposal for Safe Harbours for SMEs	112
	5.5	Conclusion	126
	Refe	evences	120
	Ren	Achees	121
6	CCO	CTB as a Suitable Solution?	129
	6.1	History of the Efforts to Harmonize Corporate Taxation	
		in the EU	129
	6.2	Current Situation of Corporate Taxation in the EU	138
		6.2.1 Separate Entity Approach Versus Single Entity	
		Approach	138
		6.2.2 Corporate Taxation Systems Within the EU	142
		6.2.3 Cross-Border Loss Offsetting	143
	6.3	Proposal of the CCTB Directive	146
	6.4	Proposal of the CCCTB Directive	152
	6.5	Is the C(C)CTB Suitable?	155
		6.5.1 Methodology	155
		6.5.2 Results of the CCTB in the Context of SMEs	160
		6.5.3 Results of the CCCTB in the Context of SMEs	167
	6.6	Conclusion	180
	Refe	erences	182
7	Con	clusion	187
÷.	Refe	erences	192

List of Figures

Fig. 2.1	Selecting of external comparables—current practice (EU JTPF 2016, adjusted)	21
Fig. 2.2	Current application of size indicators in the EU for transfer	21
0.	pricing purposes (own compilation through Google Charts)	46
Fig. 2.3	Documentation requirements in relation to size in the EU (own	
C	compilation through Google Charts)	48
Fig. 3.1	Number and proportion of SMEs (respondents) across NACE	
	sectors (A Agriculture, forestry and fishing, B Mining and	
	quarrying, C Manufacturing, D Electricity, gas, steam and air	
	conditioning supply, E Water supply; sewerage; waste	
	management and remediation activities, F Construction,	
	G Wholesale and retail trade; repair of motor vehicles and	
	motorcycles, H Transporting and storage, I Accommodation and	
	food service activities, J Information and communication,	
	K Financial and insurance activities, L Real estate activities,	
	M Professional, scientific and technical activities,	
	N Administrative and support service activities, O Public	
	administration and defence; compulsory social security,	
	P Education, Q Human health and social work activities, R Arts,	
	entertainment and recreation, S Other services activities)	
	(compiled by author)	62
Fig. 3.2	Tax consultant services used by SMEs for transfer pricing issues	
	(%) (compiled by author)	63
Fig. 3.3	Simplified measurements used by SMEs (compiled by author)	64
Fig. 3.4	Average costs and time per year spent managing the transfer	
	pricing issue (%) (compiled by author)	65
Fig. 3.5	Average time and costs per year necessary for the selection	
	of the most suitable transfer pricing method (%) (compiled	
	by author)	66

Fig. 3.6	Average time and costs per year necessary for preparation of transfer pricing documentation (%) (compiled by author)	67
Fig. 3.7	Average time and costs per year necessary for preparation	07
1.8.011	of country-by-country report (%) (compiled by author)	68
Fig. 3.8	Average time and costs per vear necessary for preparation	
0	of APA (%) (compiled by author)	69
Fig. 3.9	Suggestions related to safe harbours (%) (compiled by author)	71
Fig. 3.10	The introduction of simplified transfer pricing documentation	
e	for SMEs (%) (compiled by author)	72
Fig. 3.11	The introduction of lower penalties for SMEs (%) (compiled	
e	by author)	72
Fig. 3.12	The exclusion of micro and small enterprises from the obligation	
•	to prepare transfer pricing documentation (%) (compiled	
	by author)	72
Fig. 3.13	The exclusion of micro and small enterprises from the obligation	
-	of transfer pricing issue (%) (compiled by author)	73
Fig. 3.14	Availability of complex information for SMEs (%) (compiled	
-	by author)	73
Fig. 3.15	The implementation of the C(C)CTB system in EU (%)	
-	(compiled by author)	74
Fig. 3.16	The introduction of EU comparables (benchmarks) for selected	
	industries (%) (compiled by author)	74
Fig. 3.17	The introduction of the transfer pricing guidelines for SMEs like	
	as OECD TP Guidelines (%) (compiled by author)	75
Fig. 3.18	The possibility of communication with tax authorities in other	
	language (%) (compiled by author)	75
Fig. 3.19	The possibility of submitting a tax return in other language (%)	
	(compiled by author)	75
Fig 41	Use of tax consultant services for transfer pricing issues (own	
1 lg. 4.1	processing questionnaire)	Q 1
Fig 42	SMFs based on residency (own processing questionnaire)	97
Fig. 4.2	Using of tax consultancy in the respect of transfer pricing issues)
1 15. 4.5	(own processing questionnaire)	99
	(own processing, questionnane)	,,,
Fig. 6.1	Re-allocation of cross-border losses of SMEs across the EU	
	based on the CCTB proposal (own processing, Amadeus	
	database)	165
Fig. 6.2	Re-allocation of cross-border losses of SMEs across the	
	EU—current situation (Fig. 6.2 represents the assignment of	
	cross-border losses based on the tax residency of the subsidiary.)	
	(in EUR) (own compilation through Google Charts, Amadeus	1.00
	database)	166

Fig. 6.3	Re-allocation of cross-border losses of SMEs across the				
•	EU—based on the CCTB (Fig. 6.3 represents the assignment				
	of cross-border losses based on the tax residency of the parent				
	company, where loss relief will be applied in accordance with				
	the CCTB proposal.) (in EUR) (own compilation through Google				
	Charts, Amadeus database)	167			
Fig. 6.4	Change in corporate tax liability after the adoption of the				
-	CCCTB system across the EU (in %) (own processing)	176			
Fig. 6.5	Re-allocation of corporate tax liability of SMEs across the				
-	EU—current situation (This figure represents the assignment of				
	corporate tax liability based on the tax residency of the				
	subsidiary.) (in million EUR) (own compilation through Google				
	Charts, Amadeus database)	180			
Fig. 6.6	Re-allocation of corporate tax liability of SMEs across				
-	the EU—based on the CCCTB proposal (This figure represents				
	the assignment of corporate tax liability based on the tax residency				
	of the subsidiary. The limitations of the study—the same tax base				
	and the same nominal tax rate with the application of an				
	apportionment formula-are considered.) (in million EUR) (own				
	compilation through Google Charts, Amadeus database)	181			

List of Tables

Table 1.1	Enterprises, employment and gross value added of SMEs in the EU28, 2015 (Eurostat, National Statistical Offices and DIW Econ; mentioned in the European Commission 2016)	2
Table 2.1	Strengths and weaknesses of traditional transaction methods (own compilation, TP Guidelines, OECD 2017)	26
Table 2.2	Strengths and weaknesses of transactional profit methods—Profit Split (own compilations, TP Guidelines, OECD 2017)	29
Table 2.3	Strengths and weaknesses of transactional profit methods— TNMM (own compilations, TP Guidelines, OECD 2017)	30
Table 2.4	Denominators of net profit level indicators (OECD TP Guidelines 2017, own processing)	32
Table 2.5	Selection of the most appropriate method according to the circumstances of the case (Cottani 2016)	36
Table 2.6	Transfer pricing documentation requirements—OECD and EU perspective—Master file (TP Guidelines, OECD 2017; EU	20
Table 2.7	Transfer pricing documentation requirements—OECD and EU perspective—Local file (TP Guidelines, OECD 2017, EU Council 2006/C176/01—EU TPD)	38 40
Table 2.8	CbCR—OECD and EU perspective (TP Guidelines, OECD 2017; EU Council 2006/C176/01—EU TPD, Directive 2016/	40
Table 2.9	Transfer pricing documentation requirements and exemption from the transfer pricing rules—SMEs and small transaction	43
Table 2.10	perspective (Deloitte 2016; PwC 2015; IBFD 2017) Other transfer pricing simplified measurements—SMEs and small transaction perspective (Deloitte 2016; PwC 2015; IBFD 2017)	47 53
Table 3.1	Classification of respondents across the EU (compiled by author)	61
		xi

Table 3.2	Simplified measurements used by SMEs (For more details regarding transfer pricing rules and the simplified measurements that SMEs use, see Chaps. 2 and 5) (compiled	
Table 3.3	by author) Suggested simplified measurements for SMEs (compiled by author)	64 70
Table 4.1	Data for calculating compliance costs (own processing, Amadeus, Hays Salary Guide)	90
Table 4.2	Transfer pricing documentation—costs and time (own calculation, questionnaire)	92
Table 4.3	Country-by-country report—costs and time (own calculation, questionnaire)	93
Table 4.4	Determination of compliance costs of transfer pricing for Medium-sized—based on the costs indicator (own calculation, questionnaire, MF Czech Republic, MF Slovak Republic, MF	0.4
Table 4.5	Determination of compliance costs of transfer pricing for medium-sized—based on the time indicator (own calculation, questionnaire, MF Czech Republic, MF Slovak Republic, MF	94
Table 4.6	of Poland) Determination of compliance costs of transfer pricing for SMEs (own calculation)	95 96
Table 4.7	Transfer pricing documentation—costs and time—European Union (own calculation, questionnaire)	100
Table 4.8	Determination of compliance costs of transfer pricing for SMEs—European Union—cost indicator (own calculation)	100
Table 4.9	Comparison of compliance costs (own processing, World Bank Paying Taxes 2017)	102
Table 5.1	Advantages and disadvantages of safe harbours (OECD, Multi- country analysis of existing transfer pricing simplification measures, 2012. OECD, The comments received with respect to the discussion draft on the revision of the safe harbours section of the transfer pricing guidelines, 2012. OECD, TP Guidelines, 2013 and 2017. Own analysis and processing)	110
Table 5.2	Transfer pricing rules in EU Member States (Deloitte (2016), PwC (2015), IBED (2017))	113
Table 5.3	Profitability of independent SMEs between 2005 and 2014 for all industry sectors (Amadeus (2015), own processing)	117
Table 5.4	Profitability of independent SMEs across industry and time_median values (Amadeus (2015), own processing)	120
Table 5.5	Profitability of independent SMEs across industry sectors between 2005 and 2014 (Amadeus (2015), own processing)	120
Table 5.6	Proposal of safe harbours for selected sectors—small entities (Amadeus (2015), own processing)	125

Table 5.7	Proposal of safe harbours for selected sectors—medium sized entities (Amadeus (2015), own processing)	126
Table 6.1	Consolidation regimes in the European Union (IBFD research platform 2016)	142
Table 6.2	The application of domestic and cross-border loss relief (IBFD tax research platform 2016)	144
Table 6.3	Methods of cross-border loss relief used by member states that allow cross-border loss relief (IBFD tax research platform	
Table 6.4	2016) Nominal corporate tax rate and effective average tax rate in EU	145
Table 6.5	Member States, 2014 (Spengel et al. 2014) Distribution of SMEs qualified for the CCTB system across the	158
	EU (own processing, Amadeus database)	161
Table 6.6	Classification of losses and profits based on the type of parent company—assignment to the state of the tax residency of	
Table 6 7	subsidiary (own processing, Amadeus database)	163
Table 0.7	processing Amadeus database)	168
Table 6.8	Employees and expenditures in R&D in business sector in the EU by size class in 2013 (own processing, Eurostat 2017)	170
Table 6.9	Division of SMEs according to their motivation to opt for the CCCTB or not (own processing, Amadeus database)	172
Table 6.10	CCCTB and its impact on corporate tax revenue (Corporate tax revenue based on the CCCTB system allocated at the level of the subsidiary based on its tax residency.)—part A (own	.,-
	processing, Amadeus database)	174
Table 6.11	CCCTB and its impact on corporate tax revenues (The corporate tax revenues based on the CCCTB system allocated at the level of subsidiary based on its tax residency)—part B	
	(own processing, Amadeus database)	175
Table 6.12	CCCTB and its impact on corporate tax revenue (The corporate tax revenue based on the CCCTB system allocated at the level of subsidiary based on its tax residency)—part C (own	
	processing, Amadeus database)	177

List of Abbreviations

APA	Advance Pricing Agreements
AT	Austria
ATAD	Directive Against Tax Avoidance
BE	Belgium
BEPS	Base Erosion and Profit Shifting
BG	Bulgaria
CbCR	Country-by-Country Reports
CCCTB	Common Consolidated Corporate Tax Base
CCTB	Common Corporate Tax Base
CFC	Controlled Foreign Company Legislation
COST+	Cost Plus Method
CUP	Comparable Uncontrolled Price Method
CY	Cyprus
CZ	Czech Republic
DE	Germany
DK	Denmark
EBIT	Earnings Before Interest and Tax
EBITDA	Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortization
EC	European Commission
EE	Estonia
EL	Greece
ES	Spain
EU	European Union
EU JTPF	EU Joint Transfer Pricing Forum
EU TPD	Transfer Pricing Documentation for Associated Enterprises
	in the EU
EUCIT	European Union Company Tax
FI	Finland
FR	France

G20	Group of Twenty
GAAR	General Anti-Abuse Rule
HR	Croatia
HTS	Home State Taxation
HU	Hungary
IE	Ireland
IT	Italy
LEs	Large Enterprises
LT	Lithuania
LU	Luxembourg
LV	Latvia
MAP	Mutual Agreement Procedure
MF	Ministry of Finance
MNEs	Multinational Enterprises
MT	Malta
NL	Netherlands
OECD	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
OECD	OECD Model Tax Convention on Income and Capital
Model Convention	
PL	Poland
PT	Portugal
R&D	Research and Development
RO	Romania
RPM	Resale Price Method
SE	Sweden
SI	Slovenia
SK	Slovak Republic
SMEs	Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises
TNMM	Transactional Net Margin Method
TP Guidelines	Transfer Pricing Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises
	and Tax Administrations
UK	United Kingdom
UN	United Nations
UN TP Manual	Manual on Transfer Pricing for Developing Countries

Chapter 1 Introduction

This chapter presents a brief overview of the importance of small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) and highlights their key role for the EU economy and the major economic issues and obstacles they are facing. SMEs occupy a very important position in the EU economy, mainly in the area of growth and employment. However, the group of SMEs in the EU is very heterogeneous and differs significantly from large enterprises (LEs). Not only do they differ in size, but they also perform different activities, have different needs and require different resources. Currently, SMEs already face special rules in the area of accounting and financial reporting in comparison with LEs; however, SMEs also face specific problems and have specific needs in the area of practical international taxation issues. As studies show, SMEs face higher compliance costs of taxation in the internal market, compliance costs connected with transfer pricing and the problem of accessibility of cross-border loss compensation. Taking into account the existing environment in which SMEs are operating, this book provides a deep analysis of SMEs' compliance costs with respect to transfer pricing. Based on the results of empirical research, this work presents the critical concerns; however, the book also presents suggestions on simplifying transfer pricing rules for SMEs. This book is the result of a 3-year project (No. 15-24867S "Small and medium-sized enterprises in global competition: Development of specific transfer pricing methodology reflecting their specificities" granted by the Czech Grant Agency.

The European Commission (2003) defines small and medium-sized enterprises (hereinafter, SMEs) based on the number of employees, the volume of turnover, or balance sheet total. Accordingly, SMEs are categorized as micro, small and medium-sized enterprises. Medium-sized enterprises are defined as those "enterprises employing fewer than 250 persons and having an annual turnover not exceeding EUR 50 million, and/or an annual balance sheet total not exceeding EUR 43 million". Small enterprises are defined as "enterprises having fewer than 50 employees and turnover or balance sheet total less than EUR 10 million. Microenterprises are defined as entities with fewer than 10 employees and a balance sheet total or turnover below EUR 2 million.

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

V. Solilova, D. Nerudova, *Transfer Pricing in SMEs*, Contributions to Management Science, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69065-0_1

	Micro	Small	Medium	SME	Large	Total
Enterprises						
Number	21,356,252	1,378,702	224,647	22,959,600	44,458	23,004,059
%	92.80	6.00	1.00	99.80	0.20	100
Persons employed		·		·		
Number	40,057,408	27,503,428	23,170,352	90,731,192	45,168,732	135,899,904
%	29.50	20.20	17.00	66.80	33.20	100
Value						
added						
EUR	1,453,926	1,233,270	1,250,907	3,938,103	2,923,873	6,861,976
billion						
%	21.20	18.00	18.20	57.40	42.60	100

Table 1.1 Enterprises, employment and gross value added of SMEs in the EU28, 2015 (Eurostat, National Statistical Offices and DIW Econ; mentioned in the European Commission 2016)

Based on the definition of SMEs used by the European Commission, SMEs account for over 99% of all companies in each European country and operate in a wide range of sectors. In the non-financial sector, they operate mainly in NACE sector I "accommodation and food", NACE sector M "business services", NACE sector F "construction", NACE sector C "manufacturing" and NACE sector G "wholesale/retail trade". According to the European Commission (2016), those sectors accounted for 78% of SME employment and 71% of SME value added in 2015. Moreover, with respect to the density of SMEs, the number of SMEs per 100 inhabitants ranged from 2.2 in Romania to 9.4 in the Czech Republic, with 4.5 for EU28 (as a whole) as states the European Commission (2016). Furthermore, with respect to SME performance and business environment, SMEs contribute significantly to total employment. According to the European Commission (2016), they provide more than 90 million jobs, mainly in the service sector. Moreover, almost 30% of people employed contribute to micro enterprises, which accounted for 37% of the growth in the total employment in 2015. In addition, SMEs contribute to a considerable proportion of value-added (57%), posting growth of 5.7% in 2015 (for more details see Table 1.1).

According to the surveys conducted,¹ there is no doubt that the SMEs play a key role in the EU economy. However, the economic performance of SMEs is strongly related to the EU economy. The European Commission (2016) states that the SME sector is affected by the macroeconomic environment of the EU, i.e., by overall economic activity, household consumption, investment expenditures and export of

¹European Commission, *Company Taxation in the Internal Market* (COM(2001)582 final), and also in *Internationalisation of European SMEs* (2010) or *Modern SME policy for growth and employment* (COM(2005)551 final), European Commission. Furthermore, in *Report on Small and Medium Enterprises and Transfer Pricing*, EU Joint transfer pricing forum, European Commission (2011), and in Annual reports on European SMEs 2013, 2014, 2015 and 2016.

goods and services. More precisely, the overall economic activity has an impact on the level of SME activity and employment. Household demand has an impact on NACE sector I "accommodation/food", NACE sector G "retail and wholesale trade" and "other sectors". Investment expenditures and gross fixed capital formation have an impact on NACE sector F "construction" and NACE sector M "business services". Exports of goods and services stimulate SME value added in NACE sector C "manufacturing".

With respect to profitability, the European Commission (2016) states that LEs are generally more profitable than SMEs. This can be caused by the fact that the most pressing problem faced by SMEs is the lack of market demand and consequently finding customers (25%), as well as the availability of skilled staff or experienced managers (18%), competition (14%), costs of production or labour (13%) and regulation (13%), according to the SAFE report (European Commission 2015b). Moreover, it is important to note that most SMEs focus on their domestic market. When domestic demand for goods and services showed no growth from 2009 to 2013 and only moderate growth in 2014 and 2015 (between 1.5% and 2%), contrary to the growth of external demand for goods and services, SMEs also showed no growth. Furthermore, SMEs usually operate in economic sectors having low export intensity. However, when they are involved in cross-border activities, it is mostly on the internal market within EU28 member states. The European Commission (2016) adds that only 1.2 million SMEs are exporting, while 1 million of them export within the EU.

The lower degree of internationalization of SMEs in comparison with LEs can be considered another aspect causing lower profitability of SMEs. Based on the survey done by Directorate General of Enterprise and Industry,² only 44% of SMEs (in EU average) are active in any form of international activities (exporting, importing, investing abroad, cooperating internationally, or having international subcontractor relationships) within the EU. The most internationalized economic sectors are considered NACE sector G "retail and wholesale trade", NACE sector B "mining", NACE sector C "manufacturing" and NACE sector G "sale of motor vehicles". However, only 2% (for micro), 6% (for small) and 16% (for medium) of SMEs invest abroad. This is connected mainly with the fact that only 5%³ of SMEs are associated (having subsidiaries abroad) and that SMEs are less involved in cross-border activities. The survey further highlights that the lack of capital, lack of information, lack of public support, as well as law and regulations are crucial barriers for doing international business from the perspective of SMEs.

Regarding law and regulations, there are 28 different tax systems in the European Union which may inherently disadvantage SMEs and may have distortive impacts on commercial decisions concerning the different business forms and

²European Commission, *Internationalization of European SMEs*, 2010. Directorate-General for Enterprise and Industry.

³European Commission, *Observatory of European SMEs, analytical report, 2007.* Directorate-General for Enterprise and Industry.

different business activities. Already in 2007,⁴ the European Commission highlighted the need for a regulatory environment that would be simple and transparent with respect to SME issues. Its statement is mainly supported by the fact that on average, where a big company spends one euro per employee to comply with a regulatory duty a medium-sized enterprise might have to spend around four euros and a small business up to 10 euros (European Commission 2007a, b). Moreover, there are different SME definitions for various purposes in the EU, which create the distortions itself within the EU internal market. The disproportionately high impact of regulatory requirements also creates disproportionally high compliance costs in comparison with LEs. Understanding the tax system and proposal of an SME-specific tax are therefore critical in the growth of SMEs. In this context, OECD (2015) states that the provision of SME-specific tax rules can, if carefully designed, play a useful role in addressing the challenges and the disproportionally high tax compliance burdens faced by SMEs.

Considering all of the abovementioned aspects, we assume that the very small percentage of SMEs involved in international business activities can also be caused by the complexity and specialized knowledge required to address international taxation and transfer pricing issues. The European Commission (2013a) proved that the Value Added Tax and corporate taxation are the most burdensome legislative acts for SMEs in the European Union.⁵ In those aspects, SMEs face difficulties mainly due to the lack of human and financial capital, and due to the lack of knowledge, experience and resource availability in comparison with LEs. Generally, SMEs differ in size, activities, needs and resources in comparison with LEs. It resulted in lower labour productivity, lower profitability, differences in the qualification and skill levels of the employees and capital intensity. Therefore, it is obvious that SMEs cannot reach the same scale of economy as LEs. Moreover, they do not have the same resources available to bear the high administrative burden to comply with the taxation rules, particularly with transfer pricing rules.

In the EU, transfer pricing compliance means adherence to the arm's length principle stipulated in Art 9 of the OECD Model Convention,⁶ Furthermore, to apply the arm's length principle in practice, the OECD has issued the Transfer Pricing Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises and Tax Administrations (hereinafter, TP Guidelines)⁷ that provide guidance for the application of the arm's length

⁴European Commission, *Models to reduce the disproportionate regulatory burden on SMEs. Report of the Expert Group.* Further, European Commission, 2007: *Simplified tax compliance procedures for SMEs.* DG Enterprise Publications.

⁵European Commission, *Results of the public consultation on the TOP10 most burdensome legislative acts for SMEs.* http://ec.europa.eu/DocsRoom/documents/10036/attachments/1/ translations

⁶OECD (2014). *Model Tax Convention*. http://www.oecd.org/ctp/treaties/model-tax-conventionon-income-and-on-capital-2015-full-version-9789264239081-en.htm

⁷OECD (2017). Transfer Pricing Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises and Tax Administrations. http://www.oecd.org/tax/transfer-pricing/oecd-transfer-pricing-guidelines-for-multina tional-enterprises-and-tax-administrations-20769717.htm

principle to pricing for tax purposes and to the cross-border transactions between associated enterprises. However, it is clear from the name itself that these TP Guidelines set treatments of transfer pricing issues with respect to multinational enterprises (hereinafter, MNEs), which are generally LEs. In addition, the TP Guidelines make no direct distinction between the types or sizes of MNEs. In theory, all enterprises, regardless of their size, are subject to the same principles and recommendations. We consider that the application of transfer pricing rules in accordance with Art 9 of the OECD Model Convention and with recommendations included in the TP Guidelines to be very complex and its application for SMEs is connected with certain difficulties. They are compounded by the fact there is neither a common definition of SMEs for tax purpose in the EU nor symmetry of treatment of this issue. Furthermore, the costs associated with transfer pricing matters can be disproportionally large for SMEs in comparison to LEs for both the taxpayer and the tax administration. Therefore, we believe that a "one-size fits all" approach is not possible in the case of SMEs facing transfer pricing issues.

Furthermore, there are several studies⁸ by the European Commission addressing the position of SMEs on the internal market and highlighting the importance of SMEs for the economy. Therefore, the European Commission initiated several activities to help SMEs. The first was in the form of the Small Business Act⁹ (2008), which aimed to promote competitiveness of SMEs, improve the approach to entrepreneurship in Europe, simplify the regulatory and policy environment for SMEs, and remove the remaining barriers to their development. The aims of the Small Business Act are being integrated with the Europe 2020 strategy through the Small Business Act Review,¹⁰ where SMEs represent the heart of the strategy and its key position is again highlighted. It must be emphasized that six of the seven Europe 2020 Flagship Initiatives¹¹ should help SMEs achieve sustainable growth.

The second was when the European Commission established the EU Joint Transfer Pricing Forum (hereinafter, JTPF) as an expert group on transfer pricing

⁸Examples are European Commission, Modern SME Policy for Growth and Employment. COM (2005)551 final. European Commission, Company Taxation in the Internal Market. COM(2001) 582 final. European Commission, Implementation of the community Lisbon programme – Communication from the Commission to the Council and the European Parliament – The Contribution of Taxation and Customs Policies to the Lisbon Strategy. COM(2005)532 final. European Commission, Tackling the corporation tax obstacles of small and medium-sized enterprises in the Internal Market – outline of a possible Home State Taxation pilot scheme. COM(2005)702, and also in Internationalisation of European SMEs or Modern SME policy for growth and employment (COM(2005)551 final), European Commission.

⁹European Commission, *A "Small Business Act" for Europe*. COM(2008) 394 final. http://eur-lex. europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:52008DC0394&from=EN

¹⁰A major landmark in tracking the implementation of the Small Business Act.

¹¹Smart growth (Digital agenda for Europe, Innovation Union, Youth on the move), Sustainable growth (Resource efficient Europe, An industrial policy for the globalisation era) and Inclusive growth (An agenda for new skills and jobs, European platform against poverty). For more details see: http://ec.europa.eu/europe2020/europe-2020-in-a-nutshell/flagship-initiatives/index_en.htm

on December 2006.¹² In 2010, the EU JTPF included the SME transfer pricing issues into the work programme of JTPF and 1 year later issued a report¹³ with several recommendations primarily in the area of compliance costs, definition of SMEs across EU Member States, dispute resolution and other areas.

With respect to SMEs, the task of the European Commission is to increase their cross-border activities, preserve their competitiveness within the internal market and to increase their performance, which would remarkably influence the EU economy and ensure smart, sustainable and inclusive growth. Therefore, we believe it is necessary to analyse transfer pricing issues in relation to SMEs across the EU Member States and to suggest alternative approaches as a suitable solution for transfer pricing issues of SMEs. This necessary step will contribute to further internationalization of SMEs, which the European Commission considers crucial for EU economy based on the EU2020 strategy.

This book is organized into seven chapters that provide a solid critique of the current approaches in the area of transfer pricing in the context of SMEs based on the research results of a 3-year project. The book focuses on the presentation of three specific topics that have not previously been presented in the literature:

• The first topic aims to analyse and document specific transfer pricing rules for SMEs across the EU. Chapter 2 contains an overview of transfer pricing rules applied for SMEs across the EU, focusing on simplified measurements, methods, transfer pricing documentation, penalties and tools for ensuring higher certainty, such as advance pricing agreements (APA). Based on the results of the research, it was possible to determine and categorize the main approaches in transfer pricing rules in the context of SMEs and to define the current trend in the rules. Moreover, mapping the transfer pricing rules for SMEs helped to develop a questionnaire targeting both aims—current approaches in transfer pricing rules for SMEs and suggestions for new rules that could be used as a tool for decreasing compliance costs of transfer pricing. Moreover, the questionnaire also served as the main methodological tool for the determination of compliance costs of transfer pricing, which enabled the research of the second headline topic of the book. In addition, the questionnaire enabled detection of whether SMEs would like to introduce simplified measurements in the area of transfer pricing rules and in which form. The evaluation of the questionnaire is presented in Chap. 3, which focuses on general transfer pricing issues (first aim of the book), compliance costs of transfer pricing (second aim of the book) and tools for decreasing those compliance costs (third aim of the book).

¹²European Commission. Commission Decision of 22 December 2006 setting up an expert group on transfer pricing (2007/75/EC) http://eurlex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ: L:2007:032:0189:0191:EN:PDF

¹³EU JTPF, European Commission, *Report on Small and Medium Enterprises and Transfer Pricing*. http://ec.europa.eu/taxation_customs/sites/taxation/files/resources/documents/taxation/ company_tax/transfer_pricing/forum/jtpf/2011/jtpf_001_final_2011_en.pdf

- The second topic aims to determine the compliance costs of transfer pricing according to the results of the questionnaire collected for European SMEs across the EU Member States. The results can be found in Chap. 4. It should be mentioned that the current literature completely lacks the topic of the determination of compliance costs of transfer pricing. Studies determining compliance costs of taxation in relation to Value Added Tax, Corporate Income Tax or other types of taxes can be found. Based on the results of the research, Chaps. 5 and 6 suggest tools for possible reduction of compliance costs of transfer pricing for SMEs since they can significantly affect the economic performance and internationalization of SMEs in the EU and therefore ensure smart and inclusive growth.
- The third topic aims to suggest alternative approaches to the transfer pricing rules in relation to SMEs as a suitable solution for transfer pricing issues of SMEs, namely, the introduction of safe harbours and a common consolidated corporate tax base (CCCTB). Chapter 5 presents the suggested simplified measurement in the form of a safe harbour arm's length range that can eliminate the considerable burden of compliance costs of taxation and make transfer pricing issues easier. As a result, SMEs would not be required to perform comparable and functional analysis needed to determine the arm's length prices or margins. The second alternative approach, CCCTB, can offer different solutions of transfer pricing issues, as upon entering the CCCTB system, all intertransactions between associated enterprises would be eliminated and the tax base of the entire group would be determined based on the new set rules. This system not only focuses on transfer pricing issues, but on the taxation of corporate enterprises as a whole. Moreover, the new proposal of the CCCTB Directive includes some advantages and motivational incentives for SMEs to enter into the systems. Therefore, Chap. 6 includes analysis of this new system of corporate taxation and its benefits for SMEs.

Finally, Chap. 7 offers conclusions covering general transfer pricing issues, compliance costs of transfer pricing and suggestion of tools to decrease those compliance costs in the context of SMEs. These results highlight the fact that reducing compliance costs and simplifying measurement in transfer pricing rules, or a different approach such as CCCTB, can significantly affect the economic performance of SMEs and their internationalization and can help to achieve the long-term goals of the EU2020 agenda, such as smart and inclusive growth in the EU. The chapter also presents policy recommendations with respect to the EU2020 strategy.

References

European Commission (2001) Company taxation in the internal market (COM(2001)582 final). https://ec.europa.eu/taxation_customs/sites/taxation/files/docs/body/company_tax_study_en.pdf. Accessed 10 Nov 2016

European Commission (2003) Recommendation 2003/361/EC of 6 May 2003. http://eur-lex.europa. eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2003:124:0036:0041:en:PDF. Accessed 10 Feb 2017

- European Commission (2005a) Modern SME policy for growth and employment (COM(2005)551 final). http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:52005DC0551& from=EN. Accessed 10 Feb 2016
- European Commission (2005b) Implementation of the community Lisbon programme—Communication from the commission to the council and the European parliament—The contribution of taxation and customs policies to the Lisbon strategy. COM(2005)532 final. http://eur-lex. europa.eu/procedure/EN/193472. Accessed 20 Feb 2017
- European Commission (2005c) Tackling the corporation tax obstacles of small and medium-sized enterprises in the internal market—outline of a possible Home State Taxation pilot scheme, COM(2005)702. http://ec.europa.eu/transparency/regdoc/rep/1/2005/EN/1-2005-702-EN-F1-1.Pdf. Accessed 20 Mar 2017
- European Commission (2006) Commission decision of 22 December 2006 setting up an expert group on transfer pricing (2007/75/EC). http://eurlex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do? uri=OJ:L:2007:032:0189:0191:EN:PDF. Accessed 10 Feb 2017
- European Commission (2007a) Models to reduce the disproportionate regulatory burden on SMEs. Report of the Expert Group. http://ec.europa.eu/DocsRoom/documents/10037/attachments/1/ translations. Accessed 20 Mar 2017
- European Commission (2007b) Simplified tax compliance procedures for SMEs. DG Enterprise Publications. http://ec.europa.eu/growth/tools-databases/newsroom/cf/itemdetail.cfm?item_id=8379. Accessed 10 Feb 2017
- European Commission (2008) A small business act for Europe, COM(2008)394 final. http://eurlex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:52008DC0394. Accessed 10 Feb 2017
- European Commission (2013a) Results of the public consultation on the TOP 10 most burdensome legislative acts for SMEs. http://ec.europa.eu/DocsRoom/documents/10036/attachments/1/ translations. Accessed 20 Mar 2017
- European Commission (2013b) Annual report on European SMEs 2012/2013. http://knjiznica. sabor.hr/pdf/E_publikacije/Annual_report_smes_2013.pdf. Accessed 25 Mar 2017
- European Commission (2014) Annual report on European SMEs 2013/2014. http://cepymeemprende. es/sites/default/files/SME2013-2014.pdf. Accessed 20 Mar 2017
- European Commission (2015a) Annual report on European SMEs 2014/2015. http://www. pmievolution.it/wp-content/uploads/2016/04/annual-report-SME-2015.pdf. Accessed 15 Mar 2017
- European Commission (2015b) Survey on the access to finance of enterprises (SAFE) analytical report 2015. http://ec.europa.eu/DocsRoom/documents/14321/attachments/1/translations. Accessed 20 Mar 2017
- European Commission (2016) Annual Report on European SMEs 2015/2016, SME recovery continues. https://www.isme.ie/assets/Annual-Report-on-European-SMEs-2015-2016.pdf. Accessed 20 Mar 2017
- European Commission and Directorate-General for Enterprise and Industry (2007) Observatory of European SMEs, analytical report. http://ec.europa.eu/commfrontoffice/publicopinion/flash/ fl196_en.pdf. Accessed 15 Feb 2017
- European Commission and Directorate-General for Enterprise and Industry (2010) Internationalization of European SMEs. https://wbc-rti.info/object/document/7933. Accessed 10 Jan 2017
- EU Joint transfer pricing forum, European Commission (2011) Report on small and medium enterprises and transfer pricing. DOC: JTPF/001/FINAL/2011/EN. http://ec.europa.eu/taxa tion_customs/sites/taxation/files/resources/documents/taxation/company_tax/transfer_pricing/ forum/jtpf/2011/jtpf_001_final_2011_en.pdf. Accessed 20 Feb 2016
- OECD (2014) Model tax convention. http://www.oecd.org/ctp/treaties/model-tax-convention-onincome-and-on-capital-2015-full-version-9789264239081-en.htm. Accessed 10 Apr 2017
- OECD (2015) Taxation of SMEs in OECD and G20 countries. http://www.oecd.org/publications/ taxation-of-smes-in-oecd-and-g20-countries-9789264243507-en.htm. Accessed 30 Mar 2017
- OECD (2017) Transfer pricing guidelines for multinational enterprises and tax administrations. http://www.oecd.org/tax/transfer-pricing/oecd-transfer-pricing-guidelines-for-multinationalenterprises-and-tax-administrations-20769717.htm. Accessed 11 Jul 2017

Chapter 2 Transfer Pricing Rules for SMEs in the EU

The aim of this chapter is to provide the background of transfer pricing rules from both the theoretical and practical points of view. The arm's length principle is considered a key pillar of the rules; therefore, great emphasis is placed on explaining these rules as well as their history and practical application. The OECD Transfer Pricing Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises and Tax Administrations (hereafter TP Guidelines) provide guidance for applying the arm's length principle to pricing for tax purposes and to cross-border transactions between associated enterprises; therefore, the chapter provides a detailed explanation of the TP Guidelines, particularly a comparability analysis, which is considered the core issue in the application of the arm's length principle, transfer pricing methods, and documentation requirements and administrative approaches to transfer prices. However, TP Guidelines make no direct distinction between types or sizes of multinational enterprises; i.e., all enterprises, regardless of their size, are subject to the same principles and recommendations. Therefore, the chapter also focuses on transfer pricing rules in relation to SMEs, critical concerns in transfer pricing and compliance costs issues. The last part focuses on recommendations, namely, an introduction of safe harbour and common (consolidated) corporate tax base.

2.1 The Arm's Length Principle: Its History, Purpose and Role in the Twenty-First Century

The arm's length principle, which was established as a rule against manipulating transfer prices (and ultimately, therefore, manipulating the volume of the tax base), represents the key pillar of the transfer pricing rules and a standard that has been used in the international tax field since 1933. Under this principle, associated enterprises must set transfer prices for any intra-group transaction in the same amount as they would be set between the unrelated entities, and all other aspects

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

V. Solilova, D. Nerudova, *Transfer Pricing in SMEs*, Contributions to Management Science, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69065-0_2

of the relationship are unchanged. The international consensus is that the taxable profits realized by an enterprise from controlled transactions should not be distorted by the relationship that exists between the parties but should be comparable to the profits that the enterprise would have realized if it had been dealing in comparable conditions with an independent party. It also means that the conditions of controlled transactions do not differ from the conditions that would be obtained in comparable uncontrolled transactions and thereby transfer prices reflect market forces. Once transfer prices do not reflect market forces and, therefore the, arm's length principle, the tax liabilities of the associated enterprises and the tax revenues of the second tax jurisdiction could be distorted. Any such distortions shall be corrected by a primary adjustment and thereby ensure that the arm's length principle is met. From the practical point of view, it can be conducted by the imputing or reducing of profits/expenses of associated enterprises and establishing the conditions of the commercial and financial relations that they would expect to find between independent enterprises in similar transactions under similar circumstances.

The authoritative statement of the arm's length principle can be found in Article 9(1) of the OECD Model Convention on Income and Capital (hereinafter as OECD Model Convention¹) known as primary adjustment:

When conditions are made or imposed between two enterprises in their commercial or financial relations which differ from those which would be made between independent enterprises, then any profits which would, but for those conditions, have accrued to one of the enterprises, but, by reason of those conditions, have not so accrued, may be included in the profits of that enterprise and taxed accordingly.

As state Wittendorf (2010) and OECD (1977, 1992, 2010a, 2014), the primary purpose of Article 9 of the OECD Model Convention is to prevent economic double taxation² caused by a transfer pricing adjustments. Article 9 comprises two parts:

- Article 9(1) considers the primary adjustments mentioned above, whose legal basis and the method of its application shall be stated in national tax law and whose application is not conditional on the other contracting state agreeing with the adjustment.
- Article 9(2) addresses corresponding adjustments.

The provision about corresponding adjustment in cases of associated enterprises was added to Article 9 during the first revision of the OECD Model Convention in 1977, with the purpose of avoiding economic double taxation in cases, where one tax administration adjusts associated enterprise's taxable profits due to a primary adjustment—i.e., applying the arm's length principle to controlled transactions involving an associated enterprise in a second tax jurisdiction. As mentioned in the TP Guidelines (para 4.32), the corresponding adjustment is a downward

¹OECD: Model Tax Convention on Income and Capital.

 $^{^{2}}$ The treaty protection under Article 9(1) is applied to both actual and virtual double taxation. In contrast, a corresponding adjustment under Article 9(2) is only available with respect to actual double taxation. For further details, see Solilova and Steindl (2013).

adjustment to the tax liability of that associated enterprises (made by the tax authority of the second jurisdiction), so the allocation of profits between the jurisdictions is consistent with the primary adjustment, and no double taxation occurs.³ However, with respect to OECD (2010a, b, 2014 and 2017),⁴ a corresponding adjustment is not made automatically, but once the contracting state agrees that the primary adjustment is justified both in principle and in the amount, then a corresponding adjustment shall be made; i.e., the other contracting state is not liable to make a corresponding adjustment if it considers the transaction to have been conducted at arm's length, resulting in the situation of economic double taxation.⁵

In cases of transfer pricing dispute resulting in economic double taxation, Article 9(2) suggests considering corresponding adjustment requests under mutual agreement procedure of Article 25 OECD Model Convention. Moreover, as the OECD (2010b, 2017) states, it is also recommended in cases when double tax treaties do not include the corresponding adjustment statement in Article 9(2). This situation occurred frequently at the beginning of the period when the corresponding adjustment was introduced by the OECD in Article 9(2) due to uncertainty about its mandatory or non-mandatory application.⁶ Therefore, some of the OECD member states raised the reservation to Article 9(2) OECD Model Convention in the following forms: (i) to obtain the right not to insert paragraph 2 in the double tax treaties but to be prepared to accept this paragraph with an addition of a third paragraph which limits the potential corresponding adjustment to bona fide cases; (ii) or to make adjustments in accordance with the procedure provided for by the mutual agreement only; (iii) or only if they consider that the primary adjustment is justified.⁷

The introduction of the arm's length principle and its implementation into domestic tax framework is a matter not only for the OECD member countries but also for the United Nations member countries. The arm's length principle is also expressed in Article 9 of the United Model Double Taxation Convention between Developed and Developing Countries (hereinafter as UN Model Convention⁸) in an identical form as in the OECD Model Convention. However, the article includes

 $^{^{3}}$ For more details see paras 4.32–4.39 of the TP Guidelines (OECD 2017) and para 11 of the Commentary on Article 9 of the OECD Model Convention.

⁴For more details see OECD Commentary on Article 9(2), para 6, 2010a and TP Guidelines, para 4.35, 2017.

⁵For more details see Wittendorf (2010), part 2 and 3.

⁶Currently, the corresponding adjustment is not mandatory.

⁷Currently, on the basis of the last revision in 2014, only four member states, namely, the Czech Republic, Hungary, Italy and Slovenia, have a reservation with respect to Article 9(2) OECD Model Convention. Furthermore, Australia has a general reservation on Article 9 OECD Model Convention. Moreover, there is one observation on Article 9 OECD Model Convention with regard to the thin capitalization made by the United States.

⁸United Nations, "Model Double Taxation Convention between Developed and Developing Countries", updated 2011. Available from: http://www.un.org/esa/ffd/documents/UN_Model_2011_Update.pdf

fraud exclusion in paragraph 3, which is not included in Article 9 of OECD Model Convention:

The provision of paragraph 2 shall not apply where judicial, administrative or other legal proceedings have resulted in a final ruling that by actions giving rise to an adjustment of profits under paragraph 1, one of the enterprises concerned is liable to penalty with respect to fraud, gross negligence or willful default.

The purpose of the third paragraph is to cover the situation when a contracting state does not need to make a corresponding adjustment via Article 9(2).

As is obvious from the statement of Article 9 in the OECD Model Convention and UN Model Convention, administrative guidance is needed on the application of legal basis relating to the arm's length principle or methods how the primary adjustment or corresponding adjustment shall be made. However, no administrative guidance⁹ was available until 1979, when the OECD published its first transfer pricing report-The OECD Report on Transfer Pricing and Multinational Enterprises (hereafter OECD Report), which was supplemented and followed by other reports on the complexity of transfer pricing issues. During the period 1992–1997, the OECD Report was significantly revised to reflect the developments in international trade. A first important result of revision was a reference to this report being included in the Commentary on Article 9 of the OECD Model Convention (1992),¹⁰ which resulted in both the OECD Report, as a predecessor to the TP Guidelines, and the TP Guidelines themselves are considered a way of interpreting Article 9 of the OECD Model Convention. The second important result of revision is the TP Guidelines¹¹ being published and thus providing more detailed guidelines on the application of the arm's length principle, as neither Article 9 nor the Commentaries on Article 9 contain detailed guidance on the principle. However, similar to the OECD Commentary, the TP Guidelines are not legally binding under international tax law, but they are considered a means of interpretation as far as they were available when the respective tax treaty was signed, as stated (UN, Vienna Convention, Article 31, 1969).¹² The aim of the TP Guidelines is to create an

⁹Only in the US; the US Treasury issued regulations for specific types of intercompany transactions in 1968, which was the motivation for the OECD to publish a guidance of transfer pricing issue.

¹⁰For more details see OECD Commentary 1992, Article 9 para 3.

¹¹The groundwork for the 1995 and other revisions of the TP Guidelines was laid by the OECD Report 1979 and OECD Mutual Agreement Report from 1984. In 2009, a limited update of TP Guidelines was made to reflect the adoption of update of the *Model Tax Convention* in the 2008. In the 2010 edition, significant revisions were made; namely, Chapters I–III and a new Chapter IX, on the transfer pricing aspects of business restructurings, was added. Since 2013, the TP Guidelines has been a subject of a huge revision due to the results of individual actions of Base Erosion Profit Shifting project (hereinafter BEPS). Currently, the 2017 edition of the TP Guidelines reflecting a consolidation of the changes resulting from the BEPS project and other changes was released on 10 July 2017.

¹²In this fact is relating the static and dynamic approach of interpretation of Tax Conventions. For more details see https://www.wu.ac.at/fileadmin/wu/d/i/taxlaw/institute/staff/publications/ langbrugger_australiantaxforum_95ff.pdf, or see Wittendorf (2010), Chap. 3.

international consensus on a common interpretation of the arm's length principle and its application, according to the OECD (1997, 2010b). Thus, as Owens (2005) states, the separate entity approach is considered the underlying concept supporting the arm's length principle. Further, as the OECD (1997) notes in the TP Guidelines, the fundamental basis to the arm's length principle is the equal treatment of associated and independent enterprises. However, currently, this equal treatment is often criticized by opponents of the arm's length principle.¹³ Moreover, because the TP Guidelines set treatments of transfer pricing issues with respect to multinational enterprises and regardless of the size or type of enterprise, the application of the arm's length principle can be a resource-intensive process that results in heavy compliance costs, particularly for SMEs.

The UN along the lines of the OECD published a practical Manual on TP for Developing Countries (known as the UN TP Manual) in 2013. Currently, the second edition (2017) is available, which reflects the experience and developments in the area of transfer pricing analysis and administration since 2013 and endorses the arm's length standard for the pricing of transactions within associated enterprises.

There are several reasons why OECD and UN member countries and other countries have adopted the arm's length principle. The TP Guidelines highlight that the main reason for adopting this principle is that it provides a broad parity of tax treatments for associated and independent enterprises, resulting in the avoid-ance of tax advantages or disadvantages among entities. Therefore, as Cottani (2016) states, almost all countries introduced domestic tax provisions endorsing this standard allowing adjusting transfer prices that deviate from the arm's length principle. In this context, as Solilova and Steindl (2013) mention, the primary purpose of this standard is to ensure the compliance of domestic rules with the arm's length principle with respect to transactions on business income between associated enterprises with the objective of mitigating economic double taxation.

However, they are many experts who view on this standard as inherently flawed, which is incompatible with today's global economy, i.e., the global nature of international business, as Avi-Yonah and Clausing (2007) state; Durst (2010, 2011) highlights that this standard is based on a fundamental misunderstanding of both practical economics and the way in which multinational business is conducted. The author further notes that the current corporate tax system is based on faulty assumptions and, therefore, on the unenforceability of the arm's length principle resulting from its central premises: the comparable transactions among unrelated parties. According to the author, the activities of unrelated parties are systematically different from those of associated enterprises; therefore, they cannot be comparable. Moreover, it is absolutely incorrect to evaluate the results of associated enterprises based on the assumption that they are a group of unrelated enterprises transacting with one another at arm's length while holding associated enterprises to the arm's length principle for pricing intra-group transactions, as state Avi-Yonah and Clausing (2007) and Durst (2010,

¹³For more details see last part of this Section.

2011). The authors add that this approach does not make sense anymore. Such an approach might well have made sense 80 years ago, when the arm's length standard for tax purposes was first developed.

In 1930s, the arm's length principle was considered a suitable allocation norm (Carrol 1933)¹⁴ because cross-border transactions were limited and business structures were not as complex and complicated. The principle was incorporated into international taxation law through the League of Nations Draft Convention on the Allocation of Profits and Property of International Enterprises in 1933 and by the first OECD Model Convention draft Tax Treaty (1963) with the same wording as the London Model (1946). It is obvious that at that time, the nature of business and technology did not permit the close centralized management of associated enterprises operating in different countries. Therefore, comparing their activities/transactions with those of uncontrolled comparable entities probably made sense. However, with the technological changes, globalization and digital nature of business, it is economically infeasible to do business without controlled structure, resulting in markets with a lack of comparables, i.e., where it is unlikely to find uncontrolled comparable entities, as state Avi-Yonah and Benshalom (2010).

Furthermore, there is some evidence that the arm's length standard does not reflect either economic reality or whether the third party would enter the transaction, but instead, it proves the income shifting between enterprises, as state Keuschnigg and Devereux (2013), Taylor et al. (2015), Bartelsman and Beetsma (2000), Wells and Lowell (2014), Hines and Rice (1994), and Huizinga and Laeven (2006). It fully corresponds with the fact that the transfer pricing represents an instrument that is used as tax planning tool; i.e., properly chosen transfer pricing strategies can enable the distribution of the tax risks and profits, resulting in a reduction of the overall corporate tax liability, as state Buus (2009), Solilová and Nerudová (2012, 2013), Swenson (2001), Rojíček (2012) and others. Moreover, the corporate income is taxed at the national level, whereas economic environment and business models have become more complex and complicated with the increasingly globalized, mobile and digital nature of business. Therefore, profit shifting is done more easily, and the divergence of national corporate tax systems has created a space for aggressive tax planning.¹⁵ The international tax rules, including the arm's length standard and tax systems, seem to be inefficient and non-transparent and are not able to react on increasingly sophisticated tax planning structures.

In this respect, the OECD (2013a) estimates annual losses from 4 to 10% of global corporate income tax revenues, i.e., USD100–240 billion annually.¹⁶ In the

¹⁴One year previously, the first tax treaty was signed with an allocation norm for business income between associated enterprises in the form of the arm's length principle.

¹⁵Aggressive tax planning involves taking advantage of the technicalities of a tax system or of mismatches between two or more tax systems to reduce tax liability. For more details, see Commission Recommendation of 6 December 2012 on aggressive tax planning, C(2012) 8806 final.

¹⁶For more details see: http://www.oecd.org/tax/addressing-base-erosion-and-profit-shifting-9789264192744-en.htm and https://www.oecd.org/ctp/beps-explanatory-statement-2015.pdf

15

EU, the estimation of annual losses of tax revenue is approximately EUR 1 trillion, and in the case of corporate taxation, approximately EUR 50–70 billion is lost.¹⁷ To avoid this practice and ensure the correct application of the separate entity approach, in February 2013, the OECD and G20 countries¹⁸ launched a project on Base Erosion and Profit Shifting (hereafter BEPS) that included 15 Action plans¹⁹ referring to tax planning strategies and shifting profits to low or no-tax jurisdictions, resulting in little or no overall corporate tax being paid. The final reports of the project were published on 5 October 2015. Consequently, the TP Guidelines were updated and released on 10 July 2017, reflecting the recommendations from the BEPS project.²⁰

To avoid the divergent implementation of BEPS by each EU Member States and a disruption of the functioning of the internal market, the European Commission published the draft of the Directive "*laying down rules against tax avoidance practices that directly affect the functioning of the internal market*", known as the Anti Avoidance Directive, on 28 January 2016, which was adopted after 5 months by Council as a Directive 2016/1164.²¹ Furthermore, on 28 January 2016, the Commission proposed a framework for a new EU external strategy for effective

¹⁷For more details see: European Parliamentary Research Service *Aggressive corporate tax planning under scrutiny* http://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/ATAG/2015/571345/EPRS_ATA(2015)571345_EN.pdf

 $^{^{18}\}mbox{The EU}$ confirmed support for work within the BEPS project in May 2013, see Council document 9405/13

¹⁹For the transfer pricing issue, only two deliverables of BEPS project focus on it: Action plan 8–10 "Aligning Transfer Pricing Outcomes with Value Creation" and Action plan 13 "Guidance on Transfer Pricing Documentation and Country-by-Country Reporting". Based on the Action Plan 13, all enterprises are required to report information relating to their economic activity such as revenues, profits, taxes paid and certain measures of economic activity, and to articulate their consistent transfer pricing positions through this standardized approach of reporting. Thus, a new reporting obligation is required for the current transfer pricing documentation. Based on the Action plan 8–10, in the area of transfer pricing analysis and determination of transfer prices, a correct application of the arm's length standard demands an understanding of the value drivers and relevant risks involved and how responsibility for those risks is attributed among the associated enterprises in the context of their commitment to creating value jointly. For the level and assumption of risk are economically relevant characteristics that can be significant in determining the outcome of a transfer pricing analysis.

²⁰Only one part is waiting on the revision, particularly the section related to the profit split method, due to on-going work.

²¹Anti-Tax Avoidance Directive contains five legally-binding anti-abuse measures (Controlled foreign company (CFC) rule, switchover rule, exit taxation, interest limitation, and general antiabuse rule) which all Member States should apply against common forms of aggressive tax planning. It creates a minimum protection for all Member States' corporate tax systems by transposition of the OECD BEPS measures into their national systems in a coherent and coordinated fashion and ensures a fairer and more stable environment for business. Member States should apply these measures as from 1 January 2019.

taxation²² with the aim of promoting good tax governance globally, tackling external base erosion threats and ensuring a level playing field for all businesses.

However, it is not clear whether steps performed through BEPS will lead to the proper application of the arm's length standard and proper corporate income taxation and whether those steps are just another patch on the already inadequate and inefficient corporate income tax system, which can generate annual losses between EUR 50 and 190 billion²³ due to profit shifting and system inefficiencies. Therefore, the issue of possible alternatives to the arm's length principle (as an allocation norm) should be discussed because, as discussed above, the arm's length principle can no longer be considered the fairest and most reliable basis for determining where taxable profits fall.

The following part of the chapter is aimed at discussing the comparability analysis as the key part of the application of the arm's length principle, practical application of transfer pricing methods, documentation of transfer prices and transfer pricing rules in the context of SMEs, in light of 2017 update of the TP Guidelines covering the recommendations that resulted from the BEPS project.

2.2 Comparability Analysis: Key Part of the Application of Arm's Length Standard

As mentioned above, the central premise of the arm's length standard is the comparison of conditions of controlled transactions with those of comparable uncontrolled transactions. The comparability analysis plays a crucial role because based on its results, the most appropriate transfer pricing method is selected, and the arm's length price or margin is determined. There is no doubt that it represents a core part of the application of the arm's length standard.

Selecting the appropriate transfer pricing method depends on the consideration of the all connected circumstances of the case. For this purpose, the selection process should consider the strengths and weaknesses of each method recognized by the TP Guidelines. The suitability of the method should be considered in the view of the nature of the controlled transaction and should be determined through a functional analysis, which is an important part of the comparability analysis. Therefore, the TP Guidelines have set *five comparability factors* that may be important in a comparability determination: *"The characteristics of the property and services transferred, the functions performed by the parties with taking into account assets used and risks assumed (known as functional analysis), the*

²²See COM(2016)24final, available at http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/? uri=CELEX%3A52016DC0024

²³For more details see: European Parliamentary Research Service Aggressive corporate tax planning under scrutiny http://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/ATAG/2015/571345/ EPRS_ATA(2015)571345_EN.pdf

contractual terms, the economic circumstances of the parties, and the business strategies pursued by the parties." The selection process should also consider the availability of reliable information needed to apply the selected method(s) and the degree of their comparability.²⁴ In addition, for a functional analysis, the TP Guidelines state (para 1.51, OECD 2017), that the following may be helpful:

- to understand the structure and organization of the group and how they influence the context in which the taxpayer operates,
- how value is generated by the group as a whole, the interdependencies of the functions performed by the associated enterprises with the rest of the group and its contribution to that value creation,
- and to determine the legal rights and obligations of the taxpayer in performing its functions with respect of the basic principle that the functions carried out will usually determine the allocation of risks between parties.

It means that functional analysis seeks to *identify the commercial and financial* relations between the associated enterprises, the conditions and economically relevant circumstances attaching to these relations in order that the controlled transaction is accurately delineated.²⁵

To accurately delineate the actual transaction with respect to the functions and risks assumed, the TP Guidelines performed, assets used state (Section D.1.2., Chapter 1, OECD 2017) that a functional analysis compares the economically significant activities and responsibilities undertaken, assets used and risks assumed by the parties to the transactions. The functions that taxpayers and tax administrations might need to identify and compare, include the capabilities of the parties, type of assets used (e.g., plant and equipment, the use of valuable intangibles, financial assets), logistics, warehousing, marketing, sales, design of products, manufacturing, assembling, research and development, servicing, purchasing, distribution, advertising, transportation, financing, and management. The economically significant risks²⁶ assumed by each party can be categorized in various ways, but a relevant framework in a transfer pricing analysis is to consider the sources of uncertainty that give rise to risk. Based on these sources of uncertainty, the TP Guidelines (para 1.72, OECD 2017) now classify risks (as a non-exclusive list of risks) as strategic or marketplace risks, infrastructure or operational risks, financial risks, transactional risks and hazard risks. Further, human and intellectual capital risks can be identified during the functional analysis. Reference is also made to risks that are externally driven and those that are internally driven to help clarify the sources of uncertainty.

²⁴The term "degree of comparability" is defined as the comparability between controlled and uncontrolled transactions.

²⁵For more details see para 1.33, and section D.1.2., Chapter 1 TP Guidelines, OECD 2017.

²⁶The significance of a risk depends on the likelihood and size of the potential profits or losses arising from the risk.

Identifying risks, functions and assets is an integral part of both identifying the commercial and financial relations between associated enterprises and accurately delineating the transactions. In this respect, it is important to note that the definition of risks in business should neither be performed on the primitive level (i.e., just listing the risks from the general point of view) nor interpreted as risks being more important than functions or assets. The practice, however, showed that it can be more difficult to identify the risks in a transaction than functions and assets. The TP Guidelines therefore introduce a *six-step process to analyse the risks* (in para 1.60, OECD 2017), which can be summarized as follows:

- 1. Identification of economically significant risks in the relevant relational context²⁷
- 2. Determination of how risks are contractually assumed under the terms of the transaction
- 3. Determination through a functional analysis which enterprise(s)
 - perform(s) control functions and risk mitigation functions,
 - encounter(s) upside or downside consequences of risk outcomes, and
 - have(s) the financial capacity²⁸ to assume the risks
- 4. Determination of whether the contractual assumption of risks is consistent with the conduct of the associated enterprises by analysing whether
 - the associated enterprises follow the contractual terms; and
 - the party assuming risk exercises control²⁹ over the risk and has the financial capacity to assume the risk
- 5. Where the party assuming risk does not control the risk or have the financial capacity to assume the risk, then the risk should be allocated to the entity exercising control and having the financial capacity to assume the risk

²⁷The identification of an associated enterprise(s) assuming risks is usually set out in written contracts between the parties to a transaction involving these risks. A contractual assumption of risk constitutes an ex ante agreement to bear some or all of the potential costs associated with the ex post materialization of downside outcomes of risk in return for some or all of the potential benefit associated with the ex post materialization of positive outcomes. It must be highlighted that an ex ante contractual assumption of risk should provide clear evidence of a commitment to assume risk prior to the materialization of risk outcomes. Such evidence is a very important part of the tax administration's transfer pricing analysis of risks in commercial or financial relations.

²⁸Financial capacity in this area means the access to funding to take on the risk or to lay off the risk, to pay for the risk mitigation functions and to bear the consequences of the risk if the risk materializes. If the financial capacity to assume a risk is lacking, then the allocation of risk requires consideration under step 5 above.

²⁹Control over risk, as the last essential part of analyzing risks, involves the capability to make decisions to take on, lay off, or decline a risk-bearing opportunity, and the capability to make decisions on whether and how to respond to the risks associated with the opportunity. Day-to-day mitigation is not necessary to be performed in order to have control of the risks; i.e., these activities can be outsourced.

- In case of multiple associated enterprises that both exercise control and have the financial capacity, then the risk should be allocated to the entity(ies) that have the most control.
- 6. The actual transaction as accurately delineated by considering the evidence of the economically relevant characteristics of the transaction and should be price, taking into account the financial and other consequences of risk assumption.³⁰

It is obvious that a more comprehensive and realistic approach to the risk is inevitable, as well as an understanding of the drivers of the value in the enterprise. Further, how the associated enterprises can be rewarded depends on the *ex ante* and *ex post* analyses of company price policy. Moreover, the responsibilities of entities with respect to different risks affect the final remunerations for those entities; i.e., *ex post* outcomes can only be understood and explained in view of those responsibilities.

To summarize, an accurately delineated transaction should also be priced in accordance with the financial and other consequences of risk assumption and the remuneration for risk management. Thus, a taxpayer that both assumes and mitigates a risk should be entitled to greater anticipated remuneration than should a taxpayer that only assumes or mitigates a risk but does not do both. With respect to the recognition of the accurately delineated transaction, the key question in the analysis is whether the actual transaction possesses the commercial rationality of arrangements that would be agreed between unrelated parties under comparable economic circumstances rather than whether the same transaction can be observed between independent parties.

For the other parts of the comparability analysis, *a nine-step process for performing a comparability analysis* was added to the TP Guidelines in 2010, representing an accepted good practice:

- Step 1: Determination of years to be covered.
- Step 2: Broad-based analysis of the taxpayer's circumstances.
- Step 3: Understanding the controlled transaction(s) under examination, based in particular on a functional analysis.
- Step 4: Review of existing internal comparables, if any.
- Step 5: Determination of available sources of information on external comparables.
- Step 6: Selection of the most appropriate transfer pricing method.
- Step 7: Identification of potential comparables.

³⁰The TP Guidelines now use the term "risk management", which refers to the function of assessing and responding to risk associated with commercial activity. Risk management means taking on both the upside and downside consequences of the risk with the result that the party assuming a risk will also bear the financial and other consequences if the risk materializes. Risk management is addressing the impact of volatility on profits and value; therefore, associated enterprises must identify the source and impact of volatility on their business to manage risks better.

- Step 8: Determination of and making comparability adjustments where appropriate.
- Step 9: Interpretation and use of data collected, determination of the arm's length remuneration.

The "broad-based analysis" is an essential step in the comparability analysis since it helps in understanding the conditions in the taxpayer's controlled transaction and those in the uncontrolled transactions to be compared, particularly the economic circumstances of the transaction. As a common source of information for the comparability analysis serves commercial databases, which can be a practical and occasionally cost-effective way of identifying external comparables and may provide the most reliable source of information, depending on the facts and circumstances of the case. However, the use of commercial databases should not encourage quantity over quality.

The process of identifying potential comparables is one of the most important aspects of the comparability analysis with the objective of finding the most reliable data. The TP Guidelines, in para 1.33 (OECD 2017) describe this process "as comparing the conditions and the economically relevant circumstances of the controlled transaction as accurately delineated with the conditions and the economically relevant circumstances of comparable transactions between independent enterprises". However, the TP Guidelines bear in mind the burden of an exhaustive search of all possible sources of comparables or the considering of all methods as well as limitations in information availability, namely, in case of SMEs. Therefore, the aim is to find the most reliable data under the circumstances of the case, recognizing that they will not always be perfect.³¹ To combat this issue is recommended to use some statistical methods. In this respect, Cottani (2016) adds that taxpayers are at risk if the comparables search process is not sufficiently thorough. The EU JTPF is aware of the risks and difficulties involved in the comparability analysis and thus, in 2016, released the Report on the Use of *Comparables in the EU* containing recommendations and good practice in respect of search strategy and specific aspects of comparability adjustments in line with the arm's length principle.³² The current practices observed by both taxpayers and tax administration are explained and presented in Fig. 2.1. As is obvious, the first step is setting the analysis with the aim of ensuring the objectivity of the process. The second step is the quantitative analysis covering the process of Boolean search of external potential comparables through industry sectors codes, keywords, turnover thresholds, independence tests,³³ "diagnostic ratios"³⁴ and others, for which

³¹For more details see TP Guidelines para 3.2, 3.80–3.83, and 3.57 OECD 2017.

³²For more details, EU JTPF report available at: https://ec.europa.eu/taxation_customs/sites/taxa tion/files/jtpf0072017encomps.pdf

³³It is worth noting that percent-based indicators reflecting a maximum share of interest owned in subsidiaries differ significantly among the EU member states, particularly between 20% and 50%.

³⁴Diagnostic ratios represent certain ratios of balance sheet / profit and losses account items of the tested party, which are compared with those of potential comparables and can help increase



Fig. 2.1 Selecting of external comparables—current practice (EU JTPF 2016, adjusted)

multiple year data covering a time period of 3–5 years are recommended. The last step is a qualitative analysis that covers the manual analysis of potential comparables received through the previous step, namely, website, company reports, financial statements, detailed independence test, and losses.

Further, it is important to note that two transactions are seldom completely comparable in currently existent "imperfect" environment. As highlights Cottani (2016) an apple-to-apple comparison is not possible as. In accordance with TP Guidelines (para 3.47, OECD 2017), "to be comparable means that none of the differences (if any) between the situations being compared could materially affect the condition being examined in the methodology, or that reasonably accurate adjustments can be made to eliminate the effect of any such difference". Therefore, if there are material differences on prices or profits between controlled and uncontrolled transactions, the reliability of comparability adjustments that may eliminate these differences between them should be considered with aim to improve the reliability of the comparability analysis's results. Furthermore, it has to be mentioned that even in cases where comparable data are scarce and imperfect,

valuable input of the comparability analysis, namely, whether the potential comparables match these ratios of the tested party.
the selection of the most appropriate transfer pricing method should be consistent with the functional analysis of the parties.

However, in para 1.11 (TP Guidelines, OECD 2017), it is mentioned that not having comparables does not itself mean that the transactions between associated enterprises are not at arm's length. This statement can be considered crucial because there are some significant cases in which the arm's length principle is difficult and complicated to apply. An example may be the case of integrated production of highly specialized goods, in unique intangibles, and/or in the provision of specialized services. A practical difficulty in applying the arm's length principle is that associated enterprises may be engaged in transactions that independent enterprises would not undertake. Such transactions may not necessarily be motivated by tax avoidance. In some cases, it will be possible to apply the arm's length principle to arrive at a single figure (e.g., price or margin) that is the most reliable to establish whether the conditions of a transaction are at arm's length. However, because transfer pricing is not an exact science, there will also be many occasions when the application of the most appropriate method or methods produces a range of figures that are all relatively equally reliable. In these cases, differences in the figures that comprise the range may be caused by the fact that in general, the application of the arm's length principle only produces an approximation of the conditions that would have been established between dependent enterprises. It is also possible that the different points in a range represent the fact that independent enterprises engaged in comparable transactions under comparable circumstances may not establish exactly the same price for the transaction. To enhance the reliability of comparable analysis, the TP Guidelines (para 3.57, OECD 2017) and EU JTPF (2016) recommend narrowing the range by using statistical methods (i.e., the interquartile range, other percentile).

In general, the search for information on potentially comparable uncontrolled transactions and the process of identifying potential comparables is dependent on prior analyses of the taxpayer's controlled transaction and the relevant comparability factors. The entire analytical process should be consistent, transparent, systematic and verifiable, from the preliminary analysis of the conditions of the controlled transaction, to the identification of potential comparables, to the selection of the transfer pricing method, and ultimately to the conclusion about whether the controlled transactions are consistent with the arm's length standard. There is no specific procedure for SMEs; therefore, they have to follow the same principles, rules and recommendations through the TP Guidelines. In addition, it is a good practice for taxpayers to set up a process to establish, monitor and review their transfer pricing policy, and they should expect to provide documentation demonstrating the conduct of a detailed comparability analysis.

2.3 Transfer Pricing Methods and Their Practical Application in the Twenty-First Century

To establish whether the conditions imposed in the commercial or financial relations between the associated enterprises are consistent with the arm's length principle, the TP Guidelines distinguish among five transfer pricing methods, which are known as traditional transaction methods (these methods are comparable uncontrolled price method or CUP method, the resale price method or RPM, and cost plus method or COST+) and transactional profit methods (these methods are transactional profit split method and the transactional net margin method or TNMM). Further, associated enterprises are free to apply methods not described in the TP Guidelines, provided that the arm's length principle is followed (para 2.9 TP Guidelines, OECD 2017).

The first method, the comparable uncontrolled price method (hereafter CUP), compares the price charged for property or services in a controlled transaction to the price charged in a comparable uncontrolled transaction between independent enterprises in comparable circumstances. If there is any difference between the prices, it may indicate that the arm's length principle is not followed and that the primary adjustment (through Article 9(1) of OECD Model Convention) should be considered and subsequently performed based on the result of the consideration. The CUP method is the most direct and reliable way to apply the arm's length principle because any difference in the prices (between controlled and comparable uncontrolled transactions) can be traced directly to the commercial and financial relations made or imposed between the enterprises because and the arm's length conditions can be established by directly substituting the price in the comparable uncontrolled transaction for the price of the controlled transaction. Thus, for the case of CUP, the price of controlled transaction is equal to the price of comparable uncontrolled transaction, provided that the commercial and financial relations are comparable.

The major breakthrough of the 2010 update of the TP Guidelines represents the introduction of a new concept in the form of the "most appropriate method", which resulted in the removal of the distinction between traditional and profit methods. Currently, the selection of the most appropriate method is based on the circumstances of the case. However, as the TP Guidelines state (para 2.3, OECD 2017), where the CUP method and another transfer pricing method can be applied in an equally reliable manner, the CUP method is to be preferred.

Under the second method, the *resale price method*, the reseller's gross margin on a product that is purchased from an associated enterprise and resold to an independent enterprise, is compared to the gross margin on product purchased from an independent enterprise in light of its comparable functions, assets and risks. An appropriate gross margin known as resale price margin represents the costs of goods sold and an appropriate profit in the light of the functions performed, assets used and risks assumed. After subtracting the gross margin from the sales price (i.e., price at which a product is resold to an independent enterprise), an arm's length price remains for the original transfer of the property between associated enterprises.

The third method, *the cost plus method*, tests whether the profit mark-ups charged in a controlled transaction conducted at arm's length compared with the profit mark-ups charged in comparable uncontrolled transactions. In applying the COST+ method, the cost base should sufficiently and reasonably reflect the costs borne under the results of functional analysis reflecting appropriate allocation key. Appropriate profit mark-ups is then added to this cost base, resulting in an arm's length price for the original controlled transaction.

Transactional profit methods (TNMM and profit split) can be considered the most appropriate methods in cases where the parties make unique and valuable contributions to the transaction, they engage in highly integrated activities or there is no or limited publicly available data on independent third parties. The fourth method, the *transactional net margin method*, operates in a similar way as the COST+ and RPM methods. However, the TNMM method examines the net profits, relative to an appropriate base, that an associated enterprise earned in controlled transactions and compares them to the net profits realized from comparable uncontrolled transactions. The method operates on the basis of profit-level indicators. The choice of a profit-level indicator and the suitability of its application depend on the results of functional analysis. The selection of the denominator should be consistent with the comparability analysis of the controlled transaction, and in particular, it should reflect the allocation of risks between associated enterprises.

The last method, the *profit split method*, is the only method that is based on a comprehensive two-sized approach with the aim of determining appropriate profits for all associated enterprises engaged in the controlled transaction by reference to the conditions that would have been obtained between independent enterprises in comparable transactions and comparable circumstances. There are a number of approaches for estimating the division of profits; however, the TP Guidelines recommend two approaches: contribution analysis and residual analysis.³⁵

Considering the recommended transfer pricing methods, it is obvious that the application of the arm's length principle is based on a comparison of the price, margin or profits from particular controlled transactions with the price, margin or profits from comparable transactions, contrary to the profit split method, which is based on an approximation of the division of profits that independent enterprises would have expected to generate from engaging in the transaction.³⁶ It can be said that CUP compares prices, RPM compares gross margin, COST+ compares profit mark-ups on costs and TNMM analyses net profits in relations to an appropriate

³⁵Currently, the Chapter III, part III, section C—Transactional profit split method, in the TP Guidelines (OECD 2017) is without update due to the on-going work based on the BEPS project. Therefore, the profit split method is not described in detail.

³⁶For more details see Chapter II TP Guidelines, 2017.

base, such as sales or operating revenue, costs (usually total operating costs) or assets.

It is worth highlighting that the selection of the most appropriate method does not mean the deep analysis and testing of all transfer pricing methods because the TP Guidelines do not require using more than one method for analysis.³⁷

2.3.1 Strengths and Weaknesses of Transfer Pricing Methods

The TP Guidelines state that the essential part of selecting the most appropriate method is to identify the strengths and weaknesses of the considered transfer pricing methods. Therefore, the following section is aimed to identify these characteristics for the mentioned methods.

As is obvious from Tables 2.1, 2.2 and 2.3, each of the recommended transfer pricing methods has at least one weakness. The preferred CUP method, which is considered the most direct and reliable way to apply the arm's length principle, is presented with several weaknesses as well as, in practice, the most frequently used TNMM method. Therefore, it is desirable to select the appropriate transfer pricing method with respect to circumstances of the case, considering the strengths and weaknesses of the methods and the results of comparability and functional analyses, and the nature of the controlled transaction.

2.3.2 Practical Application of Transfer Pricing Methods: Critique Aspects

The application of the CUP method is based on internal or external comparable uncontrolled transactions, when internal comparable uncontrolled transactions are considered for the most reliable arm's length results. Furthermore, the CUP method allows the prices to be compared in either the direct or indirect form. The direct price comparison is possible when none of the differences materially influence the prices, in contrast to indirect price comparison, when the effects of differences are eliminated through accurate adjustments. In practice, due to very high comparability standards,³⁸ it is often difficult to identify comparable uncontrolled transactions where no adjustments should be performed. Therefore, if the CUP method is applied, the indirect price comparison prevails, and the relative reliability of the CUP method after adjustments must be considered. Furthermore, as King (2010)

³⁷For more details see para 2.8., 2.12. TP Guidelines, OECD 2017.

³⁸Transactions must be similar or the same in terms of product type, contractual terms, design, functionality and quality, geographic market, level of market, functions performed, assets used and risks assumed, etc.

	Traditional transaction methods	
	Strengths	Weaknesses
CUP	 Simple application if all conditions are fully met The most direct and reliable way to apply the arm's length principle Relatively independent on the internal information system as the price can be verified on the market. Moreover, the method requires neither the identification of a tested party nor the use of commercial databases Preferable method over all other method under specific condition The method is probably most useful where an associated enterprise sells the same product as is sold to an independent enterprise 	 The method requires very high comparability; therefore, all material differences need to be eliminated through reasonably accurate adjustments. Reliability of the method depends on the accuracy of the necessary adjustments Based on the practical experience, it is difficult to find comparable uncontrolled transactions among independent entities without material differences having effect on price. Therefore, the CUP method is not often used
RPM	 The method is based partly on information found on the market (independent price), which is then supplemented with internal company information (margin) The method is less sensitive to difference in product comparability; therefore, fewer adjustments are normally needed to account for product differences than under the CUP method, because minor product differences are less likely to have as material an effect on profit margins as they do on price The method is more accurate where it is realized within a short time of reseller's purchase of the goods The method is probably most useful where it is applied to marketing operations, sales organizations such as reseller, or vertical integration (where the product is gradually being valued with the result of increase of its price). Further, the method can be used in the case of sales agents performing routine brokering activities when the brokerage fee rate replaces the gross margin and it is determined as a percentage of the sales of the product 	 Time factor—the more time elapses between the original purpose and resale, the more likely it is that other factors, such as changes in the market, in rates of exchange, in costs, etc. will need to be taken into account in any comparison of gross margin The reliability of the RPM may be affected if there are material differences in the ways the associated enterprises and independent enterprises carry out their businesses, such as those that affect the level of costs, which may well have an impact on the profitability but which may not necessarily affect the price The method is more sensitive to differ- ences in functions performed, risks assumed, and assets used between con- trolled and uncontrolled transactions. Where there are material differences that effect the gross margins earned, accurate adjustments should be made The method is difficult to use where before resale the goods are further processed or incorporated into a more complicated product so that their identity is lost or transformed, or the reseller contributes substantially to the creation or maintenance of intangible property asso- ciated with the product that is owned by an associated enterprise. In such a case, the contribution of the goods originally

 Table 2.1
 Strengths and weaknesses of traditional transaction methods (own compilation, TP Guidelines, OECD 2017)

(continued)

Table 2.1	(continued)
-----------	-------------

	Traditional transaction methods	
	Strengths	Weaknesses
	takes into account whether an associated enterprise is in the position of commis- sionaire, commission agent or classic buy-sell distributor	transferred to the value of the final prod- uct cannot be easily evaluated • The method is facing differences in accounting practices, mainly with respect to costs of goods sold and the resale price margin. Accurate adjustments should be made to ensure that the same types of costs are used to determine the gross margin. The final transfer price is pri- marily affected by the way that the gross margin is determined
COST +	 The method requires fewer adjustments for differences in product comparability than the CUP method The method is less sensitive to differ- ences in functions performed, risks assumed, and assets used between con- trolled and uncontrolled transactions than the RPM method provided that any such differences are properly reflected in the cost base The method is probably most useful in case of long-term buy-and-supply agree- ments, pricing of semi-finished goods, toll or contract manufacturing, services of purchasing agents, contract research and developments, where associated parties have concluded joint facility agreements, or where the controlled transaction is the provision of services (i.e., consultancy, IT support, management services, account- ing, etc.). Further, the method is probably most useful in case of low or no-adding- value service activities 	 During the determination of costs arises the issue that there is no discernible link between the level of costs incurred and a market price The issue of cost allocation—it may be difficult to allocate some costs between suppliers and purchasers. The cost base should sufficiently and reasonably reflect costs borne under the results of functional analysis reflecting appropriate allocation key The method requires extensive information about the cost base used in comparing the mark-up of the controlled and uncontrolled transactions Where there are material differences that affect the cost plus mark-ups earned in the controlled and uncontrolled transactions, reasonably accurate adjustments should be made. The extent and reliability of those adjustments will affect the relative reliability of the analysis under the cost plus method. The reasonable accurate adjustments may not be possible when looking at external comparables due to lack of data The method is based only on the data from the internal information system. Therefore, its inappropriate application may lead to a failure to comply with the arm's length principle In applying the method, it requires greater emphasis on other comparability of the cost base To ensure comparability of uncontrolled and controlled transactions, reasonably acturate adjusty of the cost base

(continued)

Traditional transaction metho	Traditional transaction methods	
Strengths	Weaknesses	
	there are differences in the amount and type of costs used in respect of functions performed, risks assumed and assets used • The method is facing differences in accounting consistency. Where the accounting practices differ, accurate adjustments should be made to ensure that the same type of costs are used in each case for the determination of gross profit mark-ups	

Table 2.1 (continued)

states, the CUP method has economic validity if associated enterprises operate in "a truly competitive market", contrary to the situation when they operate in imperfectly competitive markets or in markets with differentiated products/services, in which case the CUP method cannot be based on economic principles.

For the RPM method, an internal or external comparison of gross margin is also possible, of which an internal comparison gives more reliable arm's length results. In an external comparison, commercial or publicly available databases, as well as Internet resources, are generally used to identify potential comparable resellers. Further, no accurate adjustments are needed for direct resale price margin comparisons, contrary to the indirect resale price margin comparisons. The extent and reliability of those adjustments will affect the relative reliability of the RPM method. Analogically, the last traditional transaction method, the COST+ method, also allows both internal and external comparisons and indirect and direct comparisons. However, it is worth highlighting that reasonable accurate adjustments (in the case of indirect comparison) may not be possible when looking at the external comparables received from databases due to a lack of data. Generally, after adjustments are made, the reliability of the method must be considered.

With respect to the economic rationale, King (2010) states that both methods (RPM and COST+) are not valid on economic principles for external comparisons; i.e., there is no sense to compare associated enterprise's resale margin (or gross mark-ups) with "comparable" margins (or gross mark-ups) of independent enterprises. The author emphasizes that there is no reason to expect close correlations in profitability rates based on the assets, gross margins and gross mark-ups across enterprises and that there is no reason to believe that two independent enterprises with the similar profitability rates will have similar gross margins or gross mark-ups. Further, in the case of internal comparison, such comparisons can be valid in certain hypothetical circumstances but are rarely feasible in practice, as adds King (2010). In the case of routine support services, where COST+ is often used as an appropriate method, the method does not have economic validity, as mentioned by King (2010). From the practical point of view, many tax authorities are focused on the services cost base than consider the mark-ups, such as the EU JTPF-issued

/eaknesses
The method is based on the internal ompany information, and it relies less on formation about independent enter- rises. Therefore, the reliability of the ethod should be considered due to the ossibility of more subjective of the soults Difficult access to information from oreign associated enterprises. The eccessity of financial data and other formation may be critical issue in the ontext of tax audits The method is not used for independent interprises, except joint ventures Complexity and data requirements in spect to practical application—deter- ination of combined revenue and costs or all associated enterprises involved in the controlled transactions requires the eeping books and records on a common asis and making adjustments in coounting practices and currencies When the method is used for operating rofit, it is difficult to identify the operat- ing costs associated enterprises Reliability of the method should be onsidered, particularly when the accu- te adjustments are performed and the opropriate allocation key for the division if combined profit is determined
The product of the pr

 Table 2.2
 Strengths and weaknesses of transactional profit methods—Profit Split (own compilations, TP Guidelines, OECD 2017)

^aSection to Profit Split method is not revised under 2017 update, due to the on-going work on it

report "Guidelines on Low Value Adding Intra-Group Services", which uses a safe harbour approach to valuate low-value adding services by mark-up in the range of 3–10%, often approximately 5%.³⁹

With regard to transactional profit methods, the profit split method is considered the most comprehensive transfer pricing method and enables the specificities of both the industry and the group, economies of integration, and possibly unique, facts and circumstances to be considered, leading to all parties involved in the controlled

³⁹EU JTPF: Guidelines on Low Value Adding Intra-Group Services, 2011.

	Transactional profit methods	
	Strengths	Weaknesses
TNMM	• The relevant profit level indicators are	• The method is unlikely to be reliable if
	less sensitive to transactional differences	each party to transactions makes unique
	than is the case with price as used in the	and valuable contributions
	CUP method	• The methods is not appropriate in the
	• The profit level indicators are less sen-	case where differences in the character-
	sitive to differences in the extent and	istics of the enterprises being compared
	complexity of functions and to differ-	have a material effect on the net profit
	ences in the level of risks between the	indicators being used, unless accurate
	controlled and uncontrolled transactions	adjustments are made. The extent and
	than in case of gross profits margins	reliability of those adjustments will
	• When no internal comparable data are	affect the relative reliability of the
	available, the method TNMM may be the	TNMM
	only possible transfer pricing method	• The net profit margins may have been
	• It is necessary to examine functions	influenced by factors that do not have a
	performed, risks assumed and assets used	direct impact on prices or gross margins,
	as well as a financial indicator for only	because of the potential for variation of
	one of the associated enterprises, i.e.,	operating expenses across enterprises
	tested party	• The method may be more sensitive than
	• It is not often necessary to state the	the COST+ of RPM to differences in
	business activity on a common basis or to	in the levels of chearmain of indirect
	allocate costs for all participants as in the	fixed costs would affect the net profit
	case of profit split method	indicator
	• The method is not used the comparison	• The application of method requires
	of absolute amounts but it is based on the	information about independent transac-
	comparison of profit level indicators	tions that may not be available when the
	selected on the facts and circumstances of	controlled transaction is executed
	the transactions. This approach enables	• Identifying comparable transactions
	one to compare transactions that cannot	and obtaining the required level of
	be compared at the level of absolute	information, mainly on factors affecting
	amounts	external comparable transactions, is
	• To achieve more reliable results, net	often limited in practice
	profit margins may be narrowed by using	• The impossibility of taxpayer access to
	the interquartile range or other statistical	specific information about profits of
	methods	controlled transactions may make the
	• The application of method is relatively	application the TNMM less reliability
	feasible (due to the access to databases)	• It may be difficult to identify the reve-
	and reasonable from a cost-benefit per-	nue and operating costs of controlled
	spective	transactions
	• The method is nequently used in plac-	• One-sided approach issue—the appr-
	• The method is probably most useful for	in an inconsistent profit allocation among
	the case when the costs of services or	associated enterprises Further in respect
	performances cannot be accurately deter-	of other factors that affect the pet profit
	mined, or it is not possible to identify the	level indicators, it may result in less
	respective costs of controlled transactions	reliability of the TNMM than the COST+
	for which accurate adjustments are	or RPM
	required, or the costs of transactions	

Transactional profit methods	Transactional profit methods	
Strengths	Weaknesses	
cannot be separately identified. Further, the method in the form of Berry ratio (measuring the gross profit to operating expenses) is probably most useful in case of intermediary activities where COST+ or RPM cannot be applied		

Table 2.3 (continued)

transaction being remunerated in light of the functions performed, assets used and risks assumed; further, the risk of extreme results (remuneration) is eliminated. To split the profits, the TP Guidelines describe two approaches—contribution analysis and residual analysis.⁴⁰ With respect to economic rationale, King (2010) emphasizes that the best starting point of this method would be to consider the combined after-tax free cash flows for splitting among the associated enterprises engaged in the controlled transactions rather than the combined before-tax operating profits. This approach will be more reasonable, mainly in the context of main weaknesses of the method that requires book- and recordkeeping on a common basis for all associated enterprises engaged in controlled transactions.

The last transactional profit method, the TNMM method, operates similarly as the COST+ RPM methods; however, it examines net profits relative to an appropriate base. In contrast to the COST+ method, which generally computes the arm's length price by adding the mark-ups to the direct and indirect costs of production (i.e., costs of goods sold), the TNMM method applies the net margins computed after operating expenses. Therefore, the method is presented as "net margin", as all operating costs are included in the costs base or subtracted from the operating revenues. The method enables internal or external comparison. The main assumption for the application of the TNMM method is that a tested party should perform only routine functions without its own valuable intangibles or unique assets, as a tested party is less complex and is thus more likely to find comparable enterprises. Moreover, the TNMM method is not appropriate when the differences in the characteristics of the enterprises being compared have a material effect on the net profit indicators being used, unless accurate adjustments are made. The extent and reliability of those adjustments will affect the relative reliability of the TNMM.

The profit-level indicators that are applicable in the case of the TNMM method can be affected by many factors.⁴¹ The choice of a profit-level indicator and the

⁴⁰For more details see section C, Chapter II, TP Guidelines, OECD 2017. Unfortunately, this section does not cover 2017 update due to ongoing work on this part, its update is expecting based on the results of BEPS project, as well as it was performed in case 2017 update TP Guidelines.

⁴¹For more details see section B.3, part III—Chapter II—Transfer pricing methods, TP Guidelines, OECD 2017. For example by new entrants, competitive position, market shares, management efficiency, business strategies, substitute products, costs structures, differences in the cost of capital, nature of business, whether the business is in a start-up phase, the degree of business experience, etc.

suitability of its application depend on, for instance, whether the tested party is a service provider, production facility or sales organization. Generally, the TP Guidelines provide the profit-level indicators on the most common base, including return on sales, return on cost and return on capital/assets. The selection of the denominator should be consistent with the comparability (including functional) analysis of the controlled transaction, and in particular, it should reflect the allocation of risks between parties. The denominator should focus on the relevant indicator(s) of the value of the functions performed by the tested party in the transaction under review, considering the assets used and risks assumed. Typically, after reviewing the facts and circumstances of the case, the sales or distribution operating expenses may be an appropriate base for a service or manufacturing activity, and operating assets may be an appropriate base for capital-intensive activities such as certain manufacturing activities or utilities (see Table 2.4).

Instead of the abovementioned denominators and profit-level indicators, the TP Guidelines (para 2.105, OECD 2017) recommend other possible net profit-level indicators, depending on the circumstances of the case. For instance, depending on the industry sector and the controlled transaction under consideration, it may also be useful to look at other denominators where independent data may exist, such as the floor area of retail points, weight of products transported, number of employees, time, and distance. The TP Guidelines also endorse applying Berry ratios⁴² in situations where a taxpayer as a sales agent purchases goods from an associated enterprise and sells them to other associated enterprises. In such cases, the resale price method and cost plus method may not be applicable. Furthermore, the Berry ratio may be suitable for service providers, contract or toll manufacturers with low capital intensity. Depending on the facts and circumstances of the case, a Berry ratio may be an appropriate indicator.

With respect to the economic perspective, King (2010) and Kratzer (2008) mention that the TNMM method is based on the economic theory that the

	Different activities		
	Distribution activity	Manufacturing activity or service providers	Capital-intensive activity
Denominators	Operating profit Sales	Operating profit (cost of goods sold+operating expenses) ^a	Operating profit (total assets – non-operating assets incl.cash) ^b
level indicators	Operating profit Distribution operating expenses	Operating profit Operating expenses	
	Gross o Opera	operating profit ating expenses	

 Table 2.4 Denominators of net profit level indicators (OECD TP Guidelines 2017, own processing)

^aCost of goods sold + operating expenses define Total costs

^bNon-operating assets covers cash and equivalents, financial assets and other financial investments, tax receivables and deferred tax assets

Note: Denominators are highlighted

⁴²Berry ratios are defined as ratios of gross profit to operating expenses. For more details see Chapter II, part III, section B.3.5, TP Guidelines, OECD 2017.

profitability rates earned by enterprises operating under similar conditions and in the same market and industry sector are equalized (i.e., tend to become more equal after some time) in broadly similar product markets, which are generally competitive and in equilibrium. However, as King (2010) emphasizes, there is no market mechanism that would equalize profitability rates (profit level indicators) among enterprises, which results in there being no reason to expect that similar situated enterprises should earn the same profitability rates, even in competitive markets. Further, the author adds that the assumption about the general competitiveness of product markets and its long-run equilibrium is invalid, namely, in the context of the current economic reality of business where product markets are almost invariably in a state of disequilibrium. There is no sense to use the calculated profitability rates in such a way to determine the tax liability in the context of transfer pricing issue (if the controlled transaction is not at arm's length), as different profit-level indicators and different samples of companies can produce significantly different profits across countries. In this respect, the TP Guidelines (in para 2.77 and 2.78, OECD 2017) also state that profit-level indicators may be directly affected by new entrants, competitive position, market shares, management efficiency, business strategies, substitute products, cost structures, differences in the cost of capital, nature of business, whether the business is in a start-up phase, and the degree of business experience. Therefore, even if two enterprises act in exactly the same industry, their profitability may differ depending on the above-mentioned factors.

Although from the economic perspective, there cannot be find a reason for the application of this method, the practice shows that it is frequently used by both tax payers and tax authorities.

Generally, the application of all types of transfer pricing methods (except for the Profit split method) requires information on uncontrolled transactions that may not be available when the transfer prices are determined, examined and/or documented. Therefore, based on the TP Guidelines (para 3.30, OECD 2017), the taxpayer should apply the data that are available when the transfer prices are determined. Further, in most cases, multiple year data may be used to better understand the controlled transaction and provide useful information on the comparables. Kratzer (2008) adds that the multiple year data should eliminate the temporary accounting differences, business and product/intangible life cycles, anomalies, and discrepancies in short-term economic conditions and long-term arrangements that impact the profitability of controlled and/or uncontrolled transactions. Nevertheless, a number of OECD member countries have the rule of examining the fiscal years separately if multiple year data are used. However, as EU JTPF (2016) mentions, complete and accurate data should be available for the entire period, and the use of average values is recommended to improve the reliability of analysis. Further, during the analysis, the principles of transparency, proportionality and consistency should be respected.

The identification of external comparables⁴³ requires the search process, which depends on the type of database used and screening criteria used to identify

⁴³For more details about the recommended steps of the selection of external comparables, see Fig. 2.1, Sect. 2.2.

potential comparable enterprises as well as the qualitative analysis. To ensure a high degree of comparability, statistical tools such as interquartile range,⁴⁴ percentiles or averages are commonly used to narrow a range of results. However, the EU JTPF (2016) adds that this practice is not necessary if the range comprises results of equal and high reliability (this regards all the comparability factors). In this context, the possibility of accepting only one or two comparables should not generally be excluded.

The issues of comparability adjustments are stressed in case of all types of transfer pricing methods because they can affect the reliability of the method applied to determine the arm's length price/margin. Therefore, comparability adjustments were the subjects of interest of the EU JTPF,⁴⁵ which released in 2016 the most often comparability adjustments performed by taxpayers or tax authorities. The list covers the following:

- *Working capital adjustments*—related to account payables, account receivables and inventories—to ensure that the net margins reflect the same level of financing activity
- Accounting adjustments—namely, addressing foreign exchange difference adjustments, type of costs covering in the cost base for the determination of gross margins, local/international standards of financial reporting and/or treatment for income tax purposes
- *Market adjustments*—related to volume of sales, terms of conditions of sales and payments, credit terms
- Other type of adjustments—such as balance sheet adjustments, asset intensity adjustments
- *Risk related adjustments*—namely, linked to the how potential comparables include the same level of risks and management of risks.

The performance of comparability adjustments should also be considered in light of the costs and compliance burden, as it is not desirable to provide an exhaustive list of all types of adjustments, as state the TP Guidelines and EU JTPF. Moreover, for uncontrolled transactions (namely, on external comparables), the information may be limited, resulting in the impossibility of making accurate adjustments. Further, comparability adjustments should be made only to improve the comparability results. All comparability adjustments that were made should be explained with respect to how the conditions affect the price/margin and how the potential comparables were adjusted, and they should be properly documented.

For the business models and appropriate transfer pricing methods, to accurately delineate a controlled transaction with the conditions and economically relevant

⁴⁴Range from the 25th to the 75th percentile of the results derived from the uncontrolled transactions resulted into the 50% of observations which are closest to the median are considered as a reliable range of arm's length results. The extreme results (first 25% and last 25% of observations) are excluded from the results.

⁴⁵For more details, EU JTPF report available at: https://ec.europa.eu/taxation_customs/sites/taxa tion/files/jtpf0072017encomps.pdf

circumstances of comparable transactions between independent enterprises, how the business model operates in practice should be considered with the selection of the most appropriate transfer pricing method. There are different types of business models in practice; however, through the core functions performed, it is possible to categorize the business model on manufacturers, distributors and service provider, as states Bakker (2009).

For the manufacturing entities or service providers performing routine functions,⁴⁶ the arm's length price/margin is usually determined using the COST+ method (assuming that the CUP method cannot be applied). However, in practice, benchmarking difficulties may require the application of the cost-based TNMM method. This method is based on a modified COST+ method at the operating profit level, considering the return on total costs rather than the return on cost of goods sold, which is measured if the COST+ method is applied at the gross profit level. Generally, it is considered that the mark-up on total costs⁴⁷ based on the TNMM method is the most reliable indicator of the arm's length profits earned by independent manufacturers, as mentioned by Clark et al. (2008) and Bakker (2009). Furthermore, Bakker (2009) states that if a full-fledged manufacturer does not use valuable intangible assets, it is also possible to apply the COST+ or TNMM methods. However, when valuable intangible assets are used, it is difficult to identify comparable independent manufacturers owning comparable intangible assets. In this case, as Bakker (2009) and Kratzer (2008) further mention, it is better to test only the distribution companies involved in transactions with fullfledged manufacturer where full-fledged manufacturer would be evaluated based on the residual profits. In the case of distributing entities performing routine functions, the application of the COST+ method and cost-based TNMM method is usually unsuitable. Thus, the RPM method under which the transfer price is determined after deducting the gross margin from the sales price or the sales-based TNMM method, under which the transfer price is equal to the selling price minus cost of sales and net profit margin (in case of commissionaire, zero costs of sales enter the calculation because the commissionaire never owns the goods, i.e., never purchases it), should be applied.

To summarize the recommendations of the TP Guidelines on transfer pricing methods, Table 2.5 presents the selection of the most appropriate method to the circumstances of the case, as presented by Cottani (2016). It is necessary to highlight that selection of the most appropriate method is very complex issue, as is its application in practice; furthermore, "general" recommendations and guidance of the TP Guidelines refer to all enterprises, regardless of their size.

⁴⁶The routine entities do not assume complex functions and risks within the group, respectively bear little or no risk, perform a few functions and generate stable operating profit, see Bakker (2009).

⁴⁷Total cost ratio is determined as *Operating profit or loss/Total costs*. Total costs are calculated by subtracting *Operating profit and loss* from *Operating Revenue/Turnover*.

If CUP and another method can be applied in an equally reliable manner	\rightarrow CUP	
If not:		
Where one party to the transaction performs benchmarkable func- tions (e.g. manufacturing, distri- bution, services) with no valuable, unique intangible asset/risk	\rightarrow One-sided method \rightarrow Choice of the tested p	arty (seller/purchaser)
The tested party is the seller (e.g. contract manufacturing or provision of services)	$\begin{array}{l} \rightarrow \text{Cost-plus} \\ \rightarrow \text{Cost-based TNMM} \\ \rightarrow \text{Asset-based TNMM} \end{array}$	\rightarrow If cost-plus and TNMM can be applied in an equally reliable manner: cost-plus
The tested party is the buyer (e.g. marketing/distribution)		\rightarrow If resale price and TNMM can be applied in an equally reliable manner: resale price
Where each of the parties to the transaction contributes valuable unique intangibles/risks		

 Table 2.5
 Selection of the most appropriate method according to the circumstances of the case (Cottani 2016)

2.4 Transfer Pricing Documentation: Proof of the Arm's Length Standard

Transfer pricing documentation generally refers to a report justifying the setting of the transfer prices in uncontrolled transactions between associated enterprises and the fact that the transfer pricing price/margin is set at arm's length. To prepare transfer pricing documentation, the statutory documentation requirements are usually in place in almost all EU Member States, in contrast to the few of them that prefer the preparation transfer pricing documentation on a voluntary basis, i.e., that statutory documentation requirements are not in place.⁴⁸

The existence of different set of documentation requirements in the EU is one of the major tax obstacles to cross-border economic activities in the Internal Market. The preparation of separate and unique transfer pricing documentation in different EU Member States is considered uneconomic, as EU JTPF (2005) highlights. Moreover, this tax obstacle is perceived negatively by both LEs and SMEs. In this context, in a study⁴⁹ on company taxation in the internal market, the European Commission (2001) identified that high compliance costs of taxation are related to transfer pricing, specifically to a preparation of transfer pricing

⁴⁸For more details about EU Member States with/without statutory documentation requirements see Sect. 2.5.

⁴⁹For more details see https://ec.europa.eu/taxation_customs/sites/taxation/files/docs/body/com pany_tax_study_en.pdf

documentation and finding of comparables.⁵⁰ Commission (2001) concluded that better coordination between EU Member States in the area of transfer pricing documentation requirements, namely, a more uniform approach, would eliminate the tax obstacles. Consequently, in 2005, the EU JTPF released the Report on the Activities of the EU Joint Transfer Pricing Forum in the Field of Documentation *Requirements*⁵¹ and introduced the transfer pricing documentation requirements on an EU-wide common basis. The EU JTPF proposed implementing its proposal through "soft law", not through a European directive, leaving freedom for the EU Member States to determine how it could be implemented. Therefore, in 2006, the EU Council adopted the Code of conduct on transfer pricing documentation for associated enterprises in the EU^{52} (hereafter EU TPD). The EU TPD combines aspects of the standardized approach and the centralized documentation approach. Based on it, a group generally prepares one set of transfer pricing documents comprising two main parts: (i) one set of documentation containing common standardized information relevant for entire EU group, known as a master file and (ii) several sets of standardized documentation containing country-specific information at the country level, known as country-specific documentation (see Tables 2.6 and 2.7). Since that time, in accordance with the main purpose of the EU TPD (i.e., to standardize transfer pricing documentation requirements that associated enterprises must provide to the European tax authorities), the compliance costs of transfer pricing are reduced for EU groups. Moreover, associated enterprises from EU groups receive more certainty with respect to documentation requirements and protection against penalties.

Addressing the issue of documentation, after almost 11 years, the OECD also introduced a standardized approach to the transfer pricing documentation in the 2017 update of TP Guidelines as a result of the BEPS project. The TP Guidelines (Section C, Chapter V, OECD 2017) now recommend adopting a three-tiered standardized approach to transfer pricing documentation. This three-tiered approach includes (i) a master file containing standardized information relevant for entire group, (ii) a local file containing country-specific information for local associated enterprises, and (iii) a Country-by-Country Report containing certain information relating to the global allocation of group's income and taxes and economic activity within the group (see Tables 2.6 and 2.7).

⁵⁰Similar results were found in the case of SMEs, for details about compliance costs of transfer pricing see Chap. 4.

⁵¹For details see: https://ec.europa.eu/taxation_customs/sites/taxation/files/docs/body/12th-legis_rep_en.pdf

⁵²For details see: http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:42006X0728(01) &from=EN

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
OECD 2017—Chapter V	EU TPD
Master file—soft law	Master file—soft law
(a) Organisational structure	(a) General description of the business and
(b) Description of MNE's business(es)	business strategy
a. Important drivers of business profit;	(b) The group's organisation, legal and oper-
b. A description of the supply chain for the	ational structure
group's five largest products and/or service	(c) General identification of the associated
plus any other products and/or services	enterprises engaged in controlled transactions
amounting to more than 5% of group turnover;	(d) General description of the controlled
c. A list and brief description of important	transactions—flows of transactions, invoice
service arrangements between members of the	flows and amounts of transaction flows
MNE group;	(e) General description of functions and risks
d. A description of the main geographic	(f) Ownership of intangibles and royalties paid
markets for the group's products and services;	or received
e. A brief written functional analysis	(g) Inter-company transfer pricing policy
describing the principal contributions to value	(h) List of cost-contribution agreements,
creation by individual entities within the group;	APAs and rulings
f. A description of important business	(i) Undertaking by the taxpayer to provide
restructuring transactions	additional information upon request
(c) MINE's intangibles (as defined in	
Chapter VI of these Guidelines)	
a. A general description of the MINE's overall	
strategy for the development, ownership and	
b. A list of intengibles or groups of intengi	
bles	
c A list of important agreements among	
identified associated enterprises related to	
intangibles, including cost contribution	
arrangements, principal research service	
agreements and licence agreements	
d. A general description of the group's	
transfer pricing policies related to R&D and	
intangibles	
e. A general description of any important	
transfers of interests in intangibles among	
associated enterprises	
(d) MNE's intercompany financial activities	
a. A general description of how the group is	
financed, including important financing	
arrangements with unrelated lenders	
b. The identification of any members of the	
MNE group that provide a central financing	
function for the group	
c. A general description of the MNE's	
general transfer pricing policies related to	
nnancing	
(c) ININE 8 Infancial and tax positions	
a, The WINE'S annual consonuated infancial statement	
statement	

 Table 2.6
 Transfer pricing documentation requirements—OECD and EU perspective—Master file (TP Guidelines, OECD 2017; EU Council 2006/C176/01—EU TPD)

Table 2.6 (continued)

OECD 2017—Chapter V	EU TPD
Master file—soft law	Master file—soft law
b. A list and brief description of the MNE group's existing unilateral advance pricing agreements (APAs) and other tax rulings relat- ing to the allocation of income among countries	

Further, the TP Guidelines identify three objectives of transfer pricing documentation requirements (para 5.5, OECD 2017):

- to ensure that taxpayer's transfer pricing policy is at arm's length;
- to provide tax authorities with the information necessary to perform transfer pricing risk assessment; and
- to provide tax authorities with the information required to conduct a thorough audit of the transfer pricing practices.

From the taxpayer's perspective, the primary purpose of the transfer pricing documentation creation is the penalty protection and protection from transfer pricing adjustments. In accordance with the arm's length standard, the tax authority has a right to make a primary adjustment (i.e., to adjust the associated enterprise's taxable profits) if the commercial or financial relations in controlled transaction differ from those that would be made between independent enterprises. However, other benefits from the preparation of transfer pricing documentation can be identified:

- a higher degree of certainty with respect to penalty protection and primary adjustment;
- a useful proof-tool of the arm's length standard during tax proceedings, which increases the nature of the taxpayer's approach in the area of transfer pricing and in the case of MAP⁵³ or APA⁵⁴ procedures;
- it can eliminate problems during transfer pricing audits; and
- better cooperation with tax authorities, resulting in shorter tax audits.

⁵³Mutual agreement procedure—For more details see TP Guidelines, Chapter IV, OECD 2017. The MAP procedure can be opened through the Model Tax Convention on Income and on Capital 2014, Article 25, 2014, or EC Arbitration Convention on the elimination of double taxation in connection with the adjustment of profits of associated enterprises (90/463/EEC).

⁵⁴Advance pricing arrangements—Through an APA the taxpayer provides detailed information regarding the proposed transaction and its proposed transfer price to the tax authorities, and in return, if the tax authorities approve the proposed transfer price, the taxpayer can be certain not to be subject to primary adjustments of transfer prices and consequently of double taxation. APAs can be unilateral (where agreed between one tax administration and a taxpayer), bilateral (where agreed between two tax administrations with the taxpayer) and multinational (involving more than two tax administrations). The world's first APA as a prevention of disputes was concluded between the United States and Australia for Apple in 1991. For more details see also TP Guidelines, Chapter IV, OECD 2017.

 Table 2.7
 Transfer pricing documentation requirements—OECD and EU perspective—Local file

 (TP Guidelines, OECD 2017, EU Council, 2006/C176/01—EU TPD)

Despite the benefits that the transfer pricing documentation can bring, the preparation of transfer pricing documentation is considered burdensome, timeconsuming and expensive, particularly for small and medium sized enterprises (SMEs), which are usually less well-equipped than large enterprises (LEs) in terms of financial and human resources. SMEs usually use tax consultancy not only for the compliance of arm's length standard but also for all tax and accounting matters, which increase the compliance costs of taxation. Chittenden et al. (2000) state that SMEs bear 100 times higher taxation compliance costs than do LEs. OECD adds that compliance cost of taxation in case of SMEs represent 46% of incurred costs (OECD 2001).⁵⁵

However, the transfer pricing documentation is one of the required documents in the case of dispute prevention in the form of APA or in the case of dispute resolution mechanisms in the form of MAP through the OECD or EC procedure mechanisms, which can be used to eliminate the double taxation that could arise from a transfer pricing adjustment (primary adjustment).

As mentioned above, the OECD introduced another documentation requirement in the form of Country-by-Country reporting (hereafter CbCR) together with transfer pricing documentation requirements (master and local files), in accordance with the BEPS Action 13 minimum standard.⁵⁶ It focuses on corporate groups with a worldwide consolidated net turnover higher than EUR 750 million, which will share information with the tax authorities in each country in which they have a tax presence. This form of CbCR is considered a non-public CbCR and should help achieve transparency on corporate income taxes for tax administrations by providing them with adequate information (see Table 2.8) to assess high-level transfer pricing and other BEPS-related risks (namely, corporate tax avoidance, aggressive tax planning and double-non taxation). It is worth highlighting that the OECD recommendations are voluntary guidelines; thus, their implementation into domestic legal framework is deeply dependent on the willingness of each country. Currently, more than 30 jurisdictions⁵⁷ have signed over 700 bilateral exchange relationships committed to exchanging CbCR, with the first exchanges scheduled to occur in 2018. Moreover, other jurisdictions have been working on agreeing on bilateral competent authority agreements (hereafter CAAs) for the automatic exchange of CbCR under Double Tax Conventions or Tax Information Exchange Agreements.

From the EU perspective, the EU TPD does not currently provide any mechanism for the provision of a CbCR. However, CbCR will be exchanged newly and automatically between EU Member States under Directive 2016/881 on the mandatory automatic exchange of information in the field of taxation.⁵⁸ To minimize the costs and administrative burdens for both tax administrations and corporate

⁵⁵For more details about compliance costs of transfer pricing in case of SMEs, see Chap. 4.

⁵⁶For more details see http://www.oecd.org/tax/transfer-pricing-documentation-and-country-bycountry-reporting-action-13-2015-final-report-9789264241480-en.htm

⁵⁷At 4 May 2017. For more details see http://www.oecd.org/tax/beps/country-by-country-exchange-relationships.htm

⁵⁸European Commission (2016b), for more details see http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/ PDF/?uri=CELEX:32016L0881&from=en

groups, the CbCR is in line with the international developments of the OECD, i.e., an eligible corporate group having total consolidated group revenue higher than EUR 750 million. The first CbCR will be communicated for the fiscal year 2016, which will occur within 18 months of the last day of that fiscal year. Furthermore, other CbCR requirements for companies were established for specific sectors, for extractive industries and logging or primary forests under the Accounting Directive 2013/34/EU,⁵⁹ and for financial institutions under the Capital Requirements Directive 2013/36/EU, known as CRD IV.⁶⁰

However, the EU intends to go further than the OECD and establish a public CbCR, with the aim of ensuring public accountability and transparency. In this context, the proposal for a directive on the disclosure of income tax information by certain undertakings and branch (COM(2016) 198 final)⁶¹ providing for the public CbCR was released on 12 April 2016 and the report on CbCR was adopted by the European Parliament on 4 July 2017, which covers recommendations to amend the Commission's proposal. Based on it, corporate groups with a consolidated net turnover of EUR 750 million or higher will publicly provide, on an annual basis, information related to taxes paid at the place where profits are actually made (see Table 2.8). The CbCR will be published in a common template that is available for free by the public on the company's website in at least one of the EU's official languages and filed in a public registry managed by the Commission. With respect to the OECD CbCR requirements, the public CbCR requirements are similar.

This new obligation mainly requires eligible corporate groups to carefully explain the difference between the taxes accrued and the taxes paid for the public audience. Murphy (2012), as an architect of CbCR, highlights that CbCR can be considered a new and innovative form of accounting for globalization locally.⁶² The business community has expressed concerns that public CbCR could damage investment (by additional compliance requirements and costs on companies, and by forcing disclosure of sensitive information) contrary to civil society organizations, such as US NGOs, which called for the public CbCR. From the view of SMEs, the public CbCR generally targets only multinational enterprises (with the potential being engaged into the potentially aggressive tax planning transactions and whose consolidated net turnover exceeds EUR 750 million); thus, public CbCR would be a significant toll for preventing tax evasion and transferring the profits of those enterprises and would thus ensure a fairer distribution of fiscal pressure between SMEs and LEs.⁶³ However, many SMEs or branches

⁵⁹For more details see http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/? uri=CELEX:32013L0034&from=EN

⁶⁰For more details see http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ: L:2013:176:0338:0436:En:PDF

⁶¹European Commission (2016a), for more details see http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/ TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:52016PC0198&from=EN

⁶²For more details see http://www.taxresearch.org.uk/Documents/CBC2012.pdf

⁶³For more details see: http://www.eurodad.org/files/pdf/1546745-eight-reasons-why-public-countryby-country-reporting-is-good-for-business-in-europe-1493799184.pdf. And Impact assessment of public CbCR http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:52016SC0117& from=EN

OECD 2017—Chapter V	EU
Country-by-Country Report—soft law	Non-public Country-by-Country Report ^a -via
Overview of allocation of income, taxes and	Directive 2016/881
business activities by tax jurisdiction	The CbCR contain the following information
(a) Tax jurisdiction	with respect to the MNE Group:
(b) Revenues	(a) aggregate information relating to:
(c) Profit (Loss) before income tax	a. Amount of revenue,
(d) Income tax paid (on cash basis)	b. Profit (loss) before income tax,
(e) Income tax accrued (current year)	c. Income tax paid,
(f) Stated capital	d. Income tax accrued,
(g) Accumulated earnings	e. Stated capital,
(h) Number of employees	f. Accumulated earnings,
(i) Tangible assets other than cash and cash	g. Number of employees, and
equivalents	h. Tangible assets other than cash or cash
List of all the Constituent Entities of the MNE	equivalents with regard to each jurisdiction in
group included in each aggregation per tax	which the MNE Group operates
iurisdiction	(b) An identification of each:
(a) Constituent entities resident in the tax	a. Constituent Entity of the MNE Group
iurisdiction	setting out the jurisdiction of tax residence of
(b) Tax jurisdiction of organisation or incor-	that Constituent Entity and where different
poration if different from tax jurisdiction of	from that jurisdiction of tax residence.
residence	b. The jurisdiction under the laws of which
(c) Business activities	that Constituent Entity is organised and
a. Research and development	c. The nature of the main business activity or
b Holding or managing intellectual property	activities of that Constituent Entity
c Purchasing or procurement	Public ChCR via proposal of Directive COM
d Manufacturing or production	(2016) 198 final ^b
e Sales marketing or distribution	(a) The name of the ultimate mother-company
f Administrative management or support	and where applicable, the list of all its sub-
services	sidiaries,
g. Provision of services to unrelated parties	(b) A brief description of the nature of their
h. Internal group finance	activities and their respective geographical
i. Regulated financial services	location;
j. Insurance	(c) The number of employees on a full-time
k. Holding shares or other equity instruments	equivalent basis;
l. Dormant	(d) Fixed assets other than cash or cash
m. Other	equivalents;
	(e) The amount of the net turnover, including a
	distinction between the turnover made with
	related parties and the turnover made with
	unrelated parties:
	(f) Stated capital;
	(g) Details of public subsidies received and
	any donations made to politicians. political
	organisations or political foundations:
	(h) Whether companies, subsidiaries or
	branches benefit from a preferential tax treat-
	ment from a patent box or equivalent regimes

 Table 2.8
 CbCR—OECD and EU perspective (TP Guidelines, OECD 2017; EU Council 2006/ C176/01—EU TPD, Directive 2016/881 and Proposal Directive COM(2016)198)

^aCbCR is not a part of the EU TPD

^bCurrently, CbCR is introduced through the proposal of Directive COM(2016) 198 final, the report on CbCR was adopted by the European Parliament at July 2017. A vote in the Council has not yet been scheduled

fall into the group of multinational enterprises; thus, they will have new obligations, resulting in higher taxation compliance costs.

To summarize, the OECD recommendations represent voluntary guidelines, soft law legal instruments, which recommend preparing the transfer pricing documentation based on the three-tiered approach (i.e., a master file, a local file and non-public CbCR). A similar approach can be identified in the area of the European Union, where the EU TPD is recommended via the Code of Conduct, covering a master file and country specific documentation. As shown in Tables 2.6 and 2.7, the scope of information needed for the preparation of the transfer pricing documentation is similar in both cases. However, a completely different way is applied for the CbCR, where the directive was used for the implementation of disclosure of income tax information by certain undertakings and branches in the European Union. The objective of new obligations is to ensure greater public transparency and the fight against base erosion and profit shifting. Therefore, the application of soft law legal instruments would not be appropriate. In contrast to the OECD, the EU developed the CbCR tool further. As the EU is closer to adopt the public CbCR on top of the non-public CbCR to publicly disclose information about the taxes paid at the place where profits are actually made. However, as is obvious from Table 2.8, the scope of disclosed information is similar for the CbCR. SMEs are excluded from the obligation of the CbCR, but some of them are members of eligible corporate groups; thus, they may be subjected to those obligations.

2.5 Simplified Transfer Pricing Rules for SMEs

Concerning the primary purpose of the TP Guidelines, it is clear that it sets treatments of transfer pricing issues with respect to multinational enterprises. However, the TP Guidelines make no direct distinction between the types or sizes of multinational enterprises; i.e., all enterprises, regardless of their size, are subject to the same principles and recommendations. The transfer pricing rules are complex, and applying the arm's length principle can be a resource-intensive process because it may impose heavy compliance costs. Moreover, those costs can be disproportionately large for SMEs in comparison to LEs. This fact is recognized in the TP Guidelines several times⁶⁴...compliance burden may be disproportionate to the size of the taxpayers, its functions performed, and the transfer pricing risks inherent in its controlled transactions...although the arm's length principle applies equally to SMEs and transactions, pragmatic solutions may be appropriate in order to make it possible to fide a reasonable response to each transfer pricing case. Therefore, in the case of SMEs, the "one size fits all" approach is not suitable because SMEs are usually less well-equipped with financial and human resources than LEs and are usually not engaged in the aggressive tax planning, as states the

 $^{^{64}\}text{TP}$ Guidelines, OECD 2017, namely in section C, Chapter III., section E, Chapter IV. and section B and D, Chapter V.

European Commission (2016c).⁶⁵ Moreover, they usually use tax consultancy not only for the compliance of arm's length standard but also for all tax and accounting matters, which increases the compliance costs of taxation.⁶⁶ In the case of SMEs, greater simplicity in transfer pricing administration and improving the efficiency and effectiveness of transfer pricing enforcement are essential. Many countries are aware of this fact, and therefore, SMEs can apply simplified transfer pricing measurements.⁶⁷ This approach is also supported by the EU JTPF, which in its reports⁶⁸ recommends the use of the simplified transfer pricing measurements, namely, in the form of safe harbours as a way to provide a measure of simplification for SMEs and to save on administrative resources and reduce the compliance burden. A similar approach can also be found in the UN Transfer Pricing Manual, which contains a comprehensive and pragmatic discussion of safe harbour provisions. Based on the general practice of countries and with the aim to ensure a globally consistent approach of simplified transfer pricing measurements, the OECD relaunched the safe harbours⁶⁹ provisions through the partial update of TP Guidelines in 2013 and further in 2017.⁷⁰ It has to be mentioned that until that time,

https://ec.europa.eu/taxation_customs/sites/taxation/files/docs/body/jtpf_020_rev3_2009.pdf

⁶⁵There is highlighted that SMEs as companies with no cross-border activities have often neither the means nor the possibilities to develop a tax optimization strategy at the international level and therefore their aggressive tax planning possibilities are fewer. Moreover, they pay on average 30% higher tax than similar companies with the international activities. For more details see Impact assessment of public CbCR, SWD(2016) 117final. http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:52016SC0117&from=EN

⁶⁶For more details about compliance costs of taxation, namely transfer pricing see Chap. 4.

⁶⁷In accordance with the OECD survey from 2011 and 2012 was emerged that 80% of respondent countries have transfer pricing simplification measures in place and 75% of measurements are directed to SMEs, small transactions and low value adding intra-group services. For more details see OECD: Multi-country analysis of existing transfer pricing simplification measures, 2011, 2012, available at:

http://www.oecd.org/tax/transfer-pricing/48131481.pdf http://www.oecd.org/tax/transfer-pricing/50517144.pdf

⁶⁸Safe harbour approach was mentioned in reports *Transfer Pricing and Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises*, 2011 and *Guidelines on Low Value Adding Intra-Group Services*, 2010. Available at:

http://ec.europa.eu/taxation_customs/sites/taxation/files/resources/documents/taxation/com pany_tax/transfer_pricing/forum/jtpf/2011/jtpf_001_final_2011_en.pdf

⁶⁹Based on the para 4.102 of TP Guidelines, OECD 2017, safe harbour is defined as "A safe harbour is a provision that applies to a defined category of taxpayers or transactions and that relieves eligible taxpayers from certain obligations otherwise imposed by a country's general transfer pricing rules. A safe harbour substitutes simple obligations, for those under the general transfer pricing regime. Such a provision could, for example, allow taxpayers to establish transfer prices in a specific way, e.g. by applying a simplified transfer pricing approach provided by the tax administration. Alternatively, a safe harbour could exempt a defined category taxpayers or transactions from the application of all or part of the general transfer pricing rules. Often, eligible taxpayers complying with the safe harbour provision will be relieved form burdensome compliance obligations, including some or all associated transfer pricing documentation requirements." For more details about safe harbor see Chap. 5.

⁷⁰At 16 May 2013 the OECD Council approved the Revised Section E on Safe Harbours in Chapter IV of the TP Guidelines as a partial solution of the project about administrative aspects and compliance issues of transfer pricing.

the view of the OECD on the safe harbours was generally negative, and its application was considered to be incompatible with the arm's length principle.

In the EU, specific-size indicators are commonly used for transfer pricing. As is obvious from Fig. 2.2 and Table 2.9, specific-size indicators can be identified in four basic forms:

- company-size indicators—which prevails in the EU, namely, in Austria, Belgium, France, Estonia, Ireland, Italy, Lithuania, Portugal, Spain and the United Kingdom. In this case, the same or different thresholds described in the definition of SMEs through EC Recommendation 2003/361 are used.
- · transaction-size indicators are used in Germany, Poland, Romania and Sweden.
- combination of company-size and transaction-size indicators—cumulatively or alternatively—Bulgaria, Greece and Latvia cumulatively use both indicators, company- and transaction-size indicators, and Denmark, Finland and Hungary use both indicators alternatively, i.e., company- or transaction-size indicators.
- no formal size-indicators are applied in Croatia, the Czech Republic, Luxembourg, Netherlands, Slovak Republic and Slovenia.



Fig. 2.2 Current application of size indicators in the EU for transfer pricing purposes (own compilation through Google Charts)

	Statutory documentation		Decumentation			
MC	Vac	No	Eull	Simplified	Examplian	Exercise from TD miles
MS AT	Tes	INO	Full	Simplified	Exemption	Exemption from TP rules
AT	✓ ✓			B.	1	
BE	1				B	
BG		1		B ^{2,3}	A	
CZ		\checkmark				
DK	1				A^1, B^3	
DE	1				B ⁴ , E	
EE	1				B ³	
EL	\checkmark			B^1	A^1, B^4	
ES	1			B ¹ ,	A^1, E	
FI	\checkmark			A ¹	B^1	
FR	\checkmark		B^3			
HR		1				
HU	\checkmark				A^1, B^4, E	
IE		1				В
IT	1			B^1		
LV	1				B^1	
LT	1				B^1	
LU	\checkmark		В			
NL	\checkmark		В			
PL	\checkmark				$A^1, B^{1,4}$	Е
РТ	\checkmark				B^1	
RO	1		B^1		A ¹	
SI	\checkmark			В		
SK	\checkmark			B ³		
SE	1			A ¹		
UK		1			E	B ³

 Table 2.9
 Transfer pricing documentation requirements and exemption from the transfer pricing rules—SMEs and small transaction perspective (Deloitte 2016; PwC 2015; IBFD 2017)

Note: Malta and Cyprus were excluded from the research

A-small transaction, B-SMEs, E-other situation

1) Based on the statutory thresholds related to revenue, costs or turnover 2) for micro entities 3) under special conditions 4) for micro and small entities

In addition, Member States often combine the above-mentioned indicators with qualified indicators, such as not being counterparty to transaction in tax havens.

Furthermore, with respect to SMEs or small transactions, several forms of simplified transfer pricing measurements can be identified in the EU: whole or partial exemptions from transfer pricing documentation requirements (i.e., simplified transfer pricing documentation), simplified APA procedures or reduced APA charges, different penalty regimes, or full exemptions from transfer pricing rules through specific-size indicators established for transfer pricing purposes by Member States.

2.5.1 Simplified Transfer Pricing Measurements: Documentation

The transfer pricing documentation is necessary to prove to the tax authorities that a transfer pricing policy is at arm's length. Therefore, almost all EU Member States (21 Member States) introduced a statutory transfer pricing documentation requirements following the TP Guidelines or EU TPD in their legal framework, in contrast to the five EU Member States that kept different approaches—the taxpayer should maintain evidence to justify the relevant transfer pricing policy, so no statutory transfer pricing documentation requirements is needed (for more details, see Table 2.9 and Fig. 2.3). This approach gives flexibility in terms of the form of the transfer pricing documentation produced and reduces the compliance costs of taxation. However, although no statutory transfer pricing documentation requirements are in place, it is recommended to follow non-legally binding documents



Fig. 2.3 Documentation requirements in relation to size in the EU (own compilation through Google Charts)

reflecting the TP Guidelines or EU TPD, as in the Czech Republic,⁷¹ Croatia⁷² and Bulgaria,⁷³ and to submit transfer pricing documentation upon the request of tax authorities, usually during a tax audit. It is necessary to note that two EU Member States wholly exclude SMEs from transfer pricing rules—the United Kingdom and Ireland.

If we look at the details on the specific measurements for SMEs or small transactions in the case of transfer pricing documentation requirements, we can distinguish six different groups among Member States (see Fig. 2.3):

- 1. Member States exempt from transfer pricing rules
- 2. Member States exempt from TPD
- 3. Member States provide voluntary TPD
- 4. Member States provide full scope TPD
- 5. Member States provide simplified TPD
- 6. Member States exempt from TPD and simplified TPD

The *first group* covers only two Member States—Ireland and the United Kingdom, which apply a voluntary approach to transfer pricing documentation requirements and allow a full exemption of SMEs from the transfer pricing rules. In the case of *Ireland*, SMEs are outside the scope of transfer pricing legislation,⁷⁴ whose definition is based on the EC Recommendation (2003), i.e., company-size indicators. In the case of the *United Kingdom*, the SMEs⁷⁵ are excluded from the transfer pricing legislation, provided that their counterparty to the transaction is a resident in a qualifying territory,⁷⁶ and in the case of Ireland, company-size indicators are applied through the EC Recommendation (2003). Furthermore, the United Kingdom allows companies that were qualified as dormant⁷⁷ as of 31 March 2004 to be excluded from the preparation of TPD. For more details, see Table 2.9 and Fig. 2.3.

The *second group* covers nine Member States (Belgium, Denmark, Estonia, Germany, Hungary, Latvia, Lithuania, Poland and Portugal) and allows an exemption of SME and/or small transactions from the obligation to prepare the transfer pricing documentation. In the case of *Belgium*, since 2016, every Belgian entity or permanent establishment (hereafter PE) has been exempt from the obligation of TPD in accordance with the company-size indicators, particularly if (i) operational and financial revenues do not exceed EUR 50 million, (ii) a balance sheet total does not exceed EUR 1 billion, or (iii) the annual average number of employees do not

⁷¹Decree 334—Communication by the Ministry of Finance in respect of the scope of transfer pricing documentation.

⁷²Guidelines for auditing transfer prices for tax inspectors issued in 2014.

⁷³Transfer Pricing Manual Guidelines.

⁷⁴Based on the Taxes Consolidation Act 1997, section 35A inserted by the Irish Finance Act 2010.
⁷⁵Via definition stated in the EC Recommendation 2003.

⁷⁶Based on the Taxation (International and Other provisions) Act 2010. A list of qualifying territories is available in International Manual at INTM412090.

⁷⁷The term of dormant is defined in section 1169 of the Companies Act of 2006.

exceed 100 full-time equivalents. In the case of *Denmark*, SMEs⁷⁸ are exempt from the obligation, provided they do not have controlled transactions with companies and other party to transactions in tax havens, as is the case of Estonia. In *Germany*, tax authorities exclude small enterprises from the obligation to prepare TPD through a transaction-size indicator, particularly if the remuneration for intergroup deliveries of tangible goods is less than EUR 5 million and is less than EUR 500,000 for other transactions. Moreover, taxpayers generating income from business relationships other than profit income are excluded. In the case of Lithuania, SMEs are excluded from the obligation to prepare TPD if they are not financial and credit institutions or insurance companies or if they are entities or PE with revenues exceeding EUR 2,896,200. In Latvia, a combination of companyand transaction-size indicators are used, and SMEs are exempted from TPD if their turnover does not exceed EUR 1.43 million and they do not have a controlled transaction with an associated enterprise in an amount exceeding EUR 14.300. In Portugal, only the company-size indicator is used; SMEs not exceeding the turnover threshold in the amount of EUR 3 million per year are excluded from the obligation to prepare TPD. In the case of Hungary, SMEs are not required to prepare TPD⁷⁹; however, there are further exemptions through Article 18(1), (3) or (5) of the Corporate Income Tax.⁸⁰ In *Poland*, transaction-size indicators are used; however, SMEs are not obliged to prepare TPD⁸¹ if transactions do not exceed thresholds (i) EUR 100,000, if the value of the transaction does not exceed 20% of the share capital, (ii) EUR 30,000 in the case of performance of services, sale or marketing available of intangible assets and legal values, or (iii) EUR 50,000 in the remaining cases of transactions. However, all entities that are nevertheless associated or non-related must prepare TPD if a transaction is made directly or indirectly for benefits of tax havens resident and exceeding EUR 20,000. Further, since 2015, groups of fruits and vegetables producers and agricultural producers have been wholly excluded from the transfer pricing rules. For further details, see Table 2.9 and Fig. 2.3.

The *third group* covers only two Member States, the *Czech Republic* and *Croatia*, which maintain a different approach in the form of non-legally binding transfer pricing documentation requirements that follow TP Guidelines and EU

⁷⁸Defined as companies that (i) employ fewer than 250 persons and (ii) have an annual turnover not exceeding DKK 250 million or an annual balance sheet not exceeding DKK 125 million.

⁷⁹According to the Corporate Income Tax, Article 18(3) and 18(5). Further, definition of small enterprise is mentioned in the Act on Small and Medium-sized Enterprises and the Support Provided to Such Enterprises known as SME Act.

⁸⁰Such as, a transaction with the APA decision, cost recharge transactions under specific conditions, transaction not exceeding the threshold of HUF 50 million, stock exchange transactions, or transaction with the state-dictated prices or any prices determined in a legal regulation, transactions between domestic PE and its associated party if tax base is determined on the basis of tax treaties, and in entity in which the Hungarian state has direct or indirect majority control or publicbenefit non-profit organizations.

⁸¹In accordance with new Corporate Income Tax Act effecting from 1 January 2017.

TPD. In both countries, no special rules for SMEs or small transactions are applied. For further details, see Table 2.9 and Fig. 2.3.

The *fourth group* covers three Member States, *France, Netherlands and Luxembourg*, which provide a full scope of transfer pricing documentation requirements, regardless of the size of entity or transactions. However, in the case of *France*, SMEs⁸² outside the scope of the new rules under Article L13 AA and L13AB of the Tax Procedure Code (i.e., they follow rules under L13 B of Tax Procedure Code), are subject to less strict deadlines for the submission of TPD and penalties. For further details, see Table 2.9 and Fig. 2.3.

The *fifth group* covers five Member States, Austria, Italy, the Slovak Republic, Slovenia and Sweden, that allow simplified transfer pricing documentation to be submitted for SMEs or small transactions under special conditions. In Austria, the company-size indicator is applied, and SMEs not exceeding a turnover threshold of EUR 50 million (in each of the two preceding years) can prepare simplified TPD through administrative guidelines (i.e., without obligation to prepare a master file and local file). The same approach is applied in *Italy*, where SMEs⁸³ can prepare the simplified TPD, which will be updated on a 3-year basis, rather than on an annual basis, as is the case for other enterprises. In the case of the *Slovak Republic*, the simplified TPD can be prepared if SMEs report in Slovak GAAP; otherwise (when reporting under IFRS), the full scope TPD must be prepared. For Slovenia, in accordance with the Tax Procedure Act and the principle of proportionality, smaller and less complex enterprises should be subject to the simplified TPD. In Sweden, the transaction-size indicator is used, and based on it, the simplified TPD can be prepared for inter-group transactions of limited value.⁸⁴ For further details, see Table 2.9 and Fig. 2.3.

The *last group* covers five Member States, Bulgaria, Greece, Finland, Romania and Spain, which exempt SMEs or small transactions from the obligation to prepare TPD and/or allow simplified transfer pricing documentation to be prepared. In *Greece*, the simplified procedure for very small and small enterprises as well as exemptions from the TPD for very small enterprises are allowed.⁸⁵ Furthermore, Greece uses a combination of company- and transaction-size indicators to determine exemptions from transactions for TPD obligation, particularly if the transactions do not exceed EUR 100,000 in total, the gross revenues per year do not exceed EUR 5 million, and if transactions do not exceed EUR 200,000 in total and gross revenues per year exceed EUR 5 million. In addition, Interpretative

⁸²SMEs are defined as an entity having less than 250 employees, turnover lower than EUR 50 million or total assets less than EUR 43 million via EC Recommendation 2003/361.

⁸³SMEs defined as enterprises with an annual turnover of less than EUR 50 million.

⁸⁴In accordance with Tax Agency regulations (SKVFS 20017:1) transactions relating to the sale or purchase of goods with a total market value of a max. SEK 27 million (630 basis), and other transactions of a total aggregated market value of a max. SEK 5 million (125 basis).

⁸⁵For more details see amendment of the Income Tax Code by law 4410/2016.

Circulars⁸⁶ published by the Ministry of Finance provide additional exemptions. In the case of *Spain*, the Royal Decree provides (through the company-size indicator) a simplified TPD to entities with a turnover of less than EUR 45 million. The exemption from the TPD is allowed⁸⁷ in the case of transactions taking bid or a public stock offering, in the case of transactions conducted with the same related individual or entity when the aggregate consideration for all the transactions does not exceed EUR 250,000, for transactions between companies that are involved in a tax consolidation group and for joint ventures under special conditions. In the case of Romania, SMEs must submit the full scope of TPD if the minimum thresholds of controlled transactions are reached: (i) EUR 50,000 (EUR 200,000 in the case of LEs) in the case of interest received or paid for financial services, (ii) EUR 50,000 (EUR 250,000 in the case of LEs) with respect to transactions or services received or provided, or (iii) EUR 100,000 (EUR 350,000 in the case of LEs) with respect to transactions for purchases of sales of tangible and intangible assets. In *Bulgaria*, the taxpayer is obliged to hold only the evidence that proves that its relations with associated enterprises are in line with the arm's length principle. The preparation of TPD is on a voluntary basis. Based on the Transfer Pricing Manual, transactions are exempted from the evidence through the transaction-size indicator, particularly if they do not exceed (i) BGN 200,000 in the case of delivery of goods, (ii) BGN 200,000 in the case of providing services, (iii) BGN 400,000 in the case of granting intangible assets, and (iv) BGN 400,000 in the case of interest charged, where loans are granted. The simplified TPD (evidence) should be performed for a (i) taxpayer not exceeding thresholds above which the other party is a non-resident person from a non-EU Member States, under specific conditions, and (ii) taxpaver not exceeding thresholds above which the rate of operating profits is more than 20% lower than the average for the relevant economic sector, under specific conditions. Moreover, based on the Bulgarian Transfer Pricing Manual, micro enterprises should be exempted from the evidence of transfer prices; however, due to the different definitions mentioned in the Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises Act and Accountancy Act, it is recommended that they prepare the simplified TPD (evidence). In the case of *Finland*, SMEs⁸⁸ are excluded from the obligation to prepare TPD. The simplified TPD can be prepared in the case of insignificant transactions through the Law on Tax Procedure based on the transaction-size indicator-the amount of the transaction does not exceed EUR 500,000. For further details, see Table 2.9 and Fig. 2.3.

⁸⁶See No. 1093/22.4.2015 at 22.4.2015 and 1142/2015 providing that legal entities that are exempted from income tax are also exempted from transfer pricing documentation obligations e.g. portfolio investment companies.

⁸⁷In accordance with Article 18.3 of the Corporate Income Tax Law 27/2014 of 27 November 2014.

⁸⁸Via EC Recommendation 2003/361.

2.5.2 Other Simplified Transfer Pricing Measurements

Other simplified transfer pricing measurements that can be identified in the EU with respect to small transactions or SMEs include a simplified APA procedure, reduced APA charge or different penalty regime through specific-size indicators established for transfer pricing purposes by Member States. For further details, see Table 2.10.

As regard APAs, *Romania* offers a reduced APA charge, i.e., one-half of the general APA fee for micro entities,⁸⁹ as does Germany. However, in *Germany*, the reduced APA charge⁹⁰ is offered only for small entities⁹¹ performing small transactions, particularly intercompany tangible goods transactions below EUR 5,000,000 and other intercompany transactions below EUR 500,000. As is obvious, Germany applies the combination of company- and transaction-size indicators, contrary to Romania, which uses only company-size indicators. In *France*, the simplified APA procedure⁹² is available for SMEs⁹³ whose capital or voting rights are held for 25% or more by one or several companies. Through the simplified APA procedure, tax authorities offer assistance in the area of an economic analysis, the finding of comparables and definition of transfer pricing policy. A similar approach for SMEs is offered in the *Netherlands* to help SMEs find comparables through simplified the APA procedure.⁹⁴

Type of simplified measurement	Member States	Small transactions	SMEs
APA	DE	А	B—fee
	FR		B—procedure
	NL		B—procedure
	RO ^a		B ^a —fee
Penalty	FR, SI		В

 Table 2.10
 Other transfer pricing simplified measurements—SMEs and small transaction perspective (Deloitte 2016; PwC 2015; IBFD 2017)

A—small transaction, B—SMEs

^afor micro entities

Note: Malta and Cyprus were excluded from the research

⁸⁹Based on the Article 17.1. of the Government Decision 529/2007 concerning the APA, the APA fee is normally EUR 10,000 and EUR 20,000 in the case of large taxpayers. For more details about APA see Government Decision 529/2007 and Romania Tax Procedure Code.

⁹⁰Based on the section 178a of the General Tax Code, the APA fee is normally EUR 20,000.

⁹¹It is defined in section 6 para 2 of the Decree Law on transfer pricing documentation issued in 2003.

⁹²Based on the Official bulletin of the tax administration SJ-REC-20-30-20,120,912.

⁹³SMEs are defined as an entity having less than 250 employees, turnover lower than EUR 50 million or total assets less than EUR 43 million via EC Recommendation 2003/361.

⁹⁴For more detail see Decree of the State Secretary – DGB 2014/3098 dated 3 June 2014.

For the penalty regime, only *France* and *Slovenia*⁹⁵ offer an alleviated penalties regime for SMEs. Moreover, in France, less strict deadlines for the submission of TPD or other information during the tax audit are offered to SMEs.

2.6 Conclusion and Recommendations

To summarize, the TP Guidelines are a key pillar of the practical application of the arm's length principle and focus on transfer pricing issues with respect to multinational enterprises, which are generally LEs rather than SMEs. Moreover, in theory, all enterprises, regardless of their size, are subject to the same principles and recommendations, so there is no direct distinction between the types or sizes of entities. However, the compliance activities performed by SMEs generate higher compliance costs of taxation than faced by LEs. In respect of SMEs, we consider that the application of transfer pricing rules in accordance with Article 9 of the OECD Model Convention and with the recommendations included in the TP Guidelines is very complex and that its application for SMEs is connected to certain difficulties. These difficulties are compounded by the fact there is neither a common definition of SMEs for tax purposes in the EU nor symmetry of treatment for this issue. Furthermore, the costs associated with transfer pricing matters can be disproportionally large for SMEs in comparison to LEs for both the taxpayer and the tax administration. Therefore, we believe that a "one-size fits all" approach is not possible for SMEs facing transfer pricing issues.

Because SMEs are not able to ensure all required information related to transfer pricing issues (specifically comparable and functional analysis due to the lack of human and financial capital) and use tax and accounting consultancy experts, which result in ever-higher compliance costs⁹⁶ of taxation than LEs, the introduction of simplified transfer pricing measurements can be a suitable solution. As proven by the analysis of simplified measurements in the EU for SMEs or small transactions, several Member States use whole or partial exemption from transfer pricing documentation requirements, simplified APA procedures or reduced APA charges, different penalty regimes, or full exemption from transfer pricing rules. However, after the relaunching of the safe harbour provision in the TP Guidelines, the application of safe harbour⁹⁷ in the form of the arm's length range for SMEs in different industry activities should be strongly considered. This approach can eliminate the considerable burden of compliance costs of taxation and make transfer pricing issues easier for SMEs. As a result, SMEs would not be required to perform the comparable and functional analyses that are needed to determine the arm's length prices or margins. As is obvious, the identification of potential

⁹⁵For more details see Article 397 a 398 of Tax Procedure Act.

⁹⁶For more details about compliance costs of taxation see Chap. 4.

⁹⁷For more details about safe harbours, see Chap. 5.

comparables depends on a deep analysis of the taxpayer's controlled transaction and the relevant comparability factors, whose process should be consistent, transparent, systematic and verifiable, with the aim of selecting an appropriate transfer pricing method and concluding whether the controlled transaction is consistent with the arm's length principle.

Currently, there is proof that income shifting between enterprises is occurring, regardless of the existence of the arm's length principle, because transfer pricing is used as a tax planning tool and because the arm's length standard does not reflect economic reality and cannot ensure the fairest and most reliable basis for the determination where profits are to be taxed, as state Avi-Yonah and Clausing (2007), Durst (2010, 2011), Avi-Yonah and Benshalom (2010), Keuschnigg and Devereux (2013), Taylor et al. (2015), Bartelsman and Beetsma (2000), Wells and Lowell (2014), Hines and Rice (1994), Huizinga and Laeven (2006), Swenson (2001) and others. Therefore, another alternative approach should be considered. One solution could be Common (Consolidated) Corporate Tax Base (which is considered in more detail in Chap. 6), which could better reflect the economic reality of corporate entities and, in its consolidated form, could help eliminate the problems inherent to transfer pricing issues.

Acknowledgement The chapter is the result of the GA ČR no. 15-24867S "Small and medium size enterprises in global competition: Development of specific transfer pricing methodology reflecting their specificities".

References

- Avi-Yonah RS, Benshalom I (2010) Formulary apportionment myths and prospects. Empirical Legal Studies Center working paper no. 10-029. University of Michigan Law School
- Avi-Yonah RS, Clausing KA (2007) Reforming corporate taxation in a global economy: a proposal to adopt formulary apportionment. The Hamilton Project. http://www.hamiltonproject.org/assets/ legacy/files/downloads_and_links/Reforming_Corporate_Taxation_in_a_Global_Economy-_A_ Proposal_to_Adopt_Formulary_Apportionment.pdf. Accessed 20 Jul 2017
- Bakker A (2009) Transfer pricing and business restructurings streamlining all the way. IBFD, Amsterdam
- Bartelsman E, Beetsma R (2000) Why pay more? Corporate tax avoidance through transfer pricing in OECD countries. Tinbergen Institute discussion paper no. 00-54/2. http://www. rrojasdatabank.info/wir2006/pricetransfer.pdf. Accessed 02 May 2017
- Buus T (2009) Vhodný kalkulační vzorec s ohledem na rozhodování o ceně (transferové ceně) a maximalizaci hodnoty podniku. Český finanční a účetní časopis 4(2):33–45
- Carrol MB (1933) Taxation of foreign and national enterprises: vol IV, Methods of allocating taxable income. http://archive.org/stream/taxationofforeig031922mbp/taxationofforeig031922mbp_djvu. txt. Accessed 21 Nov 2012
- Chittenden F, Michaelas N, Poutziouris P (2000) Small business taxation: an agenda for growth. Manchester Business School, EDC
- Clark D, Mitra A, Mensch J (2008) Considering transfer pricing in tax planning. In: Green G (ed) Transfer pricing manual. BNA International, London, pp 262–282
- Cottani G (2016) Transfer pricing. IBFD, online updated at November 2016, IBFD Research Platform

- Deloitte (2016) 2016 Global transfer pricing country guide. https://www2.deloitte.com/content/ dam/Deloitte/us/Documents/Tax/us-tax-2016-global-transfer-pricing-country-guide-051816. pdf. Accessed 20 May 2017
- Durst MC (2010) It's not just academic: the OECD should reevaluate transfer pricing laws. Tax Analysts, 18 January. https://www.taxjustice.net/cms/upload/pdf/Durst_1001_OECD_-_not_ just_academic.pdf. Accessed 20 Jul 2017
- Durst MC (2011) The two worlds of transfer pricing policymaking. Tax Notes, 24 January. https://www.taxjustice.net/cms/upload/pdf/Durst_1101_Tax_Notes_TP.pdf. Accessed 20 Jul 2017
- EU Council (2006) Code of conduct on transfer pricing documentation for associated enterprises in the European Union (EU TPD), (2006/C176/01). http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/ TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:42006X0728(01)&from=EN. Accessed 21 May 2017
- EU JTPF (2005) Report on the activities of the EU joint transfer pricing forum in the field of documentation requirements. DOC: JTPF/020/REV4/2004/EN. https://ec.europa.eu/taxation_ customs/sites/taxation/files/docs/body/12th-legis_rep_en.pdf. Accessed 15 May 2017
- EU JTPF (2011) Guidelines on low value adding intra-group services. COM(2011) 16 final. http://ec. europa.eu/taxation_customs/resources/documents/taxation/company_tax/transfer_pricing/forum/ c_2011_16_en.pdf. Accessed 20 May 2017
- EU JTPF (2016) Report on the use of comparables in the EU. DOC: JTPF/007/2016/FINAL/EN. https://ec.europa.eu/taxation_customs/sites/taxation/files/jtpf0072017encomps.pdf. Accessed 20 Jun 2017
- European Commission (2001) Company taxation in the internal market. Commission Staff working paper, SEC(2001)1681. https://ec.europa.eu/taxation_customs/sites/taxation/files/ docs/body/company_tax_study_en.pdf. Accessed 15 Jun
- European Commission (2003) Recommendation 2003/361/EC of 6 May 2003. http://eur-lex. europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2003:124:0036:0041:en:PDF. Accessed 10 Feb 2017
- European Commission (2016a) Proposal for a directive of the European Parliament and of the Council Amending Directive 2013/34/EU as regards disclosure of income tax information by certain undertakings and branches. COM(2016) 198 final. http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-con tent/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:52016PC0198&from=EN. Accessed 20 Jun 2017
- European Commission (2016b) Council Directive (EU) 2016/881 of 25 May 2016 Amending Directive 2011/16/EU as regards mandatory automatic exchange of information in the field of taxation. http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32016L0881& from=en. Accessed 15 Jun 2017
- European Commission (2016c) Commission Staff working document impact assessment assessing the potential for further transparency on income tax information accompanying the document proposal for a Directive of the European Parliament and of the Council Amending Directive 2013/34/EU as regards disclosure of income tax information by certain undertakings and branches. SWD(2016) 117 final. http://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/? uri=CELEX:52016SC0117&from=EN. Accessed 15 Jun 2017
- European Parliamentary Research Service (2015) Aggressive corporate tax planning under scrutiny. http://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/ATAG/2015/571345/EPRS_ATA(2015) 571345_EN.pdf. Accessed 20 Jun 2017
- Hines JR Jr, Rice EM (1994) Fiscal paradise: foreign tax havens and American business. Q J Econ 109(1):149–182
- Huizinga H, Laeven L (2006) International profit shifting within multinationals: a multi-country perspective. European economy, Economic papers 260. http://ec.europa.eu/economy_finance/ publications/publication590_en.pdf. Accessed 15 May 2017
- IBFD (2017) Transfer pricing. Tax research platform. Selected countries: Austria, Belgium, Bulgaria, Czech Republic, Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Netherlands, Hungary, Ireland, Italy, Latvia, Luxembourg, Poland, Portugal, Romania, Slovenia, Slovak Republic, Spain, Sweden, United Kingdom

- Keuschnigg C, Devereux M (2013) The arm's length principle and distortions to multinational firm organization. J Int Econ 89(2):432–440
- King E (2010) Transfer pricing and corporate taxation; problems, practical implications and proposed solutions. Springer, New York
- Kratzer C (2008) Transfer pricing methods. In: Green G (ed) Transfer pricing manual. BNA International, London, pp 21–55
- Murphy R (2012) Country-by-country reporting, accounting for globalisation locally. Tax Justice Network. http://www.taxresearch.org.uk/Documents/CBC2012.pdf. Accessed 20 Jul 2017
- OECD (1977) Model tax convention on income and capital, condensed version. http://online.ibfd. org/collections/ttmodel/html/tt_o2_02_eng_1977_cm_td1.html#tt_o2_02_eng_1977_cm. Accessed 13 Nov 2012
- OECD (1992) Model tax convention on income and capital: condensed version. OECD, Paris
- OECD (1997) Transfer pricing guidelines for multinational enterprises and tax administrations. OECD, Paris
- OECD (2001) Businesses' views on red tape. Administrative and regulatory burdens on small and medium-sized enterprises. OECD, Paris
- OECD (2010a) Model tax convention on income and capital: condensed version. OECD, Paris
- OECD (2010b) Transfer pricing guidelines for multinational enterprises and tax administrations. OECD, Paris
- OECD (2011) Multi-country analysis of existing transfer pricing simplification measures. http://www. oecd.org/tax/transfer-pricing/48131481.pdf. Accessed 20 Feb 2016
- OECD (2012) Multi-country analysis of existing transfer pricing simplification measures. http://www. oecd.org/tax/transfer-pricing/50517144.pdf. Accessed 20 Feb 2016
- OECD (2013a) Addressing base erosion and profit shifting report. http://www.oecd.org/tax/ addressing-base-erosion-and-profit-shifting-9789264192744-en.htm. Accessed 20 Feb 2017
- OECD (2013b) Revised Section E on safe harbours in chapter IV of the transfer pricing guidelines. http://www.oecd.org/ctp/transfer-pricing/Revised-Section-E-Safe-Harbours-TP-Guidelines. pdf. Accessed 20 May 2017
- OECD (2014) Model tax convention on income and on capital 2014 (Full Version). http://www. oecd.org/tax/treaties/model-tax-convention-on-income-and-on-capital-2015-full-version-9789264239081-en.htm. Accessed 17 May 2017. doi:https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264239081en
- OECD (2015) OECD/G20 base erosion and profit shifting project, explanatory statement. https://www. oecd.org/ctp/beps-explanatory-statement-2015.pdf. Accessed 10 Jul 2017
- OECD (2017) Transfer pricing guidelines for multinational enterprises and tax administrations. http://www.oecd.org/tax/transfer-pricing/oecd-transfer-pricing-guidelines-for-multinationalenterprises-and-tax-administrations-20769717.htm. Accessed 11 Jul 2017
- Owens J (2005) Should the arm's length principle retire? Int Transfer Pricing J 12(3):99-102
- PwC (2015) International transfer pricing 2015/16. https://www.pwc.com/gx/en/internationaltransfer-pricing/assets/itp-2015-2016-final.pdf. Accessed 10 May 2017
- Rojíček M (2012) Vliv globalizace na fungování mezinárodního obchodu. Politická Ekon 60 (2):187–207
- Solilová V, Nerudová D (2012) The effects of changes in transfer pricing policy of the business models in 21st century. In: New role of public finance 2012. Wolters Kluwer ČR, Praha, pp 247–257
- Solilová V, Nerudová D (2013) Transfer pricing: general model for tax planning. Ekonomický Časopis 61(6):597–617
- Solilova V, Steindl M (2013) Tax treaty policy on article 9 of the OECD model scrutinized. Bull Int Tax 67(3):128–136
- Swenson LD (2001) Tax reforms and evidence of transfer pricing. Nation Tax J 54(1):7-25
- Taylor G, Richardson G, Lanis R (2015) Multinationality, tax havens, intangible assets, and transfer pricing aggressiveness: an empirical analysis. J Int Account Res 14(1):25–57
- United Nations (1969) Vienna convention on the law of treaties. http://www.worldtradelaw.net/ misc/viennaconvention.pdf. Accessed 21 Nov 2012
- United Nations (2011) United nations model double taxation convention between developed and developing countries. United Nations, New York. http://www.un.org/esa/ffd/documents/UN_ Model_2011_Update.pdf. Accessed 17 May 2017
- Wells B, Lowell C (2014) Tax base erosion: reformation of Section 482's arm's length standard. Florida Tax Rev 15(10):737–797
- Wittendorf J (2010) Transfer pricing and the arm's length principle in international tax law. Wolters Kluwer, Alphen aan den Rijn

Chapter 3 Evaluating a Questionnaire on Transfer Pricing Issues of SMEs That Operate in the EU

This chapter evaluates a questionnaire regarding transfer pricing issues of SMEs that operate in the European Union. This questionnaire focuses on general transfer pricing concepts, such as transfer pricing methods, documentation, advance pricing agreements, a country-by-country report, the compliance costs of transfer pricing, the time needed for transfer pricing requirements and tools that decrease the compliance costs of transfer pricing. The evaluation is performed from several points of view. The evaluation is conducted first from the perspective of all EU Member States where SMEs operate, then from the perspective of parent companies and finally from the perspective of subsidiaries. Moreover, the questionnaire detects whether SMEs prefer to introduce simplified measurements for transfer pricing rules and specifies which type of measurement is preferred. In addition, the questionnaire determines whether SMEs prefer the implementation of a C(C)CTB system and whether they would welcome EU-comparable benchmarks for selected industries.

The questionnaire was distributed to SMEs that operate in the industry sectors NACE A (agriculture, forestry and fishing) to NACE S (other services) in the European Union, which includes industry sectors where SMEs perform their business activities. In accordance with the European Commission (2003), SMEs are categorised as micro, small and medium-sized enterprises. Medium-sized enterprises are defined as those "enterprises employing fewer than 250 persons and having an annual turnover not exceeding EUR 50 million, and/or an annual balance sheet total not exceeding EUR 43 million". Small enterprises are defined as "enterprises having fewer than 50 employees and a turnover or balance sheet total of less than EUR 10 million". Microenterprises are defined as entities with fewer than ten employees and a balance sheet total or turnover less than EUR 2 million. Our representative sample¹ of SMEs aligns with this categorisation.

¹Potential respondents were selected from each EU member state (with the exception of Cyprus and Malta due to the lack of data), and they include 100 SMEs from all industry sectors where

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

V. Solilova, D. Nerudova, *Transfer Pricing in SMEs*, Contributions to Management Science, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69065-0_3

Moreover, SMEs must own a branch or a subsidiary that represents between 25% and 100% of their capital, for only those SMEs are affected by the transfer pricing issues based on Article 9 "Associated Enterprises" and Article 7 para 2^2 "Business Profits" of the OECD Model Convention. The final representative sample includes 2600 entities from the EU28 with the exception of Malta and Cyprus.³ The rate of return for the questionnaire is $5.5\%^4$ (144 respondents).

The questionnaire includes 34 questions that focus primarily on the description of basic characteristics of the company, including its size, its location and the nature of its operations. Second, the questionnaire focuses on investigating the transfer pricing measurements that are used, the compliance costs of transfer pricing, the time needed for transfer pricing requirements, and tools that decrease the compliance costs of transfer pricing issues (for details, see the annex—Ouestionnaire). The respondents were primarily tax residents of Poland (21.53%), the Czech Republic (20.14%), the Slovak Republic (15.28%), Austria and Hungary (4.17%), and Romania, Belgium and Spain (3.47%). Regarding the classification of SMEs, most respondents represented small enterprises (45.14%, i.e., 65 respondents). Moreover, from the perspective of inter-company relations, a large portion of respondents was represented by subsidiaries (54.17%, i.e., 78 respondents). In addition, the respondents primarily operated in sectors NACE C (manufacturing), NACE M (professional, scientific and technical activities) and NACE G (wholesale and retail trade and the repair of motor vehicles and motorcycles). The sectors of the questionnaire respondents correspond to the industry sectors where SMEs operate in accordance with the European Commission (2016). For more details, see Table 3.1 and Fig. 3.1.

The questionnaire was accessible online, and the link was sent in three waves during 2016 by tax advisors; tax and accounting committees; and other organisations, such as the Accountants Association in Poland, the Chamber of Certificated Accountants in the Czech Republic, the Spanish Institute for Fiscal Studies, the ACCA, the Proxy Czech Republic, Baker Tilly Czech Republic Accounting, the TPA Group, and BMB Leitner SK. The completed questionnaires were collected

SMEs operate; the proportion of respondents is identical to that in the real economy. The overall representative sample includes 2600 entities.

²In accordance with OECD Model Convention, Article $7/2 - \ldots$ "the profits that are attributable in each Contracting State to the permanent establishmentare the profits it might be expected to make, in particular in its dealings with other parts of the enterprise, if it were a separate and independent enterprise engaged in the same or similar activities under the same or similar conditions, taking into account the functions performed, assets used and risks assumed by the enterprise through the permanent establishment and through the other parts of the enterprise. "Similar to Article 9, Article 7 of the OECD Model Convention mentions the arm's length principle.

³Malta and Cyprus were eliminated from this study due to a lack of data. Furthermore, this analysis cannot be performed for Luxembourg because no responses were received from this location.

⁴The largest number of respondents were from the Czech Republic, the Slovak Republic and Poland (82 respondents); therefore, the return rate for the questionnaire for these areas was 27%.

	No. of S	MEs				
	No.	No.	No.	No. of parent	No. of	Portion of SMEs on
Country	micro	small	medium	companies	subsidiaries	total (%)
AT	3	1	2	1	5	4.17
BE	0	5	0	1	4	3.47
BG	2	0	0	0	2	1.39
CY	0	0	0	0	0	0.00
CZ	1	10	18	13	16	20.14
DE	0	2	2	3	1	2.78
DK	0	1	1	0	2	1.39
EE	1	1	1	2	1	2.08
ES	0	4	1	1	4	3.47
EL	0	1	0	1	0	0.69
FI	0	3	0	1	2	2.08
FR	1	2	1	2	2	2.78
HR	1	0	0	1	0	0.69
HU	1	4	1	1	5	4.17
IE	0	1	0	1	0	0.69
IT	0	0	1	1	0	0.69
LT	2	0	0	0	2	1.39
LU	0	0	0	0	0	0.00
LV	0	1	0	1	0	0.69
MT	0	0	0	0	0	0.00
NL	0	2	0	2	0	1.39
PL	11	9	11	22	9	21.53
РТ	0	2	0	0	2	1.39
RO	0	2	3	1	4	3.47
SE	1	1	0	1	1	1.39
SI	1	1	1	1	2	2.08
SK	4	12	6	8	14	15.28
UK	0	0	1	1	0	0.69
Total	29	65	50	66	78	100.00
Portion (%)	20.14	45.14	34.72	45.83	54.17	_

Table 3.1 Classification of respondents across the EU (compiled by author)

online through GoogleApps. Altogether, we received 144 responses from SMEs that operate in the EU Member States.

The survey revealed that the respondents would appreciate the introduction of simplified transfer pricing documentation; safe harbour⁵ rates for selected

⁵OECD: TP Guidelines (2017): A safe harbour in a transfer pricing regime is a provision that applies to a defined category of taxpayers or transactions and that relieves eligible taxpayers from certain obligations otherwise imposed by a country's general transfer pricing rules. A safe harbour substitutes simpler obligations for those under the general transfer pricing regime. Further, safe



Fig. 3.1 Number and proportion of SMEs (respondents) across NACE sectors (*A* Agriculture, forestry and fishing, *B* Mining and quarrying, *C* Manufacturing, *D* Electricity, gas, steam and air conditioning supply, *E* Water supply; sewerage; waste management and remediation activities, *F* Construction, *G* Wholesale and retail trade; repair of motor vehicles and motorcycles, *H* Transporting and storage, *I* Accommodation and food service activities, *J* Information and communication, *K* Financial and insurance activities, *L* Real estate activities, *M* Professional, scientific and technical activities, *N* Administrative and support service activities, *O* Public administration and defence; compulsory social security, *P* Education, *Q* Human health and social work activities, *R* Arts, entertainment and recreation, *S* Other services activities) (compiled by author)

industries and types of transactions (i.e., manufacturer, distributor, and service provider); safe harbour rates for loans, royalties and intangibles; EU-comparable benchmarks for selected industries; and the introduction of a C(C)CTB system. Moreover, micro and small entities would appreciate being excluded from the obligation of transfer pricing issues or at least from requirements regarding transfer pricing documentation, which occurs in certain EU Member States.⁶ Subsequent sections present the individual results from several perspectives, such as the perspective of all EU Member States where SMEs operate,⁷ the perspectives of parent companies⁸ and the perspectives of subsidiaries.⁹

harbour can exempt eligible taxpayers or transactions from the application of all or part of the general transfer pricing rules. However, safe harbour does not include administrative simplified measures which do not directly involve determination of arm's length prices.

⁶SMEs may be excluded from the obligation of transfer pricing rules under special conditions in Ireland and the United Kingdom. In addition, SMEs may be excluded from the obligation to prepare transfer pricing documentation under specific conditions in Belgium, Denmark, Estonia, Greece, Germany, Finland, Latvia, Lithuania, Hungary, Poland and Portugal. For more details, see Chaps. 2 and 5.

⁷This situation is presented in all figures as SMEs.

⁸This situation is presented in all figures as Parents.

⁹This situation is presented in all figures as Subsidiaries.

3.1 General Evidence from EU Member States

This survey provides deep insights into how SMEs address transfer pricing issues. Two-thirds of the respondents have addressed these issues, compared with one-third of the respondents who are not interested in these issues, although they are associated with other enterprises that have addressed these issues. Furthermore, approximately 86% of the respondents (SMEs) use tax consultant services for transfer pricing issues and all other tax matters, compared with 14% of the respondents (SMEs) use tax consultant services for transfer pricing issues and all other tax matters, compared with 14% of the respondents (SMEs) use tax consultant services solely for the preparation of transfer pricing documentation. Clearly, parent companies use tax consultant services for transfer pricing issues more often than subsidiaries. For more details, see Fig. 3.2.

The survey indicates that approximately 50% of the SMEs do not use simplified measurements for transfer pricing issues, 34% use simplified transfer pricing documentation requirements, 3% use a specific transfer pricing audit process and 1% of the SMEs use both a specific advance pricing agreement (hereinafter APA) and other measurements. Moreover, 12% of the respondents reported that they were excluded from transfer pricing rules. For more details, see Fig. 3.3 and Table 3.2.

Eighty-six percent of the respondents indicated that they have never used an APA. This result indicates that SMEs rarely use this tool; only 2% of the respondents (SMEs) have used an APA via a tax consulting service. Another consideration regarding the use of an APA via tax administration is that SMEs are generally charged a fee for these services, which increases the compliance costs of transfer pricing.



Fig. 3.2 Tax consultant services used by SMEs for transfer pricing issues (%) (compiled by author)



Fig. 3.3 Simplified measurements used by SMEs (compiled by author)

Table 3.2 Simplified measurements used by SMEs (For more details regarding transfer pricing rules and the simplified measurements that SMEs use, see Chaps. 2 and 5) (compiled by author)

			Specific			
			transfer		Simplified	
			pricing	Excluded from	transfer	
Simplified		Specific	audit	transfer pricing	pricing	
measurements	None	APA	process	rules or others ^a	documentation	Others
Country	HR,	NL, LT,	PL and LT	PL, HU, EE,	SK, ES, and	CZ ^b
	CZ,	DE, FR,		FI, FR, EL, IE,	DE	
	NL,	and RO		LV, LT, and		
	and			UK		
	SE					

^aIncludes the exclusion of SMEs from transfer pricing documentation ^bIncludes a recommendation for low value-added services

3.2 Compliance Costs and Duration

Another section of the survey focused on the compliance costs of transfer pricing and the time spent on transfer pricing requirements. The survey included respondents' estimated costs and time spent managing transfer pricing issues, such as considering transfer pricing methods, creating and translating relevant documents, preparing transfer pricing documentation (master files and/or local files), and completing a country-by-country report or APA and any required updates.

Because transfer pricing is a highly complex issue and, in the case of SMEs, requires the use of tax consultant services that offer a comprehensive solution to address the problem, we seek to estimate the costs and time that are involved in this



Fig. 3.4 Average costs and time per year spent managing the transfer pricing issue (%) (compiled by author)

complex transfer pricing issue (see Fig. 3.4) and other specific transfer pricing issues (see Figs. 3.5, 3.6, 3.7, and 3.8).

Figure 3.4 clearly indicates that the average costs for managing complex transfer pricing issues were difficult to estimate for approximately one-third of the respondents (SMEs). In addition, the time spent on this issue was difficult for 42% of the respondents to estimate. However, the remainder of the respondents identified how burdensome these issues are.¹⁰ Approximately one-third of the parent companies and 21% of all respondents (SMEs) spent up to EUR 10,000 per year on transfer pricing issues. Nineteen percent of the subsidiaries spent up to EUR 4000 per year, and 2% of these firms spent up to EUR 22,000 per year. Furthermore, the survey indicated that costs related to transfer pricing issues are more burdensome for parent companies than for subsidiaries. This result may have occurred because parent companies generally administrate most issues related to transfer pricing. For example, they prepare master file transfer pricing documentation and intercompany agreements for intra-group transactions, select transfer pricing methods and perform controlling functions. The survey revealed that 19% of the subsidiaries spent

¹⁰For more details about compliance costs of transfer pricing see Chap. 4.



Fig. 3.5 Average time and costs per year necessary for the selection of the most suitable transfer pricing method (%) (compiled by author)

up to 200 or 300 h per year to manage transfer pricing issues, and 16% and 14% of the parent companies spent up to 100 and 500 h (approximately 63 working days), respectively, per year. Globally, the time that the respondents (SMEs) spent on this issue ranged from 50 to 500 h per year.

The survey revealed that if separate transfer pricing issues are considered, the majority of the time and costs needed to manager transfer pricing issues is related to the preparation of transfer pricing documentation. One-quarter of the subsidiaries spent up to 200 or 300 h per year. Twenty-two percent of the parent companies spent up to 100 or 300 h per year on this issue, and 4% of the parent companies spent up to 500 h per year. Globally, approximately one-quarter of the respondents (SMEs) spent up to 300 h per year (approximately 38 working days) and up to EUR 6000 per year on the preparation of transfer pricing documentation. Furthermore, the same amount of costs is borne by almost approximately one-third of the subsidiaries in contrast to one-quarter of the parent companies that incurred costs up to EUR 9000 for the preparation of transfer pricing documents. For more details, see Fig. 3.6.



Fig. 3.6 Average time and costs per year necessary for preparation of transfer pricing documentation (%) (compiled by author)

Regarding other transfer pricing issues, namely, the selection of transfer pricing methods and preparation of a country-by-country report or a similar type of report (Figs. 3.5 and 3.7), the survey revealed that approximately half of the respondents are not able to estimate their time and costs that are related to this issue. Only 10% of the respondents have used APA; therefore, 86% of the respondents have never used this type of tool and cannot estimate their costs and time (Fig. 3.8). However, the remainder of the respondents (one-quarter of the SMEs) reported that they spent up to 56 h per year per transaction and incurred costs greater than EUR 1000 per year while considering the most suitable transfer pricing method. Similarly, regarding the preparation of the country-by-country report, 11 and 12% of the respondents (SMEs) respectively spent up to 24 and 56 h per year and incurred costs up to EUR 500 and EUR 1000 per year. In addition, almost one-third of the respondents were



Fig. 3.7 Average time and costs per year necessary for preparation of country-by-country report (%) (compiled by author)

not obliged to prepare a country-by-country report. However, this situation regarding country-by-country reporting will change in accordance with OECD BEPS recommendations and EU activities,¹¹ which will increase the compliance costs of transfer pricing issues.

3.3 Suggestions

The final segment of the survey focused on proposing tools for decreasing the compliance costs of transfer pricing. The respondents suggested 217 simplified measurements for SMEs to use for transfer pricing issues (see Table 3.3). This large

¹¹In both cases, the country-by-country report has set the threshold limit as EUR 750 million of consolidated revenue; i.e., multinational entities whose consolidated revenue is equal to or greater than EUR 750 million are obliged to file a country-by-country report for each jurisdiction in which the group operates.



Fig. 3.8 Average time and costs per year necessary for preparation of APA (%) (compiled by author)

number of suggestions included simplified transfer pricing documents (29%), followed by smaller penalties (21%) and opportunities to apply for safe harbour (16%). Only 6% of the suggestions were related to specific APAs because only 24% of the respondents reported experience with this type of prevention tool and 86% of the respondents reported that they did not have any experience using APAs. Furthermore, 13% of the suggestions referred to the exemption of SMEs from transfer pricing rules.

Regarding safe harbour,¹² 81% of the respondents (SMEs) would appreciate the introduction of safe harbours for selected industries and types of transactions, such as manufacturing, distribution and service provision. Moreover, respondents would appreciate the introduction of safe harbours for intangibles (32%) and royalties and loans (28%). For details, see Fig. 3.9.

¹²For more details about safe harbours see Chap. 5.

Country	Simplified transfer pricing documentation requirements	Specific nature of a transfer pricing audit process	Lower penalties	Specific nature of advanced pricing agreements	Safe harbour rates	Exclusion of SMEs from transfer pricing rules or others	Others	Total
AT	6	2	5		1			14
BG	2		1			1		4
CZ	25	16	23	7	20	8		99
FI						2		2
FR						1		1
HR	1		1					2
HU	2	1						3
IT	1	1	1					3
NL	2		1	1	1			5
PL	12	1	2	1	2	10	7	35
RO	5	3	5	1	5	4		23
SE	2	1	1		1	1		6
SI	3		1		2			6
SK	2	2	4	2	2	2		14
Total	63	27	45	12	34	29	7	217
%	29	12	21	6	16	13	3	100%

 Table 3.3 Suggested simplified measurements for SMEs (compiled by author)

Regarding the other suggestions, 84% of the respondents (SMEs) would appreciate the introduction of simplified transfer pricing documentation in contrast to 71% of the respondents who prefer the exclusion of micro and small entities from the obligation to prepare transfer pricing documentation. Moreover, 66% of the respondents (SMEs) would appreciate the full exemption of micro and small entities from the obligation to follow transfer pricing rules. In addition, 89% of the respondents would appreciate the imposition of smaller penalties for SMEs, particularly if SMEs are acting in good faith and are unable to supply the required documentation. For more details, see Figs. 3.10, 3.11, 3.12, and 3.13.

Moreover, 82% of the respondents (SMEs) would appreciate online access to comprehensive information related to transfer pricing issues, such as training materials, technical manuals, general information and other information. Furthermore, 44% of the respondents (SMEs) would appreciate transfer pricing guidelines for SMEs, such as the OECD TP Guidelines, which include comprehensive guidelines regarding transfer pricing issues in the context of SMEs. The current OECD TP Guidelines (2017) focus on multinational enterprises, which are usually large entities; therefore, the concepts mentioned are not suitable for SMEs. However, 54% of the respondents (SMEs) do not believe that this type of guidelines would be beneficial for SMEs (see Figs. 3.14 and 3.15).

Furthermore, 69% of the respondents (SMEs) would prefer the introduction of EU-comparable benchmarks for selected industries, i.e., comparable benchmarks used to determine intra-group prices under the transactional net margin method



Fig. 3.9 Suggestions related to safe harbours (%) (compiled by author)

(TNMM) via different databases. Fifty-one percent of the respondents (SMEs) would appreciate introducing the C(C)CTB system in the EU because it would eliminate transfer pricing issues; however, 21% of the respondents would not prefer this system. For details, see Figs. 3.16 and 3.17. In addition, 50% of the respondents (SMEs) would prefer to communicate with tax authorities in another language, and 67% of the respondents (SMEs) would also appreciate the opportunity to submit a tax return in another language. For details, see Figs. 3.18 and 3.19.

3.4 Conclusion

In 2016, the questionnaire was sent to a representative sample of SMEs to analyse transfer pricing issues and compliance costs, including which tools might be used to decrease the time and funds spent on this issue. The sample included 2600 entities that operate in the EU28 (except for Malta and Cyprus). The classification of SMEs was based on the European Commission (2003) and considered transfer pricing issues based on Articles 7 and 9 of the OECD Model Convention. The overall return rate for the questionnaire was 5.5%.



Fig. 3.10 The introduction of simplified transfer pricing documentation for SMEs (%) (compiled by author)







Fig. 3.13 The exclusion of micro and small enterprises from the obligation of transfer pricing issue (%) (compiled by author)



Fig. 3.14 Availability of complex information for SMEs (%) (compiled by author)

The survey revealed that almost 86% of the respondents (SMEs) use tax consultant services for transfer pricing issues and all tax matters. Moreover, the study demonstrated that transfer pricing issues are extremely burdensome for SMEs with respect to both costs and time. The respondents identified that the greatest portion of the time and costs required to manage transfer pricing issues was related to the preparation of transfer pricing documents. Globally, approximately one-quarter of the respondents (SMEs) spent up to 300 h per year (approximately 38 working days) and incurred costs up to EUR 6000 per year (for parent companies, up to EUR 9000) to prepare transfer pricing documentation.

The respondents suggested 217 simplified measurements as tools to decrease SMEs' compliance costs related to transfer pricing. Most of the suggestions represented simplified transfer pricing documentation (29%), followed by smaller penalties (21%) and opportunities to apply for a safe harbour (16%). The respondents (81%) would appreciate opportunities to apply for safe harbour for transactions, such as manufacturing, distribution and services; intangibles (32%); and



Fig. 3.15 The implementation of the C(C)CTB system in EU (%) (compiled by author)



Fig. 3.16 The introduction of EU comparables (benchmarks) for selected industries (%) (compiled by author)

royalties and loans (28%). Eighty-four percent of the respondents (SMEs) would appreciate the introduction of simplified transfer pricing documentation, while 71% of the respondents preferred the exclusion of micro and small entities from the obligation to prepare transfer pricing documentation. Moreover, 82% of the respondents (SMEs) would appreciate online access to comprehensive information related to transfer pricing issues, the introduction of EU-comparable benchmarks for selected industries (69% of SMEs) and the introduction of a C(C)CTB system (51% of SMEs). In addition, the survey revealed that 13% of the suggestions referred to the full exemption of SMEs from transfer pricing rules.

Most suggestions can be considered realistic, as the largest number of simplified measurements for SMEs are offered in the EU and are related to documentation and



Fig. 3.17 The introduction of the transfer pricing guidelines for SMEs like as OECD TP Guidelines (%) (compiled by author)



Fig. 3.18 The possibility of communication with tax authorities in other language (%) (compiled by author)



Fig. 3.19 The possibility of submitting a tax return in other language (%) (compiled by author)

the exemption from documentation requirements under specific conditions.¹³ Applying for safe harbour is usually related to low value-adding services and loans in the EU (i.e., for specific activities), not to a specific type of business entity (i.e., it is applicable for all entities regardless of the size of the entity). However, the EU Member States have experiences with this type of measurement, and it is possible to consider this as an option for types of entities, such as SMEs. In October 2016, directive proposals were introduced regarding the introduction of the C(C)CTB system. Due to changes in the external environment in comparison to 2011, which have occurred since the first proposal of the C(C)CTB, the probability of adoption of this system has increased. This has occurred primarily because the system is perceived not as a toll for harmonisation but rather as a tool to prevent tax avoidance, tax fraud and profit shifting. For these reasons, we pay special attention to topics related to safe harbours and the C(C)CTB and devote a separate chapter to these issues. In Chaps. 5 and 6, we discuss safe harbours and the C(C)CTB system

Acknowledgement The chapter is the result of the GA ČR no. 15-24867S "Small and medium size enterprises in global competition: Development of specific transfer pricing methodology reflecting their specificities".

Annex

Questionnaire
1. Please state the category to which your enterprise. If your enterprise is classified as large,
please do not fill in the questionnaire.
a. Large (staff headcount >250, turnover >40 million EUR or balance sheet total >20 million
EUR)
b. Medium-sized (staff headcount <250, turnover <40 million EUR or balance sheet total <20
million EUR)
c. Small (staff headcount $<$ 50, turnover $<$ 8 million EUR or balance sheet total $<$ 4 million
EUR)
d. Micro (staff headcount <10, turnover <0.7 million EUR or balance sheet total <0.35 million EUR)
2. Please indicate the resident country of SME.
3. Are you a parent company or subsidiary?
4. If you are parent company, do you have a foreign subsidiary? If yes, please indicate the resident country of the subsidiary.
5. Please select the NACE sector in which SME is acting:
A (01–03 NACE code)—Agriculture, forestry and fishing;
B (05–09 NACE code)—Mining and quarrying;
C (10-33 NACE code)—Manufacturing;
(continued)

 $^{^{13}}$ For more details about transfer pricing rules and simplified measurements see Chaps. 2 and 5. 14 For more details, see Chaps. 5 and 6.

D (35 NACE code)-Electricity, gas, or steam and air conditioning supply;

E (36–39 NACE code)—Water supply, sewerage, waste management and remediation activities;

F (41–43 NACE code)—Construction;

G (45–47 NACE code)—Wholesale and retail trade and repair of motor vehicles and motorcycles;

H (49–53 NACE code)—Transporting and storage;

I (55-56 NACE code)-Accommodation and food service activities;

J (58-63 NACE code)-Information and communication;

K (64-66 NACE code)-Financial and insurance activities;

L (68 NACE code)-Real estate activities;

M (69-75 NACE code)-Professional, scientific and technical activities;

N (77-82 NACE code)-Administrative and support service activities;

O (84 NACE code)-Public administration, defence and compulsory social security;

P (85 NACE code)—Education;

Q (86-88 NACE code)-Human health and social work activities;

R (90-93 NACE code)-Arts, entertainment and recreation; or

S (94-96 NACE code)-Other services

6. Does the country use a specific SME definition for transfer pricing purposes? If yes, please briefly indicate the key points

7. Are there any specific measures used for SMEs? For example:

a. simplified transfer pricing documentation requirements

b. specific nature of a transfer pricing audit process

c. smaller penalties

d. specific nature of advanced pricing agreements

e. safe harbour rates (i.e., tax authorities predetermine the range of rates that can be used for specified transactions between SMEs)

f. the exclusion of SMEs from transfer pricing rules or others

g. others, or

h. none

8. With respect to the previous question, if you selected "others", please briefly specify the measure and address the key points

9. With respect to question No. 7, if there are not any specific measures for SMEs regarding transfer pricing in place, would you appreciate the introduction of some of these measures? Please indicate which one:

a. simplified transfer pricing documentation requirements

b. specific nature of a transfer pricing audit process

c. smaller penalties

d. specific nature of advanced pricing agreement

e. safe harbour rates (i.e., tax authorities predetermine the range of rates that can be used for specified transactions between SMEs)

f. the exclusion of SMEs from transfer pricing rules or others, or

g. others

10. Are you dealing with transfer pricing issues in your company? If not, please do not continue filling out the questionnaire

11. Are you using the services of a tax consultant for transfer pricing issues? If yes, please indicate for which of the following activities:

a. consideration of the most suitable transfer pricing method

b. preparation of the transfer pricing documents (local or master files)

c. preparation of the advanced pricing agreements

d. preparation of the country-by-country report

(continued)

e. transfer pricing disputes

- f. all tax matters, regardless of whether it is a transfer pricing issue
- g. Other issues
- h. no, I do not use this kind of service

12. Please estimate the time range necessary for managing transfer pricing issues (this includes the creation of relevant documents, translation of documents, consideration of transfer pricing methods, preparation of transfer pricing documents (master file or local file), completion of the country-by-country report as an annex of an income tax return and preparation of other documents).

a. Up to 50 h per year

- b. 51–100 h per year
- c. 101-200 h per year
- d. 201-300 h per year
- e. 301-500 h per year
- f. 501–700 h per year
- g. 701–900 h pear year
- h. More than 900 h per year
- i. I am not able to estimate

13. With respect to the previous question, please estimate the average costs per year related to this issue.

a. Up to EUR 1000 b. EUR 1001–2000 c. EUR 2001–3000 d. EUR 3001–4000 e. EUR 4001–5000 f. EUR 5001–6000 g. EUR 6001–10,000 h. EUR 10,001–12,000 i. EUR 12,001–14,000 j. EUR 14,000–16,000 k. EUR 16,001–18,000 l. EUR 18,001–20,000 m. EUR 20,001–22,000 n. more than EUR 22,000 o. I am not able to estimate

14. Please estimate the time necessary for considering the most suitable transfer pricing method.

a. Up to 24 h per year

b. 25-56 h per year

- c. More than 56 h per year
- d. I am not able to estimate

15. With respect to the previous question, please estimate the costs related to this issue.

- a. Up to EUR 500
- b. EUR 501–1000
- c. More than EUR 1000
- d. I am not able to estimate

16. Please estimate the time necessary for preparing transfer pricing documents. When doing the estimation, please take into account the time necessary for updating any transfer pricing documents.

- a. Up to 100 h
- b. 101–200 h
- c. 201–300 h

Annex

- d. 301–500 h
- e. More than 500 h
- f. I am not able to estimate
- g. There is no obligation to prepare transfer pricing documents in our country
- 17. With respect to the previous question, please estimate the costs related to this issue.
 - a. Up to EUR 1000
 - b. EUR 1001–3000
 - c. EUR 3001–6000
 - d. EUR 6001–9000
 - e. EUR 9001–12,000
 - f. EUR 12,001–16,000
 - g. EUR 16,001–20,000
 - h. more than EUR 20,000
 - i. I am not able to estimate
 - j. There no obligation to prepare transfer pricing documents

18. If your enterprise has the obligation to complete a country-by-country report as an annex of an income tax return, please estimate the time necessary for its preparation.

- a. Up to 24 h per year
- b. 25-56 h per year
- c. 57–96 h per year
- d. 97-152 h per year
- e. More than 152 h per year
- f. I am not able to estimate
- g. There is no obligation to prepare a country-by-country report

19. With respect to the previous question, please estimate the costs related to this issue.

- a. Up to EUR 500
- b. EUR 501-1000
- c. EUR 1001–2000
- e. More than EUR 2000
- f. I am not able to estimate
- g. There is no obligation to prepare a country-by-country report

20. Have you ever used an advance pricing agreement in your enterprise? If yes, please estimate the time necessary to prepare the advance pricing agreement. When doing the estimation, please take into account the time necessary for updating the advanced pricing agreement.

- a. Up to 100 h
- b. 101–200 h
- c. 201–300 h
- d. 301–500 h
- e. More than 500 h
- f. I am not able to estimate
- g. I have never used an advance pricing agreement
- 21. With respect to the previous question, please estimate the costs related to this issue.
 - a. Up to EUR 1000
 - b. EUR 1001-3000
 - c. EUR 3001–6000
 - d. EUR 6001-12,000
 - e. more than EUR 12,000
 - f. I am not able to estimate
 - g. I have never used an advance pricing agreement

22. Do you think that the availability of complex information for SMEs regarding transfer pricing issues can be beneficial? If yes, would you prefer:

a. A website with general and specific information

b. Training materials

Technical manuals, etc.

c. I do not think that it would be beneficial

23. Would you appreciate communications with tax authorities in languages other than your country's official language?

a. Yes

b. No

c. I do not know

24. Would you appreciate the option to submit a tax return in other languages?

a. Yes

b. No

c. I do not know

25. Would you appreciate the implementation of the common consolidated corporate tax base in the EU, which would introduce the concept of one-stop shop?

a. Yes

b. No

c. I do not know

26. Would you appreciate the introduction of transfer pricing guidelines for SMEs that considers the different approaches used for SMEs? If yes, do you prefer guidelines that are similar to the OECD Transfer Pricing Guidelines?

a. I do not think that it would be beneficial for SMEs

b. I think that it would be beneficial for SMEs, and I prefer similar guidelines

c. I think that it would be beneficial for SMEs, but I do not prefer similar guidelines

27. Would you appreciate the introduction of simplified transfer pricing documents for SMEs? a. Yes

b. No

c. I do not know

28. Would you appreciate the exclusion of micro and small enterprises from the obligation to prepare transfer pricing documents?

a. Yes

b. No

c. I do not know

29. Would you appreciate the exclusion of micro and small enterprises from the obligation of transfer pricing issues?

a. Yes

b. No

c. I do not know

30. Would you appreciate the introduction of a simplified advance pricing agreement procedure for SMEs? (This could include simplified transfer pricing documentation requirements, no or reduced fees, a shortened verification process)

a. Yes

b. No

c. I do not know; I have never used the advance pricing agreement

31. Would you appreciate the introduction of smaller penalties for SMEs, particularly if SMEs are acting in good faith and are not able to supply the required documentation?

a. Yes

b. No

c. I do not know

32. Would you appreciate the introduction of a safe harbour range of rates for selected industries and types of transactions (i.e., manufacturer, distributor, or service provider; the system is

(continued)

currently applied in the case of low value-added services in the EU)?

a. Yes

b. No

c. I do not know

33. Would you appreciate the introduction of a safe harbour range of rates for the following transactions? Please indicate which one:

a. Loans

b. Royalties

c. Intangibles

d. Others-please specify

e. No, I do not think that it will be beneficial for SMEs

34. Would you appreciate the introduction of EU-comparable benchmarks for selected industries and guidelines covering the selection and use of data that are comparable to the EU and practices of other EU Member States?

a. Yes

b. No

c. I do not know

References

- European Commission (2003) Recommendation 2003/361/EC of 6 May 2003. http://eur-lex.europa. eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2003:124:0036:0041:en:PDF. Accessed 17 May 2017
- European Commission (2016) Annual report on European SMEs 2015/2016, SME recovery continues. https://www.isme.ie/assets/Annual-Report-on-European-SMEs-2015-2016.pdf. Accessed 17 May 2017
- OECD (2014) Model tax convention on income and on capital 2014 (Full Version). http://www. oecd.org/tax/treaties/model-tax-convention-on-income-and-on-capital-2015-full-version-9789264239081-en.htm. Accessed 17 May 2017. doi https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264239081en
- OECD (2017) Transfer pricing guidelines for multinational enterprises and tax administrations. http://www.oecd.org/tax/transfer-pricing/oecd-transfer-pricing-guidelines-for-multinationalenterprises-and-tax-administrations-20769717.htm. Accessed 11 Jul 2017

Chapter 4 Compliance Costs of Transfer Pricing for SMEs

This segment of the book contains an analysis of compliance costs of taxation with respect to SMEs¹ and transfer pricing issues as well as critiques of current approaches. The last part of the chapter includes a case study on the determination of compliance costs of transfer pricing with respect to SMEs in the Czech Republic, the Slovak Republic and Poland, which represent countries from the Visegrad Group,² and the European Union, as based on the results of our questionnaire. To determine the compliance costs of transfer pricing, cost and time approaches were used.

4.1 Introduction

SMEs are usually less well-equipped than LEs with financial and human resources. Therefore, SMEs usually cannot benefit from tax planning strategies or from the application of tax planning instruments. One such tax planning instrument is that of transfer pricing, which helps reduce tax risks and overall tax liability. In this respect, the OECD estimates annual losses between 4 to 10% of global corporate income tax revenues, i.e., USD100 to 240 billion annually as a result of mispricing. To avoid certain tax planning and transfer pricing practices and to ensure the correct application of the separate entity approach, the OECD and G20 countries launched a project on base erosion and profit shifting (hereinafter, BEPS) in February 2013. The project includes 15 action plans related to tax planning strategies and profit shifting to low or no-tax locations, thus resulting in little or no overall corporate tax

¹Based on the definition of the European Commission, Recommendation 2003/361/EC.

²The reason for the selection of those countries is that those countries belong to Visegrad group (Hungary is omitted as micro and small enterprises are excluded from the obligation to prepare transfer pricing documentation in that country, and no data available for that country). Moreover, those countries cover the highest amount of respondents from the research.

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

V. Solilova, D. Nerudova, *Transfer Pricing in SMEs*, Contributions to Management Science, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69065-0_4

being paid. The final reports of the project were published on 5 October 2015. Consequently, the TP Guidelines, providing detailed guidelines on the application of the arm's length principle, were updated and released on 10 July 2017, reflecting the recommendations from the BEPS project.

To avoid the divergent implementation of the BEPS by each EU member state and disruption of the functioning of the internal market, the European Commission published the draft of the directive, *laying down rules against tax avoidance practices that directly affect the functioning of the internal market*, also known as the Anti-Tax Avoidance Directive, on 28 January 2016. The fact that it was adopted after only five months by the council as Directive 2016/1164 indicates how important this topic is to the EU Member States. The Anti-Tax Avoidance Directive contains five legally binding anti-abuse measures³ that all member states should apply to avoid common forms of aggressive tax planning.⁴ It also creates minimum protection of all member states' corporate tax systems by transposing the OECD BEPS measures into their national systems in a coherent and coordinated fashion to ensure a fairer and more stable environment for businesses.

It is obvious that both published documents and their implementation will have significant effects on the enterprises and their corporate tax liability. However, currently, SMEs face numerous disadvantages due to their size, a factor that can have distorted impacts on their commercial decisions, business forms and business activities. According to (Cordova-Novion and De Young 2001; Slemrod 2006; Shaw et al. 2008; Obermair et al. 2008 and others), the disproportionately high impact of regulatory requirements also creates disproportionately high compliance costs of taxation, which have a regressive character with regard to firm size. Further, the OECD states that compliance costs of taxation in the case of SMEs represent 46% of incurred costs (OECD 2001). Moreover (Slemrod 2006), adds that compliance costs of taxation usually depend, inter alia, on the size of the business (in a regressive way), the economic sector, and the degree of internationalization. Therefore, taxation and other obligations should be carefully designed so they can address the disproportionately high tax compliance burdens faced by SMEs.

Currently, there are no studies determining compliance costs of transfer pricing in the case of SMEs. Therefore, based on data collection through questionnaires, we conduct a determination of the compliance costs of transfer pricing in the case of SMEs in the following sections.

³Controlled foreign company (CFC) rule, switchover rule, exit taxation, interest limitation, general anti-abuse rule.

⁴Member States should apply these measures as from 1 January 2019.

4.2 Theoretical Background

4.2.1 Transfer Pricing Issue

The concept of transfer pricing and the arm's length principle (hereinafter, standard) for taxation purposes is originated in 1932 when the first tax treaty⁵ was signed and included an allocation norm for business income between associated enterprises in the form of the arm's length principle, as state by Solilová and Steindl (2013). Another reference is found in the Carroll Report (Carroll 1933), which recommends the arm's length principle as a suitable allocation norm. The classification of articles dealing with the arm's length principle was changed several times before 1963, when the first OECD Model Convention was published. This publication included Article 9(1), which was based on the London model⁶ of 1946. However, as mentioned in (Solilová and Steindl 2013), the current form of the standard (i.e., Article 9(1) and (2)) was added to the OECD Model Convention in 1977 during its first revision.

Under this standard, associated entities must set transfer prices for any intercompany transaction as if they were unrelated entities, while all other aspects of the relationship were unchanged. Applying and testing the arm's length principle requires a deep understanding of the circumstances, i.e., the commercial and financial relationships, in which associated enterprises make transactions and agree on their transaction prices. In this sense, the principle should reflect the economic reality of how enterprises work. However, there is evidence that the standard does not reflect both economic reality and fact as to whether a third party would enter into the transaction. Rather, it is proved that income shifting between enterprises occurs (Keuschnigg and Devereux 2013; Taylor et al. 2015; Bartelsman and Beetsma 2000; Wells and Lowell 2014; Hines and Rice 1994; Huizinga and Laeven 2006). This claim of income shifting fully corresponds with the fact that transfer pricing represents an instrument that is used as a tax planning tool, i.e., properly chosen transfer pricing strategies can enable the distribution of tax risks and profits resulting in the reduction of the overall tax liability (Buus 2009; Solilová and Nerudová 2012, 2013; Swenson 2001; Rojíček 2012). As previously indicated, to avoid this practice and ensure the correct application of the separate entity approach and the standard, the BEPS project was launched and the Anti Avoidance Directive was consequently introduced in EU.

With respect to the transfer pricing issue, only two deliverables of the BEPS project address this topic. The first is action plans 8 through 10, "Aligning Transfer Pricing Outcomes with Value Creation", and the second is action plan 13, "Guidance on Transfer Pricing Documentation and Country-by-Country Reporting". Based on action plan 13, all enterprises are required to report information relating

⁵The arm's length principle was implemented in the U.S-France treaty of 1932 for the first time. ⁶London Model Tax Convention (1946) was used as the predecessor to the OECD draft model convention in 1963.

to their economic activity, such as revenues, profits, taxes paid and certain measures of economic activity, and to articulate their consistent transfer pricing positions through this standardized approach of reporting. A new reporting obligation is required for the current transfer pricing documentation. Based on action plans 8 through 10, regarding transfer pricing analysis and the determination of transfer prices, a correct application of the standard demands an understanding of the value drivers and the relevant risks involved. An understanding of how the responsibility for those risks is attributed among the associated enterprises in the context of their commitment to jointly create value is also required. In this context, the level and assumption of risk are economically relevant characteristics that can be significant in determining the outcome of a transfer pricing analysis. Thus, an understanding of the risks is crucial. Currently, the OECD Transfer Pricing Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises and Tax Administrations (1995, 2010, 2017) (hereinafter, TP Guidelines) identifies five economically relevant and comparable factors, namely, characteristics of property transferred or services provided, functional analysis, contractual terms of the transaction, economic circumstances of the parties and the market in which the parties operate, and business strategies. These factors were further supplemented by a nine-step process of comparability analysis (in 2010) and by a six-step process to analysing the risks (based on the BEPS recommendations, in 2017), which resulted in the accepted good practice of applying the recommendations of the revised TP Guidelines in 2010 and 2017.

On the one hand (Pris et al. 2014), state that because the functions, assets and risks are not systematically aligned in a clear and easily defined pattern of entities and locations, the concept of the comparability analysis without new six-step process can lead to incorrect inferences about non-compliant behaviours. Therefore, the recommendation of the BEPS highlights (based on value creation) that the understanding of the risks and the mapping of the responsibilities of the individual associated enterprises with respect to the different risk categories by accurately delineating functional analysis can help fully assess the respective contributions of these enterprises to the joint value created and derive the relative bargaining position of each enterprise. Bargaining power is essential for drawing conclusions as to whether third parties would enter, or would have entered, into the transactions under the prevailing terms and conditions, and for determining whether the transactions are at arm's length. On other hand, according to (Lohse and Riedel 2013; Wells and Lowell 2014) there is also evidence that bargaining power is also critical to the recommendations of the BEPS and its solution with respect to the elimination of profit shifting and the correct application of the standard. They further highlight that problems with transfer pricing are mainly rooted in the long-standing TP Guidelines and the statement of the standard in the OECD Model Convention. A possible solution lies in the modification of these documents, rather than in the more complex transfer pricing documentation, and in transparency, which will result in higher compliance costs of taxation.

4.2.2 Compliance Costs of Taxation

Regarding the current perspective, compliance costs were first defined by Sandford (1995) as the burden imposed upon the taxpayer as a result of their taxation obligation. There are numerous international comparative studies based on this definition of compliance costs of taxation. Herein, however, four major global findings on compliance costs of taxation are highlighted. First, compliance costs are significant and high. Based on the OECD survey, compliance costs represent 46% of the incurred costs of SMEs (OECD 2001). Second, compliance costs are regressive, i.e., SMEs face disproportionately high compliance costs of taxation compared to LEs (Slemrod 2006; Shaw et al. 2008; Obermair et al. 2008; Cordova-Novion and De Young 2001; Chittenden et al. 2000 and others). Third, compliance costs of taxation usually depend, in alia, on size, sector and multinationality (Slemrod 2006). Chittenden et al. (2000) adds that SMEs bear one-hundred times higher compliance costs of taxation than do LEs.

Compliance costs represent one of the tools for measuring the complexity of the tax system, a system whose measurement is problematic in the area of economics (Pavel and Vítek 2015). This is mainly due to the afore-mentioned reasons; however, it is also because the compliance costs can support tax evasion/avoidance for it increases for businesses with cross-border activities, i.e., compliance costs of taxation are significantly higher for enterprises with foreign branches or subsidiaries than they are for enterprises that are not internationalized as offered by Nerudová et al. (2009) and Cressy (2000). Based on the last reason proffered, it can be presumed that compliance costs represent the inefficient use of scarce resources in the economy.

With respect to the drivers of compliance costs of taxation (KPMG 1996, 2006; Evans 2003; Green 1994), identified significant drivers in the form of changes in tax systems and taxes and in the complexity of tax systems and tax regulations. Shaw et al. (2008) add that lower compliance costs of taxation are usually in countries that have relatively simple taxes and tax systems. Accordingly, tax policymakers should decide between complexity and simplicity and between more frequent change or more consultative change.

With respect to compliance costs of transfer pricing, the current literature is remiss on measuring those compliance costs. Rather, the transfer pricing issue is covered within the field of corporate taxation, and thus, it is assumed that compliance costs of transfer pricing are incorporated with the compliance costs of corporate taxation. The compliance costs of corporate taxation in the case of the Czech Republic were determined by Vítek and Pavel (2008) to be 5.5% and by Pudil et al. (2004) to be 5.3% of the corporate tax collected. The European Commission recognizes that high compliance costs in the field of transfer pricing can negatively affect the internal market, and therefore, the EU Transfer Pricing Forum produced

EU transfer pricing documentation in the form of a code of conduct⁷ with the aim to harmonize transfer pricing documentation obligations and requirements in Europe. However (Solilová and Nerudová 2016; Silberztein 2013), also recommend the introduction of simplified measurements with respect to transfer pricing. Further, in the long-run, the European Commission recommends shifting from the separate entity approach (to which the arm's length principle is connected) to the single entity approach with an allocation mechanism i.e. in the form of CCCTB as a comprehensive approach, where transfer pricing transactions would have no impact on the group's tax base due to their elimination.

As previously indicated, there exists no literature on the separate measurement of compliance costs of transfer pricing. Therefore, the following section presents the results of the case study on the determination of compliance costs of transfer pricing in selected EU Member States.

4.3 Determination of Compliance Costs of Transfer Pricing: The Czech, Polish and Slovak Cases

4.3.1 Data Description and Processing

The compliance costs of transfer pricing of the SMEs were determined through the results of a questionnaire⁸ administered in select countries, namely, the Czech Republic, the Slovak Republic and Poland. We received 82 responses from SMEs whose tax residences are the Czech Republic (29 answers), the Slovak Republic (22 answers) and Poland (31 answers), i.e., Czech, Slovak or Polish parent companies with subsidiaries in the EU, and Czech, Slovak or Polish subsidiaries with parent companies in the EU.

With respect to the Czech Republic, of the 29 respondents, 3.4% represent micro entities, 34.5% represent small entities and 62.1% represent medium-sized entities. Additionally, 55.2% represent Czech subsidiaries with parent companies in the EU, and 44.8% represent Czech parent companies with subsidiaries in the EU, namely, in the Czech Republic, Germany, Romania, Hungary and Bulgaria. Furthermore, those entities are operating primarily in the industry sectors NACE C and G (19.5%), the industry sectors NACE M (17.1%) and the industry sectors NACE F, H, J, K, L, N and S (under 10%).⁹

⁷The Council of the EU approved the Code of Conduct on the EU TPD on 6 June 2006. The EU TPD consists of the Masterfile providing a uniform and standardized information relevant for all corporate group members; and a country-specific documentation providing all information that is relevant only in a specific EU Member State.

⁸The questionnaire contains 33 questions covering general transfer pricing issues, compliance costs of transfer pricing and tools for decreasing of those compliance costs.

⁹A—Agriculture, forestry and fishing, B—Mining and quarrying, C—Manufacturing, D—Electricity, gas, steam and air conditioning supply, E—Water supply; sewerage; waste management

With respect to the Slovak Republic, of the 22 respondents, 18.2% represent micro entities, 54.5% represent small entities and 27.3% represent medium-sized entities. Further, 63.6% represent Slovak subsidiaries with parent companies in the EU, and 36.4% represent Slovak parent companies with subsidiaries in the EU, namely, in the Czech Republic and Romania. In addition, those entities are operating primarily in industry sectors NACE G (21.2%), NACE C and H (15.1%), NACE F (12.1%), NACE M (9.09%) and NACE A, I, J, K, L, M, N and S (less than 6%). Moreover, 22.7% of the respondents do not address transfer pricing issues.

With respect to Poland, 31 respondents represent 35.5% micro and mediumsized entities, 29.03% represent small entities and 3.2% represent large entities. The responses from large entities were omitted from the analysis as the focus of this study is on SMEs. Moreover, 38.7% of the respondents do not address transfer pricing issues, 29.03% represent Polish subsidiaries with parent companies in the EU and 70.09% represent Polish parent companies with subsidiaries in the EU, namely, the Czech Republic and Romania. In addition, the entities are operating primarily in industry sectors NACE K (22.8%), NACE C, J, L and S (11.4%) and NACE A, E, F, G, M, N and P (under 10%).

When determining the compliance costs of transfer pricing, the weighted average value of compliance costs was applied as can be seen in Eq. (4.1).

$$\bar{x} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} w_i x_i}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} w_i}$$
(4.1)

where weight (w) represents the number of answers for each cost or time set in the questionnaire and *x* represents values from the individual spread of costs or time set in the questionnaire in three forms:

- A: Calculations based on the median values¹⁰ of the individual spread of costs/ time set in the questionnaire,
- B: Calculations based on the highest values¹¹ of the individual spread of costs/ time set in the questionnaire, and

and remediation activities, F—Construction, G—Wholesale and retail trade; repair of motor vehicles and motorcycles, H—Transporting and storage, I—Accommodation and food service activities, J—Information and communication, K—Financial and insurance activities, L—Real estate activities, M—Professional, scientific and technical activities, N—Administrative and support service activities, O—Public administration and defence; compulsory social security, P—Education, Q—Human health and social work activities, R—Arts, entertainment and recreation, S—Other services activities.

¹⁰For example spread set in questionnaire is EUR 1001–2000, medium value is 1500 which is further multiplied by the number of answers for that spread of costs according to Eq. (4.1).

¹¹For example spread set in questionnaire is EUR 1001–2000, the highest values is 2000 which is further multiplied by the number of answers for that spread of costs according to Eq. (4.1).

Country	Salary tax advisor	Cost per working hour ^a	No. SMEs	No. medium sized
Czech Republic	EUR 2383 ^b	EUR 14.6 per hour	468,745	60,702
Slovak	EUR 2000	EUR 12.26 per hour	235,936	30,874
Republic				
Poland	EUR 4307 ^c	EUR 26.4 per hour	1,337,233	124,599

 Table 4.1
 Data for calculating compliance costs (own processing, Amadeus, Hays Salary Guide)

^aTotal working hours for 2015 is 1957.5 per year in all three countries

^bAverage exchange rate CZK/EUR for 2015 is CZK 27.283 per 1 EUR

^cAverage exchange rate PLN/EUR for 2015 is PLN 4.18 per 1 EUR

• C: Calculations based on the lowest values¹² of the individual spread of costs/ time set in the questionnaire.

Moreover, as is evident from Eq. (4.1), two indicators, namely, costs and time, were applied to determine the compliance costs of transfer pricing. In the case of the time indicator for the final determination of compliance costs, the salaries of the tax advisors were applied for each country, as transfer pricing issues are usually resolved by tax advisory services (see Table 4.1).

Consequently, the compliance costs as determined using the aforementioned method were used to determine the compliance costs of transfer pricing for the whole category of taxpayer (SMEs) operating in the identified countries. According to the European Commission (2015) and its annual report on SMEs, there should be more than 1.01 million SMEs acting in the Czech Republic, 1.46 million SMEs acting in Poland and 388.3 thousand SMEs acting in the Slovak Republic. However, these numbers refer, for the most part, to micro enterprises, whereas only a small portion of these figures represent small and medium-sized enterprises. Therefore, the Amadeus database was used to estimate the number of SME acting in the researched countries (for details, see Table 4.1), and these data were applied to determine the compliance costs of the entire group of SMEs.

To identify the portion of compliance costs of transfer pricing that can be attributed to the paid corporate tax, the corporate tax collected by each select country was obtained from the website of the Ministry of Finance of each researched country.

4.3.2 Determination of Compliance Costs

For the purpose of our study, compliance costs of transfer pricing issues cover only the transfer pricing documentation that takes into account the most suitable transfer

 $^{^{12}}$ For example spread set in questionnaire is EUR 1001–2000, the lowest values is 1001 which is further multiplied by the number of answers for that spread of costs according to Eq. (4.1).

pricing methods and country-by-country reporting. Other activities related to advance pricing agreements (hereinafter APA), transfer pricing methods and transfer pricing audits are omitted from the analysis as almost 50% of the respondents were unable to estimate time and costs related to these activities.

With respect to tax consultancy regarding the transfer pricing issue, the survey indicates that 8% of the Czech respondents, 4% of the Slovak respondents and 35% of the Polish respondents do not use tax consultant services for transfer pricing issues. This is contrary to 58% (Czech), 65% (Slovak) and 4% (Polish) who use these services for all matters, regardless of whether it is a transfer pricing issue. Furthermore, approximately 14% of the Czech respondents, 10% of the Slovak respondents and 30% of the Polish respondents use such consultancy services for preparing transfer pricing documentation. Moreover, the respondents also use tax consultancy services when considering the most suitable transfer pricing method, resolving transfer pricing disputes, preparing country-by-country reports (CbCR) and advancing pricing agreements (APA) (for details, see Fig. 4.1).

To determine the compliance costs of transfer pricing, it is necessary to identify the cost and time related to such activity. According to Table 4.2, the managing of transfer pricing documentation, which includes considering the most suitable transfer pricing methods, requires up to 100 h/year in the case of Poland, between 101 and 200 h/year in the case of the Slovak Republic and between 201 and 300 h/year in the case of the Czech Republic. However, a huge portion of the respondents were unable to estimate the time required to manage transfer pricing documentation, the survey revealed that in case of the Czech Republic, approximately 38% of the respondents spent up to EUR 6000/year and approximately 35% of the respondents spent up to EUR 9000/year in comparison to the Slovak Republic, where 41.2% of the respondents, and Poland, where 21.1% of respondents, spent between EUR 1000 and EUR 3000 (for more details, see Table 4.2).



Fig. 4.1 Use of tax consultant services for transfer pricing issues (own processing, questionnaire)

Table 4.2	Transfer pricing documentation-costs and tin	ne (own calcu	ulation, questi	onnaire)
		Czech	Slovak	

	Czech		Slovak			
	Repu	blic	Republic		Poland	
	No.	%	No.	%	No.	%
15. Please estimate the time necessary for preparation of	transf	er prici	ng doc	umenta	ation. V	When
doing the estimation, please take into account also the tin	ne nec	essary	for up	-date of	f transf	fer

pricing documentation			1				
Up to 100 h	3	10.3	4	23.5	4	21.1	
101–200 h	6	20.7	5	29.4	3	15.8	
201–300 h	7	24.1	3	17.6	3	15.8	
More than 500 h	-	-	2	11.8	-	-	
I am not able to estimate	11	37.9	3	17.6	9	47.4	
There is not an obligation to prepare transfer pricing	2	6.9	-	-	-	-	
documentation in our country							
16. With respect to the previous question, please estimate the costs related to this issue							
Up to EUR 1000	1	3.4	3	17.6	1	5.3	
EUR 1001–3000	4	13.8	7	41.2	4	21.1	
EUR 3001–6000	11	37.9	2	11.8	1	5.3	
EUR 6001–9000	10	34.5	2	11.8	1	5.3	
EUR 9001–12,000	1	3.4	-	-	-	-	
EUR 16,000–20,000	-	-	-	-	2	10.5	
I am not able to estimate	-	-	3	17.6	10	52.6	
There is not an obligation to prepare transfer pricing	2	6.9	-	-	-	-	
documentation							

With respect to the country-by-country report, in case of the Czech Republic, 50% of the respondents spent between 25 and 56 h/year preparing the report, whereas 27% of the respondents spent up to EUR 500/year and another 38% spent between EUR 501 and EUR 1000/year. In case of the Slovak Republic, only two respondents estimated costs (EUR 500) and time (up to 24 h) to manage this issue. In case of Poland, approximately 48% of the respondents had no set obligation to complete the report, although more than 10% of the respondents estimated the time to be up to 24 h and between 57 and 96 h in the case of those obligated to complete the report with costs up to EUR 2000 (for details, see Table 4.3).

Consequently, according to the results of the survey, the weighted average time required for the transfer pricing issue, i.e., transfer pricing documentation and country-by-country reporting, and its related costs were determined in the select countries. The range of time determined is similar among the selected countries, i.e., between 143 and 276 h/year and entity¹³ (18–35 work days) in the case of the Czech Republic; between 152 and 260 h/year and entity in the case of the Slovak Republic; and between 145 and 268 h/year and entity in the case of Poland.

¹³It is determined according to the median and the highest values of individual spread of time set in questionnaire.

	Czech Republic		Slovak Republic		Poland		
	No. %			%	No.	%	
17. If your enterprise has the obligation to fill country-by-county report as an annex of incom-							
tax return, please estimate the time necessary for its	prepara	ation					
Up to 24 h per year	6	21.4	2	12.5	2	10.3	
25–56 h per year	14	50.0	-	-	-	-	
57–96 h per year	2	7.1	-	-	2	10.3	
More than 152 h per year	-	-	-	-	1	5.3	
I am not able to estimate	4	14.3	10	62.5	5	26.3	
No obligation	2	7.1	4	25.0	9	47.4	
18. With respect to the previous question (country-b related to this issue	18. With respect to the previous question (country-by-country report), please estimate the costs related to this issue						
Up to EUR 500	8	27.6	2	12.5	1	5.3	
EUR 501–1000	11	37.9	-	-	2	10.3	
EUR 1001–2000	4	14.3	1	6.3	1	5.3	
More than EUR 2000	-	-	-	-	1	5.3	
No obligation to prepare country-by-country report	2	6.9	5	31.3	8	42.1	
I am not able to estimate	3	10.3	8	50.0	6	31.6	

 Table 4.3 Country-by-country report—costs and time (own calculation, questionnaire)

However, the weighted average of compliance costs per entity differs slightly by country. The lowest average determined was for the Slovak Republic and was between EUR 2121 and EUR 4857/year. The highest average determined was for Poland and was between EUR 5802 and EUR 8856/year. In the case of the Czech Republic, the weighted average of compliance costs was set between EUR 4341 and EUR 7704/year. Taking into account the assumed number of medium-sized enterprises acting in the researched countries (see Table 4.1), the compliance costs of transfer pricing determined using the costs indicator and presented as a portion of the corporate tax collected ranges between 2.48% and 5.67% (Slovak case), 7.22% and 12.81% (Czech case) and 12.32% and 18.80% (Polish case). It is evident that Poland's compliance costs for transfer pricing exceed those of the other two countries and that this result corresponds with the highest value of compliance costs for the representative sample, and as well, the Slovak Republic has the lowest compliance costs (for details, see Table 4.4).

However, when considering the time indicator, the compliance costs of transfer pricing differ (see Table 4.5). As is evident from the table, the compliance costs are lower than the compliance costs determined above using the costs indicator, but the position of the highest and lowest compliance costs is the same as in previous case. This may be caused by the average salaries of the tax advisors in each country, as this value was used as a valuation of the time needed to resolve transfer pricing issues. Furthermore, regarding the assumed number of medium-sized enterprises acting in the researched countries (see Table 4.1), the compliance costs of transfer pricing as determined using the time indicator and as presented as a portion of the

 Table 4.4
 Determination of compliance costs of transfer pricing for Medium-sized—based on the costs indicator (own calculation, questionnaire, MF Czech Republic, MF Slovak Republic, MF of Poland)

Country	Туре	Compliance costs for entity (in EUR/per year)	Compliance costs for whole group of Medium-sized (in million EUR) ^a	Corporate tax collection in 2015 (in million EUR)	Portion of compliance costs to corporate tax collection (in %)
Processing		Eq. (4.1)	Eq. (4.1)* No. Medium-sized entities	Dataset of MF	Compliance costs of transfer pric- ing/corporate tax collection
Czech	A	6430	390.3	3650.7 ^b	10.69
Republic	В	7704	467.6	-	12.81
	С	4341	263.5		7.22
Slovak	А	3632	112.1	2640.5	4.25
Republic	В	4857	149.9		5.67
	С	2121	65.4		2.48
Poland	A	7439	926.9	5868.4 ^c	15.79
	В	8856	1103.4]	18.80
	C	5802	722.9		12.32

A—Calculation based on the median values of individual spread of costs established in the questionnaire. See Tables 4.2 and 4.3. For example: a spread EUR 1001-2000, medium value is 1500 which is further multiplied by the number of answers for that spread of costs. For more details, see Eq. (4.1)

B—Calculation based on the highest values of individual spread of costs established in the questionnaire. See Tables 4.2 and 4.3

C—Calculation based on the lowest values of individual spread of costs established in the questionnaire. See Tables 4.2 and 4.3

^aCompliance costs for the group of medium-sized entities were determined as compliance costs for one entity multiplied by the assumed number of medium-sized entities operating in the researched countries mentioned in Table 4.1

^bAverage exchange rate CZK/EUR for 2015 is CZK 27.283 per 1 EUR. Corporate tax collection for 2015 is CZK 99.6 billion

 $^{\rm c}Average$ exchange rate PLN/EUR for 2015 is PLN 4.18 per 1 EUR. Corporate tax collection for 2015 is PLN 24530 mil

corporate tax collected ranges between 2.18% and 3.73% (Slovak case), 3.47% and 6.70% (Czech case) and 8.13% and 15.02% (Polish case).

Previously in this chapter, the compliance costs of transfer pricing for mediumsized enterprises were determined. At this point, the entire group of SMEs acting in the select countries (see Table 4.1) is taken into account to determine the compliance costs of transfer pricing issues. As is evident in Table 4.5, Poland is omitted from the calculations as its current legal framework exempts them from transfer pricing documentation requirements in the case of small transactions up to a set limit. Based on this, we assumed that small enterprises would fulfil the legal condition for small transactions. Therefore, the compliance costs of transfer pricing for whole group of SMEs are determined only for the Czech and Slovak cases. As is
Table 4.5
 Determination of compliance costs of transfer pricing for medium-sized—based on the time indicator (own calculation, questionnaire, MF Czech Republic, MF Slovak Republic, MF of Poland)

Country	Туре	Compliance costs for entity (in EUR/ per year)	Compliance costs for group of medium- sized (in million EUR) ^a	Corporate tax collection in 2015 (in million EUR)	Portion of compliance costs to corporate tax collection (in %)
Processing		Eq. (4.1)	Eq. (4.1)* No. Medium-sized entities	Dataset of MF	Compliance costs of transfer pricing/corpo- rate tax collection
Czech	А	210*14.6 = 3066	186.1	3650.7 ^b	5.10
Republic	В	276*14.6 = 4029.6	244.6		6.70
	С	143*14.6 = 2087.8	126.7		3.47
Slovak	А	205*12.26 = 2513.3	77.6	2640.5	2.94
Republic	В	260*12.26 = 3187.6	98.4		3.73
	С	152*12.26 = 1863.5	57.5		2.18
Poland	A	204*26.4 = 5385.6	671.1	5868.4 ^c	11.44
	В	268*26.4 = 7075.2	881.6		15.02
	C	145*26.4 = 3828.0	476.9		8.13

A—Calculation based on the median values of individual spread of time established in the questionnaire. See Tables 4.2 and 4.3. For example, a spread of 101–200, medium value is 150, which is further multiplied by the number of answers for that spread of time. For more details, see Eq. (4.1). Time determined this way is then multiplied by the costs per working hour as mentioned in Table 4.1

B—Calculation based on the highest values of individual spread of time established in the questionnaire. See Tables 4.2 and 4.3

C—Calculation based on the lowest values of individual spread of time established in the questionnaire. See Tables 4.2 and 4.3

^aCompliance costs for group of medium-sized entities were determined as compliance costs for one entity multiplied by the assumed number of medium-sized entities operating in the researched countries mentioned in Table 4.1

^bAverage exchange rate CZK/EUR for 2015 is CZK 27.283 per 1 EUR. Corporate tax collected for 2015 is CZK 99.6 billion

 $^{\rm c}Average$ exchange rate PLN/EUR for 2015 is PLN 4.18 per 1 EUR. Corporate tax collected for 2015 is PLN 24530 million

evident, the compliance costs of transfer pricing are vastly different from the previous results. In the case of the Czech Republic, compliance costs as a portion of the corporate tax collected ranges between 55.7% and 98.9% (cost indicator) and between 26.8% and 51.7% (time indicator). These results are contrary to the Slovak case, where the ranges are between 18.9% and 43.4% (cost indicator) and 16.6% and 28.5% (time indicator) (for details, see Table 4.6).

		Cost indicator			Time indicator		
		Compliance			Compliance		
		costs for entity	Compliance costs	Portion of compliance	costs for entity	Compliance costs	Portion of compliance
		(in EUR/per	for group of SMEs ^a	costs to corporate tax	(in EUR/per	for group of SMEs ^a	costs to corporate tax
Country	Type	year)	(in million EUR)	collection (in %)	year)	(in million EUR)	collection (in %)
Processing		Eq. (4.1)	Eq. (4.1)*	Compliance costs of	Eq. (4.1)	Eq. (4.1)*	Compliance costs of
			No. SMEs	transfer pricing/corpo-		No. SMEs	transfer pricing/cor-
				rate tax collection			porate tax collection
Czech	A	6430	3014.1	82.6	3066	1437.2	39.4
Republic	В	7704	3611.2	98.9	4029.6	1888.9	51.7
	C	4341	2034.8	55.7	2087.8	978.6	26.8
Slovak	A	3632	856.9	32.5	2513.3	529.9	20.1
Republic	В	4857	1145.9	43.4	3187.6	752.1	28.5
	C	2121	500.4	18.9	1863.5	439.7	16.6
A—Calculat of 101–200, determined t	ion bas ⁱ mediun his wav	ed on the median var n value is 150, which v is then multiplied P	lues of individual spread a is further multiplied by the costs per working	d of costs/time established y the number of answers for thour as mentioned in Ta	in the questionnaire or that spread of tim- ble 4.1	2. See Tables 4.2 and 4. e. For more details, see	3. For example, a spread Eq. (4.1). Further, Time

Table 4.6 Determination of compliance costs of transfer pricing for SMEs (own calculation)

^aCompliance costs for group of SMEs were determined as compliance costs for one entity multiplied by the assumed number of SMEs operating in the

B—Calculation based on the highest values of individual spread of costs/time established in the questionnaire. See Tables 4.2 and 4.3 C—Calculation based on the lowest values of individual spread of costs/time established in the questionnaire. See Tables 4.2 and 4.3

researched countries mentioned in Table 4.1

4.4 Determination of Compliance Costs of Transfer Pricing for EU Member States

4.4.1 Data Description and Processing

The compliance costs of transfer pricing for SMEs were determined using the results of the questionnaire distributed to entities having a parent or a subsidiary in the European Union. Of the questionnaires distributed, 144 were returned (distribution is presented in Fig. 4.2). Of those returned, 20.1% represented micro entities, 45.2% represented small entities and 34.7% represented medium-sized entities. The entities are operating primarily in the following industrial sectors: industry sector NACE ¹⁴ C (26%), industry sector NACE G (19.9%), industry sector NACE N (17.8%), industry sector J and L (12.3%), industry sector NACE N (11.6%) and industry sector NACE A, B, E, F, H, I, K, P and S (under 10%).

With respect to determining the compliance costs of transfer pricing, the weighted average value of compliance costs was applied as can be seen in Eq. (4.2).

$$\bar{x} = \frac{\sum_{i=1}^{n} w_i x_i}{\sum_{i=1}^{n} w_i}$$
(4.2)



Fig. 4.2 SMEs based on residency (own processing, questionnaire)

¹⁴See note 8.

where weight (w) represents number of answers for each cost or time set in the questionnaire and x represents the values of the individual spread of costs or time set in the questionnaire. The calculations take three forms:

- A: Calculation based on the median values¹⁵ of individual spread of costs/time set in questionnaire,
- B: Calculation based on the highest values¹⁶ of individual spread of costs/time set in questionnaire and
- C: Calculation based on the lowest values¹⁷ of individual spread of costs/time set in questionnaire.

Consequently, the compliance costs as determined using this method were used for the determination of the compliance costs of transfer pricing for the category of SME taxpayers operating in the European Union. Based on the annual report of European Commission (2015), there are 22.3 million SMEs active in the non-financial business sector across the EU28. However, these numbers include primarily micro enterprises (93%). Thus, the compliance costs of transfer pricing issues as determined represents a relatively small portion, i.e., 1.56 million, of the SMEs. To identify the portion of compliance costs of transfer pricing to the corporate tax paid, the corporate tax collected for the EU28, as obtained from the Eurostat statistics,¹⁸ was used.

4.4.2 Determination of Compliance Costs

For the purpose of this study, compliance costs of transfer pricing issues cover only the managing of transfer pricing documentation, which includes the consideration of the most appropriate transfer pricing methods. Contrary to the previous section, i.e., 4.3, compliance costs of country-by-country reporting were not determined as approximately $73\%^{19}$ of the respondents were unable to estimate those costs or they were not obligated to do so according to the CbCR. Other activities related to advance pricing agreements (hereinafter, APA), transfer pricing methods and transfer pricing audits are omitted from the analysis because approximately 50% of the respondents were unable to estimate tho these activities.

 $^{^{15}}$ For example spread set in questionnaire is EUR 1001–2000, medium value is 1500 which is further multiplied by the number of answers for that spread of costs according to Eq. (4.2).

¹⁶For example spread set in questionnaire is EUR 1001–2000, the highest values is 2000 which is further multiplied by the number of answers for that spread of costs according to Eq. (4.2).

 $^{^{17}}$ For example spread set in questionnaire is EUR 1001–2000, the lowest values is 1001 which is further multiplied by the number of answers for that spread of costs according to Eq. (4.2).

¹⁸Main national accounts tax aggregates [gov_10a_taxag]—taxes on the income or profits of corporations including holding gains.

¹⁹The rest of the respondents' answers from the Czech Republic, Slovak Republic and Poland. For results, see the previous chapter.

With respect to tax consultancy services for transfer pricing issues, the survey indicates that 15% of the respondents do not use tax consultant services for transfer pricing issues, which is contrary to the 47% who use tax services for all matters, regardless of whether it is a transfer pricing issue. Furthermore, almost 14% of the respondents use a tax service when preparing transfer pricing documentation, and 11% of respondents claim to use tax services when considering various transfer pricing methods. Moreover, respondents also use tax consultants when settling transfer pricing disputes (9%), preparing country-by-country reports (CbCR) and creating APA (see Fig. 4.3 for details).

To determine the compliance costs of transfer pricing, it is necessary to identify the costs and time related to such activities. As indicated in Table 4.7, the managing of transfer pricing documentation includes determining the most suitable transfer pricing methods, a process that takes between 100 and 300 h/year. However, 28.7% of the respondents were unable to estimate the time needed to manage transfer pricing issues. This may be because many of the respondents use tax advisory services for this type of tax compliance. With respect to the borne costs for managing transfer pricing documentation, the survey revealed that in the case of the European entities, approximately 20% of the respondents spent up to EUR 3000/year and almost 22% of the respondents spent up to EUR 6000/year (for more details, see Table 4.7).

Consequently, according to the results of the survey, the weighted average of the compliance costs was determined. Accordingly, the compliance costs were found to range between EUR 3090/year and EUR 4179/year for an entity operating in the EU28. These costs equate to between 18 and 30 work days/year to managing transfer pricing issues. Furthermore, by taking into account the number of SMEs acting in the EU28, the compliance costs of transfer pricing were determined using the cost indicator range of EUR 4.8 billion to EUR 6.5 billion, which indicates a range between 1.32% to 2.38% of the corporate tax collected in the EU28 (for more details, see Table 4.8).



15. Please estimate the time necessary for preparation of transfer pricing documentation. When doing the estimation, please take into account also the time.		
necessary for up-date of transfer pricing documentation	No.	%
Up to 100 h	19	16.5
101–200 h	21	18.3
201–300 h	26	22.6
301–500 h	2	1.7
More than 500 h	4	3.5
I am not able to estimate	33	28.7
There is not an obligation to prepare transfer pricing documentation in our country	10	8.7
16. With respect to the previous question, please estimate the costs related to this is	sue	
Up to EUR 1000	10	8.6
EUR 1001–3000	23	19.8
EUR 3001–6000	25	21.6
EUR 6001–9000	17	14.7
EUR 9001–12,000	1	0.9
EUR 16,001–20,000	2	1.7
I am not able to estimate	27	23.3
There is not an obligation to prepare transfer pricing documentation	11	9.5

 Table 4.7 Transfer pricing documentation—costs and time—European Union (own calculation, questionnaire)

 Table 4.8
 Determination of compliance costs of transfer pricing for SMEs—European Union—cost indicator (own calculation)

Туре	Compliance costs for entity (in EUR/per year)	Compliance costs for group of SMEs ^a (in million EUR)	Corporate tax collection in 2015 in the EU28 ^b (in million EUR)	Portion of compliance costs to corporate tax collection (in %)
Processing	Eq. (4.1)	Eq. (4.1)* No. SMEs	Dataset of MF	Compliance costs of transfer pricing/ corporate tax collection
А	4179.5	6520.0	363,990.2	1.79
В	5564.1	8679.9]	2.38
С	3090.7	4821.5		1.32

A—Calculation based on the median values of the individual spread of costs established in the questionnaire. See Table 4.7. For example, spread EUR 101–200, medium value is 150, which is further multiplied by number of answers for that spread of costs. For more details, see Eq. (4.2) B—Calculation based on the highest values of individual spread of costs established in the questionnaire

C-Calculation based on the lowest values of individual spread of costs established in the questionnaire

^a1.56 million SMEs are operating in the EU. Compliance costs for group of SMEs was determined as compliance costs for one entity multiplied by the number of SMEs operating in the EU ^bSource: Eurostat

4.5 Conclusions

The survey of compliance costs of transfer pricing for SMEs reveals that transfer pricing usually requires tax consultancy, which increases the compliance costs of taxation and thus the compliance costs of transfer pricing. SMEs bear the costs for managing transfer pricing issues, primarily in the form of transfer pricing documentation and country-by-country reporting. These costs range from EUR 4341 to EUR 7704, and time spent ranges from 18 to 35 work days/year in the case of the Czech Republic. Similar costs are found for the Polish entities, which range from EUR 5802 to EUR 8856 and from 19 to 34 work days/year. Similarly, for the Slovak entities, the costs range from EUR 2121 to EUR 4857 and the time ranges from 19 to 33 work days/year. Taking into account the assumed amount of SMEs acting in the Czech and Slovak Republic and the overall corporate tax collected in these countries, the compliance costs of transfer pricing represent between 26.8% and 98.9% of the corporate tax collected in the Czech Republic and between 16.6% and 43.4% of the corporate tax collected in the Slovak Republic according to the indicators used for the determination of compliance costs. However, European SMEs bear the costs for managing transfer pricing issues, primarily in the form of transfer pricing documentation, and these costs range between EUR 3090 and EUR 5564/year, an amount equivalent to between 18 and 30 work days/year. Accordingly, when considering the entire group of SMEs acting in the EU28, the costs represent a portion of the overall EU28 corporate tax collected of between 1.32% and 2.38%.

In comparison with the results of previous studies, it is evident that transfer pricing generates huge compliance costs of taxation. Based on the results of the Paying Taxes report, which focuses on standardized small- and medium-sized entities, for the management of three major taxes, such as VAT, corporate taxes and labour taxes, an amount of time similar to that needed transfer pricing issues is required. Further, when comparing the results of the studies conducted by Vítek and Pavel (2008) and Pudil et al. (2004), it is evident that the portion of compliance costs for transfer pricing to that of corporate tax collection is several times higher (for details, see Table 4.9). It may be because the current transfer pricing issue represents the actual situation, and hence, tax administrators are more focused on this area now than they were before. In this respect, entities recognize this pressure and are more interested in the area of transfer pricing and its consequences on higher compliance costs.

Based on the conducted research, it is recommended that tax policymakers carefully design new tax obligations in the area of transfer pricing and address the disproportionately high tax compliance burdens faced by SMEs. In this respect, we recommend the application of some simplified measurements of transfer pricing to decrease the compliance costs of such pricing. These recommendations include simplified transfer pricing documentation, the exclusion of micro entities from the

Туре	Studies	Time indicator	Compliance costs/corporate tax collection (in %)
Transfer	Own study		
pricing	Czech Republic	143–276 h	26.8–51.7 ^a
		per year	
	Slovak Republic	152–260 h	16.6–28.5 ^a
		per year	
	Poland	145–268 h	-
		per year	
	European Union	139–235 h	1.32–2.38 ^b
		per year	
Corporate	Vítek et al. (2008)	-	5.5
taxation	Pudil et al. (2004)	-	5.3
Three major	Paying Taxes report (2017)		
taxes	10F 2010/2013	0041	
	Czech Republic	234 h per	-
		year	
	Slovak Republic	188 h per	-
		year	
	Poland	271 h per	-
		year	
	EU and EFTA	232.7 h per	-
		year	

 Table 4.9
 Comparison of compliance costs (own processing, World Bank Paying Taxes 2017)

^aBased on the time indicator

^bBased on the costs indicator

transfer pricing requirements and the implication of safe harbour²⁰ for selected industries and types of transactions (i.e., for loans, royalties, intangibles, among others).

Acknowledgement The chapter is the result of the GA ČR no. 15-24867S "Small and medium size enterprises in global competition: Development of specific transfer pricing methodology reflecting their specificities".

²⁰Safe harbour is determined usually as a range of arm's length rate, which is accepted by tax administrators. Then, taxpayers may not incur costs and time for the determination of arm's length rate/margin resulting in lower compliance costs of taxation. For more details about safe harbour, see the following Chap. 5 and Solilova and Nerudova (2016) "The Proposal of Safe Harbours in the Area of Transfer Prices for Small and Medium Sized Enterprises", Politická Ekonomie, vol. 64, no. 5, p. 559–572. DOI: 10.18267/j.polek.1075.

References

Amadeus Database (2015) Bureau Van Dijk

- Bartelsman E, Beetsma, R (2000) Why pay more? Corporate tax avoidance through transfer pricing in OECD countries, Tinbergen Institute discussion paper no. 00-54/2. http://www. rrojasdatabank.info/wir2006/pricetransfer.pdf. Accessed 02 May 2017
- Buus T (2009) Vhodný kalkulační vzorec s ohledem na rozhodování o ceně (transferové ceně) a maximalizaci hodnoty podniku. Český finanční a účetní časopis 4(2):33–45
- Carroll MB (1933) Taxation of foreign and national enterprises: vol. IV, Methods of allocating taxable income. http://archive.org/stream/taxationofforeig031922mbp/ taxationofforeig031922mbp_djvu.txt. Accessed 04 May 2017
- Chittenden F, Michaelas N, Poutziouris P (2000) Small business taxation: an agenda for growth. EDC: Manchester Business School
- Cordova-Novion C, De Young C (2001) The OECD/public management service multi-country business survey – benchmarking regulatory and administrative business environments in small and medium sized enterprises. In: Evans C, Pope J, Hasseldine J (eds) Tax compliance costs: a Festschrift for Cedric Sandford. Prospect, Sydney
- Cressy R (2000) Tax, assistance, compliance and the performance of the smaller business. Research report to the Federation of Small Business
- European Commission (2002) Recommendation 2003/361/EC of 6 May 2003
- European Commission (2015) Annual reports on European SMEs 2014/2015. SMEs start hiring again
- Eurostat (2017) Main national accounts tax aggregates [gov_10a_taxag] taxes on the income or profits of corporations including holding gains
- Evans C (2003) Taxing personal capital gains: operating cost implications. Australian Tax Research Foundation, Sydney
- Green S (1994) Compliance costs and direct taxation. The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, London
- Hays Salary Guide. Czech Republic. https://www.hays.cz/cs/groups/hays_common/@cz/@con tent/documents/digitalasset/hays_1496043.pdf. Accessed 5 Mar 2017
- Hays Salary Guide. Poland. http://www.hays.pl/cs/groups/hays_common/documents/digitalasset/ hays_712403.pdf. Accessed 5 Mar 2017
- Hays Salary Guide. Slovak Republic. https://www.hays.cz/cs/groups/hays_common/@cz/@con tent/documents/digitalasset/hays_559975.pdf. Accessed 5 Mar 2017
- Hines JR Jr, Rice EM (1994) Fiscal paradise: foreign tax havens and American business. Q J Econ 109(1):149–182
- Huizinga HL, Laeven L (2006) International profit shifting within multinationals: a multi-country perspective. European Economy. Economic Papers 260. http://ec.europa.eu/economy_finance/ publications/publication590_en.pdf. Accessed 15 May 2017
- Keuschnigg C, Devereux M (2013) The arm's length principle and distortions to multinational firm organization. J Int Econ 89(2):432–440
- KPMG (1996) Tax simplification: a survey of UK listed companies. KPMG, London
- KPMG (2006) Administrative burdens HMRC Measurement Project. KPMG LLP (March). http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20140109143644/http://www.hmrc.gov.uk/betterregulation/kpmg.htm. Accessed 10 May 2017
- Lohse T, Riedel N (2013) Do transfer pricing laws limit international income shifting? Evidence from European multinationals. CESifo working paper, no. 4404. https://fiwi.uni-hohenheim. de/fileadmin/einrichtungen/fiwi/Mitarbeiter/Paper_2013_09_17.pdf. Accessed 04 May 2017
- Ministry of Finance of Poland. Corporate income tax collection 2015
- Ministry of Finance of the Czech Republic. Corporate income tax collection 2015
- Ministry of Finance of the Slovak Republic. Corporate income tax collection 2015
- Nerudová D, Bohušová H, Svoboda P, Široký J (2009) Harmonizace účetních standardů pro malé a střední podniky. Praha, Wolters Kluwer

- Obermair C, Weninger P (2008) Tax compliance costs for companies in an enlarged European community. General report. In: Lang M et al (eds) Tax compliance costs for companies in an enlarged European community. Linde, Wien
- OECD (1995) Transfer pricing guidelines for multinational enterprises and tax administrations, Chap I. OECD Publication Service, Paris
- OECD (2001) Businesses' views on red tape. Administrative and regulatory burdens on small and medium-sized enterprises. Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, Paris. doi:https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264193468-en
- OECD (2010) Transfer pricing guidelines for multinational enterprises and tax administrations. http://www.oecd.org/publications/oecd-transfer-pricing-guidelines-for-multinational-enter prises-and-tax-administrations-20769717.htm. Accessed 12 May 2017
- OECD (2017) Transfer pricing guidelines for multinational enterprises and tax administrations. http://www.oecd.org/tax/transfer-pricing/oecd-transfer-pricing-guidelines-for-multinationalenterprises-and-tax-administrations-20769717.htm. Accessed 11 July 2017
- Pavel J, Vítek L (2015) Vyvolané náklady daňového systému v ČR. Politická ekonomie 63 (3):317–330
- Pris P, Gornnet S, Meghames R (2014) Understanding risk in the enterprise: the key to transfer pricing for today's business models. Int Trans Pricing J 21(6):395–401
- Pudil P, Vybíhal V, Vítek L, Pavel J et al (2004) Zdanění a efektivnost. Eurolex Bohemia, Praha Rojíček M (2012) Vliv globalizace na fungování mezinárodního obchodu. Politická Ekonomie 60
- (2):187–207
- Sandford SC (1995) Tax compliance costs measurement and policy. Fiscal Publications in association with The Institute for Fiscal Studies, Bath
- Shaw J, Slemrod J, Whiting J (2008) Administration and compliance. Chapter prepared for the report of a Commission on reforming the tax system for the 21st century (Mirrlees review). Institute for Fiscal Studies. http://eml.berkeley.edu//~saez/course/Shawetal_IFS%282009%29. pdf. Accessed 10 July 2017
- Silberztein C (2013) OECD: transfer pricing safe harbours. Int Trans Pricing J 20(2):432-440
- Slemrod J (2006) The (compliance) cost of taxing business. http://webuser.bus.umich.edu/ jslemrod/pdf/cost_of_taxing_business.pdf. Accessed 10 July 2017
- Solilová V, Nerudová D (2012) The effects of changes in transfer pricing policy of the business models in 21st century. In: New role of public finance 2012. Wolters Kluwer ČR, Praha, pp 247–257
- Solilová V, Nerudová D (2013) Transfer pricing: general model for tax planning. Ekonomický Časopis 61(6):597–617
- Solilová V, Nerudová D (2016) Návrh bezpečných přístavů v oblasti převodních cen pro malé a střední podniky. Politická ekonomie 64(5):558–571
- Solilová V, Steindl M (2013) Tax treaty policy on article 9 of the OECD model scrutinized. Bull Int Tax 67(3):128–136
- Swenson LD (2001) Tax reforms and evidence of transfer pricing. Natl Tax J 54(1):7-25
- Taylor G, Richardson G, Lanis R (2015) Multinationality, tax havens, intangible assets, and transfer pricing aggressiveness: an empirical analysis. J Int Account Res 14(1):25–57
- Vítek L, Pavel J (2008) Analýza nákladů soukromého sektoru vyvolaných daňovým systémem (výzkumná studie). Vysoká škola ekonomická v Praze a Ministerstvo financí ČR, Praha
- Wells B, Lowell C (2014) Tax base erosion: reformation of section 482's arm's length standard. Fla Tax Rev 15(10):737–797
- World Bank and PwC (2017) Paying taxes 2017. World Bank, Washington, DC. https://www.pwc. com/gx/en/services/tax/paying-taxes-2017.html. Accessed 10 May 2017

Chapter 5 Safe Harbour as an Alternative Approach to Transfer Pricing of SMEs

This segment of the book contains the history of development of safe harbours from the perspective of transfer pricing issues, advantages and disadvantages of safe harbours, recommendations for the form and scope of safe harbours and the current situation of safe harbours in the European Union. The last part of the chapter includes our proposal on safe harbours as an alternative approach to the transfer pricing of SMEs in the European Union.

5.1 Relaunching of Safe Harbours

Applying the arm's length principle can be a resource-intensive process because it may impose a heavy administrative burden on taxpayers and tax administrations, as was proved in the previous chapter. It may require collection and analysis of data that may be difficult or costly to obtain and/or evaluate. Moreover, such compliance burdens may be disproportionate to the size of the taxpayer, the functions it performed, and the transfer pricing risks assumed in its controlled transactions. Furthermore, multinational enterprises have been faced daily by conflicting rules and approaches to applying the arm's length principle, burdensome documentation requirements, inconsistent audit standards and unpredictable competent authority outcomes. However, the OECD TP Guidelines¹ emphasize that documentation requirements should be reasonable and should not impose costs and burdens on taxpayers disproportionately to their circumstances. Therefore, greater simplicity in transfer pricing administration and improving the efficiency and effectiveness of transfer pricing enforcement are essential. These facts led the OECD, namely, the

¹OECD 2017: TP Guidelines, namely section C—chapter III. Section E—chapter IV, and Section B and D—chapter IV.

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

V. Solilova, D. Nerudova, *Transfer Pricing in SMEs*, Contributions to Management Science, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69065-0_5

Committee on Fiscal Affairs, to launch a project to improve the administrative aspects of transfer pricing and compliance issues in 2010.

The project started with a survey of the transfer pricing techniques that may be implemented by countries to optimize the use of taxpayers' and tax administrations' resources. The main findings from the survey were released in 2011 and were updated in 2012 and present an analysis of existing transfer pricing simplification measures (including safe harbours²) in existence in OECD and non-OECD member countries.³ The key findings are as follows:

- 33 out of 41 respondent countries (more than 80%) have transfer pricing simplification measures in place.
- 75% of available simplification measures are directed to small and mediumsized enterprises (hereinafter SMEs), small transactions, and low value adding intra-group services.
- Out of 33 respondent countries that have simplification measures, 16 countries have safe harbours.
- Of those 16 countries, 10 countries have simplified transfer pricing methods, the safe harbour arm's length range/rate and safe harbour interest rates.⁴

The results of the survey were surprising. When the OECD TP Guidelines were adopted in 1995 and further revised in 2010, the view on safe harbours was generally negative. It was suggested that safe harbours may not be compatible with the arm's length principle, and therefore safe harbours are not advisable and recommended. However, based on the results of the survey, this negative tone does not accurately reflect the practise of OECD and non-OECD member countries. Moreover, safe harbours were explicitly endorsed in the EU Joint Transfer Pricing Forum (hereinafter EU JTPF) report "Transfer Pricing and Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises" as a means of providing a measure of simplification for SMEs as well as saving on administrative resources and reducing compliance burdens.⁵ Furthermore, in another EU JTPF report, "Guidelines on Low Value Adding Intra-Group Services", a safe harbour approach is also mentioned. Based on this

²In accordance with para 4.100 (4.102) TP Guidelines, OECD 2013 (2017): A safe harbour in a transfer pricing regime is a provision that applies to a defined category of taxpayers or transactions and that relieves eligible taxpayers from certain obligations otherwise imposed by a country's general transfer pricing rules. A safe harbour substitutes simpler obligations for those under the general transfer pricing regime. Further, safe harbour can exempt eligible taxpayers or transactions from the application of all or part of the general transfer pricing rules. However, safe harbour does not include administrative simplified measures which do not directly involve determination of arm's length prices.

³Namely, Argentina, Australia, Austria, Belgium, Canada, Chile, China, Colombia, Czech Republic, Denmark, Estonia, Finland, France, Germany, Hungary, India, Indonesia, Ireland, Israel, Italy, Japan, Korea, Luxembourg, Malaysia, Mexico, Netherlands, New Zealand, Norway, Poland, Portugal, Russia, Singapore, Slovak Republic, Slovenia, South Africa, Sweden, Switzerland, Turkey, the United Kingdom and the United States, as well as the European Union. ⁴OECD: Multi-country analysis of existing transfer pricing simplification measures, 2011, 2012. ⁵EU JTPF: Transfer Pricing and Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises, 2011.

approach, low value-added services are evaluated by mark-ups in the range of 3-10%, often approximately 5%.⁶

The Committee on Fiscal Affairs started to work on the review of the current guidance on safe harbours in Chapter IV of the TP Guidelines. On 6 June 2012, a discussion draft on safe harbours was released for public comments. The discussion draft included proposed revisions of section E on safe harbours in Chapter IV of the TP Guidelines and associated sample memoranda of understanding for competent authorities to establish bilateral safe harbours, which was not introduced in the current Chapter IV. Public comments on safe harbours were submitted by 35 private sector organizations, totalizing 237 pages and presenting the importance of the proposal for the business community. During the November 2012 meeting received public comments were discussed and finally on 16 May 2013 the OECD Council approved the Revised Section E on Safe Harbours in Chapter IV of the TP Guidelines as a partial solution for the project about administrative aspects and compliance issues of transfer pricing. Revised Section E brings a new clearer, albeit narrow definition of safe harbours including benefits and concerns. Moreover, OECD released updated TP Guidelines on 10 July 2017 reflecting the BEPS⁷ recommendations. However, in respect of Safe harbours, the chapter remained unchanged.

Based on the TP Guidelines (Chapter IV, section E, OECD 2013, 2017) safe harbours are defined as follows: A safe harbour is a provision that applies to a defined category of taxpayers or transactions and that relieves eligible taxpayers from certain obligations otherwise imposed by a country's general transfer pricing rules. A safe harbour substitutes simple obligations for those under the general transfer pricing regime. Such a provision could, for example, allow taxpayers to establish transfer prices in a specific way, e.g. by applying a simplified transfer pricing approach provided by the tax administration. Alternatively, a safe harbour could exempt a defined category taxpayers or transactions from the application of all or part of the general transfer pricing rules. Often, eligible taxpayers complying with the safe harbour provision will be relieved form burdensome compliance obligations, including some or all associated transfer pricing documentation requirements.

According to the new definition, it is obvious that thin capitalization rules, advance pricing arrangements and other administrative simplification measures that do not directly involve the determination of arm's length prices are not within the scope of the safe harbours discussion.

In addition, is important to mention that the current UN Transfer Pricing Manual also contains a comprehensive and pragmatic discussion of safe harbour provisions. Thus, policy-makers and tax administrations across developed and developing countries try to ensure a globally consistent approach to safe harbour provisions.

⁶EU JTPF: Guidelines on Low Value Adding Intra-Group Services, 2011.

⁷The project on Base Erosion and Profit Shifting was launched in February 2013 by the OECD and G20 countries.

5.2 Advantages and Disadvantages of Safe Harbours

The tone on the benefits of safe harbours is slightly more positive compared with guidance in 1995 or in 2010. Safe harbours should be now appropriate for taxpayers and/or transactions that involve low transfer pricing risks and those adopted on a bilateral or multilateral basis.

Generally, safe harbours would result in less stringent documentation requirements for eligible taxpayers or transactions with the result of simplified administration and compliance processes. Safe harbours can provide a useful means of reducing the administration burden for taxpayers and tax authorities. Complying with transfer pricing requirements is a time-consuming and expensive consideration for taxpayers, mainly for SMEs. The availability of safe harbours may provide an opportunity to reduce the compliance cost for taxpayers, as well as permitting tax authorities to focus their limited resources on areas with the most significant transfer pricing risks. Further, safe harbours may enable tax authorities to increase the efficiency of their yield from transfer pricing enquiries. In this case, the tax administrations can shift audit and examination resources from smaller taxpayers and less complex transactions to more complex, higher-risk cases. Safe harbours would result in a greater administrative simplicity for tax administrations mainly due to minimal examination requirements with respect to the transfer prices of controlled transactions qualifying for the safe harbours. Moreover, from the taxpayers' perspective, they can file their tax returns with more certainty and with lower compliance burdens. Furthermore, safe harbours could serve to simplify transfer pricing rules across jurisdictions, thereby aiding business competitiveness on regional and global scales.

However, it must be highlighted that safe harbours have the potential to significantly reduce the compliance burden on taxpayers and the resource dedication of tax authorities, provided they are well-designed in line with the arm's length principle and applied based on a careful evaluation of the facts and circumstances.

Considering taxpayers, the benefits of safe harbours are potentially greatest for SMEs/small multinational enterprises or for those in the early stages of cross-border expansion. These businesses may not possess the resources for detailed transfer pricing studies in multiple territories but have the same desire for the certainty that comes from effective compliance. In particular, there are two benefits for taxpayers in having bilateral safe harbours offered by tax authorities: lower compliance costs and certainty. These are mainly in the areas of low transfer pricing risk, where compliance costs are perhaps disproportionately high and there remains no certainty that transfer prices will not be subjected to tax authority audits in one or more countries. The use of bilateral or even multilateral agreements has the potential to significantly decrease the number of transfer pricing disputes, audit and MAP cases. However, unilateral rulings do provide benefits in that they are less time-consuming and simpler to manage. Moreover, the unilateral safe harbours have also a role to play for small transactions and SMEs for which a bilateral/multilateral process may be overly costly. Furthermore, countries have different attitudes, different effective tax rates and/or unbalanced taxing powers in

the relationship with taxpayers, a unilateral safe harbour may be the most practical and beneficial instrument both to taxpayers and tax authorities to achieve certainty, respectively, on tax burdens and collections. On the other hand, unilateral safe harbours only protect taxpayers from adjustments by one of the two or more tax authorities with an interest in a transfer pricing transaction. Under such circumstances, mandatory unilateral safe harbours may lead to a high risk of double taxation and/or the need to seek resolution in competent authority.⁸

However, based on these circumstances, safe harbours should be optional for taxpayers because a taxpayer should have a choice as to whether to apply a safe harbour or to follow the general principles of the arm's length standard when demonstrating that related party transactions are correctly priced. Only such an optional approach would achieve the desired compliance relief for taxpayers and allow for sufficient flexibility, especially in case of unilateral safe harbours. However, bilateral safe harbours offer more protection against double taxation, and therefore have advantages over unilateral safe harbours. Further, in respect to the risk of double taxation and abusive tax planning, safe harbours should be introduced by a progressive development, e.g., starting with small companies first in order to test the concept before expanding it to larger taxpayers, and withdrawn or amended if taxpayers are found to be abusing them.

In the respect of divergence from the arm's length principle, the degree of approximation could be improved by collecting, collating, and frequently updating a pool of information regarding prices and pricing developments of transactions between uncontrolled parties, although such efforts could erode the administrative simplicity of the safe harbours. Furthermore, it is desirable to set detailed conditions under which a taxpayer is eligible for the safe harbour. Safe harbours should be introduced as an option to either choose the safe harbour or general transfer pricing rules.

In addition, as transfer pricing is not an exact science, any unilateral safe harbour, if based on arm's length principles and ranges, should not lead to major exposure to double taxation or non-taxation by, thus, achieving an effective balance between certainty, compliance simplicity, risk management, and tax revenue collection. However, the safe harbours outcomes can never be exactly the same as with a full transfer pricing analysis.

To summarize, for taxpayers and tax administrators, safe harbours mainly simplified transfer pricing approaches that can reduce compliance costs and administration costs. Further, it also means higher certainty for taxpayers and improved effectiveness of tax administration, mainly by decreasing the number of transfer pricing disputes, audit and MAP cases for tax administrators. Alternatively, there are some disadvantages, namely, an application for specific categories of taxpayers or transactions that can create discriminations or some distortions e.g., trade or competition; risk of double taxation or non-taxation; inappropriate tax planning and transfer pricing manipulation with results of lower tax revenues and so on (for details see Table 5.1).

⁸In this respect, it is essential that the opportunity to apply for mutual agreement procedure (MAP) is not reduced in the case of a safe harbour.

Table 5.1 Advantages and disadvantages of safe harbours (OECD, Multi-country analysis of existing transfer pricing simplification measures, 2012. OECD, The comments received with respect to the discussion draft on the revision of the safe harbours section of the transfer pricing guidelines, 2012. OECD, TP Guidelines, 2013 and 2017. Own analysis and processing)

Taxpayers	
Advantages	Disadvantages
Simplified transfer pricing approach	Application only for defined category of tax- payers or transactions. Potential discrimination and competitive, investment or trade distortions
Non-obligation to apply a country's general transfer pricing rules	It does not cover advance pricing agreements, thin capitalization rules, simplification of doc- umentation as safe harbours
More certainty that transfer prices will be accepted by the tax administrations	Risk of double taxation from the possible incompatibility of the safe harbours with the arm's length principle or with the practises of other countries in the case of a mandatory unilateral form of safe harbours
Lower burdensome compliance obligations/ costs	
Bilateral or multilateral form of safe harbours with the result of protection against double taxation	
Optional	
Potential tax planning opportunity	
Application of MAP is not reduced for safe harbours in the case of double taxation	
Tax authorities	1
Advantages	Disadvantages
Transfers of administrative resources to the examinations of more complex and/or higher-risk cases	Detailed setting of safe harbour's conditions under which a transaction or taxpayer is eligi- ble for safe harbour
Greater administrative simplicity for tax administrations	Potential divergence from the arm's length principle provided that safe harbours are not optional
Minimal examination requirements for control of transfer prices in the safe harbours	Potential for inappropriate tax planning and transfer pricing manipulation resulting in lower tax revenues
Lower tax administration costs	Risk of double non-taxation in the case of a unilateral form of safe harbours
Limited audit or non-audit of safe harbours provided that a taxpayer has met all conditions of the safe harbour provision	Potential for the oversimplification of the characterization of the entity's functions and activities due to access to safe harbours with the results of inconsistency with TP Guidelines
Bilateral or multilateral form of safe harbours	Potential discrimination, competition, invest- ment or trade distortions
Commonly used for low value-added services, SMEs and loans. Further suitable for low-risk transactions	Updating of information regarding prices and pricing developments of uncontrolled transac- tions for updating safe harbour's provisions— the monitored going-forward approach

(continued)

Table 5.1 (continued)

Tax authorities	
Advantages	Disadvantages
Higher efficiency and effectiveness of the tax administration activities	
Potential to decrease the number of transfer pricing disputes, audit and MAP cases pro- vided that the bilateral or multilateral form of safe harbour will be used	

5.3 Recommendations of the Form and Scope of Safe Harbours

Transfer pricing compliance and administration is often complex, time consuming and costly. Therefore, safe harbours can be considered as simplified measures (as taxpayers should always have the option to apply the arm's length principle instead of any safe harbour), which could fulfil their benefits and advantages, provided that they are properly and clearly designed with conditions and details under which a taxpayer/transaction is eligible for the safe harbour provision. Further, for elimination of a negative impact on the tax revenues of the country implementing the safe harbour as well as on the countries whose associated enterprises engage in controlled transactions, we recommend using a bilateral form of the safe harbour or a non-mandatory unilateral safe harbour. Moreover, we recommend using a safe harbour provision, mainly for less complex transactions, small transactions, routine transactions with lower risks or low value adding transactions, and for SMEs. This approach is consistent with work done by the European Commission and EU JTPF on such enterprises or transactions.

Further, we recommend setting safe harbour provisions in a way that allows tax authorities to challenge a taxpayer's use of the sale harbour if that use is abusive or inconsistent with the purpose of the safe harbour. In this respect, as was mentioned above, it is highly recommended to put safe harbours in place by a progressive development.

In respect to the form and scope of safe harbours, safe harbours can be either qualitative or quantitative, e.g., setting margins or de minimums thresholds below which a country's transfer pricing regulations would not apply. Before a determination of safe harbour, each tax jurisdiction should analyse its administration of transfer pricing transactions along the following lines:

- Number of transfer pricing audits undertaken in a year (including audits resulting in no adjustments).
- Number of hours spent by auditors, appeals officers, competent authority staff and attorneys in finalizing transfer pricing audits, and related costs (including external costs).
- Type of transaction and transfer pricing methodology used by the taxpayer.

• The taxpayer's filing position vs. final resolution of case.

Further, the above information shall be broken down into various categories such as size of taxpayer, size of transaction and type of transaction. Then a matrix should emerge indicating where most of the risk lies and, conversely, which areas are not worth the tax authorities' time. Thus, it should indicate areas which are better for investing both the tax authorities' and taxpayers' resources in by implementing safe harbour rules.

Moreover, the design of safe harbour provisions may need to take into account industry specificities and reflect industry comparability. The potentially influencing business and product cycles should also be taken into account and therefore a multiyear approach testing weighted average results should be applied.

Only well-designed, appropriate safe harbours should not distort taxpayer behaviour, but should provide administrative certainty.

5.4 Current Situation of Safe Harbours as Simplified Measurements in European Union⁹

In the respect of simplified measurements and safe harbours we analyzed:

- whether there are available exemptions from transfer pricing rules and transfer pricing adjustment,
- whether there are available exemptions from documentation requirements and from disclosure requirement, and simplified documentation,
- whether there are available simplified transfer pricing methods, safe harbour arm's length range/rate and safe harbour interest rate,
- whether there are available simplified APA procedures and reduced APA charge, and
- whether there are available exemptions from penalty and alleviated penalties.

From the SMEs perspective, as it is obvious from the results (see Table 5.2), the largest part of simplified measurements for SMEs is offered in case of documentation, particularly in 18 cases in 18 EU Member States. Exemption from documentation requirements represents almost 14% (in 11 cases) and simplified documentation represents more than 9% (in 7 cases). Further, only Ireland and the United Kingdom exclude SMEs from transfer pricing rules (for more details see Table 5.2). As regard APAs, only Romania offers reduced APA charges for micro entities. In Germany, reduced APA charges for small entities performing small

⁹For more details about simplified measurements see Chap. 2—Transfer pricing rule for SMEs in the EU.

							> :: - (/		((1.1.1))					
	Type (of simplifi	ed meas	surement			Safe hart	our		Scope of safe	harbour			
							۰, ۸					Low value		
			Ъ	ТР	Documentat	ion	length rate	Exemption from TP	Simulified	Small transactions	SMEs	adding services	Loans	Others
MS	APA	Penalty	rules	methods	Simplified	Exemption	range	rules	TP method	A	в	J	D	Е
AT				>	\mathbf{B}^{a}		J		C		>	>		
BE				>		\mathbf{B}^{a}	ں د		υ		>	>		
BG					B ^{b,c}	A ^a				>	>			
CZ				>	C		C		C			>		
DK				>		A^{a}, B^{c}	C		С	>	>	>		
DE	A,B			>		$\mathbf{B}^{\mathrm{d}}, \mathbf{E}$	C		C	>	>	>		>
EE						B°					>			
EL					\mathbf{B}^{a}	A^{a}, B^{d}, E				>	>			>
ES				>	B^{a}, C	A^{a}, E	C		С	>	>	>		>
FI				>	A^{a}	\mathbf{B}^{a}	С		С	۲ ا	>	>		
FR	В	В		>			С		С		~	~		
HR	None													
ΗU			>	>	С	A^{a}, B^{d}, E	С		С	۲	>	>		>
Ε			>					В			~			
ΕI					\mathbf{B}^{a}						~			
ΓΛ						$\mathbf{B}^{\mathbf{a}}$					~			
LT						\mathbf{B}^{a}					~			
ΓΩ				>			С		С			>		
NL	В			>	С		С		C		>	>		
PL					С	$A^{a}, B^{a,d}$		Е		۲ ا	>	>		>
РТ						\mathbf{B}^{a}					>			
													(00)	ntinued)

Table 5.2 Transfer pricing rules in EU Member States (Deloitte (2016), PwC (2015), IBFD (2017))

	Type .	of simplifi	ed meas	urement			Safe harl	bour		Scope of safe	harbour			
												Low		
							Arm's					value		
							length	Exemption		Small		adding		
			ΤP	TP	Documentati	on	rate	from TP	Simplified	transactions	SMEs	services	Loans	Others
MS	APA	Penalty	rules	methods	Simplified	Exemption	range	rules	TP method	A	В	С	D	Е
RO	B ^b			>		A ^a	C		C	>	>	>		
SI		В		>	В		D,C		C		>	>	>	
SK					\mathbf{B}^{c}						>			
SE				>	A^{a}		C		C	>		>		
UK			>	>		Е	C	\mathbf{B}^{c}	C		>	>		>
				•										

Table 5.2 (continued)

Note: Malta and Cyprus were excluded from the research

^aBased on the statutory thresholds related to revenue, costs or turnover

^bFor micro entities

^cUnder special conditions ^dFor micro and small entities

transactions¹⁰ are also available. Furthermore, in France and the Netherlands,¹¹ the simplified procedures of APA are offered for SMEs. Regarding a penalty, only Slovenia and France use an alleviated penalties regime for SMEs. Altogether, simplified measurements for SMEs were introduced in 26 cases in 22 EU Member States that account for almost 34%.

However, no simplified transfer pricing method or safe harbour arm's length range/rate is available for SMEs in EU Member States. This type of measurements is usually related to low value adding services and loans.

Further, small transactions cover the second largest part of simplified measurements (used 10 times, in 10 EU Member States). In addition, Croatia did not introduce any simplified measurements. Therefore, it is recommended to introduce at least some simplified measurements for low value added services that should reflect the TP Guidelines or the EU Joint Transfer Pricing Forum Guidelines on Low Value Adding Intra-Group Services.

However, based on the results it is further debatable whether in case of documentation requirements for SMEs, they should be harmonized in the whole EU or left in its current form. In case of the harmonization, this should mean that the Czech Republic, Croatia, France, Luxembourg, Netherlands, Romania and Sweden should also introduce documentation simplified measurements for SMEs or exempt under special conditions SMEs form the obligation to prepare transfer pricing documentation and follow current trend in the rest of European Union.

Finally, it was found that the EU Member States use a different definition of SMEs for transfer pricing purposes, notwithstanding, that there is a general EU definition for SMEs stated in Article 2 of European Commission Recommendation 2003/361/EC. It makes a situation even more complicated and increases compliance costs of taxation. However, every EU Member States has to take special care regarding the process of defining SMEs so that no LEs are classified as SMEs in the country. Hence, different SMEs definitions for transfer pricing purposes can occur so that no LEs apply simplified measurements.

According to the fact that SMEs are not able to ensure all required information related to transfer pricing issues, specifically comparable and functional analysis due to the lack of human and financial capital and born higher compliance costs¹² of taxation than LEs, the introduction of safe harbour in the form of an arm's length range can be seen as a suitable solution.

¹⁰For small taxpayers (those with intercompany tangible goods transactions below EUR 5,000,000 and other intercompany transactions below EUR 500,000) the filing fee is half of the general APA fee.

¹¹To simplify the process of APA, the tax authorities assist the taxpayer to find comparables.

¹²For more details about compliance costs of taxation see Chap. 4—*Compliance Costs of Transfer Pricing for SMEs.*

5.5 Proposal for Safe Harbours for SMEs

As was mentioned above, SMEs bear high compliance costs for taxation. Usually, they are not able to ensure all required information related to the transfer pricing issues, such as comparable and functional analysis needed for the determination of the arm's length prices or margins. Usually, they use tax advisors for these kinds of services as was proven by questionnaires between SMEs.¹³ Therefore, we believe that by using safe harbours, it is possible to eliminate burdensome compliance costs of taxation and make transfer pricing issues easier.

To determine safe harbours, individual SMEs were analysed, which were taken from the Amadeus database.¹⁴ Key characteristics of SMEs were:

- SMEs without branches or subsidiaries owned more than 25% of capital
- SMEs not being a subsidiary owned by other enterprise more than 25% of capital
- operating in the European Union across industry NACE A to NACE S
- had data about profits, sales (turnover) and operating expenditures in their financial statements

The dataset covers together more than 11 thousand SMEs and presents a representative dataset of independent SMEs operating in Europe for whom the arm's length ranges will be determined (see Table 5.3). This dataset was analysed from the respect of profitability of entities, namely, profit margins, operating profit margins (hereinafter EBIT margins), earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization (hereinafter EBITDA) margins and mark-up profit margins. All of them were analysed for the period between 2005 and 2014 and are defined as can be seen in Eqs. (5.1-5.4).^{15,16}

Profit margin:

Profit or loss before taxation/Sales or Operating revenue \times 100 (5.1)

¹³For more details about the questionnaire, see Chap. 3.

¹⁴The Amadeus database contains comprehensive financial and basic textual information on European companies across Europe (44 European countries). The Amadeus database used for the research covers very large, large, medium and small companies, altogether 21,815,160 companies, version 11.01, release 244, January 2015.

¹⁵Profit or loss before taxation represents the sum of the operating profit and financial profit.

¹⁶In the case where the states have defined an indicator of Sales, which is more accurate because it includes only sales of goods sold and sales of own products and services, unlike Operating revenue, it is necessary to use this indicator. In that case, the United Kingdom and Denmark do not specify this indicator, therefore operating revenue, which is more comprehensive, has to be used.

Table 5.3 Profi	tability of ir	ndependent S	MEs betwee	n 2005 and 2	2014 for all i	ndustry secto	ors (Amadeu	: (2015), ow	n processing)		
	Profit marg	gin % 2014–2	2005								
No. 11073	2014	2013	2012	2011	2010	2009	2008	2007	2006	2005	2014–2005
10th Pct	-6.27	-6.56	-6.96	-4.15	-3.86	-5.75	-2.80	-1.11	-1.36	-2.16	-4.10
25th Pct	0.09	-0.04	-0.39	0.24	0.35	0.14	0.56	1.06	0.95	0.73	0.34
30th Pct	0.42	0.32	0.15	0.58	0.69	0.49	0.95	1.48	1.39	1.16	0.71
40th Pct	1.10	0.96	0.73	1.28	1.43	1.27	1.77	2.33	2.24	2.02	1.48
50th Pct	1.86	1.71	1.45	2.10	2.30	2.13	2.67	3.34	3.28	2.92	2.36
60th Pct	2.86	2.64	2.47	3.17	3.41	3.25	3.91	4.76	4.52	4.15	3.51
75th Pct	5.50	5.26	5.12	5.94	6.24	5.99	6.85	7.91	7.55	7.06	6.38
80th Pct	6.99	6.64	6.59	7.37	7.78	7.51	8.48	9.41	9.15	8.58	7.93
90th Pct	12.46	12.12	12.14	13.24	13.84	13.37	14.36	15.48	14.93	14.38	13.73
Average	2.38	2.09	2.05	3.45	3.76	3.21	4.39	5.41	5.09	4.54	3.64
	EBIT marg	gin % 2014-2	2005								
No. 11073	2014	2013	2012	2011	2010	2009	2008	2007	2006	2005	2014-2005
10th Pct	-4.74	-5.07	-5.22	-2.92	-2.58	-3.99	-1.27	-0.03	-0.28	-1.04	-2.63
25th Pct	0.67	0.54	0.35	0.89	0.99	0.83	1.52	2.04	1.81	1.53	1.08
30th Pct	1.19	1.01	0.84	1.38	1.45	1.35	2.08	2.55	2.33	2.04	1.58
40th Pct	2.06	1.93	1.72	2.26	2.41	2.35	3.13	3.60	3.37	3.07	2.57
50th Pct	3.05	2.87	2.69	3.23	3.39	3.40	4.19	4.73	4.49	4.13	3.60
60th Pct	4.21	3.98	3.82	4.44	4.58	4.62	5.45	6.08	5.76	5.39	4.85
75th Pct	6.77	6.56	6.44	7.26	7.41	7.43	8.41	9.25	8.76	8.31	7.69
80th Pct	8.22	7.89	7.84	8.77	8.95	8.94	10.11	10.83	10.43	9.81	9.26
90th Pct	13.83	13.34	13.55	14.61	15.06	15.08	16.26	17.10	16.56	15.91	15.21
Average	3.68	3.40	3.43	4.76	4.98	4.68	6.05	6.84	6.42	5.84	5.01
											(continued)

5.5 Proposal for Safe Harbours for SMEs

	Mark-up pi	rofit margin	% 2014-200	5							
No. 10753	2014	2013	2012	2011	2010	2009	2008	2007	2006	2005	2014-2005
10th Pct	-4.55	-4.85	-5.04	-2.89	-2.65	-3.89	-1.30	-0.05	-0.33	-1.07	-2.64
25th Pct	0.64	0.50	0.31	0.86	0.92	0.78	1.47	2.03	1.80	1.51	1.04
30th Pct	1.14	0.97	0.81	1.34	1.40	1.31	2.05	2.56	2.34	2.04	1.55
40th Pct	2.04	1.90	1.67	2.24	2.38	2.30	3.13	3.64	3.39	3.07	2.55
50th Pct	3.03	2.86	2.66	3.24	3.39	3.38	4.21	4.81	4.54	4.18	3.61
60th Pct	4.23	3.98	3.80	4.43	4.59	4.63	5.50	6.24	5.90	5.50	4.90
75th Pct	6.88	6.61	6.48	7.34	7.52	7.49	8.64	9.67	9.04	8.55	7.85
80th Pct	8.33	8.02	7.84	8.90	9.10	9.13	10.46	11.35	10.81	10.19	9.45
90th Pct	13.97	13.40	13.64	14.78	15.39	15.50	16.99	18.07	17.32	16.82	15.70
Average	4.20	3.86	3.83	5.01	5.23	4.97	6.33	7.26	6.80	6.24	5.37
	EBITDA n	nargin % 201	14-2005								
No. 10753	2014	2013	2012	2011	2010	2009	2008	2007	2006	2005	2014-2005
10th Pct	-1.23	-1.36	-1.50	0.24	0.50	-0.29	1.16	1.74	1.63	1.27	0.47
25th Pct	2.48	2.39	2.21	2.91	3.10	3.01	3.73	4.21	4.01	3.76	3.16
30th Pct	3.14	3.03	2.91	3.60	3.77	3.72	4.41	4.95	4.73	4.44	3.85
40th Pct	4.42	4.33	4.20	4.90	5.16	5.10	5.77	6.31	6.09	5.89	5.22
50th Pct	5.89	5.78	5.50	6.33	6.60	6.59	7.34	7.96	7.56	7.30	69.9
60th Pct	7.55	7.40	7.22	8.06	8.45	8.45	9.07	9.80	9.43	9.15	8.49
75th Pct	11.46	11.14	11.17	11.90	12.37	12.48	13.23	13.94	13.73	13.25	12.48
80th Pct	13.51	13.13	13.16	13.89	14.54	14.71	15.42	16.14	15.70	15.35	14.61
90th Pct	20.85	20.63	20.59	21.82	22.77	22.88	23.45	23.71	23.45	23.40	22.48
Average	8.07	7.86	7.87	9.15	9.59	9.37	10.32	10.99	10.71	10.30	9.42

Table 5.3 (continued)

Operating margin:

Earnings before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation and Amortization margin:

EBITDA/Sales or Operating revenues
$$\times$$
 100 (5.3)

Mark-up profit margin:

Operating profit or loss/total operating costs \times 100 (5.4)

Furthermore, as with many tax administrations and the OECD (2017) in TP Guidelines, the application of interquartile range was used for the elimination of extreme results and increasing the reliability of the comparison of the results. The interquartile range represents a range from the 25th to the 75th percentile of the results derived from the uncontrolled transactions of unrelated entities (independent entities). Only the 50% of observations that are closest to the median are considered a reliable range of arm's length results. However, it is also suitable to determine the 10th percentile and 90th percentile as a lower and upper limit to ensure a larger range of results. The arm's length principle is met, if the margin of the tested party (associated enterprise) falls within this determined range.

In respect to the profitability of SMEs from the dataset, it is obvious (see Table 5.3) that there was little change over the last decade, specifically between 1% and 1.5%. Profitability of independent SMEs operating in the European Union appears stable without significant deviations and ranges from 0.34% to 12.48%, depending on the type of profitability.

However, the situation is quite different if one takes into the account the size of companies and the specifics of individual sectors in the economy, i.e., analysis of profitability by sector in which is SME operating (see Tables 5.4 and 5.5). The previous analysis indicated that the median value of EBIT margin beyond the 10th year period is 3.60% and the Mark-up profit margin is 3.61%. As is obvious from Tables 5.4 and 5.5, those values are not generated in NACE sectors G—Wholesale and retail trade; repair of motor vehicles and motorcycles, H—Transporting and storage, and R—Arts, entertainment and recreation by medium sized entities or small entities. Further, medium sized entities are not able to generate those median values in the case of industry NACE N—Administrative and support service activities and P—Education, as well as small entities in NACE D—Electricity, gas, steam and air conditioning supply. Moreover, there is a visible difference between the size of entities operating in some specific industry sectors and profitability, such as in sector D, where medium sized entities generate a much higher median value of margin than small entities (for more details see Table 5.4).

Further, as is obvious in Tables 5.4 and 5.5, profitability of small entities is in most cases higher than in cases of medium sized entities, namely, in the case of NACE E—Water supply; sewerage; waste management and remediation activities, G—Wholesale and retail trade; repair of motor vehicles and motorcycles, H—Transporting and

I and orthogram	LIUIILAUILILY UI	machemac	NP STINC 11	ciuda seuto	יווא מוות חוווז		I VALUES (A.	17) SUDUR	1 11 NO (CTC	1 OCCSSIII (S)		
	Median-M:	ark-up profi	it margin %	70-across 1	time							
NACE ^a	Entity	2014	2013	2012	2010	2009	2008	2007	2006	2005	2004	2005-2014 median
A	Medium	4.45	3.98	4.63	4.24	4.20	3.79	4.61	5.11	4.17	3.24	4.25
	Small	4.03	2.27	3.97	4.79	3.27	3.88	5.50	5.13	4.34	4.29	4.15
В	Medium	3.89	3.58	2.76	4.72	4.58	6.31	6.74	7.44	6.18	4.35	5.33
	Small	2.49	4.83	4.59	3.17	4.01	5.53	7.70	7.23	7.29	5.95	5.28
C	Medium	3.51	3.22	2.95	3.46	3.41	3.27	4.45	5.04	4.92	4.54	3.88
	Small	3.24	3.02	2.66	3.29	3.34	3.08	4.42	5.59	5.30	4.89	3.81
D	Medium	12.33	14.26	12.16	13.49	16.70	17.19	13.32	10.43	13.81	11.54	13.63
	Small	2.28	4.66	1.36	3.49	3.25	2.81	5.31	3.29	2.37	3.74	2.93
ш	Medium	3.52	2.28	2.12	4.45	4.77	3.65	4.45	5.79	4.36	5.72	4.09
	Small	5.47	1.98	6.10	7.40	7.96	6.68	5.82	8.46	5.64	6.07	6.52
ц	Medium	3.35	3.07	2.94	3.52	3.96	4.92	6.32	6.34	6.37	5.61	4.49
	Small	3.41	3.70	3.06	3.50	4.01	4.18	5.26	5.78	5.53	5.12	4.35
U	Medium	2.10	2.04	1.88	2.25	2.41	2.49	3.01	3.24	3.09	2.90	2.53
	Small	2.17	2.16	1.89	2.37	2.68	2.83	3.39	3.80	3.38	3.30	2.76
H	Medium	2.52	1.92	1.27	1.91	2.41	1.92	2.53	2.91	2.77	2.21	2.27
	Small	3.53	3.02	3.52	3.05	4.00	2.45	2.68	4.33	4.57	3.61	3.44
I	Medium	4.51	4.37	3.64	5.45	5.63	5.28	6.29	7.49	7.00	5.38	5.55
	Small	3.18	2.42	2.56	3.87	3.29	3.42	4.23	4.39	4.86	4.25	3.63
ſ	Medium	3.64	3.59	3.58	4.35	5.19	4.57	5.52	6.49	6.25	5.64	4.68
	Small	3.36	4.50	3.68	4.50	5.27	4.99	5.39	6.72	6.22	6.16	5.10
K	Medium	11.50	8.28	5.90	8.60	3.91	5.21	6.24	7.99	8.34	4.17	6.55
	Small	4.76	3.60	3.40	5.22	4.65	2.39	3.41	5.15	9.52	6.28	4.88
Г	Medium	7.44	9.55	9.97	14.37	11.59	13.17	16.70	17.76	14.86	15.61	12.81
	Small	6.57	4.41	7.74	7.79	9.16	10.21	10.56	11.64	10.74	10.28	9.14
М	Medium	4.43	3.94	4.14	4.77	5.22	4.90	6.11	6.67	6.36	6.25	5.20
	Small	3.66	3.88	3.26	3.76	4.17	4.51	5.54	6.29	6.05	6.22	4.70

Table 5.4 Profitability of independent SMEs across industry and time—median values (Amadeus (2015), own processing)

z	Medium	3.61	2.40	2.19	3.59	3.00	3.90	3.69	4.38	4.57	3.94	3.59
	Small	3.73	3.09	2.75	3.58	3.89	4.35	4.18	4.93	5.86	4.51	4.12
Ρ	Medium	1.89	2.50	2.21	2.71	3.44	2.91	2.69	3.44	2.93	2.63	2.77
	Small	2.59	3.66	4.19	4.35	2.80	5.03	5.13	3.44	4.23	5.38	3.99
0	Medium	6.60	7.03	6.35	69.9	6.68	7.75	8.62	9.13	9.24	7.72	7.43
	Small	2.82	3.56	4.28	4.39	4.64	5.00	4.46	5.30	6.13	5.80	4.89
R	Medium	1.98	2.11	1.82	2.50	3.45	2.38	2.84	4.93	3.66	3.07	2.76
	Small	0.60	1.83	1.53	2.92	1.51	3.51	2.88	4.53	3.92	3.25	2.74
S	Medium	3.70	4.24	4.05	6.50	5.08	6.13	5.44	5.53	4.89	4.66	5.06
	Small	4.36	3.28	3.86	4.52	4.39	5.90	5.95	5.98	6.46	5.69	4.93
Total	Median	3.03	2.86	2.66	3.24	3.39	3.38	4.21	4.81	4.54	4.18	3.61
	Median-EF	3IT Margin	1 %-acros	ss time								
NACE ^a	Entity	2014	2013	2012	2010	2009	2008	2007	2006	2005	2004	2005–2014 median
A	Medium	4.25	3.81	4.39	4.17	4.21	3.66	4.57	5.02	4.07	3.14	4.17
	Small	4.39	2.73	4.24	4.60	3.64	3.74	5.21	4.97	4.16	4.11	4.17
в	Medium	3.75	3.46	2.68	4.50	4.38	5.93	6.32	6.92	5.82	4.17	5.06
	Small	2.61	5.05	4.43	3.54	4.06	5.51	7.19	7.46	8.45	5.91	5.14
C	Medium	3.39	3.11	2.86	3.34	3.29	3.17	4.27	4.80	4.69	4.36	3.74
	Small	3.14	2.94	2.62	3.21	3.24	3.00	4.25	5.33	5.04	4.68	3.69
D	Medium	13.29	13.20	10.84	14.88	21.11	22.05	15.98	12.66	21.77	12.54	15.12
	Small	2.94	7.45	1.93	5.76	4.96	3.36	6.14	4.78	2.70	4.11	4.57
ш	Medium	3.40	2.23	2.08	4.26	4.55	3.52	4.27	5.48	4.17	5.41	3.93
	Small	5.19	1.94	5.75	68.9	7.38	6.26	5.50	7.80	5.34	5.72	6.12
ц	Medium	3.32	3.34	3.28	3.72	4.11	4.76	5.92	6.02	5.69	5.07	4.57
	Small	3.35	3.64	2.97	3.41	3.91	4.03	5.04	5.48	5.26	4.90	4.22
IJ	Medium	2.07	2.01	1.85	2.21	2.38	2.44	2.95	3.15	3.01	2.83	2.48
	Small	2.15	2.19	1.87	2.33	2.66	2.79	3.31	3.71	3.32	3.21	2.72
Н	Medium	2.55	1.92	1.31	1.94	2.46	1.96	2.59	2.97	2.83	2.37	2.29
	Small	3.51	3.05	3.40	2.95	3.93	2.54	2.64	4.43	4.53	3.53	3.50
												(continued)

												-
	Median—E)	BIT Margi	n %-acro.	ss time								
NACE ^a	Entity	2014	2013	2012	2010	2009	2008	2007	2006	2005	2004	2005-2014 median
-	Medium	4.36	4.19	3.55	5.17	5.37	5.01	5.91	6.97	6.55	5.11	5.27
	Small	3.32	2.50	2.60	3.94	3.20	3.47	4.25	4.22	4.65	4.16	3.60
, I	Medium	3.54	3.48	3.57	4.19	4.97	4.51	5.27	6.19	6.29	5.35	4.56
	Small	3.28	4.31	3.52	4.27	5.05	4.77	5.16	6.31	5.89	5.86	4.87
K	Medium	10.31	7.63	5.57	7.89	3.76	4.96	5.87	7.40	7.70	4.01	6.14
	Small	4.75	2.51	4.31	5.68	4.83	2.84	3.29	4.90	9.86	5.47	4.81
L	Medium	13.96	15.80	17.50	21.61	21.09	21.87	26.15	24.40	23.71	24.20	20.77
	Small	11.97	8.47	14.85	16.11	16.61	18.21	15.79	16.15	17.27	14.80	15.31
M	Medium	4.28	3.83	4.03	4.70	4.98	4.73	5.85	6.32	60.9	6.00	5.04
	Small	3.53	3.80	3.28	3.73	4.35	4.69	5.81	6.29	6.19	6.06	4.72
z	Medium	3.58	2.42	2.18	3.58	2.94	3.75	3.56	4.24	4.39	3.81	3.58
	Small	3.60	3.00	2.68	3.46	3.75	4.17	4.01	4.70	5.54	4.32	3.96
Ь	Medium	1.86	2.44	2.17	2.64	3.33	2.82	2.62	3.33	2.84	2.56	2.70
	Small	2.60	3.61	4.02	4.28	2.62	4.95	5.00	3.45	4.12	5.22	3.99
Ø	Medium	6.20	6.57	5.97	6.27	6.26	7.20	8.13	8.56	9.04	7.22	6.96
	Small	3.27	3.57	4.66	5.08	4.49	4.92	5.11	5.39	6.40	5.55	4.92
R	Medium	2.09	2.21	1.87	2.60	3.51	2.45	2.83	5.11	3.76	3.06	2.81
	Small	0.59	1.80	1.51	2.84	1.49	3.39	2.80	4.34	3.77	3.15	2.67
S	Medium	3.65	4.40	4.04	6.12	5.03	5.80	5.60	5.33	4.71	4.54	5.04
	Small	4.25	3.29	4.37	4.37	4.46	5.63	5.81	5.65	6.41	5.41	4.87
Total	Median	3.05	2.87	2.69	3.23	3.39	3.40	4.19	4.73	4.49	4.13	3.60
^a A—Agricul sewerage; w	ture, forestry aste managen	and fishing	, B-Minir emediation	ng and quan activities,	rrying, C	Manufacturi Iction, G-	ing, D-El-Wholesale	ectricity, ga and retail	trade; repa	nd air condi ir of moto	tioning sup r vehicles	ply, E-Water supply; and motorcycles, H

Transporting and storage, I-Accommodation and food service activities, J-Information and communication, K-Financial and insurance activities, L-Real estate activities, M-Professional, scientific and technical activities, N-Administrative and support service activities, O-Public administration and defence;

compulsory social security, P-Education, Q-Human health and social work activities, R-Arts, entertainment and recreation, S-Other services activities

122

Table 5.4 (continued)

		Mark-up	profit mar	gin % 201	14-2005		EBIT margin % 2014-200		
			25th	75th			25th	75th	
NACE	No.	SMEs	Pct	Pct	Average	No.	Pct	Pct	Average
А	152	Medium	0.99	9.86	6.29	157	0.94	9.40	5.11
	69	Small	-0.82	9.94	4.55	75	-0.75	10.17	3.33
В	44	Medium	2.02	9.99	5.88	44	1.98	9.08	4.53
	24	Small	1.66	11.19	6.22	25	1.80	10.77	5.80
С	2271	Medium	1.51	7.50	5.21	2280	1.49	7.00	4.38
	839	Small	0.70	8.08	4.40	844	0.70	7.51	3.18
D	11	Medium	5.14	24.33	17.13	15	7.52	31.52	19.40
	6	Small	1.08	5.47	3.45	9	1.64	26.63	17.42
Е	51	Medium	1.12	10.45	7.82	51	1.11	9.46	5.69
	21	Small	1.70	12.31	8.35	21	1.67	10.96	6.01
F	679	Medium	1.68	9.02	6.35	713	1.76	8.93	6.44
	482	Small	1.21	9.08	5.82	489	1.21	8.50	4.62
G	2037	Medium	0.94	5.02	3.40	2057	0.93	4.83	3.15
	930	Small	0.49	5.90	3.28	941	0.51	5.68	2.79
Н	325	Medium	0.39	5.60	3.60	335	0.42	5.67	3.68
	134	Small	-0.13	8.46	4.54	140	-0.08	8.30	4.24
Ι	286	Medium	1.43	12.28	7.72	290	1.39	10.97	5.95
	269	Small	-0.99	9.13	4.97	274	-0.94	8.73	3.56
J	163	Medium	1.78	10.64	7.25	166	1.78	9.94	6.29
	225	Small	1.76	10.27	7.01	228	1.68	9.40	5.38
K	20	Medium	2.25	15.83	6.99	20	2.20	13.67	4.46
	22	Small	0.81	13.30	8.99	24	0.81	12.66	6.89
L	159	Medium	2.23	32.14	18.65	256	5.78	41.02	23.76
	100	Small	1.83	24.29	14.78	152	4.13	35.82	19.30
М	260	Medium	1.74	10.38	7.28	263	1.73	9.58	6.37
	265	Small	1.10	10.76	7.27	281	1.19	10.96	6.40
N	172	Medium	0.84	8.35	6.19	174	0.85	7.86	5.30
	122	Small	0.93	8.61	5.22	122	0.92	7.93	3.79
Р	34	Medium	0.49	7.38	5.25	34	0.49	6.87	4.24
	27	Small	0.98	8.06	6.83	28	1.10	7.62	5.66
Q	165	Medium	2.07	15.68	10.50	167	2.07	13.82	8.45
	98	Small	1.06	10.83	6.79	103	1.20	10.99	6.46
R	83	Medium	-0.62	8.75	4.59	85	-0.49	8.64	3.95
	91	Small	-1.95	8.56	3.40	91	-1.99	7.88	1.69
S	46	Medium	2.19	13.31	9.98	47	2.31	12.36	7.95
	65	Small	1.61	9.99	5.88	67	1.66	9.69	5.60
All	10,747		1.04	7.85	5.37	11,068	1.08	7.69	5.01

 Table 5.5
 Profitability of independent SMEs across industry sectors between 2005 and 2014 (Amadeus (2015), own processing)

storage, J—Information and communication, N—Administrative and support service activities, and P—Education. In other industry sectors, there is a visible negative trend of profitability of small entities in comparison with the medium sized entities. However, the analysis of profitability did not prove that small enterprises generate lower profits than medium sized entities.

Furthermore, the analysis of profitability across industry sectors showed that the lowest EBIT margin from independent small enterprises beyond the 10th year period is generated in the NACE R—Arts, entertainment and recreation (interquartile range -1.99 to 7.88%, average 1.69%) and the highest one in NACE L—Real estate activities (interquartile range 4.13-35.82%, average 19.30%) in comparison with the independent medium sized enterprises, which generated beyond the 10th year period the lowest EBIT margin in NACE R—Arts, entertainment and recreation (interquartile range -0.49 to 8.64%, average 3.95%) and the highest one in NACE L—Real estate activities (interquartile range 5.78-41.02%, average 23.76%). A similar situation is also found in the case of mark-up profit margin. Further, the second highest profitability sector is NACE D and K—Financial and insurance activities in dependence on the type of entity (small or medium sized). For more details see Table 5.5.

The abovementioned analysis confirms that safe harbours should be set for each sector and size of the entity to take into account not only the specifics of the industry but also the general comparability.

Based on the annual reports on European SMEs¹⁷ it was indicated that the most important sectors, where SMEs operate, are "manufacturing—NACE sector C", "construction—NACE sector F", "professional, scientific and technical activities—NACE sector M", "accommodation and food—NACE sector I". "Wholesale and retail trade, repair of motor vehicles and motorcycles—NACE sector G" was the largest one. Those five sectors represent 78% of all SMEs in the EU (or 16,536 million SMEs), generating 71% of value added, accounting for approximately 79% of the total EU28 SMEs employment. There is no doubt that they are crucial for the European economy and any decrease of compliance costs of taxation would be desirable for this group of entities.

To determine safe harbours, EBIT margin and Mark-up profit margin were applied, as both mentioned margins are not influenced by financial losses from the financial part of businesses and moreover are related to the operating activities and their profit. Further, an interquartile range, such as 25pct and 75pct, and currently known safe harbours were taken into account, namely, mark-ups of 5% for all low value-added services based on the OECD TP Guidelines (2017) and mark-up between 3% and 10% for low value-adding services based on the Guidelines on Low Adding Intra-Group Services issued by the EU Joint Transfer Pricing Forum.

As is obvious in the case of small entities, they are not able to generate greater profitability than 10% in almost all selected industries, except NACE M. Further, a lower limit of safe harbours is not higher than 5% or 3%, as in currently known safe

¹⁷European Commission, Annual reports on European SMEs 2013/2014 and new ones.

		Mark-up p	rofit margin 9	% 2014–2005		Safe harbour	s %
NACE	No.	SMEs	25th Pct	75th Pct	Median	25th Pct	75th Pct
С	839	Small	0.70	8.08	3.81	1	9
F	482		1.21	9.08	4.35	2	10
G	930		0.49	5.90	2.76	1	6
Ι	269		-0.99	9.13	3.63	1	10
М	265		1.10	10.76	4.70	2	11
		EBIT mar	gin % 2014–2	005			
С	844	Small	0.70	7.51	3.69	1	8
F	489		1.21	8.50	4.22	2	9
G	941		0.51	5.68	2.72	1	6
Ι	274		-0.94	8.73	3.60	1	9
М	281		1.19	10.96	4.72	2	11

 Table 5.6
 Proposal of safe harbours for selected sectors—small entities (Amadeus (2015), own processing)

harbours. The lowest safe harbour was determined for sector G, where small entities generate the lowest mark-up and/or EBIT margin, in comparison with sector M, generating the highest margin (for more details see above Table 5.6).

In case of medium sized entities (see Table 5.7), the lower limit of 3% or 5% was not reached as in the case of small entities. Sector G again represents the industry with the lowest profitability contrary to the industries with the highest ones, such as industry M—Professional, scientific and technical activities and I—Accommodation and food service activities.

Based on the results it should be highlighted that SMEs usually generate lower EBIT or mark-up profit margins for their core business activities than entities applying current known safe harbours for low value-adding intra group services, where there is a limit of 5% or a range between 3% and 10%. This circumstance highlights the importance of the determination of an arm's length price or margin based on the type of entity (small, medium or large entity) and the sector where the subject is operating.

In addition, proposed safe harbours (based on the general analogy resulting from the generality and therefore any inaccuracy) can accept such a simplified approach for SMEs. This approach is based on the fundamental principles of transfer pricing rules and corresponds with the profitability of independent SMEs in the European Union. Its simple application should lead to the reduction of compliance costs of taxation, as well as the administrative burden of the tax administrator. SMEs would not have to perform time consuming comparable and risks analysis resulting into the determination of arm's length profit margin or mark-up, but they could apply for publicly presented safe harbours, which should save time, financial capital and human resources and altogether reduce compliance costs of taxation. However, safe harbours should be introduced as an option for the general transfer pricing rule and should be well-designed.

		Mark-up pro	ofit margin %	2014–2005		Safe harbours %	
NACE	No.	SMEs	25th Pct	75th Pct	Median	25th Pct	75th Pct
С	2271	Medium	1.51	7.50	3.88	2	8
F	679		1.68	9.02	4.49	2	10
G	2037		0.94	5.02	2.53	1	6
Ι	286		1.43	12.28	5.55	2	13
М	260		1.74	10.38	5.20	2	11
		EBIT margi	n % 2014–20	05			
С	2280	Medium	1.49	7.00	3.74	2	7
F	713		1.76	8.93	4.57	2	9
G	2057		0.93	4.83	2.48	1	5
Ι	290		1.39	10.97	5.27	2	11
М	263		1.73	9.58	5.04	2	10

 Table 5.7 Proposal of safe harbours for selected sectors—medium sized entities (Amadeus (2015), own processing)

5.6 Conclusion

The OECD has been focused on improving the administrative aspects of transfer pricing and compliance issues since 2010. A partial result is the revision of Section E on Safe Harbours in Chapter IV of the OECD TP Guidelines at 16 May 2013, subsequently at 10 July 2017 reflecting BEPS recommendations. New guidance on safe harbours includes a new, clearer definition of safe harbours with a more positive tone. Moreover, many countries use safe harbours as simplified transfer pricing measurements, namely, for exemptions from transfer pricing rules, simplified transfer pricing methods, safe harbour arm's length range/rates, and safe harbour interest rates. Further, all safe harbours used are optional and usually cover low value added intra-group services, loans, SMEs and small transactions.

For taxpayers and tax administrators, safe harbours mainly simplified transfer pricing approaches that can reduce compliance costs and administration costs, increase certainty for taxpayers and improve the effectiveness of tax administration, mainly by decreasing the number of transfer pricing disputes, audit, and MAP cases for tax administrators. On the other hand, there are some disadvantages, namely, an application for specific category of taxpayers or transactions that can create discriminations or some distortions e.g., trade or competitive; the risk of double taxation or non-taxation; inappropriate tax planning and transfer pricing manipulation, resulting in lower tax revenues. However, almost all concerns can be eliminated by both clearly and carefully designing criteria and conditions, under which a taxpayer/transaction is eligible for safe harbours, and by bilateral or multilateral forms of safe harbours.

At the end of the paper, a simplified transfer pricing rule in the form of safe harbours as an alternative approach was determined for the selected NACE sectors, namely, sectors C, F, G, I and M, which represent the five most important sectors where SMEs are operating. The determination of safe harbours was performed based on the analysis of profitability of independent SMEs operating in the European Union. Specifically, EBIT margin and Mark-up profit margin were used. Generally, in the case of small entities the proposed safe harbours range between 1 and 11%, and in the case of medium sized entities between 1 and 13%, depending on the indicator of profitability used (EBIT margin or Mark-up profit margin) and the industry where the SME is operating.

Acknowledgement The chapter is the result of the GA ČR no. 15-24867S: "Small and medium size enterprises in global competition: Development of specific transfer pricing methodology reflecting their specificities".

References

Amadeus Database, Bureau Van Dijk

- Deloitte (2016) 2016 Global transfer pricing country guide. https://www2.deloitte.com/content/ dam/Deloitte/us/Documents/Tax/us-tax-2016-global-transfer-pricing-country-guide-051816. pdf. Accessed 20 May 2017
- European Commission (2003) Recommendation 2003/361/EC of 6 May 2003. http://eur-lex.europa. eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=OJ:L:2003:124:0036:0041:en:PDF. Accessed 10 Feb 2017
- European Commission (2014) Annual Report on European SMEs 2013/2014. http://cepymeemprende. es/sites/default/files/SME2013-2014.pdf. Accessed 20 Mar 2017
- EU JTPF, European Commission (2011a) Transfer pricing and small and medium-sized enterprises. DOC:JTPF/001/FINAL/2011/EN. http://ec.europa.eu/taxation_customs/resources/docu ments/taxation/company_tax/transfer_pricing/forum/jtpf/2011/jtpf_001_final_2011_en.pdf. Accessed 20 May 2017
- EU JTPF, European Commission (2011b) Guidelines on low value adding intra-group services. COM(2011) 16 final. http://ec.europa.eu/taxation_customs/resources/documents/taxation/com pany_tax/transfer_pricing/forum/c_2011_16_en.pdf. Accessed 20 May 2017
- IBFD (2017) Transfer pricing. Tax research platform. Selected countries: Austria, Belgium, Bulgaria, Czech Republic, Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, Greece, Netherlands, Hungary, Ireland, Italy, Latvia, Luxembourg, Poland, Portugal, Romania, Slovenia, Slovak Republic, Spain, Sweden, United Kingdom
- OECD (2011) Multi-country analysis of existing transfer pricing simplification measures. http://www. oecd.org/tax/transfer-pricing/48131481.pdf. Accessed 20 Feb 2016
- OECD (2012a) Multi-country analysis of existing transfer pricing simplification measures. http://www. oecd.org/tax/transfer-pricing/50517144.pdf. Accessed 20 Feb 2016
- OECD (2012b) The comments received with respect to the discussion draft on the revision of the safe harbours section of the transfer pricing guidelines. http://www.oecd.org/ctp/transfer-pricing/Safe_Harbors_Comments.pdf. Accessed 20 Feb 2016
- OECD (2013) Revised section E on safe harbours in chapter IV of the transfer pricing guidelines. http://www.oecd.org/ctp/transfer-pricing/Revised-Section-E-Safe-Harbours-TP-Guidelines. pdf. Accessed 20 May 2017
- OECD (2017) Transfer pricing guidelines for multinational enterprises and tax administrations. http://www.oecd.org/tax/transfer-pricing/oecd-transfer-pricing-guidelines-for-multinationalenterprises-and-tax-administrations-20769717.htm. Accessed 11 July 2017
- PwC (2015) International transfer pricing 2015/16. https://www.pwc.com/gx/en/internationaltransfer-pricing/assets/itp-2015-2016-final.pdf. Accessed 10 May 2017

Chapter 6 CCCTB as a Suitable Solution?

This chapter analyses the impacts of the fundamental change in corporate taxation in the EU recently proposed by the EC especially in relation to small and mediumsized enterprises (SMEs). It begins by discussing the history of harmonization efforts of corporate taxation, the current situation of corporate taxation in the EU and the recent proposal of the Common Corporate Tax Base (CCTB) and Common Consolidated Corporate Tax Base (CCCTB) Directives. The core part of the chapter presents the results of research on the impacts of the introduction of the directive proposals on the performance of SMEs acting in the EU.

6.1 History of the Efforts to Harmonize Corporate Taxation in the EU

In the field of direct taxation, there have been many attempts to coordinate or harmonize the corporate taxation systems of EU Member States. First, in 1962, the Neumark Report¹ proposed the creation of an economic area without obstacles to the creation of the functional Common Market. Further, regarding corporate taxation and the elimination of double taxation, the report recommended the centralization of the calculation of total taxable income for taxes on overall income and on company profits in the state, which would normally be the state of the tax domicile or the state in which the greater part of the business activities are performed, as the most appropriate method reflecting the requirements of a real common market. The tax base determined in such a way would be allocated between the respective

¹Report "Tax Harmonization in the European Economic Community" of the Fiscal and Financial Committee chaired by prof. Fritz Neumark established by the European Commission in 1960. Available at: http://www.steuerrecht.jku.at/gwk/Dokumentation/Steuerpolitik/ Gemeinschaftsdokumente/EN/Neumark.pdf

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

V. Solilova, D. Nerudova, *Transfer Pricing in SMEs*, Contributions to Management Science, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69065-0_6

Member States in analogously to the German business tax, where several municipalities share the yield of this tax. The concept is very similar to the CCCTB proposals introduced in 2011 and 2016. In addition, among other suggestions, to harmonize company tax systems, the Neumark Report also recommended an imputation system that split corporate tax rates for retained and distributed profits.

Second, in 1970, the Tempel report² went in a different direction and suggested the implementation of a classical system of corporate taxation in EU Member States, which would best meet the community's needs. Both reports proposed a number of initiatives and recommendations with the aim of achieving a limited degree of harmonization of the corporate tax system, corporate tax base and corporate tax rates. Based on the recommendations suggested in both reports, in 1975, the European Commission introduced a directive proposal³ on the harmonization of corporate tax systems covering an imputation credit system to shareholders for the taxation of dividends distributed by a subsidiary of a parent company situated in one of the Member States. Moreover, in all other cases, a withholding tax of at least 25% on dividends would be imposed, and corporate tax rates would be between 45% and 55%, with a minimum corporate tax rate of 30%. However, the directive proposal was never adopted and was withdrawn in 1990.

Third, in 1984/85 and 1990, the European Commission proposed a directive on the carry-over of losses and consolidation of foreign branch/subsidiary losses⁴ as another step for removing distortions in competition within the EU. The proposal introduced a 3-year period for carrying back losses and an unlimited period for carrying forward losses, as well as the consolidation of foreign branch/subsidiary losses. However, none of these proposals have been adopted. While Council discussed the proposal in 1985, it was later withdrawn along with the proposal from 1990.

Fourth, in 1988, the European Commission introduced a draft proposal on the harmonization of rules for determining the taxable profits of enterprises⁵ as an important step for the establishment of the Internal Market. However, it was never tabled, owing to the reluctance of most Member States.

This initiative, as well as previous one, was not entirely successful, and by the end of the 1980s, little progress could be seen at the European Community with respect to corporate tax harmonization. Therefore, the European Commission focused on a different approach, i.e., instead of harmonizing corporate taxation, it proposed transitioning measures to complete the Internal Market. Although company taxation is likely to engender economic distortions, the European Commission

²Prof. Dr. A.J. van den Tempel (1970). Corporation Tax and Individual Income Tax in the European Communities. http://aei.pitt.edu/40293/1/A4688.pdf

³Draft Directive concerning the harmonization of systems of company taxation and of withholding tax on dividends. COM(75) 392 final.

⁴Proposed Directive on Company Losses, COM(1984) 404 final, OJ 1984 C253, as amended, OJ 1985 C170. Proposed Directive on Loss Consolidation, COM(1990) 595 final, OJ 1991, C53.

⁵Preliminary draft proposal for a Directive on the harmonization of rules for determining the taxable profits of undertakings, XV/27/88-EN.

accepted that Member States are free to determine their own tax, except in cases where taxes led to major distortions, and focused on measures to achieve the functioning of the forthcoming Internal Market. Consequently, the Commission abandoned its 1975 proposal for the harmonization of corporate tax systems. Further, in its Communication on company taxation⁶ in 1990, the Commission suggested that subject to the principle of subsidiarity, all initiatives should be defined through a consulting process with the Member States. On this basis, three Commission proposals that originated in the late 1960s, namely, the Merger Directive,⁷ the Parent Companies and Subsidiaries Directive,⁸ and the Arbitration Procedure Convention,⁹ were finally adopted in July 1990.

Moreover, the European Commission announced an additional study designed to identify the extent to which differences in the corporate tax systems of Member States distorted the development and operation of the Single Market. The Committee of Independent Experts, under the Chairmanship of Dr. Onno Ruding, was appointed in December 1990. The Ruding Committee was mainly asked to research whether differences in corporate taxation are important for business decisions with respect to the location of investments and the international allocation of profits between enterprises and whether they cause major distortions that affect the functioning of the Internal Market and to suggest ways to overcome this problem. The Ruding Committee produced its report¹⁰ in 1992, and its main findings were that tax differences can affect the location of investments and cause distortions in competition, as the nominal corporate tax rate represents an important decision factor. Further, it recommended both the substantial harmonisation of the corporate tax base and the harmonisation of tax rates within a 30–40% range, as well as full transparency and the elimination of double taxation. Although the report included detailed findings and recommendations with respect to double taxation, effective taxation, and the prevention of tax evasion, among and others, it received merely limited support.

Based on the Ruding Committee's results, the European Commission proposed uniform tax base rules and a maximum corporate tax rate of 40%.¹¹ However, these

⁶Commission Communication to Parliament and the Council: Guidelines on company taxation. SEC(90)601.

⁷Directive 90/434/EEC—now 2009/133/EC on a common system of taxation applicable to mergers, divisions, transfers of assets and exchanges of shares concerning companies of different Member States.

⁸Directive 90/435/EEC—now 2011/96/EU on the common system of taxation applicable in the case of parent companies and subsidiaries of different Member States.

⁹Convention 90/436/EEC on the elimination of double taxation in connection with the adjustment of profits of associated enterprises.

¹⁰Report of the Committee of Independent Experts on Company Taxation, Commission of the European Communities, Official Publications of the EC, ISBN 92-826-4277-1, March 1992.

¹¹Instead of this proposal the European Commission proposed amendments to the directives on mergers and parent/subsidiaries and drew attention to two proposals, namely carry-over of losses and loss consolidation, that had already been tabled some time before.
harmonization efforts were again unsuccessful. The main reasons for the failure in harmonizing corporate taxation are as follows: (1) the Member States perceived the harmonization process to be an effort to restrict their fiscal sovereignty rather than an advantage where companies could fully benefit from the existence of the Internal Market; (2) harmonization measures need to be introduced in the form of directives that require unanimous voting, i.e., the directive has to be adopted by all EU Member States. This very often resulted in a situation where harmonization measures were blocked by one or two Member States. Therefore, the European Union continued to have not an integrated European tax system but rather a collection of different national tax systems.

The European Commission decided to harmonize only the provisions affecting the smooth functioning of the Internal Market, which is understood as the main benefit of the harmonization of corporate taxation. In 1996/1997, the European Commission launched a new approach to taxation¹² known as "tax package", which aimed to address three main challenges:

- · restoring tax-raising capacities
- completing the realization of the Single Market, notably by removing the tax obstacles
- restructuring taxation systems by reducing the tax burden on labour.

Through the work on the "tax package", the Code of Conduct for Business Taxation was adopted as a Council resolution in 1998. Moreover, the Council also established a Code of Conduct Group (known as the 'Primarolo Group') to examine cases of unfair business taxation. One year later, based on the results of their research, they identified 66 harmful tax practices to be abolished within 5 years. Further, a new version of the proposal on a common system of taxation that applied to interest and royalty payments made between parent companies and subsidiaries in different Member States that had already been tabled in 1991 appeared in 1998 as a part of the "Monti package", and it was adopted as the Interest and Royalty Directive.¹³ In addition, through the work on the "tax package", another directive, namely, the Saving Directive, ¹⁴ was adopted in 2003.

However, the implementation of the Code of Conduct opened very substantial discussion in terms of tax competition, which resulted in the mandate of the Commission to study both the level of effective rates of taxation and the tax obstacles encountered by companies in their cross-border economic activities, known as the "Company taxation study".¹⁵ Further, in 2000, the Council requested

¹²Communication from the Commission to the Council Towards tax co-ordination in the European Union—A package to tackle harmful tax competition COM(97) 495.

¹³Council Directive 2003/49/EC of 3 June 2003 on a common system of taxation applicable to interest and royalty payments made between associated companies of different Member States.

¹⁴Council Directive 2003/48/EC of 3 June 2003 on taxation of savings income in the form of interest payments.

¹⁵Company taxation in the Single Market—Commission Staff Working Paper SEC(2001) 1681 of October 23, 2001. Company Taxation in the Internal Market COM(2001) 582 final.

that the Commission carry out a comprehensive study on company taxation, but it gave a new perspective for the mandate; specifically, the European Union should become the most competitive and dynamic knowledge-based economy in the world that is capable of sustainable economic growth with more and better jobs and greater social cohesion.¹⁶ In other words, company taxation should contribute to higher economic welfare in the EU, as was already mentioned in the Ruding Report and as was line with one of the objectives of the Treaty of Rome from 1959. The comprehensive study on company taxation¹⁷ was published in 2001, and it suggested a new methodology for taxing companies. Moreover, the study describes tax obstacles to cross-border economic activities, compliance costs that companies incur owing to doing business in more than one Member State and barriers to crossborder trade, establishment and investment, such as transfer pricing, capital gains taxation, cross-border off-setting of losses, taxation of cross-border flows of income, tax rules governing mergers and acquisitions and others. In its communication,¹⁸ the European Commission highlighted the main problem faced by companies in the form of the existence of separate national tax systems and financial accounting rules, laws and arrangements for the collection and administration of tax in the Internal Market, which caused additional tax and excessive compliance costs of taxation. To effectively address the situation, the European Commission devised a two-track strategy, which should remove the obstacles resulting from the co-existence of different tax systems and ensure the full potential of the Internal Market.

First, targeted measures were introduced to help address the most pressing problems in the short and medium term, such as the revision of the Merger and Parent-Subsidiary Directive, the introduction of an EU model tax treaty, and the establishment of an EU Joint Transfer Pricing Forum, among others. Second, a second track—which has been defined as the long-term goal—represents a more ambitious initiative in the form of corporate tax harmonization for the EU-wide activities of EU companies. Thus, the European Commission proposed the following four possible models of corporate income tax harmonization:

- Home State Taxation (HTS)—under this system, for the taxation of companies with "European" activities, corporations would adopt the rules valid in the home country in which the headquarters is situated
- Common Consolidated Tax Base (CCTB)—the system supposes the existence of common rules for tax base constructions

¹⁶Lisbon European Council 23 and 24 March 2000, Presidency Conclusions, pt. 5.

¹⁷Company taxation in the Single Market—Commission Staff Working Paper SEC(2001) 1681 of October 23, 2001. Company Taxation in the Internal Market COM(2001) 582 final.

¹⁸Commission communication Towards an internal market without tax obstacles: A strategy for providing companies with a consolidated corporate tax base for their EU-wide activities, COM (2001) 582.

- European Union Company Tax (EUCIT)—under this system, large multinational corporations would use the uniform consolidated tax base and unified corporate income tax rate within the EU
- Compulsory Harmonized Corporate Tax Base—this system would introduce a uniform tax base for every company in the EU.

The proposals were discussed at a conference held in 2002 in Brussel, and consequently, in 2003, in its Communication,¹⁹ the Commission presented the ongoing work on the two comprehensive corporate tax policies—Home State Taxation for SMEs and a common (consolidated) corporate tax base as a general solution. In 2005, the Commission presented the pilot scheme for possible Home State Taxation.²⁰ However, no Member State has expressed interest in introducing a HTS pilot project. Therefore, the Commission has focused only on the C(C)CTB.

To design the C(C)CTB system, the European Commission established a working group in 2004. The task of this group was to elaborate a common definition of the tax base for corporations with European activities and to design basic tax principles, the structure of the common consolidated tax base and the apportionment mechanism. Although the draft of the text of the directive was already finished in 2008, the public discussion after its publication showed that there were still areas that need detailed definitions, and therefore, the draft was sent back to the working group to amend the text. In connection with the change in Commissionaire responsible for taxation, the CCCTB was granted the highest priority, and after more than 10 years of work, the Commission published the CCCTB Directive proposal²¹ on March 16, 2011. Subsequently, in April 2012, the European Parliament adopted its legislative resolution²² to this proposal.

The CCCTB Directive proposal represents one of the most ambitious projects in the history of the harmonization efforts in the area of corporate taxation. The uniqueness of the project lies in the fact that, on one hand, it suggests unified rules for the construction of the corporate tax base and allows for "one-stop-shop" in filling tax returns and consolidating profits and losses within the EU; on the other hand, it does not breach the national sovereignty of EU Member States to independently apply a corporate tax rate. The aim of the Commission was to reduce the compliance costs of taxation, to eliminate transfer pricing within the group of companies and to introduce the possibility of cross-border loss offsetting. This all should, according to the Commission, lead to fair tax competition and higher

¹⁹Commission, COM(2003) 726 final, "An Internal Market without company tax obstacles—achievements, ongoing initiatives and remaining challenges", at 24 November 2003.

²⁰COM(2005) 702 final—Tackling the corporation tax obstacles of small and medium-sized enterprises in the Internal Market—outline of a possible Home State Taxation pilot scheme.

²¹Proposal for a Council Directive on a Common Consolidated Corporate Tax Base (CCCTB), COM(2011) 121 final.

²²P7_TA(2012)0135—European Parliament legislative resolution of 19 April 2012 on the proposal for a Council directive on a Common Consolidated Corporate Tax Base (CCCTB) (COM (2011)0121—C7-0092/2011—2011/0058(CNS)).

economic growth. Although the CCCTB proposal was considered a unique tool, since it composed the basic framework for the CCCTB's functioning in the European Union, it raised considerable discussion again. The implementation of the CCCTB is connected not only with grouping for taxation purposes and consolidation but also with the problem of the tax-sharing mechanism. In this respect, the directive proposal suggests the allocation formula through which the consolidated tax base should be shared among the members of the group based on micro factors. This new allocation rule would affect EU Member States' budgets,²³ and it therefore turned out to be the most difficult part of the negotiation of the CCCTB Directive. Consequently, the directive proposal was blocked by Member States as well as previous attempts to coordinate the corporate taxation systems of EU Member States.

However, as is obvious, the current rules for corporate taxation no longer fit the modern context. Current corporate tax systems applied within the European Union were conceived mostly in the 1930s, when cross-border transactions were limited and when business structures were not as complex and complicated. Moreover, the corporate income is taxed at the national level, and the economic environment and business models have become more globalized, mobile and digital. Therefore, profit shifting is performed more easily, and the divergence of national corporate tax systems has allowed aggressive tax planning.²⁴ The international tax rules and tax systems have shown to be inefficient and non-transparent, and they are not able to react to the sophisticated tax planning of companies. Further, the lack of harmonization has left space for companies to escape from taxation. In addition,

²³This issue was a subject of many studies aimed at the simulation of budgetary impacts on individual EU Member States as well as on welfare and basic macroeconomic indicators e.g. Fuest, C., Hemmelgam, T., & Ramb, F. (2007). How would the introduction of an EU-wide formula apportionment affect the distribution and size of the corporate tax base? An analysis based on German multinationals. International Tax and Public Finance 14(5), 605-626. Van Der Horst, A., Bettendorf, L., & Rojas-Romagosa, H. (2007). Will corporate tax consolidation improve efficiency in the EU? CPB Documents 141, CPB Netherlands Bureau for Economic Policy Analysis. Devereux, M. & Loretz, S. (2008) Increased Efficiency through Consolidation and Formula Apportionment in the European Union? Oxford: Oxford University, Centre for Business Taxation. Working Paper No. 12. Cline, R. Neubig, T. Phillips, A., Sanger, C., & Walsh, A. (2010). Study on the economic and budgetary impact of the introduction of a Common Consolidated Corporate Tax Base in the European Union, Ernst & Young LLP., Domonkos, T., Domonkos, S., Dolinajcová, M., Grisáková, N. (2013). Effect of the formulary apportionment of the Common Consolidated Corporate Tax Base on the tax revenue in the Slovak Republic. Ekonomický časopis 61(5): 453-467. Nerudová, D., Solilová, V. (2015a). The impact of the CCCTB introduction on the distribution of the group tax bases across the EU: The study for the Czech Republic. Prague Economic Papers 24(6): 621-637. Nerudová, D. & Solilová. (2015b). Quantification of the impact on the total corporate tax basis in the Czech Republic caused by the CCCTB implementation in EU28. Politická ekonomie 63(4), 456-773, and others.

²⁴Aggressive tax planning consists in taking advantage of the technicalities of a tax system or of mismatches between two or more tax systems for the purpose of reducing tax liability. For more details see Commission Recommendation of 6th December 2012 on aggressive tax planning, COM(2012) 8806 final.

from the EU perspective, companies still face a very complex patchwork of 28 national systems with high compliance costs of taxation and risks of double taxation. Such mismatches create risks of double taxation and double non-taxation and thereby distort the functioning of the Internal Market. As shows the study by Dover et al. (2015), at present, the revenue losses for the European Union owing to the aggressive tax planning scheme are estimated at about EUR 50–70 billion per annum. The lack of coordinated action in this area forces Member States to adopt unilateral measures, which are ineffective.

To eliminate the gaps and mismatches in tax rules that allow firms to artificially shift profits to low or no-tax locations and to apply tax avoidance strategies, the OECD announced the Base Erosion and Profit Shifting (BEPS)²⁵ Action Plan in July 2013. Under the inclusive framework, over 100 countries and jurisdictions collaborate to implement the BEPS measures and tackle BEPS. Given the BEPS framework and Europe's priority to promote sustainable growth and investment within a fair and better integrated market, a new framework is needed for fair and efficient taxation of corporate profits. In this context, in June 2015, the European Commission introduced the Action Plan for Fair and Efficient Corporate Taxation,²⁶ announcing the following five key areas for action:

- 1. re-launching of the CCCTB system for the common corporate tax base (CCTB) system
- 2. ensuring fair taxation where profits are generated
- 3. creating a better business environment
- 4. increasing transparency
- 5. improving EU coordination, with aim to establish new approach to corporate taxation. This means that companies should pay taxes, where they generate profits; taxation should be more growth friendly and should not be compromised by tax competition in the area of mobile tax bases. The introduction of a preferential tax regime in one country should not lead to losses of revenues in another country, and there should not be the opportunity to shift profits outside the EU.

One of the main elements of the introduced Action Plan represents the re-launching of the Common Consolidated Corporate Tax Base. The revamped proposal of the C(C)CTB, taking into account the work done by the OECD in the BEPS project, could also address tax avoidance by closing regulatory gaps between national systems and thus ending common tax-avoidance arrangements. Therefore, the action plan identified the CCCTB as a potentially effective tool for making corporate taxation fairer and more efficient. However, being aware of the fact that the most discussed and explosive issue still represents the consolidation regime and mechanism for sharing of the tax base, the Commission suggested implementing

²⁵For more details see http://www.oecd.org/tax/beps/beps-actions.htm

²⁶A Fair and Efficient Corporate Tax System in the European Union: 5 Key Areas for Action, COM(2015) 302 final, at 17 June 2015.

the system through a step-by-step approach. First, to implement only mandatory common rules for the corporate tax base (hereinafter CCTB²⁷) construction (i.e., unified rules for tax base construction), the full CCCTB²⁸ should be introduced only in a second step. Having in mind that the most attractive part of the project represented by the consolidation scheme remained missing in the first step, the Commission suggested as a temporary solution the introduction of the possibility of cross-border loss offsetting. Further, during the interim period between mandatory CCTB implementation and full CCCTB implementation, the Commission planned to introduce a set of measures for reducing profit shifting (mainly through transfer pricing). Globally, the Commission has considered the C(C)CTB proposal to be a directive against tax avoidance practices, as it includes most of the elements of the BEPS project and establishes a coordinated approach to implementing certain common minimum standards against tax avoidance in the EU.

Although the CCCTB represents a major reform proposal to address current challenges in the area of corporate income taxation, its negotiation in the Council will need time. Therefore, to address the most pressing issues, the Anti-Tax Avoidance Package was introduced in January 2016, including legally binding anti-avoidance measures to reduce aggressive tax planning, notably the Anti-Tax Avoidance Directive (hereinafter ATAD) proposal from 28 January 2016, which was adopted by the Council on 20 June 2016.²⁹ Very quick adoption of the directive among the Member States represents the willingness of Member States to create a minimum level of protection against corporate tax avoidance throughout the EU and to ensure a fairer and more stable environment for businesses. Currently, there are many loopholes stemming from the existence of 28 national corporate taxation systems, enabling multinational corporations to apply aggressive tax-planning techniques. The ATAD, with its five legally binding anti-abuse measures, namely, controlled foreign company (CFC) rules, switchover rules, exit taxation, interest limitations and general anti-abuse rules, represents a very important tool in the fight against common forms of aggressive tax planning, tax evasion and tax fraud within the EU.

The new C(C)CTB proposal falls within the ambit of the Commission's initiatives for fair, efficient and transparent taxation within the EU and represents a framework for the implementation of many of the new standards agreed upon through the OECD in the BEPS project. Moreover, the C(C)CTB should contribute to the elimination of obstacles that create distortions that impede the proper functioning the Internal Market. With a common tax base, all EU Member States would apply the same rules for tax base construction; therefore, structural

²⁷Proposal for Council Directive on a Common Corporate Tax Base, COM(2016) 685 final, at 25 October, 2016.

²⁸Proposal for Council Directive on a Common Consolidated Corporate Tax Base, COM(2016) 683 final, at 25 October 2016.

²⁹The Directive (EU) 2016/1164 lays down rules against tax avoidance practices that directly affect the functioning of the internal market, known as ATAD. Member States should apply these measures as of 1 January 2019.

harmonization in the area of corporate taxation would be reached. This should help EU Member States in the fight against base erosion and profit shifting.

However, as was mentioned above, the negotiation of the directive proposal will need time as well as the unanimity of all Member States. In December 2016, the Council adopted its conclusion³⁰ on "building a fair, competitive and stable corporate tax system for the EU", where it welcomed further discussions on the C(C)CTB proposals and gave its support to the approach that the work on the CCTB should be a priority. Moreover, tax consolidation should be examined without delay once the discussion on CCTB has been concluded. Currently, the CCCTB proposal has been awaiting the committee's decision.³¹

6.2 Current Situation of Corporate Taxation in the EU

6.2.1 Separate Entity Approach Versus Single Entity Approach

The current situation in the area of corporate taxation in the European Union, where companies are facing 28 different corporate taxation systems, has two very important impacts. First, the loopholes between the national corporate taxation systems are often used by multinational groups for aggressive tax planning, resulting base erosion and profit shifting in the European Union. Second, they are increasing the compliance costs of taxation for both tax administration and companies themselves. The complexity of current taxation systems hinders the expansion of SMEs on foreign markets as mentioned by Chen et al. (2002) and Solilová and Nerudová (2016). Taking into account the fact that SMEs represent over 99% of all companies and two-thirds of total employment in the Internal Market (European Commission 2016e),³² the European Commission has always aimed to structurally harmonize the area of corporate taxation, though with only very limited success.

With respect to the determination of corporate tax base of the group of multinational companies, there are two basic approaches: the *separate entity approach* and *single entity approach with an allocation mechanism*. The majority of Member States in the European Union tax the members of the group as separate entities, even though from an economic perspective, they are members of one group (Kumpf

³⁰Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament and the Council: Building a fair, competitive and stable corporate tax system for the EU, COM(2016) 682 final, 25 October, 2016.

³¹For more details see EP Legislative Observatory, Procedure file on the common consolidated corporate tax base (CCCTB), 2016/0337(CNS). Available at: http://www.europarl.europa.eu/oeil/popups/ficheprocedure.do?reference=2016/0336(CNS)&l=en

³²European Commission. (2016). Annual Report on European SMEs 2015/2016, SME recovery continues. https://www.isme.ie/assets/Annual-Report-on-European-SMEs-2015-2016.pdf

1976). Moreover, each entity has to create an appropriate tax base in line with the arm's length principle³³—i.e., group entities must be taxed as if they were dealing with independent parties, free from the conditions arising from their special relationship that may lead to a distortion of prices. In other words, the price has to be set as if the transaction were to be carried out between the independent companies. However, Jacobs (2011) underlines that the allocation of profits in line with this standard to the branch of the entity or associated entity, which is an independent company from a legal point of view, is sometimes complicated. Moreover, Solilová and Nerudová (2013) add that the changes in economic environment have forced governments and multinational entities (MNEs) to define the transfer prices more precisely; otherwise, the tax administration can adjust the tax base of the entity to better reflect the open market conditions (Picciotto 1992), with an impact on taxable profits, tax revenues of Member States and compliance costs of taxation overall. Further, during the last decade and mainly in connection with the BEPS project, the question whether the allocation of tax revenues between Member States on the basis of the arm's length principle and separate accounting (separate entity approach) can be still considered to be the most appropriate method within the EU arose. The current implementation of the arm's length standard, which was first introduced during the 1930s,³⁴ does not reflect the current economic realities of integrated multinational enterprises and markets, the digital environment and an environment dependent on intangibles. In this respect, Gammie (2003) underlines that a higher degree of integration for businesses makes the arm's length fiction appear increasingly artificial. Hence, the arm's length standard is not sufficient to prevent profit shifting through the manipulation of transfer prices, which is now resolved through the BEPS recommendation. Sullivan (2002, 2004) adds that a large part of opportunities for tax avoidance exist under the current international separate entity approach and arm's length standard.

A second approach to the calculation of the tax base of the groups is a single entity approach with an allocation mechanism. Under this principle, all group members are treated as one single entity, i.e., all operations except those involved in the intra-group transactions of the individual members of the group are integrated into the single unit. Further, this approach is usually related to the minimal threshold of common stock ownership. Another element connected to the single entity approach is the allocation mechanism. As mentioned by Weiner (1999) and Weiner and Mintz (2002), the application of such a system requires the establishment of mechanisms for sharing the tax base between jurisdictions in which the members of the group are residents. The taxation theory offers several mechanisms for the sharing of the tax base. Some have already been implemented, e.g., in the

³³The arm's length standard is mentioned in Article 9 of the OECD Model Convention, and its practical application is followed by OECD TP Guidelines published in 1995, last update 2017. For more details about the arm's length principle, OECD TP Guidelines and transfer pricing rules, see Chap. 2.

³⁴The arm's length principle was implemented in the U.S.-France treaty in 1932 for the first time.

USA and Canada. Generally, allocation mechanisms can be distinguished into two groups: the first group is based on macrofactors (usually aggregated at the national level—i.e., GDP or national VAT tax base), and the second group is based on microfactors (i.e., Value Added or selected indicators from the financial statements of the entities). Lodin and Gammie (2001) add that the selection of the individual method of formulary apportionment, as well as the selection of factors, significantly influences the size of the allocated group tax base. McDaniel (1994) underlines that the allocation mechanism is based on different assumptions from those of the separate entity approach; therefore, it has different economic impacts and generates different technical problems. Moreover, the OECD TP Guidelines³⁵ clearly reject the application of global formulary apportionment as a method for allocating profits between associated entities and consider it to be a non-arm's length approach. In contrast, some authors prefer and support the introduction of formulary apportionment, as it takes into account the economic reality of integrated entities and markets; it is not such a compliance burden, and it is more stable against international tax avoidance (Miller 1995; McIntyre 2003; Harvard 1976; Mintz and Smart 2004; Obermair and Weninger 2008, and others). Contrary to the separate entity approach, formulary apportionment is able to eliminate some of the most common methods of profit shifting.

Formulary apportionment represents the tool traditionally used for tax base sharing in the USA and Canada. The history of formulary apportionment in the USA dates back to the 1870s, where it had been first applied in the area of property taxation. As mentioned in the literature (Weiner 2005), instead of measuring a company's property in an individual state, companies measured their property, and the tax base was distributed to individual states based on the share in railways in each individual state. For income taxation purposes, the formulary apportionment was first applied in Wisconsin. At the end of the 1930s, nearly all states in the USA had already applied the three-factor formula with equally weighted factors. This formula is known as the Massachusetts Formula in taxation theory, and it can be expressed as Eq. (6.1).

$$P_{i} = P_{t} \left(\frac{1C_{i}}{3C_{t}} + \frac{1L_{i}}{3L_{t}} + \frac{1S_{i}}{3S_{t}} \right)$$
(6.1)

where P_i represents the profit allocated to state *i*, P_t is the profit of the companies, *C* stands for capital and *S* represent sales. As mentioned in the literature (Mayer 2009), since the 1980s, states have moved from equally weighted factors to the allocation formulae, where higher weight is put on the sales factor, while the weight in the case of payroll and capital has been decreased.

The development of allocation mechanisms in Canada has been slightly different from its development in the USA. As mentioned by Weiner (2005), originally, the allocation rules allocated income to the state where the permanent establishment of

³⁵OECD TP Guidelines, part C, notably para 1.32, 2017.

the company was situated. If the company possessed a permanent establishment in more provinces, income was allocated based on the company's accounting or according to the share of the permanent establishment in the total income of the company. As mentioned in the literature (Mintz 2004), while this system was widely criticized, the discussion of the possible implementation of the US model raised fears that it could allocate too much income to exporting provinces. Therefore, the formulary apportionment was modified to a two-factor formula with equally weighted factors. The Canadian formula can be expressed as Eq. (6.2).

$$P_i = P_t \left(\frac{1GI_i}{2GI_t} + \frac{1L_i}{2L_t} \right) \tag{6.2}$$

where P_i represents the profit allocated to province *i*, P_t is the profit of the companies, *GIt* represents the gross income of the company, and *L* is labour. The main difference between the US formulary apportionment and the Canadian formulary apportionment lies in the fact that federal allocation rules comprise specific rules for specific industry sectors—e.g., the insurance industry or road transportation.

According to Petutschnig (2010), the most-used factors represent payroll, capital and sales. These factors are used in the allocation formulae in different combinations and with different weights. The key element of the CCCTB proposal³⁶ is formulary apportionment based on the microfactors that comprise three equally weighted factors—sales, labour and assets—as can be seen in Eq. (6.3).

$$Share X = \left(\frac{1}{3S^{group}} + \frac{1}{3}\left(\frac{1}{2P^{Group}} + \frac{1}{2E^{Group}}\right) + \frac{1}{3A^{Group}}\right) \times CCCTB$$
(6.3)

where S represents the sales of goods and services, P is payroll (comprising wages and salaries, bonuses and other compensation), E represents the number of employees (employed for the period of 3 months at least) and A denotes assets (including fixed assets, buildings, aircraft, boats and machines).

The tax sharing mechanism in the conditions of the EU based on the CCCTB proposal has been extensively discussed in literature. McLure (1997), Hellerstein and McLure (2004) recommend learning from the US and Canadian experience with formulary apportionment. Weiner (2005) and Mintz (2004) also stipulate several problems from the US and Canadian experience that may be useful for EU corporate taxation. The problem with the sharing mechanism within the EU and possible proposals has been also discussed by Sorensen (2004), Devereux (2004) and Agúndez-García (2006). Other authors, such as Lodin and Gammie (2001), have focused on value added-based apportionment.

³⁶Proposal for Council Directive on a Common Consolidated Corporate Tax Base, COM(2016) 683 final, at 25 October 2016.

6.2.2 Corporate Taxation Systems Within the EU

Corporate taxation systems applied throughout the European Union can be categorized into four basic groups according to the consolidation method or the rules for the group taxation. Table 6.1 presents the classification.

As is obvious from Table 6.1, the only country applying a *full consolidation system* (i.e., where the group is treated as one single entity) is the *Netherlands*. Since January 2013, if a resident company directly or indirectly holds at least 95% of the share capital and the voting rights of one or more other resident companies, upon a joint request, these companies can apply a system of fiscal unity.

The second group is represented by the corporate tax systems of nine EU Member States, under which each group member computes taxable income separately and the total is accumulated by the parent company. This system is called pooling. In Denmark, resident-group related subsidiaries of non-resident companies may apply for international consolidation, which means that either all group entities (both resident and non-resident) are included in the tax consolidation scheme or none of them are. Under this scheme, losses of one company are currently set off against the profits of the other companies. Spain defines a group for consolidation purposes as a resident parent company and subsidiaries owned 75% or more (directly or indirectly) by the parent company. Germany allows a group of different legal entities to form one single unit for tax purposes. The profits are pooled in the hands of a controlling company-i.e., losses are set off against the profits realized within the group. France allows companies to apply a group tax regime (tax consolidation) for the income and losses of resident companies within the group (the threshold is set at 95%). Income and losses may be aggregated and taxed in the hands of the parent company of the group. Italy enables two types of consolidation-domestic and worldwide. The group may enter into the system only when consolidation covers all controlled companies. The effect of the worldwide consolidation is that the income of the controlled companies is imputed to the controlling company in proportion to its profit entitlement of the other resident controlled companies. The threshold for fiscal consolidation in *Luxembourg* is set at 95%.

Type of consolidation	
regime	Country
Full consolidation	Netherlands
Pooling	Denmark, Germany, Spain, France, Italy, Luxembourg, Austria, Poland, Portugal
Intra-group loss transfer	Ireland, Cyprus, Malta, Sweden, ^a Finland, ^a United Kingdom, Lithuania ^b
Group taxation scheme not available	Belgium, Bulgaria, Croatia, Czech Republic, Greece, Hungary, Slovak Republic, Latvia, Estonia, Romania, Slovenia

Table 6.1 Consolidation regimes in the European Union (IBFD research platform 2016)

^aGroup contributions

^bLithuania introduced intra-group loss transfer in 2016, before that group taxation scheme was not available

Fiscal consolidation means that the taxable income or loss of the subsidiary is added to the taxable income of the parent company, which is taxed on the aggregate taxable income. In *Austria*, parent companies and their subsidiaries may opt for consolidated income taxation if the parent exercises financial control over the subsidiary, which is presumed if the parent owns 50% of the capital and voting power in the subsidiary. In *Poland*, the parent company must own 95% of the shares of the subsidiaries to form a tax group. The taxable base of the tax group represents the difference between the aggregated profits and aggregated losses of all companies. The threshold for creating a qualifying group of companies, which may elect to be taxed under a special regime for group tax treatment, is set at 75% in *Portugal*. Under the group regime, all profits and losses of each member of the group are pooled.

Third group includes six countries. Under *intra-group loss transfer*, group members may transfer losses to a profitable member of the group for immediate offset. However, *Sweden* and *Finland* apply intra-group loss transfer through group contributions. These payments constitute taxable income for the recipient and tax-deductible costs for the payer, which means that the offset of the loss is connected with cash flow. *Ireland* distinguishes types of groups according to the ownership level. Losses can be transferred only when a consortium exists, which is defined as five of fewer companies owning at least 75% of the ordinary share of capital of a trading company or holding company with 90% of subsidiaries in Ireland or in the EU. *Cyprus* allows offsetting of group losses, provided that there is a 75% parent-subsidiary relationship. *Malta* is a country with the lowest threshold for creating a group for taxation purposes. It is set at 51%. The *United Kingdom* enables a transfer of losses only when consortia consist of 20 or fewer resident companies, which together own 75% of a company.

The fourth group covers the majority of EU Member States, where *offsetting of losses or group taxation schemes are not available* to businesses. In this case, the mandatory introduction of the C(C)CTB system within EU will change the amount of the tax base in each jurisdiction owing to the possibility of tax consolidation or the possibility of cross-border loss offsetting.

6.2.3 Cross-Border Loss Offsetting

As already indicated, as compensation for the lack of a consolidation possibility in the first C(C)CTB implementation step, the EU Commission suggests the possibility of cross-border loss offsetting with recapture. Based on this, the parent company in one Member State will be able to receive temporary tax relief for the losses of the subsidiary in other Member States. This proposal is similar to the previous directive proposals on the carry-over of losses and consolidation of foreign branch/subsidiary losses during 1984/1985 and 1990. Through the re-launching of the cross-border loss offsetting, the European Commission aims to eliminate another obstacle to the functioning of the Internal Market.

Type of the loss		
relief	Domestic loss relief	Cross-border loss relief
Within one	Automatically available in all	Available in most cases
company ("perma- nent establishment")	28 member states	Belgium, Bulgaria, Czech Republic, Netherlands, Austria, Portugal, Romania, Slovenia, Slovak Republic, Finland, Sweden, United Kingdom, Ireland, Italy, Croatia, Cyprus, Latvia, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Malta
Within a group of companies ("parent	Available under specific rules in most member states	In principle not available, with very few exceptions
and subsidiary")	Denmark, Germany, Spain, France, Ireland, Italy, Cyprus, Malta, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Netherlands, Austria, Poland, Portugal, Finland, Sweden, United Kingdom	Cyprus, Denmark, France, Italy, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Austria

Table 6.2 The application of domestic and cross-border loss relief (IBFD tax research platform2016)

In theory on loss relief, two basic models can be identified. The main characteristic of the first model is that *loss is offset within one company* (i.e., losses incurred by a branch or permanent establishment). The second model represents the situation when the *loss is offset in the group of companies* (parent and subsidiary). Both of the above-mentioned models allow loss offsetting either within one state (domestic relief of loss) or across borders. While the domestic relief of loss within one company and even within the group is commonly implemented in all EU Member States,³⁷ cross-border loss relief in case of the group of companies is very rare and causes substantial obstacles in cross-border business on the Internal Market. The situation is displayed in Table 6.2.

As is obvious from the above table, cross-border offset of losses between the parent and subsidiary company is possible only in seven EU Member States. This is perceived by the companies taking part in cross-border situations as an obstacle of prohibitive character that sometimes discourages companies from the cross-border business, not only in case of SMEs, but also in case of LEs. Basically, the losses are usually incurred by subsidiaries during the first years after establishment. In contrast to domestic losses, foreign losses cannot be offset against the profit of the parent in 21 EU Member States. There is also another aspect: when the subsidiary incurs losses every year and the parent in a different EU Member State always runs a profit, those losses cannot be offset as well. The first stage of C(C) CTB implementation (i.e., CCTB implementation with the indicated temporary cross-border loss offset regime) should address the above-stated issue.

³⁷Based on the European Commission (2006), domestic relief within one company is available in all EU25. Currently, in 2016 in all EU Member States.

Table 6.3 Methods of cross-	Member state	Method of cross-border relief
member states that allow	Cyprus	Loss-offset only within the EU ^a
cross-border loss relief (IBFD	Denmark	System of consolidated profits
tax research platform 2016)	France	System of consolidated profits
	Italy	System of consolidated profits
	Luxembourg	System of consolidated profits
	Lithuania ^b	Deduction (Transfer)
	Austria	Deduction (Recapture)

^aUnder special conditions since 1 January 2015

^bCross-border loss relief is available since 2016

The European Commission (2006) mentions that the Member States that allow cross-border loss relief apply different methods than from those in the case of domestic relief. It would not be possible to apply the rules for domestic loss relief in cross-border situations, as they are not able to cover the needs of the cross-border situation. The methods used by Denmark, Italy, France, Cyprus, Lithuania, Luxembourg and Austria for cross-border loss reliefs are stated in Table 6.3.

According to the system of consolidated profit in tax theory, profits and losses in a given tax year for selected or all group members are taken into account over a certain period of time at the level of the parent company. The system is designed as a comprehensive scheme, since it includes all subsidiaries of the group. The economic result of the group is taxed in the country, where the parent company is a resident. This is very often connected with the compliance costs of taxation, as all income of the group members has to be recalculated according to the rules valid in the state where the parent company is resident. Moreover, as is obvious from Table 6.3, only Austria applies the *deduction (recapture) method*. Under this system, losses incurred by the subsidiary situated in another EU Member State, which were deducted from the results of the parent company, are subsequently recaptured when the subsidiary starts to run a profit. A similar system is suggested by the European Commission as a temporary solution, which would partially replace the consolidation regime, without the newly re-launched CCTB rules. Under suggested system, with respect to the scheme of temporary loss transfer (deduction/recapture), a loss incurred by a subsidiary situated in another Member State, which was deducted from the results of the parent company, is subsequently recaptured once the subsidiary returns to profitability. Such a system is relatively easy to operate. The losses are deducted at first and later, when the subsidiary returns to profit, the previous deducted loss is recaptured through a corresponding additional tax burden at the level of the parent company. In addition, Lithuania has also applied deduction method in the form of intra-group loss transfer, however, without recapture mechanism since 2016.

In case of the domestic loss relief within a group of companies, three models³⁸ applied within the European Union can be identified, as mention in Nerudová and Solilová (2015a, b). First, the model of *intra-group relief of loss* enables one group member to transfer its loss to a profitable group member. Under an intra-group contribution system, the profits from one group member can be transferred to a loss-making group member. In fact, the intra-group contribution system is used to eliminate losses; therefore, it has the same economic effect as system of intra-group loss transfer. The second applied model is the *pooling system*. It allows companies to aggregate all individual tax results (profit and losses) from the members of the group at the level of the parent company. The last model applied within the European Union is represented by *full tax consolidation*. This system goes far beyond the pooling system, since for tax purposes, the legal personality of the group members and any intra-group transactions are disregarded. The result of the group is determined on the basis of single profit and loss accounts.

6.3 Proposal of the CCTB Directive

The European Commission, in its Action Plan of June 2015, advocated a step-bystep approach to the C(C)CTB. First, after the implementation of a mandatory rule for CCTB³⁹ construction, only then, in a second step, should the full CCCTB⁴⁰ be introduced. The CCTB proposal is consistent with other Union policies and falls within the ambit of Article 115 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the EU. Further, it does not restrict Member State's sovereignty to determine their desired amount of tax revenues in order to meet their budgetary policy targets, and it does not affect Member State's right to set their own corporate tax rates. The CCTB proposal sets only unified rules for tax base construction and anti-avoidance rules to combat aggressive tax planning. Hence, companies still have to determine a corporate tax obligation and file a separate tax return in all Member States where they have a taxable presence. The following section will focus only on the basic rules and provisions that are the key elements of the CCTB proposal.

The determination of *tax base* is set in Article 7–10 as revenues less exempt revenues, deductible expenses and other deductible items. Thus, the tax base is designed very broadly. Taxable revenues will be reduced by following *exempt revenues* classified in Article 8 of the CCTB proposal as follows:

• subsidies directly link to the acquisition, construction or improvement of fixed assets that are subject to depreciation

³⁸Their application within the EU is described in Sect. 6.2.

³⁹Proposal for Council Directive on a Common Corporate Tax Base, COM(2016) 685 final, at 25 October, 2016.

⁴⁰Proposal for Council Directive on a Common Consolidated Corporate Tax Base, COM(2016) 683 final, at 25 October 2016.

- · proceeds from the disposal of pooled assets
- proceeds from the disposal of shares, provided that the taxpayer has maintained a minimum holding of 10% of capital or 10% of the voting rights during the 12 months preceding the disposal
- proceeds from received profit distributions, provided that the taxpayer has maintained a minimum holding of 10% of capital or 10% of the voting rights for 12 consecutive months
- income of a permanent establishment received by the taxpayer in the residence state.

Expenses are deductible only to the extent that they are incurred in the direct business interest of the taxpayer, such as all costs of sales and all expenses, net of deductible value added tax, including costs for research and development, gifts and donations to charitable bodies and costs incurred in raising equity or debt for the purposes of the business.

To support innovation in the economy, the CCTB proposal introduces a *superdeduction for R&D*.⁴¹ According to Article 9, R&D costs will be fully expensed in the year incurred (with the exception of the situation, when immovable property was purchased or produced). Further, the taxpayer may also deduct, per tax year, additional extra-deduction for R&D, particularly with respect to the following:

- 25% of R&D costs—if R&D costs reach EUR 20 million, the taxpayer may deduct 25% of the exceeding amount
- 50% of the R&D costs—for R&D costs up to EUR 20 million, each tax year, the taxpayer may deduct 50% of the R&D costs incurred in that year, excluding cost related to movable tangible fixed assets
- 100% the R&D costs—for R&D costs up to EUR 20 million, the taxpayer may take an extra super-deduction of 100% of R&D provided that taxpayer meets all of the following conditions:
 - is an unlisted enterprise
 - has fewer than 50 employees
 - has an annual turnover and/or annual balance sheet total not exceeding EUR 10 million
 - has not been registered for longer than 5 years
 - has not been formed through a merger
 - does not have any associated enterprises.

⁴¹R&D is defined in Article 4(11) CCTB proposal as basic research (experimental or theoretical work undertaken primarily to acquire new knowledge of the underlying foundations of phenomena and observable facts, without any particular application or use in view), applied research (original investigation undertaken in order to acquire new knowledge but directed primarily towards a specific, practical aim or objective) and experimental development (systematic work, drawing on knowledge gained from research and practical experience and producing additional knowledge, which is directed to producing new products or processes or to improving existing products or processes.

This provision is aimed at SMEs, small and innovative entrepreneurship and small start-up enterprises to support the key policy initiatives relating to the functioning of the Single Market. Further, it is considered to be one of the motivations for entering into the CCTB system.

Other deductible items cover the *depreciation of fixed assets* referred to in Articles 30 and 40 of the CCTB proposal, which can be individually depreciated or depreciated together in one asset pool at an annual rate of 25% of the depreciated base.⁴²

The CCTB proposal also defines *non-deductible items*⁴³ in Article 12, including the following:

- 1. profit distributions and repayments of equity or debt
- 2. 50% of entertainment costs
- 3. the transfer of retained earnings to a reserve that forms part of the equity of the company
- 4. corporate tax and similar taxes on profits
- 5. bribes and other illegal payments
- 6. fines and penalties, including charges for late payment
- 7. expenses incurred by a company for the purpose of deriving income that is exempt
- 8. gifts and donations other than those referred to in Article 9(4)
- 9. acquisition or construction costs or costs connected with the improvement of fixed assets that are deductible
- 10. losses incurred by a permanent establishment in a third country.

Having in mind that the most attractive part represented by the consolidation scheme is missing in the first step, the CCTB proposal introduces cross-border loss offsetting, which should eliminate the current distortion of Internal Market as only 7 Member States allow cross-border loss relief. The provision allowing *cross-border loss relief* is mentioned in Article 42 of the CCTB proposal. On this basis, losses incurred by an immediate or lower-tier subsidiary (i.e., in which the parent company holds more than 50% of the voting rights and has an ownership right amounting to more than 75% of the subsidiary's capital or owns more than 75% of the rights giving entitlement to profit—so-called qualifying subsidiary) or permanent establishment situated in other Member States may be carried forward and deducted in subsequent tax years. Further, Articles 42 and 43 stipulate conditions where it is possible to make a cross-border loss relief:

• a reduction of the tax base as a result of considering losses from previous tax years shall not result in a negative amount

⁴²For more details see Article 33 and 37 of CCTB proposal.

⁴³For more details see Article 12 of CCTB proposal.

- a resident taxpayer has to first deduct its own losses and then losses incurred by its immediate qualifying subsidiaries or by permanent establishment(s) situated in other Member States
- the oldest losses shall be deducted first
- no cascade effect is allowed
- loss relief shall be in proportion to the holding of the resident taxpayer in its qualifying subsidiaries and full for permanent establishment.

This relief will be temporary since the parent company (a resident taxpayer) will add back to its tax base, considering the amount of losses previously deducted, any subsequent profits made by its immediate subsidiaries or permanent establishments. Furthermore, if the incorporation does not occur within a certain number of years, the deducted losses will be reincorporated automatically anyway.

As one of the objectives of CCTB proposal is to establish a corporate tax system that facilitates cross-border trade and investments and that improves the functioning of the Internal Market, the proposal also introduces the *allowance for growth and investment* granting deductions for financing costs of debt and equity within limits to avoid abuse and tax planning. According to the Article 11 of the CCTB proposal, taxpayers will be given an allowance for growth and investment according to which increases in their equity will be deductible from their taxable base subject to certain conditions, such as measures against potential cascading effects and anti-tax avoid-ance rules.

As its second aim—anti-tax avoidance function—the CCTB proposal includes provisions related to interest limitation, exit taxation, a general anti-abuse rule (GAAR), a switch-over clause, controlled foreign company legislation (CFC) and hybrid mismatch rules. Through these rules, profits should be taxed in place of "real economic activities", which should combat aggressive tax planning.

Interest limitation rules mentioned in Article 13 of CCTB limit the deductibility of interest (and other financial) costs, in order to discourage practices of profit shifting towards low-tax countries. The rule aims to allow the full deductibility of interest (and other financial) costs to the extent that they can be offset against taxable interest (and other financial) revenues. Any surplus of interest costs will be subject to deductibility restrictions, as determined with reference to a taxpayer's taxable earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA), particularly up to 30% of EBITDA or up to EUR 3 million, whichever limit is higher. The interest limitation shall not apply to financial undertakings, including those that are part of a consolidated group for financial accounting purposes.

Exit taxation mentioned in Article 29 of the CCTB proposal refers to the rule within the ATAD and ensures the taxation of the economic value of any capital gain created in Member States even though such a gain has not yet been realized at the time of the exit. The main objective is to prevent an arrangement whereby assets expected to generate high income are moved to low-tax jurisdictions for the purpose of being sold later and realizing capital gains that would be taxed at a low rate. Based on Article 29, exit taxation is applied on accrued increases in value upon the transfer of the following:

- assets from its head office to its permanent establishment in another Member State or in a third country
- assets from its permanent establishment in a Member State to its head office or another permanent establishment in another Member State or in a third country, to the extent that, owing to the transfer, the Member State of the permanent establishment no longer has the right to tax the transferred assets
- tax residence to another Member State or to a third country, except for those assets that remain effectively connected to a permanent establishment in the first Member State
- business carried out by its permanent establishment from a Member State to another Member State or to a third country, to the extent that, owing to the transfer, the Member State of the permanent establishment no longer has the right to tax the transferred assets.

The *GAARs*⁴⁴ mentioned in Article 58 of the CCTB proposal are set in line with the text featured in the ATAD. Specifically, arrangements or a series thereof having been put in place for the essential purpose of obtaining a tax advantage that defeats the object or purpose of the CCTB Directive should be considered, for the purpose of calculating the tax base, with reference to their economic substance. Further, it must be noted that GAARs in the CCTB proposal constitute absolute rules, contrary to the GAARs introduced in the ATAD Directive as a minimum level of protection. Moreover, to prevent discriminatory situations, it will be critical to ensure in practice that the GAARs apply to domestic situations, within the Union and vis-à-vis third countries in a uniform manner, so that their scope and results of application in domestic and cross-border situations do not differ.

The *Switch-over Clause* mentioned in Article 53 of the CCTB proposal is targeted at certain types of income originating in a third country; therefore, intra-EU situations are exempted from this rule. The aim of switch-over clause is to ensure that income is taxable in the European Union if it was taxed below a certain level in the third country. Specifically, a third country entity is subject, in its residence state, to a statutory corporate tax rate that is lower than half of the statutory tax rate that the taxpayer would have been subject to, in connection with such foreign income, in the Member State of its residence for tax purposes. In addition, if the switch-over clause is applied, a deduction of the tax paid in the third country shall be applied from its tax liability in the Member State where it is a resident for tax purposes. It must be underlined that the deduction shall not exceed the amount of tax, as computed before the deduction, which is attributable to the income that may be taxed.

Provisions related to the *CFC rules* are mentioned in Articles 59 (controlled foreign companies) and 60 (computation of the income of a controlled foreign company) of the CCTB proposal. They are in line the with ATAD and have the

⁴⁴Generally, GAARs ensure that tax avoidance strategies that were not envisaged by the legislator can be addressed, by granting the authorities the power to deny taxpayers the benefit of aggressive tax-planning arrangements.

effect of re-attributing the income of a low-taxed controlled subsidiary to its parent company in an effort to discourage profit shifting (i.e., to ensure that profits parked in low or no tax countries are effectively taxed in the European Union). Moreover, CFC rules extend to the profits of permanent establishments where those profits are not subject to tax or are tax exempt in the Member State of the taxpayer.⁴⁵

With respect to the *hybrid mismatches*⁴⁶ mentioned in Article 61 of the CCTB proposal, hybrid mismatches should normally occur within the framework of the common base and national or third-country corporate tax systems. The CCTB lays down rules whereby one of the two jurisdictions in a mismatch deny the deduction of a payment or ensures that the corresponding income is included in the common base.

To sum, the CCTB proposal with respect to the first step aims to ensure the common rules for calculating the corporate tax base in the European Union, including certain provisions against tax avoidance. The initiative directly effects companies⁴⁷ falling under the mandatory scope, but there is also possibility for other companies to opt for the CCTB. However, all entities participating in CCTB system will subsequently participate in the CCCTB system. One of the motivations for entering into the system is a super-deduction of R&D costs as well as the possibility of cross-border loss relief. All these actions should bring economic benefits at least in the form of an increase in investment and employment of up to 3.6% and 0.5%, respectively in accordance with the impact assessment (2016).⁴⁸ In addition, the introduction of CCTB would, on average, save approximately 10% in compliance time and about 2.5% in compliance costs. However, about 60% of compliance costs remain unchanged, as they are related to transfer pricing, whose elimination is expected under the CCCTB regime through the second-step approach.

⁴⁵For more details see Article 59 of CCTB proposal.

⁴⁶Hybrid mismatches arise from differences in the legal characterisation of payments (financial instruments) or entities in different jurisdictions.

⁴⁷It means a company meets all of the following conditions:

^{1.} it takes one of the company forms listed in Annex I of CCT proposal;

it is subject to one of the corporate taxes listed in Annex II of CCTB proposal or to a similar tax subsequently introduced;

^{3.} it belongs to a consolidated group for financial accounting purposes with a total consolidated group revenue that exceeded EUR 750,000,000 during the financial year preceding the relevant financial year;

^{4.} it qualifies as a parent company or qualifying subsidiary and/or has one or more permanent establishment in other Member States.

⁴⁸Commission staff working document, impact assessment, SWD(2016) 341 final.

6.4 Proposal of the CCCTB Directive

In the second step, after the approval of the CCTB Directive, tax consolidation covered in the proposal of the CCCTB Directive should be examined and discussed without delay. The CCCTB proposal, like the previous CCTB proposal, is consistent with other Union policies and falls within the ambit of Article 115 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the EU. Further, it does not restrict Member States' sovereignty to determine their desired amount of tax revenues in order to meet their budgetary policy targets, and it does not affect Member States' right to set their own corporate tax rates.

The following part will focus only on the basic rules and provisions that are the key elements of the CCCTB proposal. The CCCTB proposal provides a single set of rules for the determination of the consolidated corporate tax base via an apportionment formula, i.e., companies operating across borders in the EU would add up all profits and losses to determine their consolidated taxable profit and then shared it between the Member States according to an apportionment formula. On this basis, these companies would therefore no longer have to deal with 28 different set of national rules when calculating their taxable profits. Moreover, under the CCCTB, companies would be accountable to a single tax administration, the so-called "one-stop-shop".

The CCCTB proposal suggests making the tax system compulsory only for a subset of firms, based on their size. Thus, micro-enterprises and SMEs are exempted from the mandatory application of the CCCTB. According to Article 2 of the CCCTB proposal, mandatory application is set for groups with a consolidated turnover above EUR 750 million. This threshold is coherent with the approach taken in the other EU initiatives to counter tax avoidance. However, the CCCTB proposal also suggests the possibility to opt into the CCCTB system and benefit from the advantages of this system. Further, based on Article 5 of the CCCTB proposal, eligibility for the consolidated tax group will be determined in accordance with a two-part test based on (1) control (more than 50% of voting rights) and (2) ownership (more than 75% of capital) or rights to profits (more than 75% of rights giving entitlement to profit). The two-part test shall be met throughout the tax year; otherwise, the failing company will have to leave the group immediately. In addition, the threshold must be met for at least nine consecutive months for establishing group membership in order to prevent a manipulation of the tax results through companies entering and leaving the group in the short term.

The key element of the CCCTB proposal is the apportionment of the positive common consolidated corporate tax base, via an *apportionment formula*, which consists of three equally weighted factors: (1) a company's assets in the Member State, (2) the company's labour in the Member State, and (3) the company's sales in the Member State, as can be seen in Eq. (6.4).

6.4 Proposal of the CCCTB Directive

$$Share X = \left(\frac{1}{3S^{group}} + \frac{1}{3}\left(\frac{1}{2P^{Group}} + \frac{1}{2E^{Group}}\right) + \frac{1}{3A^{Group}}\right) \times CCCTB$$
(6.4)

where *S* represents the sales of goods and services by destination, *P* is payroll (comprising wages and salaries, bonuses and other compensation), *E* represents the number of employees (employed for at least a period of 3 months) and *A* denotes assets (including fixed assets, buildings, aircraft, boats and machines). The choice of a three-factor formula is based on the extensive analysis conducted by the CCCTB Working Groups,⁴⁹ academic experts and stakeholders, which proved that the three-factor formula best fulfils the principles that have guided the design of the sharing mechanism. Moreover, the choice of three factors stems from the need to reflect both the state of production (i.e., supply side, measured by assets and/or labour payroll) and the state of demand (i.e., sales to destination) to describe the economic activity properly. Thus, this combination of factors should reflect a balanced approach to distributing taxable profits among eligible Member States and ensure that profits are taxed where they are actually earned.

With regard to individual factors of an apportionment formula, the CCCTB proposal sets different rules for their composition. To account for differences in the levels of wages across the European Union and thus allow for a fair distribution of the consolidated tax base, the labour factor is subdivided into two equally weighed components: payroll and number of employees as measured by year. Moreover, in accordance with Article 32 of the CCCTB proposal, where an individual employee is included in the labour factor of a group member, the payroll relating to that employee is allocated to the labour factor of the same group member. Pursuant to Articles 34 and 35 of the CCCTB proposal, the asset factor will consist of all fixed tangible assets owned, rented or leased by a group member, which are allocated to the economic owner or to the legal owner if the economic owner is not identifiable. Intangibles and financial assets are excluded from the formula owing to their mobile nature and the risks of circumventing the system. In accordance with Articles 37 and 38 of the CCCTB proposal, the sales factor consists of the proceeds from the total sale of goods and supplies of services of a group member, including permanent establishment, after discounts and returns, excluding value added tax, other taxes and duties. Exempt revenues, interest, dividends, royalties and proceeds from the disposal of fixed assets shall not be included in the sales factor, unless they are revenues earned in the ordinary course of trade or business. Intra-group sales of goods and supplies of services are excluded from the sales factor. The sales factor is attributed to group members on a "destination" basis, i.e., where the dispatch or transport of the goods to the person acquiring them ends. In case of the supply of services, they shall be included in the

⁴⁹The results of CCCTB Working Group can be found at the following web-page: http://ec.europa.eu/ taxation_customs/taxation/company_tax/common_tax_base/article_3831_en.htm and http://ec.europa. eu/taxation_customs/taxation/company_tax/common_tax_base/article_4381_en.htm

sales factor of the group members located in the Member State where the services are physically carried out or actually supplied.

Furthermore, the CCCTB proposal includes special apportionment rules⁵⁰ for four industry sectors (financial institutions,⁵¹ insurance undertakings, oil and gas,⁵² and transportation⁵³), as the general scheme of the formulary apportionment cannot address the specificities of those types of industries and in order to better fit the needs of those sectors.

To sum up, the CCCTB apportionment mechanism constitutes a comparable system to what has been used in Canada and the US,⁵⁴ which is presented by a uniform formula and equally weighted factors, by the exclusion of intangible assets and the provision of sector-specific formulae.

With respect to *administrative procedures*, groups will deal with a single tax administration through the principal tax authority⁵⁵ in the EU. This system is called "one-stop-shop", which is considered to be one of the benefits of the CCCTB system. However, it is essential to lay down common procedural rules for its administration. After that, this approach should decrease compliance with taxation. Regarding audits, they should be conducted in accordance with the national legislation of the Member State in which they are carried out, but audits should be initiated and coordinated by the principal tax authority. Based on the CCCTB proposal, an audit may also be initiated at the request of a competent authority of Member States. Further, if disputes between taxpayers and tax authorities arise, they should be dealt with by an administrative body in the first instance, in order to reduce the number of cases that reach the courts. This body should be structured and operated in accordance with the law of the Member State of the principal tax authority and the body should be competent to hear appeals in the first instance.⁵⁶

⁵⁰For more details see Article 40–43 of CCCTB proposal.

⁵¹Financial institutions and insurance undertakings have different approaches to the calculation of assets and sales factors; for more details, see Articles 40 and 41 of the CCCTB proposal.

⁵²Based on the Article 42 of the CCCTB proposal, sales of a group member conducting its principal business in the field of the exploration or production of oil or gas shall be attributed to the group member in the Member State where the oil or gas is to be extracted or produced.

⁵³In accordance with the Article 43 of CCCTB proposal, the revenues, expenses and other deductible items of a group member whose principal business is the operation of ships or aircraft in international traffic or the operation of boats engaged in inland waterways transport shall be excluded from the consolidated tax base and not be apportioned. Instead, those revenues, expenses and other deductible items shall be attributed to that group member on a transaction-by-transaction basis.

⁵⁴For more details see Sect. 6.2.

⁵⁵In accordance with Article 3(27) the principal tax authority means the competent authority of the Member State in which the principal taxpayer is resident for tax purposes or, where it concerns a permanent establishment of a non-resident taxpayer, the Member State in which that permanent establishment is situated.

⁵⁶For more details about appeals see Article 60–62 of CCCTB proposal.

To sum up the CCCTB proposal, this system brings benefits in the form of a single set of corporate tax rules with a consolidation of corporate tax base,⁵⁷ which will be allocated through formulary apportionment. Another important benefit is the administration of a corporate tax system via a one-stop-shop approach that will result in a decrease in the compliance costs of taxation. Specifically, in accordance with impact assessment (2016), compliance costs are expected to decrease altogether in the amount of 10% in compliance time and 2.5% in compliance costs. Moreover, the cost of setting up a subsidiary would decrease by up to 67%, mainly owing to the elimination of transfer pricing issues and the establishment of common corporate tax rules, supporting companies (including SMEs) to become internationalized. In addition, the expected economic benefits of the CCCTB proposal would be an increase in investment (up to 3.4%), employment (up to 0.6%) and growth (up to 1.2%).⁵⁸

6.5 Is the C(C)CTB Suitable?

6.5.1 Methodology

Because both C(C)CTB proposals suggest a mandatory obligation for entering into the C(C)CTB system only for the company fulfilling specific conditions,⁵⁹ entities that does not meet these conditions, such as micro-enterprises and SMEs, are exempted from the obligatory application of the C(C)CTB system, but they can opt for this system. The key requirement for the optional selection of the C(C)CTB system is the fulfilment of the two-tiered test⁶⁰ related to voting rights and rights to capital or profits based on Article 3 or Article 5 of the C(C)CTB proposal, which identify a "qualified subsidiary". Moreover, the main motivation for entering into the C(C)CTB system is to gain a lower corporate tax obligation, i.e., for the CCTB, where cross-border loss offsetting results in lower corporate tax liability for the whole group; and for the CCCTB, where there is lower corporate tax liability for the whole group in comparison with the currently applied national tax system.

⁵⁷Cross-border loss relief, which can apply through the CCTB Directive, would be an automatic outcome of consolidation. Moreover, transfer pricing rules would not apply within the group, as all intra-group transactions would be eliminated.

⁵⁸For more details see Commission staff working document, impact assessment, SWD(2016) 341 final.

⁵⁹A company that is subject to corporate taxes belongs to a consolidated group with a total consolidated group revenue that exceeds EUR 750 million and that is qualified as a parent company or subsidiary and/or that has permanent establishment in other Member States.

 $^{^{60}}$ A two-tiered test is related to voting rights and rights to capital or profits, i.e., the parent company has the right to exercise more than 50% of the voting, and has an ownership right amounting to more than 75% of the subsidiary's capital or owns more than 75% of the rights giving entitlement to profit.

However, this requires the determination of corporate tax liability arising from the currently applied national tax systems and from the CCCTB system of taxation and its comparison.

This research on whether SMEs would opt for C(C)CTB system or not (i.e., staying in the current system of corporate taxation) is based on data from the Amadeus database, which includes standardized financial information on more than 21 million public and private companies in 43 European countries. In accordance with the requirement of being a qualified subsidiary, we found 1,138,599⁶¹ SMEs in the Amadeus database possessing a foreign and/or domestic subsidiary across the European Union in 2014 and having information about profit before taxation in their financial statements.

This dataset was used for the consideration of the CCTB system with respect to cross-border loss offsetting based on Article 42 of the CCTB proposal. In accordance with the conditions set out in the Article 42, such as

- a reduction in the tax base owing to the consideration that losses from previous tax years may not result in a negative amount,
- loss relief must be in proportion to the holding of the resident taxpayer (parent company) in its qualifying subsidiaries, and
- no cascade effect is allowed;

we performed a simulation of re-distribution of cross-border losses at the level of parent company across the European Union. Then, we analysed the negative impact of cross-border losses on the corporate tax revenues in each Member State, i.e., how much corporate tax revenues would decrease if cross-border loss offsetting were introduced. Ultimately, we research whether the CCTB system would be suitable for SMEs.

With respect to the CCCTB system, the previous dataset was amended, as the dataset includes all relevant data for the calculation of apportionment formula, namely, tangible fixed assets, sales, number of employees, payroll costs and profit before taxation. Therefore, our dataset was reduced and covers 305,792 SMEs. Thus, we faced the problem of missing information, namely, with respect to number of employees and payroll cost. To eliminate the negative impacts of missing data, we decided to impute the missing data based on the methodology applied by Cline et al. (2010) and Nerudová and Solilová (2014). Specifically we used two methods for missing data imputation—a regression model and imputation model. In both models, the independent variable was tangible fixed assets (TFA). Therefore, SMEs without information about TFA were excluded from the dataset.

Regression methods are considered to be the basic methods for the estimation of missing data. The below-stated equations represent the linear regression model, which was employed to estimate the missing data regarding number of

⁶¹Based on the annual SME Report, there are 1,603,349 SMEs in the EU. Our dataset covers more than 71% of SMEs, as we have a limitation in the form of having associated enterprises.

employees, sales (operating revenue) and payroll. The model can be expressed as Eqs. (6.5)–(6.7).

No.Employees_imputed =
$$koeficient\beta_0 + TFA * koeficinet\beta_1$$
 (6.5)

$$Operating_revenue = koeficient\beta_0 + TFA * koeficinet\beta_1$$
(6.6)

$$Payroll = koeficient\beta_0 + No.Employees_imputed * koeficinet\beta_1$$
(6.7)

As the independent variables were used tangible fixed assets (*TFA*), for the estimation of number of employees (*No.Employees_imputed*) and sales (*Operating_revenue*) and number of employees for the estimation of payroll (*Payroll*).

The second selected method, which was applied in case of missing data, was the *single imputation method*. This method allows us to impute the missing data by probable values and therefore allows us to avoid shrinking the dataset. The missing information on operating revenue (*Operating_revenue*) was added by the information on recorded assets (*TFA_reported*) and the ratio of average operational revenues (*AOperR*) to average fixed tangible assets (*ATFA*) in the case of companies (SMEs) from the same industry sector. The relation can be expressed by Eq. (6.8).

$$Operating_revenue = (AOperR \div ATFA) * TFA_reported$$
(6.8)

The missing data on number of employees (*No.Employees_imputed*) were added through the application of the information on recorded fixed tangible assets (*TFA_reported*) and the ratio of average number of employees (*ANoE*) to average tangible fixed assets (*ATFA*) in the case of companies (SMEs) from the same industry sector. The relation can be expressed by Eq. (6.9).

$$No.Employees_imputed = (ANoE \div ATFA) * TFA_reported$$
(6.9)

The missing data on payroll (*Payroll*) were added through the application of the recorded number of employees (*No. Employees_imputed*) and the ratio of average payroll (*APayr*) to average number of employees (*AnoE*) in case of companies (SMEs) from the same industry sector. The relation can be expressed by Eq. (6.10).

$$Payroll = (APayr \div ANoE) * No.Employees_imputed$$
(6.10)

To select the most suitable method for missing data imputation (i.e., the method that distorts the allocation of the group tax bases across the Member States the least, as it has a smaller standard deviation), a sensitivity analysis was performed. Based on the obtained results, a regression model was selected for the imputation of the missing data. Overall, dataset was increased by 78,524 entities covering 384,316 SMEs.

Consequently, after the imputation of the missing data into the dataset, we applied the apportionment formula (Sect. 6.4 Proposal of the CCCTB Directive, Eq. 6.4) on the tax bases of the qualified group of SMEs. Then, we determined the

			1		
	Nominal	Effective		Nominal	Effective
	corporate tax	average tax		corporate tax	average tax
Country ^a	rates in %	rate in %	Country ^a	rates in %	rate in %
CZ	19.0	16.7	LV	15.0	14.3
AT	25.0	23.0	LT	15.0	13.6
BE	34.0	26.7	LU	29.2	25.5
CY	12.5	15.2	MT	35.0	32.2
EE	21.0	16.5	NL	25.0	22.6
FI	20.0	18.4	РТ	30.0	27.1
FR	38.9	39.4	PL	19.0	17.5
DE	31.0	28.2	RO	16.0	14.8
EL	26.0	24.1	SK	22.0	19.4
HR	20.0	16.5	SI	17.0	15.5
BG	10.0	9.0	HU	20.9	19.3
DK	24.5	22.2	ES	35.3	32.6
IE	12.5	14.4	SE	22.0	19.4
IT	30.9	24.0	UK	21.0	22.4

 Table 6.4
 Nominal corporate tax rate and effective average tax rate in EU Member States, 2014

 (Spengel et al. 2014)

^aCZ Czech Republic, AT Austria, BE Belgium, CY Cyprus, EE Estonia, FI Finland, FR France, DE Germany, EL Greece, HR Croatia, BG Bulgari, DK Denmark, IE Ireland, IT Italy, LV Latvia, LT Lithuania, LU Luxembourg, MT Malta, NL Netherlands, PT Portugal, PL Poland, RO Romania, SK Slovak Republic, SI Slovenia, HU Hungary, ES Spain, SE Sweden, UK Great Britain

amount of the tax base allocated to each Member State and finally determined a corporate tax obligation through the application of nominal corporate tax rate (see Table 6.4) on the tax base determined in the previous step. However, as mentioned above, the key motivation for the optional selection of the CCCTB system represents lower corporate tax liability for whole group in comparison with the current tax system. Therefore, to map the current situation regarding corporate tax base allocation and subsequently the current corporate tax liability in each Member State, we have applied four possible models of group taxation that are currently applied within the European Union (i.e., full consolidation, pooling, intra-group loss transfer and no group taxation scheme applied in the country)⁶² according to the country of residency of the parent company. Consequently, the effective tax rate (see Table 6.4) was applied on the determined tax base in order to set the current corporate tax liability.

Based on the performance in the comparative analysis with respect to current situation, we were able to identify the possible increase or decrease in the allocated corporate tax bases in each Member State. Ultimately, we analysed the effects of

⁶²For more details about the current group taxation regime, see Sect. 6.2, Table 6.1. Further, it must be highlighted that the research was performed based on the data available in 2014 as well as legal framework, therefore the changes in consolidation regimes and cross-border loss offsetting since 2015 are not taken into account.

the adoption of the CCCTB system on the corporate tax revenues in each Member State, i.e., how much tax revenues would decrease or increase if the CCCTB were introduced. Finally, the suitability of the CCCTB for SMEs was researched.

It is necessary to mention that there are also the following *limitations* of the results in the conducted research:

- the amount of the total tax base is considered not to change as a result of the adoption of the CCCTB system even if the C(C)CTB proposal suggests unified rules for corporate tax base construction;
- we consider profit or loss before taxation as a tax base of each subsidiary in the group available in the financial statements in the Amadeus Database;
- to determine corporate tax liability, the nominal and effective tax rates are applied (see Table 6.4);
- in the current situation, the effective tax rates of the country where the subsidiaries are situated were taken into account in order to determine the tax liability;
- when researching the situation of the CCCTB implementation, the nominal tax rates were applied because under the CCCTB, nominal tax rates are equal to effective tax rates⁶³;
- the offsetting of previous losses, tax incentives and another preferential tax regime resulting in the zero tax liability is not taken into account; therefore, the current corporate tax liability can reach higher values than the corporate tax revenues of the Member States presented in Taxation Trends in the European Union⁶⁴;
- no specific apportionment formula is applied for selected industries, as suggested in the CCCTB proposal;
- the CCCTB results are based on Eq. (6.4);
- the research is focused on SMEs only, i.e., large entities are omitted from the research.

Further, we assumed that entities do not change their behaviour in response to the tax reform. Moreover, we assumed that SMEs would opt for the C(C)CTB if it would offer them benefits, namely, in the form of lower corporate tax liability.

In the following sections, the results of the CCTB and C(C)CTB are presented in the context of SMEs.

⁶³Due to the unified system of tax base construction.

⁶⁴Taxation Trends in the European Union, Data for the EU Member States, Iceland and Norway, 2016. http://ec.europa.eu/taxation_customs/sites/taxation/files/resources/documents/taxation/gen_info/economic_analysis/tax_structures/2016/econ_analysis_report_2016.pdf

6.5.2 Results of the CCTB in the Context of SMEs

The CCTB system is suggested as mandatory for companies that are subject to corporate taxes, that belong to a consolidated group with a total consolidated group revenue that exceeds EUR 750 million and that are qualified (based on Article 3) as a parent company or subsidiary and/or that have permanent establishment in other Member States. Thus, other companies, such as micro-enterprises and SMEs, are exempted from the obligatory application of the CCTB system. However, these entities can opt for the CCTB system. The key requirement for the optional selection of the CCTB system is the fulfilment of the two-tiered test related to voting rights and rights to capital or profits based on Article 3 of the CCTB proposal. In accordance with this requirement, 1,138,599 SMEs were found in the Amadeus database, having a foreign and/or domestic subsidiary across the European Union in the calendar year 2014 and having the information on profit before taxation in their financial statements.

The distribution of SMEs qualified for entering into the CCTB system across the European Union is mentioned in Table 6.5. As is obvious, the highest portions of qualified SMEs are in Italy (29.64%), Romania (28.21%), Bulgaria (9.71%), Spain (5.42%), the Slovak Republic (4.59%), Latvia (4.37%) and the Czech Republic (4.06%).

Regarding losses, only 2.32% (26,465) of qualified SMEs are facing crossborder losses, whereas 35.27% (401,614) of SMEs are facing domestic losses, which can be currently offset within one company in each Member State. Moreover, it is evident that only a very small amount of qualified SMEs are doing business abroad, in our case 5.14% (for details, see Table 6.5). This finding is in line with current studies estimating that SMEs have a lower level of internationalization than LEs, in particular, only 5%⁶⁵ of SMEs are associated (have subsidiaries abroad) and involved in cross-border activities.

If we look at the classification of losses and profits based on the type of parent company (i.e., foreign and domestic parent company) in more detail, it is obvious that more than 56% of overall losses (EUR 16.5 billion) are incurred by subsidiaries (having a foreign parent company) situated in Portugal (24.25%), Luxembourg (12.76%), the United Kingdom (10.67%) and Romania (8.49%). A similar situation can be found in case of the domestic parent company—almost 57% of overall losses (EUR 41.3 billion) are generated by subsidiaries situated in Italy (27.89%), the United Kingdom (17.83%) and Austria (10.93%). With respect to profits (EUR 41.3 billion), the highest profits are generated by subsidiaries (with a foreign parent company) situated in the United Kingdom (19.86%) and Belgium (12.30%). In the case of domestic parent companies (EUR 160.7 billion), the highest profits are generated in the United Kingdom (31.05%), France (21.53%) and Italy (14.84%). For more details, see Table 6.6.

⁶⁵European Commission, Observatory of European SMEs, analytical report, 2007. Directorate-General for Enterprise and Industry.

	Foreign parent comp	any	Domestic parent company	ò		
			No. of domestic	No. of domestic		Portion of
Country of	No. of subsidiaries	No. of subsidiaries	subsidiaries recording	subsidiaries recording	No. of	subsidiaries on
subsidiary	recording losses	recording profits	losses	profits	subsidiaries	total (%)
AT	94	273	197	564	1128	0.10
BE	865	1218	2145	3719	7947	0.70
BG	276	383	27,915	81,983	110,557	9.71
CY	2	3	0	5	10	0.00
CZ	1367	1918	15,638	27,338	46,261	4.06
DE	45	178	440	2159	2822	0.25
DK	382	694	8372	15,588	25,036	2.20
EE	432	741	858	1654	3685	0.32
ES	744	1371	21,945	37,597	61,657	5.42
EL	98	115	1294	2643	4150	0.36
FI	196	358	1101	2167	3822	0.34
FR	1464	2041	7288	10,864	21,657	1.90
HR	324	402	2376	5782	8884	0.78
HU	327	386	83	96	892	0.08
IE	191	257	161	267	876	0.08
IT	1705	2187	114,866	218,670	337,428	29.64
LT	26	117	275	1634	2052	0.18
ΓΩ	104	155	82	174	515	0.05
LV	1511	1340	23,180	23,770	49,801	4.37
MT	2	2	0	1	5	0.00
NL	323	321	167	335	1146	0.10
PL	537	1029	3734	8606	13,906	1.22
PT	668	926	8740	12,414	22,748	2.00
						(continued)

Table 6.5 Distribution of SMEs qualified for the CCTB system across the EU (own processing, Amadeus database)

	Foreign parent compa	ny	Domestic parent company			
			No. of domestic	No. of domestic		Portion of
Country of	No. of subsidiaries	No. of subsidiaries	subsidiaries recording	subsidiaries recording	No. of	subsidiaries on
subsidiary	recording losses	recording profits	losses	profits	subsidiaries	total (%)
RO	9035	7962	134,370	169,868	321,235	28.21
SE	562	865	2966	4175	8568	0.75
SI	189	417	2412	7964	10,982	0.96
SK	3620	4361	15,250	29,070	52,301	4.59
UK	1376	2051	5759	9342	18,528	1.63
Total	26,465	32,071	401,614	678,449	1,138,599	100.00
Portion (%)	2.32	2.82	35.27	59.59	100.00	

 Table 6.5 (continued)

Note: In case of Cyprus and Malta no more data were available

Table 6.6	Classification of losses and profits based on the type of parent company-assignment to the state of the tax residency of subsidiary (own
processing,	, Amadeus database)

Fo	sreign parent	company.					Domestic parent of	company				
Ĭ	o. of	Sum of	Portion		Sum of	Portion		Sum of	Portion	No. of domestic	Sum of	Portion
IN SU	bsidiaries	losses ¹	of Ioceae	No. of subsidiarias	profits (in million	of profite	No. of domestic	losses (in million	of Ioceae	subsidiaries	profits	of profite
y los	sses	EUR)	(%)	in profits	EUR)	(%)	recording losses	EUR)	(%)	profits	EUR)	(%)
	94	-56.04	0.34	273	2245.91	5.58	197	-4521.13	10.93	564	1326.36	0.83
	865	-211.96	1.28	1218	4956.16	12.30	2145	-1003.93	2.43	3719	4383.29	2.73
	276	-67.54	0.41	383	517.72	1.29	27,915	-653.27	1.58	81,983	1963.78	1.22
	2	-346.65	2.09	ę	74.94	0.19	0	1	0.00	5	169.22	0.11
	1367	-131.75	0.79	1918	2727.03	6.77	15,638	-327.05	0.79	27,338	1322.42	0.82
	45	-64.64	0.39	178	2331.51	5.79	440	-1335.90	3.23	2159	12,884.18	8.01
	382	-178.75	1.08	694	398.99	0.99	8372	-1452.03	3.51	15,588	2784.87	1.73
	432	-46.49	0.28	741	409.45	1.02	858	-57.08	0.14	1654	207.166	0.13
	744	-245.22	1.48	1371	764.54	1.90	21,945	-2464.71	5.96	37,597	4566.2	2.84
	98	-50.37	0.30	115	28.54	0.07	1294	-244.48	0.59	2643	553.81	0.34
	196	-66.75	0.40	358	94.25	0.23	1101	-172.00	0.42	2167	1875.89	1.17
	1464	-1149.36	6.93	2041	1205.30	2.99	7288	-2673.51	6.47	10,864	34,614.96	21.53
	324	-187.97	1.13	402	645.31	1.60	2376	-253.02	0.6I	5782	775.75	0.48
	327	-1204.24	7.26	386	254.75	0.63	83	-893.68	2.16	96	163.59	0.10
	191	-669.66	4.04	257	3121.91	7.75	161	-172.78	0.42	267	1991.28	1.24
	1705	-552.64	3.33	2187	1421.92	3.53	114,866	-11,533.69	27.89	218,670	23,853.02	14.84
	26	-3.51	0.02	117	246.91	0.61	275	-31.56	0.08	1634	221.98	0.14
	104	-2115.71	12.76	155	3047.21	7.56	82	-347.04	0.84	174	467.12	0.29
	1511	-58.24	0.35	1340	283.93	0.70	23,180	-383.51	0.93	23,770	762.63	0.47
	2	-0.74	0.00	2	53.52	0.13	0	1	0.00	1	56.80	0.04
	323	-1265.82	7.63	321	1373.92	3.41	167	-140.07	0.34	335	4327.93	2.69
	537	-155.90	0.94	1029	2812.53	6.98	3734	-419.89	1.02	8606	1359.91	0.85
	668	-4021.43	24.25	926	885.40	2.20	8740	-1411.10	3.41	12,414	877.26	0.55
5	9035	-1407.76	8.49	7962	812.94	2.02	134,370	-1565.87	3.79	169,868	3807.86	2.37
	562	-235.87	1.42	865	385.99	0.96	2966	-1097.16	2.65	4175	4428.49	2.75
	189	-116.10	0.70	417	93.09	0.23	2412	-411.46	0.99	7964	480.91	0.30
	3620	-202.69	1.22	4361	1091.57	2.71	15,250	-414.69	1.00	29,070	617.72	0.38
	1376	-1769.97	10.67	2051	7999.89	19.86	5759	-7372.89	17.83	9342	49,912.13	31.05
26	6,465	-16,583.91	100.00	32,071	40,285.21	100.00	401,614	-41,353.64	100.00	678,449	160,756.66	100.00

Taking into account the provision of cross-border loss relief (Article 42 of the CCTB proposal) while allowing offsetting cross-border losses incurred by a qualified subsidiary at the level of the parent company, we perform a simulation of re-allocation of cross-border losses across the European Union under the following conditions set in the CCTB proposal:

- a reduction of the tax base as a result of considering losses from previous tax years shall not result in a negative amount,
- loss relief shall be in proportion to the holding of the resident taxpayer (parent company) in its qualifying subsidiaries, and
- no cascade effect is allowed.

The re-allocation of losses among SMEs across the European Union is presented in Fig. 6.1. As is evident, countries such as Austria, Belgium, Cyprus, Germany, Spain, Greece, Italy, Lithuania, Malta and the Netherlands face multiple magnifications of losses (highlighted in the values in Fig. 6.1) in contrast to the rest of the Member States, who face multiple reductions in losses. With respect to multiple magnifications, it has to be noted that Austria and Italy currently (in 2014) allow a reduction or consolidation of cross-border losses.⁶⁶ The Netherlands represent the only Member State that applies a full tax consolidation regime. Further, based on the comparison of losses in their absolute value (i.e., current losses compared with redistributed losses based on the CCTB proposal), which is presented in Figs. 6.2 and 6.3, the re-allocation of high losses from Portugal to Netherlands, Austria, Cyprus and Germany is obvious. Overall, losses in the amount of EUR 16.58 billion incurred among 26,465 SMEs are presented here.

The situation regarding how cross-border losses of qualified SMEs would be reallocated if the CCTB proposal were approved was presented on Figs. 6.2 and 6.3 (i.e., instead of loss relief at the level of subsidiary, the cross-border offsetting is applied at the level of parent company). The following section focuses on the impact of cross-border loss relief together with domestic loss relief, which is currently accessible in each Member State, on corporate tax revenue.

As domestic losses are currently allowed to be offset within one company in each Member State, the impact on the corporate income tax revenue can be considered as zero. However, in the case of cross-border loss relief, the zero effect cannot be considered as a new possibility based on the CCTB proposal. In this case, the corporate income tax revenue will decrease in each Member State, where the parent company is situated. The highest decrease would occur in the case of Cyprus (-171%), where cross-border losses are EUR 1.8 billion and the corporate income tax revenue is only EUR 1.1 billion, corresponding to the fact that Cyprus is often considered an onshore destination with respect to tax planning activities in the

⁶⁶Austria uses a deduction (recapture) method that is similar to cross-border loss offsetting introduced by the CCTB proposal. Italy uses a system of consolidation of profit at the level of parent company, as do France and Denmark. Further, it must be highlighted that Cyprus (since 2015) and Lithuania (since 2016) allow also cross-border loss offsetting.

Country of subsidiary	No. of subsidiaries recording losses with foreign parent company	Sum of losses ¹ (in million EUR)		Country of parent company	No. of foreign subsidiaries recording losses	Sum of losses ² (in million EUR)	Chan (in %
AT	94	-56.04		AT	1,764	-1,999.25	+3,4
BE	865	-211.96		BE	848	-993.36	+3
BG	276	-67.54		BG	227	-11.51	
CY	2	-346.65		CY	735	-1,888.76	+4
CZ	1,367	-131.75		CZ	896	-73.13	
DE	45	-64.64		DE	3,907	-1,494.08	+2,2
DK	382	-178.75		DK	502	-102.80	
EE	432	-46.49		EE	326	-18.38	
ES	744	-245.22		ES	1,351	-462.90	+
EL	98	-50.37		GR	585	-145.69	+1
FI	196	-66.75		FI	404	-58.70	
FR	1,464	-1,149.36		FR	2,092	-1,119.81	
HR	324	-187.97		HR	68	-8.20	
HU	327	-1,204.24		HU	1,720	-93.02	
IE	191	-669.66		IE	431	-265.02	
IT	1,705	-552.64		IT	4,421	-1,089.80	+
LT	26	-3.51	,	LT	454	-8.66	+1
LU	104	-2,115.71		LU	824	-539.60	
LV	1,511	-58.24		LV	55	-1.43	
MT	2	-0.74		MT	58	-35.33	+4,6
NL	323	-1,265.82		NL	1,050	-4,405.00	+2
PL	537	-155.90		PL	421	-34.12	
PT	668	-4,021.43		PT	202	-171.54	
RO	9035	-1,407.76		RO	110	-10.74	
SE	562	-235.87		SE	710	-199.17	-
SI	189	-116.10		SI	131	-12.59	
SK	3,620	-202.69		SK	307	-8.92	
UK	1,376	-1,769.97		GB	1,866	-1,332.27	-
Total	26,465	-16,583.91		Total	26,465	-16,583.91	

 Current situation, when losses can be offset within one company in each Member State, except Denmark, France, Italy and Austria allowing cross-border loss offsetting at the level of the parent company, and Netherlands, with full tax consolidation.

2) Re-allocation based on the CCTB proposal-cross-border loss relief.

Fig. 6.1 Re-allocation of cross-border losses of SMEs across the EU based on the CCTB proposal (own processing, Amadeus database)

European Union. Another significant decrease of corporate income tax revenue would be reached in the case of Austria (27.39%), the Netherlands (25.76%) and Luxembourg (25.70%). For more details, see Table 6.7.



Fig. 6.2 Re-allocation of cross-border losses of SMEs across the EU—current situation (Fig. 6.2 represents the assignment of cross-border losses based on the tax residency of the subsidiary.) (in EUR) (own compilation through Google Charts, Amadeus database)

In addition, it must be highlighted that the CCTB proposal indicated that the possible cross-border off-set of losses will be accompanied by the later recapture of the level of the parent company once the subsidiary starts to run a profit or will be automatically reincorporated at the end of the fifth tax year after the losses becomes deductible. Therefore, we expect cross-border loss offsetting to have short-term negative impacts on corporate income tax revenues.

Although only 2.3% of SMEs face cross-border losses, these companies represent half of SMEs with foreign associated entities. Therefore, the issue of crossborder losses should be considered very serious, as it highlights the limitations of the internationalization of SMEs in the European Union. The implementation of the CCTB system would bring SMEs several advantages, including cross-border loss offsetting. Based on the common rules for corporate tax base construction, SMEs would not face the 28 different tax systems, resulting in high compliance costs of taxation. Other motivations for entering the CCTB system can represent a superdeduction for R&D, notably for SMEs and start-up companies. As is obvious micro and small entities incur similar amount of expenditure for research and development per employee as large companies (see Table 6.8). All these incentives should nevertheless bring economic benefits at least in the form of an increase in investment, employment, internationalization and smart, sustainable and innovative growth. Moreover, it is expected that SMEs would reach lower compliance costs of taxation owing to the easier administration of domestic and cross-border tax



Fig. 6.3 Re-allocation of cross-border losses of SMEs across the EU—based on the CCTB (Fig. 6.3 represents the assignment of cross-border losses based on the tax residency of the parent company, where loss relief will be applied in accordance with the CCTB proposal.) (in EUR) (own compilation through Google Charts, Amadeus database)

issues. However, extensive benefits are expected under the CCCTB regime. This situation is presented in the following section.

6.5.3 Results of the CCCTB in the Context of SMEs

In the second step, after the approval of the CCTB Directive, tax consolidation covered in the CCCTB Directive proposal should be discussed. In accordance with the CCCTB proposal, the consolidated tax based would be allocated via an apportionment formula, i.e., companies operating across borders in the EU would consolidate all profits and losses to determine their consolidated taxable profit and the consolidated profit would then be allocated between the Member States according to an apportionment formula. Moreover, it has to be underlined that the CCCTB proposal does not restrict Member State's right to set their own corporate tax rates.

The CCCTB system is mandatory for companies that are subject to corporate taxes, that belong to a consolidated group with a total consolidated group revenue
	Change of corporate income taxes	revenues (in %)	-27.39	-7.76	-1.28	-171.71	-1.41	-2.10	-1.47	-6.13	-2.21	-4.41	-1.47	-1.94	-1.03	-6.64	-5.64	-3.10	-1.73	-25.70	-0.36	-7.07	-25.76	-0.47	-3.50	-0.34
	Corporate income taxes revenue	(in billion EUR) ^b	7.3	12.8	0.9	1.1	5.2	71.1	7.0	0.3	20.9	3.3	4.0	57.7	0.8	1.4	4.7	35.1	0.5	2.1	0.4	0.5	17.1	7.2	4.9	3.2
Amadeus database)	Total losses (foreign and domestic)	(in million EUR)	-6520.39	-1997.29	-664.79	-1888.76	-400.18	-2829.98	-1554.84	-75.47	-2927.61	-390.17	-230.71	-3793.33	-261.23	-986.71	-437.81	-12,623.49	-40.23	-886.65	-384.95	-35.33	-4545.07	-454.02	-1582.65	-1576.62
own processing, /	Sum of losses ^a (in million	EUR)	-1999.25	-993.36	-11.51	-1888.76	-73.13	-1494.08	-102.80	-18.38	-462.90	-145.69	-58.70	-1119.81	-8.20	-93.02	-265.02	-1089.80	-8.66	-539.60	-1.43	-35.33	-4405.00	-34.12	-171.54	-10.74
rate tax revenue (o	No. of foreign subsidiaries in	losses	1764	848	227	735	896	3907	502	326	1351	585	404	2092	68	1720	431	4421	454	824	55	58	1050	421	202	110
impact on corpo	Sum of losses (in million	EUR)	-4521.13	-1003.93	-653.27	I	-327.05	-1335.90	-1452.03	-57.08	-2464.71	-244.48	-172.00	-2673.51	-253.02	-893.68	-172.78	-11,533.69	-31.56	-347.04	-383.51	I	-140.07	-419.89	-1411.10	-1565.87
Loss relief and its	No. of domestic subsidiaries in	losses	197	2145	27,915	0	15,638	440	8372	858	21,945	1294	1101	7288	2376	83	161	114,866	275	82	23,180	0	167	3734	8740	134,370
Table 6.7		Country	AT	BE	BG	CY	CZ	DE	DK	EE	ES	EL	FI	FR	HR	HU	IE	IT	LT	ΓΩ	LV	MT	NL	PL	PT	RO

168

SE	2966	-1097.16	710	-199.17	-1296.33	11.5	-1.73
SI	2412	-411.46	131	-12.59	-424.05	0.5	-2.52
SK	15,250	-414.69	307	-8.92	-423.62	2.4	-0.37
UK	5759	-7372.89	1866	-1332.27	-8705.17	54.7	-2.44
Total	401,614	-41,353.64	26,465	-16,583.91	-57,937.56	338.6	-4.90

^aThese losses would be offset at the level of the parent company based on the CCTB proposal ^bThe overall corporate income tax revenues in the country for 2014. Source: Taxation Trends in the European Union, 2016

		No. of employees in R&D	R&D expenditure
Entities by size class	Expenditures per employees in R&D	Full-time equivalent	million EUR
Micro (from 1 to 9 employees) ^a	0.05	58,607	2713
Small (from 10 to 49 employees) ^b	0.05	165,391	9087
Medium (from 50 to 249 employees) ^c	0.07	265,582	17,560
Large (from 250 to 499 employees)	0.08	141,149 ^b	11,909 ^c
Above 500 employees	0.13	787,145 ^d	101,020 ^b

 Table 6.8
 Employees and expenditures in R&D in business sector in the EU by size class in 2013 (own processing, Eurostat 2017)

^aExcept of Ireland, Luxembourg and Sweden-no data available

^bExcept of Ireland-no data available

^cExcept of Ireland and Bulgaria-no data available

^dExcept of Ireland and Finland—no data available

that exceeds EUR 750 million, and that are qualified (based on Article 5^{67}) as a parent company or subsidiary and/or that have permanent establishment in other Member States. Companies that do not fulfil these requirements (micro-enterprises and SMEs) are exempted from the obligatory application of the CCCTB system. However, they can opt for the CCCTB system, as well as the CCTB system. Thus, in following chapter, we analyse how the CCCTB system would affect the performance of SMEs in the European Union. Our key assumption is that SMEs enter into the CCCTB system if it results in lower corporate tax liability than current national corporate taxation.

Our dataset covers 1,138,599⁶⁸ SMEs from the Amadeus database, with a foreign and/or domestic subsidiary in the European Union in calendar year 2014, being considered qualified subsidiaries and having information about profit before taxation in their financial statements. However, given the apportionment formula, the dataset has to include all relevant data for its calculation, namely, tangible fixed assets, sales, number of employees, payroll cost and profit before taxation. Therefore, our dataset had to be reduced and covers 5983 SMEs for which it would be advantageous to opt for the CCCTB system, as it would result into their overall lower corporate tax liability, and 299,809 SMEs that would probably not opt for

 $^{^{67}}$ The fulfilment of the two-tiered test related to voting rights and rights to capital or profits, i.e., the parent company has the right to exercise more than 50% of the voting rights and has an ownership right amounting to more than 75% of the subsidiary's capital or owns more than 75% of the rights giving entitlement to profits.

⁶⁸The same dataset applied for the CCTB.

CCCTB, as it would result for them in higher corporate tax liability.⁶⁹ To preserve the extent of the dataset, we decided to impute missing data in order to maximize the number of companies in the analysis according to the methodology applied by Cline et al. (2010) and Nerudová and Solilová (2014).⁷⁰ Hence, our dataset covers 25,258 SMEs that would probably opt for the CCCTB system and 359,058 SMEs that would probably not opt for the CCCTB system. A large portion of subsidiaries that would probably not opt for the CCCTB are situated in Italy, Romania, Bulgaria, the Czech Republic, Latvia and the Slovak Republic, whereas the opposite group of subsidiaries (which would probably opt for the CCCTB) are situated in United Kingdom, Denmark, France, Italy, Bulgaria and Romania and in the previous group. For more details about the distribution of entities based on the above described classification, see Table 6.9.

The question is why would entering into CCCTB system for the majority of subsidiaries (93.4% from the imputed dataset and almost 98% from the real dataset) result in higher tax liability than under the domestic national corporate tax system. One of the reasons is that domestic national corporate tax systems do not allow SMEs to use tax planning schemes that are accessible for LEs owing to the lack of human and financial capital and the availability of skilled staff or experienced managers. Therefore, their current corporate tax base is similar to the CCCTB resulting in the higher sensitivity to the tax rate (see Table 6.4) i.e., for the purpose of our research, the current corporate tax liability was determined by using the effective tax rate rather than the nominal tax rate applied in case of CCCTB tax liability. As is visible in Table 6.4, there are differences in tax rates applied in the EU. It has an impact on the determination of corporate tax liabilities under both tax systems and results in the fact that only 6.5% of SMEs would opt for the CCCTB and that 93.4% would still apply the current corporate tax system (as entering into the CCCTB would result in higher tax liability for them). Moreover, it must be highlighted that the CCCTB system allocates the tax base of each member of the group for taxation purposes in accordance with the apportionment formula, i.e., based on the generated sales, fixed tangible assets used by entities, number of employees and their payroll cost. Thus, it allocates the tax base in accordance with the real substance of business activities.

Because SMEs not meeting the requirement of mandatory application of the CCCTB can opt for this system, we assume that those SMEs would decide to enter the system based on the key assumption that their corporate tax liability after the adoption of the CCCTB system would be lower than their current corporate tax liability. However, there are also other benefits connected with the adoption of the CCCTB system. In particular, they would benefit from the unified rules for corporate tax base construction and the elimination of transfer pricing issues, as all intragroup transactions within the group will be excluded from the tax base or one-shop-

⁶⁹Hence, this implies lower corporate tax liability under the current national tax system in comparison with the CCCTB system. For more details, see Sect. 6.5.1.

⁷⁰For more details see Sect. 6.5.1.

	Comparison	of corpoi	ate tax liabilit system	y based o	n the CCCTE	system a	nd current do	mestic
	Imputed dat	aset	~,~~~		Real dataset	t		
Country	No. of entities which would opt for	Share	No. of entities which would not opt for	Share	No. of entities which would opt for	Share	No. of entities which would not opt for	Share
subsidiary	CCCTB ^a	in %	CCCTB ^b	in %	CCCTB ^a	in %	CCCTB ^b	in %
AT	245	0.97	349	0.10	85	1.42	427	0.14
BE	404	1.60	1016	0.28	106	1.77	396	0.13
BG	2897	11.47	34,357	9.57	764	12.77	31,135	10.38
CY	19	0.08	6	0.00	14	0.23	8	0.00
CZ	498	1.97	19,148	5.33	179	2.99	15,126	5.05
DE	597	2.36	1317	0.37	229	3.83	786	0.26
DK	1447	5.73	4215	1.17	29	0.48	236	0.08
EE	126	0.50	953	0.27	35	0.58	689	0.23
ES	163	0.65	78	0.02	86	1.44	123	0.04
EL	14	0.06	4	0.00	11	0.18	5	0.00
FI	123	0.49	1220	0.34	18	0.30	872	0.29
FR	3240	12.83	116	0.03	1871	31.27	188	0.06
HR	114	0.45	5028	1.40	44	0.74	4922	1.64
HU	40	0.16	83	0.02	21	0.35	96	0.03
IE	180	0.71	13	0.00	72	1.20	27	0.01
IT	9887	39.14	157,673	43.91	110	1.84	134,212	44.77
LT	37	0.15	29	0.01	10	0.17	37	0.01
LU	53	0.21	142	0.04	22	0.37	47	0.02
LV	380	1.50	15,266	4.25	21	0.35	878	0.29
MT	2	0.01	3	0.00	1	0.02	4	0.00
NL	175	0.69	131	0.04	82	1.37	121	0.04
PL	280	1.11	4311	1.20	80	1.34	257	0.09
PT	57	0.23	18	0.01	33	0.55	35	0.01
RO	1616	6.40	89,646	24.97	483	8.07	90,483	30.18
SE	364	1.44	359	0.10	46	0.77	575	0.19
SI	78	0.31	7466	2.08	19	0.32	7003	2.34
SK	262	1.04	15,921	4.43	91	1.52	10,852	3.62
UK	1960	7.76	190	0.05	1421	23.75	269	0.09
Total	25,258	100	359,058	100	5983	100	299,809	100
Total in dataset		384	,316			305	,792	

Table 6.9 Division of SMEs according to their motivation to opt for the CCCTB or not (own processing, Amadeus database)

^aDue to the fact that opting in would result in lower tax liability ^bDue to the fact that opting in would result in the higher tax liability

stop approach. All these attributes will probably result in a decrease in compliance costs of taxation. Therefore, we further assume that even SMEs facing higher corporate tax liability will have the motivation to opt for the CCCTB system in order to be able to gain other benefits from this system.

Based on the comparison of corporate tax liability through both tax systems (see Tables 6.10 and 6.11), it is evident that the adoption of the CCCTB system brings both lower corporate tax liability by EUR 22.778 billion (by 58.68%) and higher corporate tax liability by EUR 1.865 billion (by 32.01%), i.e., total EUR 20.913 billion (by 46.05%) lower corporate tax revenues for the Member States. This amount of money (tax saving) can be used by SMEs to increase their business performance and the level of their internationalization in the European Union.

In this situation, when corporate tax liability is higher after the adoption of the CCCTB system (Table 6.11), a large increase is visible in the case of Poland (by 224.73%), Hungary (by 164.39%), Sweden (by 157.37%), Spain (by 130.99%) and other Member states. Overall, corporate tax revenues would increase by EUR 1.86 billion (by 32.01%). Although the CCCTB system brings a relatively large increase in corporate tax liability in contrast to a relatively low decrease in corporate tax liability (see Fig. 6.4), in absolute value, the result is negative in the amount of EUR 20.913 billion. Considering the overall amount for SMEs (384,316), there is a decrease in corporate tax liability on average by EUR 54,416 for each SME.

As mentioned above, the overall decrease in corporate tax liability of SMEs is EUR 20.913 billion, which means a decrease in total corporate tax revenues by 5.98%, covering tax liability of LEs and SMEs. Currently, the volume of total corporate tax revenues is EUR 338 billion for the entire EU, and after the adoption of the CCCTB, it would be EUR 318 billion⁷¹ However, the situation is different at the level of Member States (see Table 6.12). Specifically, only Bulgaria, Denmark, Hungary and Latvia would face an increase in corporate income tax revenues, whereas the rest of the Member States would face a decrease in corporate income tax revenues, such as Austria (-25.39%), Ireland (-27.23%) and Romania (-16.41%). Moreover, it has to be highlighted that the results presented in column F in Table 6.12 represent a situation where only SMEs are taken into account. The large entities with mandatory obligation to enter into the CCCTB system will significantly change the result of corporate income tax revenues.⁷²

⁷¹This amount covers the corporate tax liability of SMEs without taking into account the corporate tax liability of LEs.

⁷²Fuest, C., Hemmelgam, T., & Ramb, F. (2007). How would the introduction of an EU-wide formula apportionment affect the distribution and size of the corporate tax base? An analysis based on German multinationals. International Tax and Public Finance 14(5), 605–626. Van Der Horst, A., Bettendorf, L., & Rojas-Romagosa, H. (2007). Will corporate tax consolidation improve efficiency in the EU? CPB Documents 141, CPB Netherlands Bureau for Economic Policy Analysis. Devereux, M. & Loretz, S. (2008) Increased Efficiency through Consolidation and Formula Apportionment in the European Union? Oxford: Oxford University, Centre for Business Taxation. Working Paper No. 12. Cline, R. Neubig, T. Phillips, A., Sanger, C., & Walsh,

	Dataset with the CCCTB i	imputed data through s lower than current t	the regression methors ax liability	od—tax liability l	based on
Country		CCCTB tax	Current tax	Difference A	
of	No. of	liability (in million	liability	(in million	Change
subsidiary	subsidiaries	EUR)	(in million EUR)	EUR)	(in %)
AT	245	821.2	2687.67	-1866.47	-69.45
BE	404	602.95	1145.34	-542.39	-47.36
BG	2897	26.55	37.12	-10.57	-28.48
CY	19	472.63	1686.54	-1213.91	-71.98
CZ	498	585.77	752.81	-167.04	-22.19
DE	597	526.51	1640.35	-1113.84	-67.90
DK	1447	184.24	249.08	-64.84	-26.03
EE	126	17.33	39.32	-21.99	-55.93
ES	163	294.58	2711.59	-2417.01	-89.14
EL	14	2.46	5.87	-3.41	-58.09
FI	123	222.53	312.04	-89.51	-28.69
FR	3240	2701.21	4357.41	-1656.2	-38.01
HR	114	51.5	92.55	-41.05	-44.35
HU	40	50.83	70.84	-20.01	-28.25
IE	180	675.64	1961.95	-1286.31	-65.56
IT	9887	843.04	2222.74	-1379.7	-62.07
LT	37	223.05	332.94	-109.89	-33.01
LU	53	1339.73	5117.51	-3777.78	-73.82
LV	380	31.29	61.31	-30.02	-48.96
MT	2	220.95	332.47	-111.52	-33.54
NL	175	84.46	141.11	-56.65	-40.15
PL	280	3845.46	8967.1	-5121.64	-57.12
РТ	57	32.26	64.25	-31.99	-49.79
RO	1616	607.25	1171.31	-564.06	-48.16
SE	364	161.54	330.32	-168.78	-51.10
SI	78	53.36	160.92	-107.56	-66.84
SK	262	136.93	400.94	-264.01	-65.85
UK	1960	1221.09	1761.19	-540.1	-30.67
Total	25,258	16,036.34	38,814.59	-22,778.3	-58.68

 Table 6.10
 CCCTB and its impact on corporate tax revenue (Corporate tax revenue based on the CCCTB system allocated at the level of the subsidiary based on its tax residency.)—part A (own processing, Amadeus database)

A. (2010). Study on the economic and budgetary impact of the introduction of a Common Consolidated Corporate Tax Base in the European Union, Ernst & Young LLP. Oestreicher von Andreas and Koch, Reinald. (2011). The Revenue Consequences of Using a Common Consolidated Corporate Tax Base to Determine Taxable Income in the EU Member States. FinanzArchiv 67: 64–102. Nerudová, D., Solilová, V. (2015a). The impact of the CCCTB introduction on the distribution of the group tax bases across the EU: The study for the Czech Republic. Prague Economic Papers 24(6): 621–637. Nerudová, D. & Solilová. (2015b). Quantification of the impact on the total corporate tax basis in the Czech Republic caused by the CCCTB implementation in

 Table 6.11
 CCCTB and its impact on corporate tax revenues (The corporate tax revenues based on the CCCTB system allocated at the level of subsidiary based on its tax residency.)—part B (own processing, Amadeus database)

	Dataset with based on the	imputed data through CCCTB is higher that	the regression methon n current tax liability	od—tax liability	
Country		CCCTB tax	Current tax	Difference B	
of	No. of	liability (in million	liability	(in million	Change
subsidiary	subsidiaries	EUR)	(in million EUR)	EUR)	(in %)
AT	349	82.55	73.65	8.9	12.08
BE	1016	267.38	235.85	31.53	13.37
BG	34,357	131.29	118.09	13.2	11.18
CY	6	0.28	0.22	0.06	27.27
CZ	19,148	217.68	180.18	37.5	20.81
DE	1317	312.33	262.46	49.87	19.00
DK	4215	200.96	177.12	23.84	13.46
EE	953	30.34	22.44	7.9	35.20
ES	78	71.19	30.82	40.37	130.99
EL	4	6.39	4.8	1.59	33.13
FI	1220	58.39	51.26	7.13	13.91
FR	116	77.3	44.93	32.37	72.05
HR	5028	73.31	60.52	12.79	21.13
HU	83	33.63	12.72	20.91	164.39
IE	13	1.92	1.53	0.39	25.49
IT	157,673	3972.71	3122.22	850.49	27.24
LT	29	36.57	27.6	8.97	32.50
LU	142	122.58	97.67	24.91	25.50
LV	15,266	87.56	77.18	10.38	13.45
MT	3	20.47	18.73	1.74	9.29
NL	131	114.81	70.94	43.87	61.84
PL	4311	556.71	171.44	385.27	224.73
PT	18	30.18	17.21	12.97	75.36
RO	89,646	512.47	470.27	42.2	8.97
SE	359	183	71.38	111.62	156.37
SI	7466	129.29	109.67	19.62	17.89
SK	15,921	243.03	220.89	22.14	10.02
UK	190	117.56	74.92	42.64	56.91
Total	359,058	7691.88	5826.71	1865.17	32.01

EU28. Politická ekonomie 63(4), 456–773. Nerudova, D., Solilova, V., Bohušova, H. & Svoboda, P. (2015). Dopady zavedení společného konsolidovaného základu daně na příjmovou stránku rozpočtu České Republiky. Praha: Wolters Kluwer., Domonkos, T., Domonkos, Š., Dolinajcová, M., Grisáková, N. (2013). Effect of the formulary apportionment of the Common Consolidated Corporate Tax Base on the tax revenue in the Slovak Republic. Ekonomický časopis 61(5): 453–467. Solilová, V., Nerudová, D. (2016). Implementation of Common Consolidated Corporate Tax Base and its Implications for Non-participating Country: A Case Study for the Czech Republic. Ekonomický časopis 64(3): 282–298.



Fig. 6.4 Change in corporate tax liability after the adoption of the CCCTB system across the EU (in %) (own processing)

To sum up, the result regarding whether the corporate tax liability will be lower or higher after the adoption of the CCCTB system is affected by three aspects: the nominal⁷³ tax rate, variables from the apportionment formula and the amount of the tax base.⁷⁴ Member States have right to set their own *corporate tax rates*, and the CCCTB proposal does not affect this right; therefore, it is expected that Member States will change their nominal tax rates in order to meet their budgetary policy targets. Mintz (2008) highlights that Member States can impose their own tax rates to avoid the disruption of the fiscal sovereignty and to preserve the direct control of their tax revenues and tax administration. In contrast, Bettendorf et al. (2010) state that the most effective redistribution of capital, tax revenues and welfare will be reached through the CCCTB and the uniform tax rate.

Regarding the *apportionment formula*, according to Agúndez-García (2006), the most discussed allocation-formula factor represents assets due to the mobility of capital and investments. In contrast, as the most discussed allocation formula factors, Eberhartinger and Petutschnig (2014) highlight the number of employees and payroll costs. Differences in the level of payroll costs in the European Union and differences in the character of businesses (e.g., there are many services with seasonal characters mainly in relation to the tourism industry and high-knowledge industries that generate large profits with a minimal level of fixed tangible assets used but with emphasis on intangible assets (which are excluded from the apportionment formula)) can have a significant effect on the allocation of corporate taxes across Member States. Moreover, some Member States' tax profits do not have real substance of business activities, such as Cyprus, as a result of profit shifting and

⁷³The nominal tax rate is applied on the corporate tax base determined through an apportionment formula, based on current tax law in each Member State where a subsidiary is situated, as the CCCTB proposal does not affect Member States' right to set their own corporate tax rates.

 $^{^{74}}$ For the purpose of our study, there is an assumption that the amount of the total tax base is considered not to change as a result of the adoption of the CCCTB system even though the C(C) CTB proposal suggests unified rules for corporate tax base construction.

	Dataset with i	mputed data ba	ised on the regre-	ssion method	Impact of CCCTB or	n corporate income taxes rever	nues
			Total				
	CCCTB tax	CCCTB tax	CCCTB	Current tax	Corporate income	Corporate income taxes	Change in corporate
	liability	liability	liability	liability	taxes revenue	revenue after CCCTB	income taxes revenues
	Α	В	$\mathbf{A} + \mathbf{B}$	С	D	$\mathbf{E} = \mathbf{D} - \mathbf{C} + \mathbf{A} + \mathbf{B}$	F = (E-D)/D*100
Country of	(in million	(in million	(in billion	(in billion			
subsidiary	EUR)	EUR)	EUR)	EUR) ^c	(in billion EUR) ^d	(in billion EUR)	(in %)
AT	821.20	82.55	0.90	2.76	7.3	5.45	-25.39
BE	602.95	267.38	0.87	1.33	12.8	12.34	-3.62
BG	26.55	131.29	0.16	0.15	0.9	0.90	0.32
CY*	472.63	0.28	0.47	1.70	1.1	-0.12	-111.22
CZ	585.77	217.68	0.80	0.91	5.2	5.10	-1.99
DE	526.51	312.33	0.84	1.80	71.1	70.14	-1.35
DK	184.24	200.96	0.39	0.09	7	7.29	4.19
EE	17.33	30.34	0.05	0.05	0.3	0.29	-1.77
ES	294.58	71.19	0.37	2.86	20.9	18.41	-11.93
EL	2.46	6.39	0.01	0.01	3.3	3.30	-0.05
FI	222.53	58.39	0.28	0.36	4	3.92	-2.04
FR	2701.21	77.3	2.78	4.38	57.7	56.10	-2.78
HR	51.5	73.31	0.12	0.15	0.8	0.77	-3.49
HU	50.83	33.63	0.08	0.08	1.4	1.40	0.08
IE	675.64	1.92	0.68	1.96	4.7	3.42	-27.23
IT	843.04	3972.71	4.82	5.07	35.1	34.85	-0.72
LT	223.05	36.57	0.26	0.36	0.5	0.40	-19.88
LU*	1339.73	122.58	1.46	5.19	2.1	-1.63	-177.69
LV	31.29	87.56	0.12	0.05	0.4	0.47	16.73
							(continued)

	Dataset with i	imputed data ba	used on the regres	ssion method	Impact of CCCTB or	l corporate income taxes reven	nes
			Total				
	CCCTB tax	CCCTB tax	CCCTB	Current tax	Corporate income	Corporate income taxes	Change in corporate
	liability	liability	liability	liability	taxes revenue	revenue after CCCTB	income taxes revenues
	А	В	A + B	С	D	$\mathbf{E} = \mathbf{D} - \mathbf{C} + \mathbf{A} + \mathbf{B}$	F = (E-D)/D*100
Country of	(in million	(in million	(in billion	(in billion			
subsidiary	EUR)	EUR)	EUR)	EUR) ^c	(in billion EUR) ^d	(in billion EUR)	(in %)
MT	220.95	20.47	0.24	0.35	0.5	0.39	-21.96
NL	84.46	114.81	0.20	0.37	17.1	16.92	-1.03
PL*	3845.46	556.71	4.40	9.03	7.2	2.57	-64.33
PT	32.26	30.18	0.06	0.08	4.9	4.88	-0.42
RO	607.25	512.47	1.12	1.64	3.2	2.67	-16.41
SE	161.54	183	0.34	0.37	11.5	11.48	-0.21
SI	53.36	129.29	0.18	0.27	0.5	0.41	-17.38
SK	136.93	243.03	0.38	0.60	2.4	2.18	-9.22
UK	1221.09	117.56	1.34	1.98	54.7	54.06	-1.17
Total	16,036.34	7691.88	23.73	43.98	338.6	318.35	-5.98
^a Results from 7	Table 6.10-tax	x liability based	1 on the CCCTB	is lower than e	current tax liability		

"Results from Table 6.11—tax liability based on the CCCTB is higher than current tax liability

^dThe overall corporate income tax revenues in the country for 2014. Taxation Trends in the European Union, Data for the EU Member States, Iceland and ^cCurrent tax obligation is determined as a tax base of entity multiplied with effective tax rate

Cyprus, Luxembourg, Poland represent a very large change; however, it is affected by higher current tax liability in comparison (columns C) with corporate ncome tax revenues (columns D). Lower corporate income tax revenues are caused mainly by loss offsetting and tax incentives actually performed by individual SMEs in the country Norway (2016)

Table 6.12 (continued)

aggressive tax planning. These specificities can be considered drivers of the decrease/increase in corporate tax liability when the apportionment formula is applied. However, for some industries, the assumed apportionment formula does not seem suitable—e.g., banking, insurance, mining and transport industries. Therefore, the CCCTB proposal includes amended allocation formulae for these industries. Krchnivá (2014) proves that the presence or proportion of allocation-formula factors can significantly affect a country's overall tax revenues. Thus, it is clear that the selection of variables entering into the apportionment formula will affect the re-distribution of tax bases between Member States, and this part of the CCCTB proposal will be subjected to considerable discussion. In this respect, Roggeman et al. (2012) underlines that allocation formula factors suggested by the European Commission are able to explain the creation of the corporate tax profit by 28%. A similar result was also found by Krchnivá and Nerudová (2015). They have arrived at the result that the factors are able to explain 35% of the variability in profitability of the Czech companies. Furthermore, Cobham and Loretz (2014) underline that the allocation of corporate tax profit based on the tangible assets and number of employees is beneficial in the case of low-income countries, in contrast to highincome countries, for which sales and employee costs are more beneficial factors.

Regarding *the tax base*, the rules for the construction are set by the CCTB proposal, which are common and simplified, comprising only the minimum level of deductible items with the aim of decreasing the compliance costs of taxation.

Taking into account all these aspects, it is very difficult to determine the effect of the CCCTB system on SMEs' performance and corporate tax liability without any limitations. Of course, any change in the limitation⁷⁵ of the research may affect the expected results. However, it is obvious that the re-distribution of the consolidated tax base in accordance with the apportionment formula and the subsequent amount of tax liability will be different from the current situation and will alter the map of the corporate tax system in the European Union (see Figs. 6.5 and 6.6). Moreover, it has to be highlighted that regardless the outcome, any tax savings can be used by SMEs to increase their business performance and the level of their internationalization in the European Union, which is desirable mainly in the context of smart, sustainable and innovative growth. In addition, qualified subsidiaries situated in Member States not allowing the group taxation scheme will welcome the introduction of the C(C)CTB system as the most attractive tool for addressing group taxation and loss offset within the group.

⁷⁵The list of limitations is mentioned in Sect. 6.5.1.



Fig. 6.5 Re-allocation of corporate tax liability of SMEs across the EU—current situation (This figure represents the assignment of corporate tax liability based on the tax residency of the subsidiary.) (in million EUR) (own compilation through Google Charts, Amadeus database)

6.6 Conclusion

The C(C)CTB represents one of the most ambitious projects in the history of corporate taxation in the European Union. The idea of the centralization of the total taxable income and profits of corporations in the state of tax domicile or those in which the greater part of business activities are performed and subsequently allocated with respect to the tax base in Member states first appeared in 1962 in the Neumark Report. After 44 years, the ideas of the Neumark Report were relaunched in the form of the proposals of the C(C)(CTB Directives, which introduced cross-border loss offsetting and the consolidation of profits or losses with apportionment between Member States via an apportionment formula.

The implementation of the C(C)CTB can bring the advantages on both sides—on the side of the taxpayer and on the side of the tax administration. The disappearance of the differences between the nominal and effective tax rate and the harmonization of the rules for tax base construction should lead to the establishment of fair tax competition (i.e., the situation in which all market subjects have the same information about the effective tax rate) and to the elimination of tax obstacles to mergers and acquisitions mainly in the areas of capital profit taxation, reduced compliance costs of taxation, the elimination of transfer pricing issues, and the establishment of



Fig. 6.6 Re-allocation of corporate tax liability of SMEs across the EU—based on the CCCTB proposal (This figure represents the assignment of corporate tax liability based on the tax residency of the subsidiary. The limitations of the study—the same tax base and the same nominal tax rate with the application of an apportionment formula—are considered.) (in million EUR) (own compilation through Google Charts, Amadeus database)

the possibility of cross-border loss offsetting. With respect to SMEs, the crossborder losses are considered to be very serious and to be a limitation of the internationalization of SMEs in the European Union; therefore, such offsetting represents one of the advantage of the CCTB system as the first implementation step of the CCCTB system. Based on our research, almost one-half of SMEs with foreign associated entities face this issue and welcome its solution via offsetting the losses at the level of the parent company. Further, another advantage represents the common rules for corporate tax base construction-SMEs would not face 28 different tax systems, which is connected with high compliance costs of taxation. A final important advantage concerns the super-deduction for R&D for the intensive support of companies, notably SMEs, and start-up companies. In the second step, through the introduction of the CCCTB system, lower corporate tax liability of SMEs (EUR 20.913 billion) would be achieved, as was proved in our research, which represents a decrease in total corporate tax revenues by 5.98% covering the tax liability of LEs and SMEs in the European Union. This tax saving altogether with the advantages of suggested tax systems can increase the business performance of SMEs and the level of their internationalization in the European Union. This might result into economic benefits at least in the form of an increase in investment, employment and smart, sustainable and innovative growth. From this perspective, we can conclude that the C(C)CTB system is suitable for SMEs especially as a new form of corporate taxation, with the aim of eliminating the main distortions on the Internal Market.

Acknowledgement The chapter is the result of the GA ČR no. 15-24867S, Small and medium size enterprises in global competition: Development of specific transfer pricing methodology reflecting their specificities".

References

- Agúndez-García A (2006) The delineation and apportionment of an EU consolidated tax base for multi-jurisdictional corporate income taxation: a review of issues and options. European Commission, working paper no. 9/2006
- Amadeus database (2015) Bureau Van Dijk
- Bettendorf L, Devereux MP, Van der Hort A, Loretz S, de Mooij RA (2010) Corporate tax harmonization in the EU. Econ Policy:537–590
- Chen D, Lee F, Mintz J (2002) Taxation, SMEs and entrepreneurship. OECD Science, Technology and Industry working papers, no. 2002/09, OECD Publishing, Paris. doi:https://doi.org/10. 1787/013245868670. Accessed 17 May 2017
- Cline R, Neubig T, Phillips A, Sanger C, Walsh A (2010) Study on the economic and budgetary impact of the introduction of a common consolidated corporate tax base in the European Union. Ernst & Young LLP
- Cobham A, Loretz S (2014) International distribution of the corporate tax base: impact of different apportionment factors under unitary taxation. In: 70th Annual congress of the international institute of public finance, Lugano
- Devereux MP (2004) Debating proposed reform of the taxation of corporate income in the European Union. Int Tax Public Financ 11(1):71–89
- Devereux M, Loretz S (2008) Increased efficiency through consolidation and formula apportionment in the European Union? Working paper no. 12. Centre for Business Taxation, Oxford University, Oxford
- Domonkos T, Domonkos Š, Dolinajcová M, Grisáková N (2013) Effect of the formulary apportionment of the common consolidated corporate tax base on the tax revenue in the Slovak Republic. Ekonomický časopis 61(5):453–467
- Dover R, Ferrett B, Gravino D, Jones E, Merler S (2015) Bringing transparency, coordination and convergence to corporate tax policies in the European Union. EPRS European Parliamentary Research Service
- Eberhartinger E, Petutschnig M (2014) CCCTB The employment factor game. WU International Taxation Research Paper Series No. 2014-01
- European Commission (1975) Draft Directive concerning the harmonization of systems of company taxation and of withholding tax on dividends. COM(75) 392 final
- European Commission (1984) Proposed Directive on company losses. COM(1984) 404 final, OJ 1984 C253
- European Commission (1990a) Proposed Directive on loss consolidation. COM(1990) 595 final, OJ 1991, C53
- European Commission (1990b) Commission communication to parliament and the council: guidelines on company taxation. SEC(90)601
- European Commission (1997) Communication from the commission to the council towards tax co-ordination in the European Union a package to tackle harmful tax competition COM(97) 495

- European Commission (2001a) Commission communication towards an internal market without tax obstacles. A strategy for providing companies with a consolidated corporate tax base for their EU-wide activities. COM(2001) 582 final
- European Commission (2001b) Company taxation in the single market Commission Staff working paper SEC(2001) 1681
- European Commission (2003a) Council Directive 2003/49/EC of 3 June 2003 on a common system of taxation applicable to interest and royalty payments made between associated companies of different Member States
- European Commission (2003b) Council Directive 2003/48/EC of 3 June 2003 on taxation of savings income in the form of interest payments
- European Commission (2003c) An internal market without company tax obstacles achievements, ongoing initiatives and remaining challenges. COM(2003) 726 final
- European Commission (2005) Tackling the corporation tax obstacles of small and medium-sized enterprises in the internal market outline of a possible Home State Taxation pilot scheme. COM(2005) 702 final
- European Commission (2006) Communication from the Commission to the Council, the European Parliament and the European Economic and Social Committee tax treatment of losses in cross-border situations. COM (2006) 824 final
- European Commission (2007) Observatory of European SMEs, analytical report, 2007. Directorate-General for Enterprise and Industry
- European Commission (2011) Proposal for a Council Directive on a common consolidated corporate tax base (CCCTB), COM(2011) 121 final
- European Commission (2015) A fair and efficient corporate tax system in the European Union: 5 key areas for action, COM(2015) 302 final
- European Commission (2016a) Commission staff working document, impact assessment, SWD (2016) 341 final
- European Commission (2016b) Proposal for Council Directive on a common corporate tax base, COM(2016) 685 final
- European Commission (2016c) Proposal for Council Directive on a common consolidated corporate tax base, COM(2016) 683 final
- European Commission (2016d) The Directive (EU) 2016/1164 lays down rules against tax avoidance practices that directly affect the functioning of the internal market
- European Commission (2016e) Annual Report on European SMEs 2015/2016, SME recovery continues. https://www.isme.ie/assets/Annual-Report-on-European-SMEs-2015-2016.pdf. Accessed 17 May 2017
- European Commission (2016f) Taxation trends in the European Union, data for the EU Member States, Iceland and Norway. http://ec.europa.eu/taxation_customs/sites/taxation/files/ resources/documents/taxation/gen_info/economic_analysis/tax_structures/2016/econ_analy sis_report_2016.pdf. Accessed 17 May 2017
- Eurostat (2017) Total R&D personnel and researchers (FTE), in business enterprise sector, by size class (number of employees) and sex [rd_p_perssize]. Business enterprise R&D expenditure (BERD) by size class and source of funds [rd_e_berdsize]. http://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/data/ database?p_p_id=NavTreeportletprod_WAR_NavTreeportletprod_INSTANCE_ nPqeVbPXRmWQ&p_p_lifecycle=0&p_p_state=normal&p_p_mode=view&p_p_col_ id=column-2&p_p_col_count=1. Accessed 14 May 2017
- Fuest C, Hemmelgam T, Ramb F (2007) How would the introduction of an EU-wide formula apportionment affect the distribution and size of the corporate tax base? An analysis based on German multinationals. Int Tax Public Financ 14(5):605–626
- Gammie M (2003) Arm's length of formulary apportionment? In: Arnold BJ, Sasseville J, Zolt EM (eds) The taxation of business profits under tax treaties. Canadian Tax Foundation, Toronto, pp 204–206
- Harvard (1976) Multinational corporations and income allocation under section 482 of the internal revenue code. Harv Law Rev 89:1228

Hellerstein W, McLure CE (2004) The European Commission Report on company income taxation: What the EU can learn from the experience of the US states. Int Tax Public Financ 11(2):199–220

IBFD research platform (2016)

- Jacobs OH (2011) Internationale Unternehmensbesteuerung. Deutsche Investitionen im Ausland, Auslandische Investitionen im Inland. Verlag C.H. Beck, Munchen
- Krchnivá K (2014) Comparison of European, Canadian and the U.S. formula apportionment on real data. In: Enterprise and competitive environment – conference abstract proceedings. Martin Stříž Publishing, Bučovice
- Krchnivá K, Nerudová D (2015) The influence of allocation formula on generation of profit in different economy sectors. Acta Universitatis Agriculturae et Silviculturae Mendelianae Brunensis 63(6):1961–1967
- Kumpf W (1976) Steuerliche Verrechnungspreise in internationalen Konzernen-Moglichkeiten zur Prazisierung des "dealing at arm's length" Prinzips. Alfred Metzner Verlag GmbH, Frankfurt am Main
- Lisbon European Council (2000) Presidency conclusion. p 5
- Lodin SO, Gammie M (2001) Home state taxation. IBFD, Amsterdam
- Mayer S (2009) Formulary apportionment for the internal market. IBFD, Amsterdam
- McDaniel PR (1994) Formulary taxation in the North American Free Trade Zone. Tax Law Rev 49 (4):691–744
- McIntyre MJ (2003) The use of combined reporting by Nation-States. In: Arnold BJ, Sasseville J, Zolt E (eds) The taxation of business profits under tax treaties. Canadian Tax Foundation, Toronto, pp 245–298
- McLure ChE Jr (1997) U.S. Federal use of formula apportionment to tax income from intangibles. Tax Notes Int (10 Mar 1997) 14:864
- Miller BF (1995) None are so blind as those who will not see. Tax Notes Int (13 Feb 1995) 66:1023-1035
- Mintz JM (2004) Corporate tax harmonization in Europe: it is all about compliance. Int Tax Public Financ 11:221–234
- Mintz J (2008) Europe slowly lurches to a common consolidated corporate tax base: issues at stake. In: Lang M et al (eds) A common consolidated corporate tax base for Europe. Springer, Alemanha, pp 128–138
- Mintz J, Smart M (2004) Income shifting, investment, and tax competition. J Public Econ 88 (6):1150
- Nerudová D, Solilová V (2014) Missing data and its impact on the CCCTB determinantion. Proc Econ Financ 12(1):462–471. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2212-5671(14)00368-2
- Nerudová D, Solilová V (2015a) The impact of the CCCTB introduction on the distribution of the group tax bases across the EU: the study for the Czech Republic. Prague Econ Pap 24 (6):621–637
- Nerudová D, Solilová V (2015b) Quantification of the impact on the total corporate tax basis in the Czech Republic caused by the CCCTB implementation in EU28. Politická ekonomie 63 (4):456–773
- Nerudova D, Solilova V, Bohušova H, Svoboda P (2015) Dopady zavedení společného konsolidovaného základu daně na příjmovou stránku rozpočtu České Republiky. Wolters Kluwer, Praha
- Neumark F (1960) "The EEC reports on tax harmonization" of the Fiscal and Financial Committee. http://www.steuerrecht.jku.at/gwk/Dokumentation/Steuerpolitik/Gemeinschaftsdokumente/ EN/Neumark.pdf. Accessed 17 May 2017
- Obermair C, Weninger P (2008) Tax compliance costs for companies in an enlarged European community. General report. In: Lang M et al (eds) Tax compliance costs for companies in an enlarged European community. Linde, Wien
- OECD (2017) Transfer pricing guidelines for multinational enterprises and tax administrations

- Oestreicher von A, Koch R (2011) The revenue consequences of using a common consolidated corporate tax base to determine taxable income in the EU Member States. FinanzArchiv 67:64–102
- Petutschnig M (2010) Common consolidated corporate tax base: effects of formulary apportionment on corporate group entities. WU International Taxation Research Paper Series No. 2012-04
- Picciotto S (1992) International business taxation a study in the internationalization of business regulation. Weidenfeld and Nicolson, London
- Roggeman A, Verleyen I, van Cauwenberge P, Coppens C (2012) An empirical investigation into the design of an EU apportionment formula related to profit generating factors. Transform Bus Econ 11(27):36–56
- Ruding Report (1992) Report of the committee of independent experts on company taxation, Commission of the European communities, Official Publications of the EC
- Solilová V, Nerudová D (2013) General model for tax planning. Ekonomický časopis 61 (6):597–617
- Solilová V, Nerudová D (2016) Implementation of common consolidated corporate tax base and its implications for non-participating country: a case study for the Czech Republic. Ekonomický časopis 64(3):282–298
- Sorensen PB (2004) Company tax reform in the European Union. Int Tax Public Financ 11(1):91-115
- Spengel CH, Endres D, Finke K, Heckemeyer J (2014) Effective tax levels using the Devereux/ Griffith methodology. EU Commission project No. TAXUD/2013/CC/120. Manheim: ZEW
- Sullivan M (2002) Data show big shift in U.S. Income to tax havens. Tax Notes Int (2 Dec 2002) 28:876–879
- Sullivan M (2004) U.S. multinationals move more profits to tax havens. Tax Notes Int (16 Feb 2004) 33:589 et seq
- Van den Tempel A J (1970) Corporation tax and individual income tax in the European communities. http://aei.pitt.edu/40293/1/A4688.pdf. Accessed 17 May 2017
- Van der Horst A, Bettendorf L, Rojas-Romagosa H (2007) Will corporate tax consolidation improve efficiency in the EU? CPB documents 141, CPB Netherlands Bureau for Economic Policy Analysis
- Weiner JM (1999) Using the experience in the U.S. states to evaluate issues in implementing formula apportionment at the international level. U.S. Department of the Treasury OTA Paper 83
- Weiner JM (2005) Formulary apportionment and group taxation in the EU: insights from the United States and Canada. Taxation papers, working paper no. 8. DG Taxation and Customs Union, European Commission
- Weiner JM, Mintz JM (2002) An exploration of formula apportionment in the European Union. European Union 42(8):346–351

Chapter 7 Conclusion

The final chapter of this book presents general observations about transfer pricing issues, critical concerns about transfer pricing and compliance issues and suggestions for tools to decrease compliance costs in the context of SMEs. The results of our research presented in this book highlight the fact that reducing compliance costs and simplifying measurement in transfer pricing rules, or a different approach such as CCCTB, can significantly affect the economic performance of SMEs. The internationalization of SMEs can help to achieve the long-term goals of the EU2020 agenda, such as smart and inclusive growth in the EU.

According to the European Commission (2016), SMEs account for 99% (23 million entities) of all the companies in each European country and operate in a wide range of industry sectors. They provide more than 90 million jobs and contribute to a considerable proportion of created value-added (57%) and posting growth of 5.7% in 2015. There is no doubt that SMEs play a key role in the EU economy. However, with respect to large enterprises (LEs), the group of SMEs in the EU is very heterogeneous and differs significantly from LEs. They differ not only in their size, but they also perform different activities, have different needs and require different resources. Currently, SMEs already face special rules in the area of accounting and financial reporting in comparison with LEs; however, SMEs also face specific problems and have specific needs in the area of practical international taxation issues. Regarding the law and regulations, there are 28 different tax systems in the European Union, which may inherently disadvantage SMEs and may have distortive impacts on commercial decisions concerning the different business forms and different business activities. The disproportionately high impact of regulatory requirements also creates disproportionally high compliance costs in comparison with LEs. In 2007, the European Commission (2007a, b) highlighted that a large company spends one euro per employee to comply with a regulatory duty, whereas a medium-sized enterprise might have to spend approximately four euros, and a small business may spend up to ten euros. The European Commission (2013) provided evidence that the Value Added Tax and corporate taxation are the most burdensome legislative acts for SMEs in the European Union. The European

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2018

V. Solilova, D. Nerudova, *Transfer Pricing in SMEs*, Contributions to Management Science, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-69065-0_7

Commission (2010) also highlighted that regardless of regulations and the law, the lack of human and financial capital, the lack of knowledge and information, the lack of experience and resource availability, and the lack of public support are crucial barriers for doing international business from the perspective of SMEs. According to the European Commission (2007c, 2016), only 5% of SMEs are associated (having subsidiaries abroad) and only 1.2 million of SMEs are exporting, 83% of which are within the EU. This proves two important facts: (1) very low cross-border activities of SMEs in contrast with LEs and (2) insufficient use of external market demand for goods and services. This results in lower performance and lower economic growth of SMEs in the EU.

With regards to corporate taxation regulations in each of the Member States and the internationalization of SMEs, another taxation issue should be highlighted. namely, transfer pricing. In the EU, transfer pricing compliance means adherence to the arm's-length principle stipulated in Article 9 of the OECD Model Convention and following OECD Transfer Pricing Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises and Tax Administrations (hereinafter, TP Guidelines). However, it is clear from the name itself that these TP Guidelines set treatments of transfer pricing issues with respect to multinational enterprises, which are generally LEs. In addition, the TP Guidelines make no direct distinction between the types or sizes of enterprises. In theory, all enterprises, regardless of their size, are subject to the same principles and recommendations. Thus, all SMEs doing international business (but also domestic business through associated enterprises in some countries, as the arm's-length principle was also introduced for domestic intragroup transactions) face transfer pricing issues. With regards to SMEs, we consider the application of transfer pricing rules a very complex, resource-intensive process connected with certain difficulties.¹ It is compounded by the fact that there is neither a common definition of SMEs for tax purpose in the EU nor symmetry of treatment of this issue. Additionally, the costs associated with transfer pricing matters can be disproportionally large for SMEs in comparison to LEs. Therefore, we believe that a "one-size-fits-all" approach is not suitable in the case of SMEs facing transfer pricing issues. We believe that it is necessary to analyse transfer pricing issues in relation to SMEs across the EU Member States and to suggest alternative approaches as a suitable solution for transfer pricing issues of SMEs.

To analyse this issue, in 2016, a questionnaire was sent to a representative sample of SMEs (covering 2600 entities that operate in the EU26—excluding Malta and Cyprus), with an overall return rate of 5.5%. The survey revealed that almost 86% of the respondents (SMEs) use tax consultant services for transfer pricing issues and all tax matters. The study provided evidence that transfer pricing issues are extremely burdensome for SMEs with respect to both cost and time. The respondents identified that the greatest portion of the time and cost required to manage transfer pricing issues was related to the preparation of transfer pricing documents. In accordance with the results of the questionnaire, we determined the

¹For more details about transfer pricing rules for SMEs, see Chap. 2.

compliance costs of transfer pricing for SMEs. European SMEs bear the costs for managing transfer pricing issues, primarily in the form of transfer pricing documentation, and these costs range between EUR 3090 and EUR 5564/year/entity, an amount equivalent to between 18 and 30 workdays/year. Accordingly, when considering the entire group of SMEs acting in the EU28, the costs represent a portion of the overall EU28 corporate tax collected between 1.32% and 2.38% (or EUR 4.8 to 8.7 billion).² There is no doubt that in the case of SMEs, greater simplicity in transfer pricing administration and improving the efficiency and effectiveness of transfer pricing enforcement are essential. Tax policymakers should carefully design new tax obligations in the area of transfer pricing and address the disproportionately high tax compliance costs faced by SMEs.

Furthermore, the respondents of the questionnaire suggested 217 simplified measurements as tools to decrease SMEs' compliance costs related to transfer pricing. Most of the suggestions represented simplified transfer pricing documentation (29%), followed by smaller penalties (21%) and opportunities to apply for a safe harbour³ (16%). The respondents (81%) would appreciate opportunities to apply for a safe harbour for transactions, such as manufacturing, distribution and services; intangibles (32%); and royalties and loans (28%). Eighty-four percent of the respondents (SMEs) would appreciate the introduction of simplified transfer pricing documentation, while 71% of the respondents preferred the exclusion of micro and small entities from the obligation to prepare transfer pricing documentation. Sixty-nine percent of the respondents (SMEs) would appreciate an introduction to the EU-comparable benchmarks for selected industries and a C(C)CTB system (51% of SMEs). Based on the results of the questionnaire, this research was focused in more detail on simplified measurements (namely, on safe harbours) and on the new corporate system of taxation in the form of the C(C)CTB as a suitable solution for transfer pricing issues of SMEs.

Because SMEs are not usually able to ensure all required information related to transfer pricing issues (specifically comparable and functional analysis due to the lack of human and financial capital) and are using tax and accounting consultancy increasingly resulting in higher compliance costs of taxation than LEs, the introduction of simplified transfer pricing measurements can be seen as a suitable solution. As seen by the analysis of simplified measurements in the EU for SMEs or small transactions, several Member States are using whole or partial exemption from transfer pricing documentation requirements, simplified APA procedures or a reduced APA charge, a different penalty regime, or full exemption from transfer pricing rules.⁴ However, after the relaunching of the safe harbour provision in the TP Guidelines, the application of safe harbour in other areas of transfer pricing

²For more details about compliance costs of taxation, see Chap. 4.

³A safe harbour is defined for a certain category of taxpayers or transactions and relieves eligible taxpayers from certain transfer pricing obligations, or exempts a defined category of taxpayers or transactions from the application of all or part of the general transfer pricing rules.

⁴For more details about transfer pricing rules for SMEs, see Chap. 2.

within the arm's length range for SMEs in different industry activities should be strongly considered.⁵ Therefore, we try to determine safe harbours for the selected NACE sectors (C-Manufacturing, F-Construction, G-Wholesale and retail trade; repair of motor vehicles and motorcycles, I-Accommodation and food and M-professional, scientific and technical activities), representing five of the most important sectors where SMEs are operating. The determination of safe harbours was performed based on the analysis of profitability of independent SMEs (specifically EBIT margin and Mark-up profit margin) operating in the European Union. This follows the fundamental principle of the arm's-length standard of comparability, which is based on the theory that profitability rates earned by enterprises operating under similar conditions in the same market and industry sector are equalized in broadly similar product markets. Furthermore, it is based on the general analogy resulting from the generality of a simplified approach, which can generate some inaccuracies. As a result, in the case of small entities, we proposed a safe harbours arm's length margin range between 1 and 11%, and in the case of medium-sized entities, we proposed a margin range between 1 and 13%, in dependence on the indicator of profitability used (EBIT margin or Mark-up profit margin) and industry in which the SME is operating.⁶ By the application of the suggested safe harbours arm's-length margin ranges, the compliance costs of taxation and transfer pricing should be reduced, as well as the administrative burden of the tax authorities. In particular, SMEs would not be required to perform timeconsuming comparability analysis resulting in the determination of the arm'slength profit margin or mark-up. They could apply for publicly presented safe harbours, thus saving time, financial capital and human resources as well as reducing the compliance costs of taxation.

Considering the advantages and disadvantages of safe harbours, the benefits of safe harbours are potentially the greatest for SMEs/small multinational enterprises or those in the early stages of cross-border expansion. Safe harbours can reduce compliance costs of transfer pricing, make transfer pricing issues easier for SMEs, reduce administration costs, increase certainty for taxpayers and improve effective-ness of tax administration mainly by decreasing the number of transfer pricing disputes, audit and MAP cases for tax administrators. Some disadvantages of an application for a specific category of taxpayers or transactions include creating discriminations or some distortions (e.g., trade or competitiveness); risk of double taxation or non-taxation; inappropriate tax planning; and transfer pricing manipulation resulting in lower tax revenues. However, almost all of the concerns can be eliminated by both clearly and carefully designating criteria and conditions under which a taxpayer/transaction is eligible for safe harbours and by bilateral or multilateral forms of safe harbours.

The second suggested suitable solution for transfer pricing issues of SMEs is presented by the new corporate taxation system in the form of the C(C)CTB, which

⁵For more details about safe harbours, see Chap. 5.

⁶For more details about safe harbours, see Chap. 5.

was proposed by the European Commission during October 2016 to be a tool to prevent tax avoidance, tax fraud and profit shifting. The introduction of this corporate taxation system is welcomed by opponents of the arm's-length standard who perceive the standard negatively and consider it incompatible with today's global economy. With the current globalized economy, the many technological changes, the mobile and digital nature of business, and the more complex and complicated business models, it is absolutely erroneous to evaluate the results of associated enterprises based on the assumption that they were a group of unrelated enterprises transacting with one another at arm's length and then using this assumption to determine where profits fall to be taxed. Today, there is evidence that the arm's-length standard does not reflect economic reality and is not able to ensure the fairest and most reliable basis for the determination of where profits fall to be taxed and whether the third party would enter into the transaction (the basic premise of the arm's-length principle).⁷ There is evidence that income shifting between enterprises is taking place irrespective of the existence of the arm's-length principle⁸ because transfer pricing is used as a tax planning tool to enable the distribution of the tax risks and profits resulting in the reduction of the overall corporate tax liability. Due to the aggressive tax planning, the OECD estimates annual losses from 4 to 10% of global corporate income tax revenues (i.e., USD100–240 billion), and the EU estimates annual losses of tax revenues of approximately EUR 1 trillion. However, due to the profit shifting and inefficiencies of the corporate taxation system, the annual loss in the EU is assumed to be approximately EUR 50–190 billion. It is obvious that the international tax rules, including the arm's-length standards and the current tax systems, are proving to be inefficient, non-transparent and unable to react on increasingly sophisticated tax planning structures. Moreover,

it is debatable whether the BEPS recommendations can help to ensure the fairest and most reliable basis for the determination where profits fall to be taxed with the objective to eliminate aggressive tax planning.

The absolute change in the corporate taxation system, for example, in the form of C(C)CTB, could ensure a better reflection of economic reality of corporate entities, and through the consolidation of total taxable income and profits, it could help to eliminate the problem with transfer pricing issues, as all intergroup transactions will be eliminated from the total taxable income of the group.

The implementation of the C(C)CTB can bring advantages to both sides—the taxpayer and the tax administration. The disappearance of the differences between the nominal and effective tax rate and the harmonization of the rules for tax base construction should lead to the establishment of fair tax competition (i.e., the situation in which all market subjects have the same information about the effective

⁷For more details, see Avi-Yonah and Clausing (2007), Durst (2010, 2011), Keuschnigg and Devereux (2013), Taylor et al. (2015), Bartelsman and Beetsma (2000), Wells and Lowell (2014), Hines and Rice (1994), Huizinga and Laeven (2006) and others.

⁸The arm's-length principle was introduced as a rule against the manipulation of transfer prices and should manage a fair taxation of profits between jurisdictions where engaged; associated enterprises are operating with the objective of mitigating economic double taxation.

tax rate). It would also facilitate the elimination of tax obstacles to mergers and acquisitions, mainly in the areas of capital profit taxation, reduced compliance costs of taxation, the elimination of transfer pricing issues, and the establishment of the possibility of cross-border loss offsetting. With respect to SMEs, the cross-border losses are considered to be very serious and a limitation of the internationalization of SMEs in the European Union. Therefore, such a possibility of offsetting represents one of the advantages of the CCTB system and is the first implementation step of the CCCTB system. Based on our research, almost one-half of SMEs with foreign associated entities face this issue and welcome its solution (via offsetting the losses at the level of the parent company). Another advantage is the common rules for corporate tax base construction; SMEs would not face 28 different tax systems, which is connected with the high compliance costs of taxation. Finally, the most important advantage concerns the super-deduction for R&D for the intensive support of companies, notably SMEs and start-up companies. In the second step, through the introduction of the CCCTB system, we provide evidence that SMEs would face a lower corporate tax liability. This tax savings, along with the advantages of the suggested tax systems, can increase the business performance of SMEs and the level of their internationalization in the European Union. This might result in economic benefits at least in the form of an increase in investment, employment and smart, sustainable and innovative growth. From this perspective, we can conclude that the C(C)CTB system is suitable for SMEs, especially as a new form of corporate taxation, with the aim of eliminating the main distortions on the Internal Market.

In summary, safe harbours or the C(C)CTB system can reduce compliance costs of taxation and transfer pricing. This tax savings can significantly affect the economic performance of SMEs and their internationalization. This can also help to achieve the long-term goals of the EU2020 agenda, such as smart and inclusive growth in the EU. Therefore, we recommend the introduction of safe harbours or the C(C)CTB system in the EU. We also recommend introduction of the C(C)CTB globally.

Acknowledgements The chapter is the result of GA ČR no. 15-24867S, "Small and mediumsized enterprises in global competition: Development of specific transfer pricing methodology reflecting their specificities".

References

Avi-Yonah RS, Clausing KA (2007) Reforming corporate taxation in a global economy: a proposal to adopt formulary apportionment. The Hamilton project. http://www. hamiltonproject.org/assets/legacy/files/downloads_and_links/Reforming_Corporate_Taxa tion_in_a_Global_Economy-_A_Proposal_to_Adopt_Formulary_Apportionment.pdf. Accessed 20 July 2017

- Bartelsman E, Beetsma R (2000) Why pay more? Corporate tax avoidance through transfer pricing in OECD countries, Tinbergen Institute discussion paper no. 00-54/2. http://www. rrojasdatabank.info/wir2006/pricetransfer.pdf. Accessed 02 May 2017
- Durst MC (2010) It's not just academic: the OECD should reevaluate transfer pricing laws. Tax Analysts. 18 January. https://www.taxjustice.net/cms/upload/pdf/Durst_1001_OECD_-_not_ just_academic.pdf. Accessed 20 July 2017
- Durst MC (2011) The two worlds of transfer pricing policymaking. Tax Notes. 24 January. https://www.taxjustice.net/cms/upload/pdf/Durst_1101_Tax_Notes_TP.pdf. Accessed 20 July 2017
- European Commission (2007a) Models to reduce the disproportionate regulatory burden on SMEs. Report of the Expert Group. http://ec.europa.eu/DocsRoom/documents/10037/attachments/1/ translations. Accessed 20 Mar 2017
- European Commission (2007b) Simplified tax compliance procedures for SMEs. DG Enterprise Publications. http://ec.europa.eu/growth/tools-databases/newsroom/cf/itemdetail.cfm?item_id=8379. Accessed 10 Feb 2017
- European Commission (2007c) Observatory of European SMEs, analytical report. http://ec. europa.eu/commfrontoffice/publicopinion/flash/fl196_en.pdf. Accessed 15 Feb 2017
- European Commission (2010) Internationalization of European SMEs. https://wbc-rti.info/object/ document/7933. Accessed 10 January 2017
- European Commission (2013) Results of the public consultation on the TOP 10 most burdensome legislative acts for SMEs. http://ec.europa.eu/DocsRoom/documents/10036/attachments/1/ translations. Accessed 20 Mar 2017
- European Commission (2016) Annual report on European SMEs 2015/2016, SME recovery continues. https://www.isme.ie/assets/Annual-Report-on-European-SMEs-2015-2016.pdf. Accessed 20 Mar 2017
- Hines JR Jr, Rice EM (1994) Fiscal paradise: foreign tax havens and American business. Q J Econ 109(1):149–182
- Huizinga H, Laeven L (2006) International profit shifting within multinationals: a multi-country perspective. European Economy. Economic Papers 260. http://ec.europa.eu/economy_finance/ publications/publication590_en.pdf. Accessed 15 May 2017
- Keuschnigg C, Devereux M (2013) The arm's length principle and distortions to multinational firm organization. J Int Econ 89(2):432–440
- Taylor G, Richardson G, Lanis R (2015) Multinationality, tax havens, intangible assets, and transfer pricing aggressiveness: an empirical analysis. J Int Account Res 14(1):25–57
- Wells B, Lowell C (2014) Tax base erosion: reformation of Section 482's arm's length standard. Florida Tax Rev 15(10):737–797